Remote Ischaemic Conditioning as a cardioprotective mechanism against anthracycline induced cardiac injury and multimodality monitoring of patients receiving anthracycline chemotherapy

Dr Michael Mallouppas

UCL

Doctor of Medicine (Research)

Signed Declaration

'I, Michael Mallouppas confirm that the work presented in this thesis is my own. Where information has been derived from other sources, I confirm that this has been indicated in the thesis.'

Abstract

Introduction: Remote ischaemic conditioning was investigated as a cardioprotective strategy against anthracycline cardiotoxicity in the clinical setting. Identifying ways to best monitor these was also assessed.

Methodology: A randomised double-blind controlled trial of remote ischaemic conditioning vs sham was performed in patients receiving anthracyclines. Conditioning was delivered with 4 cycles of 5-minute inflations/deflations prior to each chemotherapy cycle. High sensitivity troponin T was analysed at baseline, during chemotherapy and at follow-up. Echocardiography was performed at baseline and at follow-up. Arrhythmia assessment was performed during chemotherapy. Clinical events were documented at each visit. A cohort of patients had rapid sequence cardiac MRI and cardiac myosin binding protein C. The main outcome was change in troponin T between the two groups. Secondary outcomes included LV function, clinical events and arrhythmia outcomes. The relationship between peak troponin and secondary outcomes was assessed in a prospective observational manner.

Results: Thirty-seven patients were randomly allocated to the remote ischaemic conditioning (n=19) or sham group (n=18). After excluding withdrawals, 16 patients in each group were included in the intention to treat analysis. Troponin T significantly increases during chemotherapy and peaks 1 month after. Regression analysis shows no difference in troponins between the groups during chemotherapy (mean difference 1.59ng/L, p=0.245) or follow-up (mean difference 0.62ng/L, p=0.744). Clinical events were similar. There was a significant trend towards more admissions with sepsis/neutropenia in the RIC group. There is a moderate correlation between peak troponin and total cumulative dose received (r=0.422, p=0.016) but no correlation with other outcomes. cMyC has a 4-fold median peak increase compared to 2-fold for TnT (p<0.001). Rapid sequence CMR is feasible (mean scanning time 14 minutes) and acceptable (85% acceptance rate).

Conclusions: Remote ischaemic conditioning does not reduce anthracycline cardiotoxicity as assessed with troponin T despite a significant rise in troponin from chemotherapy.

Impact Statement

What we know so far, is that anthracycline induced cardiomyopathy still affects a significant amount of cancer patients as anthracyclines are still widely used chemotherapy drugs. Currently there are limited cardioprotective strategies. Remote ischaemic conditioning has been shown to be cardioprotective against anthracyclines in pre-clinical studies. What this study adds is that this is the first proof of concept study to test remote ischaemic conditioning as a cardioprotective mechanism against anthracycline cardiotoxicity in humans. It further provides a detailed cardiac phenotyping of patients receiving anthracyclines to be used as a template for future studies. The study had a neutral result but it falls short in that the number of patients was low and should thus be used only as a hypothesis generating exercise.

Inside academia on a local level, as cardiovascular scientists little expertise on how to perform research in cancer patients. This thesis should allow the design of further studies investigating cardioprotection from chemotherapy induced cardiotoxicity using insight from the methodology and results. Based on the thesis results, an incremental increase in troponin T concentration is noted during chemotherapy. If troponin is to be used as a monitoring tool, a useful timeline would be to perform at baseline, mid-point and end of chemotherapy as well as at one month post chemotherapy when it tends to peak. Immediately post-chemotherapy blood tests for troponin do not seem to offer any additional benefit and in fact may be a barrier to recruitment. A baseline assessment of cardiac function and an assessment within one month from end of treatment which would coincide with the highest rise in troponin, as well as at 6- and 12-months post chemotherapy are likely to be the most useful timepoints. In addition, the dynamic trends of troponin T concentrations at each cycle of chemotherapy and follow-up using troponin

as a continuous variable has not been previously shown in such details which would be of benefit to the wider research community to understand how biomarker concentrations fluctuate during chemotherapy if we are to use biomarkers in the future to try and predict risk of cardiotoxicity, particularly as we know the risk is greater in the first year post chemotherapy.

Secondly, one of the strengths of this thesis is the detailed reporting of serious adverse events. The methodology and accurate recording of this is important for any future clinical research to ensure there is no impact on clinical care.

Outside academia, the main benefit from this thesis is in clinical service. With the recent development of the cardio-oncology service at UCLH, the findings of this thesis, will hopefully provide a benchmark of a detailed cardiac phenotyping using biomarkers, imaging and arrhythmia assessment of patients who often receive high dose anthracyclines such as the sarcoma and lymphoma patients for which UCLH is a tertiary referral centre. Furthermore, using the results of this thesis and already existing evidence, will allow local guidelines and protocols to be developed for monitoring of patients receiving anthracycline chemotherapy.

Table of Contents

Section	Pages
Abbreviations	9-14
Acknowledgements	15-16
Chapter 1 – Introduction	17-74
1.1 History of anthracyclines	17
1.2 Anthracycline use in cancer patients	17-19
1.3 Pathophysiology of anthracyclines in cancer (cytotoxicity)	19-21
1.4 Anthracyclines and the heart	21-34
1.5 Screening and monitoring at risk patients for anthracycline cardiotoxicity	34-46
1.6 Cardioprotective strategies	46 – 73
1.7 Conclusion	73-74
Chapter 2 – Methods	75-106
2.1 Patient Population	75-77
2.2 Patient screening, enrolment and randomisation	77-78
2.3 Study Protocol	78-81
2.4 Procedures	81-85
2.5 Outcomes	85-98
2.6 Statistical analysis	99-106
Chapter 3 – Results	107-165
3.1 Screening and Recruitment	107-108
3.2 Patient characteristics	108-117
3.3 Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning on Troponin T	117-144
3.4 The Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning (RIC) on	144-151
echocardiographic parameters after anthracycline chemotherapy	

3.5 The Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning (RIC) on NT-proBNP after	
anthracycline chemotherapy	152-153
3.6 The Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning (RIC) on Clinical Events	
3.7 The Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning (RIC) on the incidence of	153-162
arrhythmias during anthracycline chemotherapy	162-165
3.8. Results Conclusion	
	165
Chapter 4 – Results	166-207
4.1 Identifying risk prior to initiation of chemotherapy	166-169
4.2 Identifying at risk patients during and after chemotherapy using	169-196
biomarkers	
4.3 Identifying at risk patients during and after chemotherapy using imaging	197-201
4.4. Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Imaging (CMR)	201-205
4.5 Cardiac Monitoring	206-207
Chapter 5 – Discussion	208-238
5.1 The Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning (RIC) as a Cardioprotective	208-221
strategy against Anthracycline induced cardiac injury	
5.2 Multimodality monitoring of anthracycline cardiotoxicity	221-232
5.3 Limitations	232-236
5.4 Strengths	236
5.5 Conclusions and Future Directions	237-238
References	239-261

Abbreviations

2D	Two dimensional
3D	Three dimensional
AAR	Area at risk
ABVD	doxorubicin, bleomycin, vinblastine, dacarbazine
ACE-I	Angiotensin Converting Enzyme Inhibitor
AF	Atrial Fibrillation
ALL	Acute Lymphoblastic Leukaemia
Ang 1-7	Angiotensin 1-7
ANP	Atrial Natriuretic peptide
ARB	Angiotensin Receptor Blocker
ASCO	American Society of Clinical Oncology
ASE	American Society of Echocardiography
AT1	Angiotensin II Type 1a
AT1 KO	Angiotensin II Type 1a receptor knock out
ATP	Adenosine Triphosphate
AUC	Area under the curve
AV	Atrio-ventricular
BB	Beta blocker
BNP	Brain natriuretic peptide
BP	Blood Pressure
CAD	Coronary Artery Disease
CCB	Calcium Channel Blocker
CCSS	Childhood Cancer Survivor Study
CECCY	Carvedilol Effect in Chemotherapy-induced CardiotoxicitY trial
CHF	Congestive Heart Failure

CHOEP	Cyclophosphamide – Doxorubicin – Vincristine – Etoposide –
	Prednisolone
СНОР	cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, prednisolone
СК	Creatine Kinase
CK MB	Creatine kinase myocardial band
CMR	Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging
сМуС	Cardiac myosin binding protein C
CONDI-	Effect of remote ischaemic conditioning on clinical outcomes in
2/ERIC PPCI	patients with acute myocardial infarction trial
CONSORT	Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials
COPD	Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
CsA	Cyclosporin A
СТ	Computed Tomography
CTRCD	Cancer therapeutic related cardiac dysfunction
D-Cis	Doxorubicin – Cisplatin
D-Ifos	Doxorubicin – Ifosfamide
DNA	Deoxoribonucleic acid
D-Ola	Doxorubicin – Olaratumab
Dox	Doxorubicin
EACVI	European Association of Cardiovascular Imaging
ECG	electrocardiogram
ECOG	Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group
ECV	Extracellular volume
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
eGFR	Estimated glomerular filtration rate
EHRA	European Heart Rhythm Association

ERIC-ONC	Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning in Oncology patients trial
ESC	European Society of Cardiology
ESMO	European Society of Medical Oncology
Fe	Iron
FEC DT	Fluorouracil-Epirubicin-Cyclophosphamide-Docetaxel-Trastuzumab
FEC-PC	Fluorouracil-Epirubicin-Cyclophosphamide-Paclitaxel-Carboplatin
GLIDES	Guidelines Into Decision Support
GLS	Global Longitudinal Strain
H_2O_2	Hydrogen peroxide
НСМ	Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy
HER-2	Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
HF	Heart Failure
HFrEF	Heart Failure with reduced Ejection Fraction
Hsp 20	Heat shock protein 20
•	•
ICOS-ONE	International Cardio-Oncology Society-ONE trial
ICOS-ONE IL	International Cardio-Oncology Society-ONE trial
ICOS-ONE IL IL6	International Cardio-Oncology Society-ONE trial Interleukin Interleukin 6
ICOS-ONE IL IL6 IQR	International Cardio-Oncology Society-ONE trial Interleukin Interleukin 6 Interquartile range
ICOS-ONE IL IL6 IQR IRI	International Cardio-Oncology Society-ONE trial Interleukin Interleukin 6 Interquartile range Ischaemic Reperfusion Injury
ICOS-ONE IL IL6 IQR IRI IVA-Dox	International Cardio-Oncology Society-ONE trial Interleukin Interleukin 6 Interquartile range Ischaemic Reperfusion Injury Ifosfamide – Vincristine – Dactinomycin – Doxorubicin
ICOS-ONE IL IL6 IQR IRI IVA-Dox IVSd	International Cardio-Oncology Society-ONE trial Interleukin Interleukin 6 Interquartile range Ischaemic Reperfusion Injury Ifosfamide – Vincristine – Dactinomycin – Doxorubicin Interventricular Diastolic Septal diameter
ICOS-ONE IL IL6 IQR IRI IVA-Dox IVSd JAKs	International Cardio-Oncology Society-ONE trial Interleukin Interleukin 6 Interquartile range Ischaemic Reperfusion Injury Ifosfamide – Vincristine – Dactinomycin – Doxorubicin Interventricular Diastolic Septal diameter Janus Kinases
ICOS-ONE IL IL6 IQR IRI IVA-Dox IVSd JAKs LA	International Cardio-Oncology Society-ONE trial Interleukin Interleukin 6 Interquartile range Ischaemic Reperfusion Injury Ifosfamide – Vincristine – Dactinomycin – Doxorubicin Interventricular Diastolic Septal diameter Janus Kinases Left atrium
ICOS-ONE IL IL6 IQR IRI IVA-Dox IVSd JAKs LA	International Cardio-Oncology Society-ONE trial Interleukin Interleukin 6 Interquartile range Ischaemic Reperfusion Injury Ifosfamide – Vincristine – Dactinomycin – Doxorubicin Interventricular Diastolic Septal diameter Janus Kinases Left atrium Left Anterior Descending Artery
ICOS-ONE IL IL6 IQR IQR IRI IVA-Dox IVSd JAKs LA LAD LDH	International Cardio-Oncology Society-ONE trial Interleukin Interleukin 6 Interquartile range Ischaemic Reperfusion Injury Ifosfamide – Vincristine – Dactinomycin – Doxorubicin Interventricular Diastolic Septal diameter Janus Kinases Left atrium Left Anterior Descending Artery Lactate dehydrogenase

LoD	Limit of detection
LoQ	Limit of quantification
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LV	Left ventricle
LVEDd	Left Ventricular End Diastolic Diameter
LVEDs	Left Ventricular End Systolic Diameter
LVEDV	Left Ventricular End Diastolic Volume
LVEF	Left Ventricular Ejection Fraction
LVESV	Left Ventricular End Systolic Volume
LVPWd	Left ventricular posterior wall diastolic diameter
MACCE	Major adverse cardiovascular and cancer events
MAP	Methotrexate – Doxorubicin – Cisplatin
Mdivi-1	mitochondrial division inhibitor 1
MI	Myocardial Infarction
MPTP	mitochondrial permeability transition pore
MRA	Mineralocorticoid Receptor Antagonist
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
MUGA	Multi-gated acquisition scan
NADH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide hydrogen
NF-ĸB	nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
NO	Nitric Oxide
NO-cGMP-	Nitric-Oxide cyclic guanosine 3',5'-monophosphate Protein Kinase G
PKG	
NT-pro-BNP	N-terminal-pro-brain-natriuretic-peptide
NYHA	New York Heart Association

OH	hydroxyl
	, j

OVERCOME	Prevention of left Ventricular dysfunction with Enalapril and Carvedilol
	in patients submitted to intensive Chemotherapy for the treatment of
	Malignant hEmopathies trial

- PCI Percutaneous Coronary Intervention
- PICC Peripherally inserted central venous catheter
- PPAR Proliferator activated receptors
- PPCI Primary Percutaneous Coronary Intervention
- PPI Protein Pump Inhibitor
- PRADA Prevention of cardiac dysfunction during adjuvant breast cancer therapy trial
- RAS Renin-angiotensin system
- R-CHOP Rituximab, cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, prednisolone
- RCHOP-Mtx Rituximab, cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, prednisolone, methotrexate
- RIC Remote Ischaemic Conditioning
- RISK Reperfusion Injury Salvage Kinase
- rRIC Repeated remote ischaemic conditioning
- RV Right ventricle
- SAFE Survivor Activator Factor Enhancement
- SD Standard deviation
- SST Serum separating tube
- STAT 3 Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 3
- STEMI ST elevation myocardial infarction
- STI Speckle Tracking Imaging
- SVE Supraventricular Ectopic beat

SVT	Supraventricular tachycardia
TAPSE	Tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion
TDI	Tissue Doppler Imaging
ТІМІ	Thrombolysis in Myocardial Infarction
TNF	Tumour Necrosis Factor
Tnl	Troponin I
TnT	Troponin T
TTN	Titin
UCL	University College London
UCLH	University College London Hospital
VE	Ventricular Ectopic beat
VI-Dox	Vincristine – Ifosfamide – Doxorubicin
VT	Ventricular tachycardia
WHO	World Health Organisation
Tic	Intracellular lifetime of water

Acknowledgements

The MD Thesis presented below is in part based on patients and date collected from the ERIC-ONC study (Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning in Oncology Patients). This was a randomised controlled study of remote ischaemic conditioning vs sham which was already in progress when I started my MD. The design and methodology therefore of the comparison between the remote ischaemic conditioning and sham groups of the thesis was in part based on the already existing design of the ERIC-ONC study. When I started my MD, I successfully submitted major amendments to the ethical committee to include cardiac MRI, cardiac myosin binding protein C as well as to expand the referral of patients to include lymphoma patients. In addition, the data I present are based on the patients that I recruited into the ERIC-ONC study and not of any patients previously recruited into the study. Furthermore, the statistical analysis and results presentation was performed by myself and were independent of any study analysis. A preliminary mid-point interim analysis of the entire ERIC-ONC study showed similar findings to current thesis findings.

Dedicated to Rachel and Yiannis, for their patience

Chapter 1 Anthracyclines and Anthracycline induced cardiomyopathy

1.1 History of Anthracyclines

Anthracyclines, with daunorubicin being the first to be developed, are antibiotics that were first isolated from streptomyces peucetius in the 1960s(1) in Milan, Italy. They were soon realised to have anti-tumour properties; observed following such effects seen on tumours in mice(2). Not long after, the beneficial anti-tumour effects were also noted in children with leukaemia(3,4) as well as other types of tumours(5). Adriamycin (today's doxorubicin and named after the Adriatic sea whose panoramic view could be enjoyed from where the soil that the s.peucetius was isolated from(6)), was developed soon after, with a chemical structure similar to that of daunorubicin but for the substitution of a hydrogen atom with a hydroxyl group. It too, was found to be effective against childhood leukaemia and lymphomas in particular, as well as solid tumours(7,8). However, even early on from their discovery, their detrimental effect on the heart was noted(9,10). Over the following decades, more than 2000 anthracycline analogues have been developed, all in an attempt to primarily minimize the cardiac side effects(11). However only a minority have made it into the clinical arena and the prototypes daunorubicin and doxorubicin are still widely used. Epirubicin, idarubicin and mitoxantrone are other examples of anthracyclines that are in use in clinical practice particularly in breast and gastric cancer and haematological cancers(12-14). However, the potential to cause cardiac injury (short or long term) has not been completely diminished.

1.2 Anthracycline use in cancer patients

Currently, anthracyclines still play an important role in the treatment of patients with a variety of cancers. For example in haematological malignancies and in particular in one of the most common types of Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma, diffuse large cell lymphoma, doxorubicin as part of the CHOP regime has been standard of care for more than 30 years

with early studies suggestive of complete remission rates of up to 70%(15) and overall survival rates at 3 years of 50%(16). More recently, addition of rituximab, a monoclonal antibody against CD-20, has also been shown to improve response rate(17) and thus the R-CHOP regime is now standard of care in most patients with diffuse Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma. Similarly, in classical Hodgkin's Lymphoma, the commonest form of Hodgkin's Lymphoma, doxorubicin as part of the ABVD regime is now considered standard of care for limited and intermediate-stage disease and is a treatment option for advanced-stage disease(18).

Bone sarcomas are another cancer where anthracyclines have been found to be beneficial. In osteosarcoma, seen most commonly in adolescents, doxorubicin in combination with either cisplatin or ifosfamide and/or high dose methotrexate increases disease free survival from 10-20% to more than 60% in the non-metastatic setting(19) and is currently first line treatment. Similarly in Ewing's sarcoma, commonly seen in children and adolescents, doxorubicin usually forms part of a six-drug systemic chemotherapy regime that includes cyclophosphamide, ifosfamide, vincristine, dactinomycin and etoposide which, when added to radiotherapy and surgery, improves 5-year survival from less than 10% to 60-75% in localized disease and 20-40% in the metastatic setting(19). In chondrosarcoma, the most common bone cancer of adulthood, response to chemotherapy is more variable with anthracycline based regimes potentially of some benefit in certain types of chondrosarcoma(20).

In soft tissue sarcoma, the situation is less clear at least in localized disease where surgery and radiotherapy seem to have a more important role, though anthracycline based chemotherapy (usually combined with ifosfamide) remains an option in certain

patients(21). In metastatic soft tissue sarcoma however, anthracycline chemotherapy is first line, usually as single agent doxorubicin or combined with ifosfamide(21).

In early breast cancer, anthracycline/taxane combination regimes are now the standard of care for the majority of cases both in the neo- and adjuvant setting (Level of evidence IA)(22) and in meta-analyses have been found to reduce mortality by one third(23,24) regardless of anti-HER2 or hormonal therapy. Similarly in advanced breast cancer, anthracyclines or taxanes as single agents are the preferred choice in the absence of any contraindications (Level of evidence IA)(25).

1.3 Mechanisms of action of anthracyclines in cancer (cytotoxicity)

Anthracyclines have a core four-ring structure that is linked to an amino acid, daunosamine(26).They are administered intravenously, have a long plasma half-life of more than 24 hours, are rapidly absorbed by tissues and in general, apart from idarubicin, do not cross the blood-brain barrier. They are primarily excreted by the biliary system with some renal excretion(27). Their mechanism of action is multifactorial, complex, confusing and ultimately not entirely known.

When human chromosomes are treated with anthracyclines, they can be seen as a fluorescent well defined band(28) thought to represent the formation of a tight bond with nuclear double-stranded DNA. This tight bond is responsible for their toxicity(26). Once bound to DNA, through the process of intercalation (i.e. the insertion of molecules between the planar DNA bases) they cause local uncoiling of the double-stranded helical structure(26). This intercalation interferes with the action of topoisomerase II. Topoisomerase II is an enzyme involved in DNA transcription and replication by transiently uncoiling DNA strands. Leukaemia cell lines that are resistant to Adriamycin have

significantly reduced topoisomerase II catalytic activity compared to Adriamycin-sensitive cell lines(29), suggesting strong evidence of a link between anthracycline cytotoxicity and topoisomerase II activity. There are two types of topoisomerase II enzymes, IIA and IIB. Tumour cells express large amounts of topoisomerase IIA whereas cardiac cells express IIB. Anthracyclines affect both topoisomerase IIA and IIB(30).

The generation of reactive oxygen species is another popular theory of how anthracyclines cause cytotoxicity primarily through their interaction with cellular iron (Fe) metabolism. Doxorubicin readily binds to iron to form complexes which cause DNA damage by reducing Fe(III) to Fe(II) and reacting with hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) to form hydroxyl (OH) reactive oxygen species(26). Furthermore, doxorubicin affects the release of iron from ferritin, the cellular iron storage protein(31,32), which impacts on iron dependent cellular functions. In addition, anthracyclines have the ability to produce free radicals independent of their interaction with iron. Their structure allows them to act as electron acceptors that interact with various enzymes (cytochrome P450 reductase, NADH dehydrogenase, xanthine oxidase) to form semiguinone structures that can cause direct DNA injury or interact further with oxygen to form further oxygen free radicals that themselves cause DNA injury(33). These reactive oxygen species have been proposed to also cause cytotoxicity via the process of lipid peroxidation of the cell membrane(11,31)(a process by which free radicals attack lipids and ultimately lead to cell death(34)) though with conflicting evidence. The general criticism of both the free radical and the lipid peroxidation theory of anthracycline cytotoxicity is that many of the mechanistic studies have used drug concentrations that were not clinically relevant (11,33).

When a chemical substance forms a covalent bond to DNA, DNA adducts are formed(35). Similarly, when a substance forms covalent bonds between two DNA nucleotides, DNA

cross-linking is thought to occur(36). Adriamycin has been found to form DNA adducts that prevent DNA transcription(37) and their cytotoxic activity has been found to be strongly correlated to the amount of inter-strand DNA crosslinking(38). These, and other, experiments therefore suggest DNA adduction and cross-linking as other potential mechanisms of action for anthracycline cytotoxicity(33). Furthermore, most of the anthracyclines have also been found to inhibit the action of DNA helicases, enzymes that are essential in preparing the DNA strands for replication and transcription by unzipping them(39) thus offering a further potential mechanism of action.

There is increasing evidence that anthracyclines may in part be causing cytotoxicity by inducing apoptosis. Apoptosis, also known as programmed cell death, is an important mechanism by which many chemotherapeutic agents cause cancer death(40) and anthracyclines, at least in certain concentrations, seem to induce apoptotic cell death of cancer cells(41,42) with some evidence that this is undertaken via the p53 apoptosis-related gene family(11).

1.4 Anthracyclines and the heart

1.4.1 Prevalence of anthracycline induced cardiomyopathy

As alluded to above, early on in the discovery and use of anthracyclines in patients, their toxic effect on the heart was recognised(43) and its link to cumulative dose received, acknowledged(44). Early retrospective reports suggested an incidence of congestive heart failure of 3% at 400mg/m², 7% at 550mg/m² and 18% at 700mg/m² for doxorubicin(45) and 1.5% at 600mg/m² and 12% at 1000mg/m² for daunorubicin(10) in both adults and children. Speyer et al, when analysing the placebo arm of their breast cancer cardioprotection study, found clinical congestive heart failure (i.e. New York Heart Association (NYHA) II or more) in 27% of adult women with a median cumulative

doxorubicin dose of 440mg/m² and a median decrease in LVEF of 4% between 275-399 mg/m^2 of doxorubicin and 15% between 400-499 mg/m^2 (46). There was a 70% chance of remaining free of clinical CHF for cumulative doses up to 500 mg/m² and a 50% chance of remaining free of a decrease in LVEF for the same cumulative dose(46). However, even though this was a prospective analysis, the number of patients was small (n=74). Therefore, Swain et al used the placebo arms of 3 randomised controlled trials investigating dexrazoxane, as a cardioprotective agent, to assess the incidence of anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity with a combined number of 630 patients (all adults)(47). A total of 32 patients (5.1%) developed congestive cardiac failure. As expected, the incidence increased according to the dose given with 5% developing heart failure after a cumulative dose of 400 mg/m², 16% at 500 mg/m², 26% at 550 mg/m² and 28% at 700mg/m² suggesting that cardiotoxicity was commoner than early reports suggested. Furthermore, the analysis confirmed previous suspicions that other factors increase the risk, particularly older age, with patients >65 having at least a 2-fold increase in risk compared to younger patients. Therefore, a prevalence of clinical heart failure of around 5% when using cumulative doses of up to 400mg/m² is commonly quoted in expert documents(48).

However, with improvements in particularly echocardiographic analysis of cardiac function, it is now increasingly recognised that subclinical asymptomatic cardiotoxicity is more common. This was initially noted in studies of children who survived cancer with subclinical echocardiographic indices of cardiotoxicity in up to 57% of cases(49) in one study and 23% in another study, of which only 4% developed symptomatic heart failure(50). Furthermore, subclinical cardiac abnormalities such as LV fractional shortening and changes in isovolumetric relaxation time, were noted in up to a third of patients treated for childhood

ALL receiving low dose anthracyclines(51) suggesting that there is no truly safe anthracycline dose.

More recently, in a large prospective study of 2625 adult patients receiving an anthracycline based chemotherapy regime for a variety of cancers, cardiotoxicity as defined by a reduction in LVEF by more than 10% from baseline and to less than 50%, occurred in 9% of patients, of which 81% were in NYHA I or II and 19% in NYHA III or IV after a median follow up of 5.2 years(52).

As already eluded to, to investigate the prevalence of anthracycline induced cardiomyopathy, one needs an accurate definition of anthracycline-induced cardiomyopathy. Commonly, the terms anthracycline cardiotoxicity and anthracycline-induced cardiomyopathy are used inter-changeably which complicates matters further. In the early studies, the focus was on clinical and/or electrocardiographic cardiac toxicity but with improvements in imaging cardiac analysis and biomarker sensitivity the focus has shifted to imaging parameters of cardiac toxicity as well as cardiac biomarkers. This is also reflected in the studies investigating the prevalence and incidence of anthracycline cardiac toxicity that follow the same pattern in how they define toxicity.

Currently, most expert consensus documents suggest a definition of cardiac toxicity or cancer-therapy related LV dysfunction (which includes anthracycline induced cardiotoxicity) occurs if the LVEF decreases by >10% from baseline and to a level below the lower limit of normal(48) or LVEF <53%(53,54), regardless of symptoms. Having said that, the same expert documents, do acknowledge the inadequacies of LVEF as a marker of cardiotoxicity and the presence of other imaging and biological markers such as myocardial strain and cardiac biomarkers which may be more useful in the identification of

early cardiotoxicity. Using this definition therefore, the prevalence of anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity, based on the large prospective study by Cardinale et al, discussed above, is 9%(52).

A special mention with regards to children is needed as the effects of anthracyclines on a child's heart, for reasons that will be explored later, differ from adults and almost need to be treated as a different entity altogether. Indeed in a series of experiments in the 1990s, Lipshultz et al, have shown that young age is an independent risk factor for anthracycline cardiomyopathy(49,55). When assessing the late cardiac effects of anthracyclines in children treated for ALL, young age was an independent risk factor (p=0.003) that predicted increased afterload (end systolic stress)(49) and reduced LV mass(55) as assessed with echocardiography. In these experiments, the rates of congestive heart failure within a year of chemotherapy was 10%, of which some developed a recurrence of congestive heart failure in the next 3 to 15 years, with some needing transplantation(49,55). Rather interestingly, LV contractility is impaired in the initial years after chemotherapy, subsequently improves, and then starts to decline again after 6 years of follow up, suggesting that there is a very late onset incidence of cardiomyopathy and thus stressing the importance of long term monitoring in childhood cancer survivors(56). The incidence of clinical cardiotoxicity in children with cancer was looked at in an earlier, much larger study of 6493 children who received anthracycline chemotherapy(57). Clinical cardiotoxicity was defined as congestive heart failure not caused by other causes, a change in cardiac function on echocardiography that was significant enough to prompt discontinuation of anthracyclines and sudden death from presumed cardiac causes. In total, 106 children had cardiotoxicity (1.6%) with 58 of those developing congestive heart failure, 43 having deterioration in cardiac function and 5 having a presumed cardiac death. Most of these cardiac events (90%) occurred in the first year after chemotherapy(58).

However, even though the study analysed data over 16 years, the retrospective nature of the analysis and the fact that the follow up time is not stated, may explain the lower incidence noted. Subclinical cardiotoxicity therefore, is likely to be more common, as is the case in adults.

1.4.2 Pathophysiology of anthracycline-induced cardiomyopathy

Early post-mortem examinations of patients who have died of anthracycline-induced cardiomyopathy show a diffuse injury to the myocardium with loss of myocardial fibrils, reduction in myocardial cells, mitochondrial oedema and presence of dense inclusion bodies(44). Unlike the pathophysiology of anthracyclines against cancer cells where the exact mechanism of action is not entirely clear, in the heart, free radical generation seems to be the prevailing theory of toxicity(59). Doroshow et al has shown that doxorubicin enhances the production of superoxide, hydrogen peroxide and hydroxyl radicals in rat hearts despite the presence of superoxide dismutase and glutathione peroxidase enzymes, both of which are thought to be protective against oxygen free radicals, suggesting that injury may occur because the capacity of cardiac cells against oxygen free radicals is overcome(60). It is thought that compared to other tissues like the liver, the heart has a lower number of these protective enzymes, making it more prone to damage from free radicals(61). This injury seems to be facilitated by NADH dehydrogenase from cardiac mitochondria(62,63) as well as other enzymes which cause electron reduction of doxorubicin that lead to free radical generation(26).

Furthermore, the interaction of anthracyclines with iron and iron metabolism seem to be another important pathway by which free radicals are produced(26). Anthracyclines easily bind to iron to form complexes and, in the presence of oxygen, regularly oscillate between the Fe³⁺ and Fe²⁺ states, often producing free radicals as by-products which can be lethal

to cardiac cells(64). Specifically, Myers et al has shown that doxorubicin will form a 3:1 complex with ferric iron that will bind to human erythrocyte membranes and in the presence of glutathione it will cause destruction of erythrocyte ghost membranes through superoxide and hydrogen peroxide radical production(65). The same group has shown that the free radical scavenger tocopherol when given to mice as pre-treatment prior to Adriamycin administration, reduces Adriamycin-induced cardiomyopathy as seen on electron microscopy, probably by preventing lipid peroxidation, but without affecting its response against tumour cells(66). One of the strongest evidence in favour of the free radical and iron theory is the use of iron chelating agents such as dexrazoxane as cardioprotective agents. Both in the acute and chronic setting and in a variety of animal models, dexrazoxane has been shown to prevent anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity(67–69). Furthermore, as I will discuss later, dexrazoxane has shown similar benefits in human trials(70,71) and currently has an indication as a cardioprotective agent against anthracycline-induced cardiomyopathy in certain scenarios.

Another theory to explain cardiotoxicity is the effect anthracyclines have on topoisomerase enzymes(72) Adult mice cardiomyocytes express topoisomerase II β but not topoisomerase II α (73). Mice that are engineered to lack topoisomerase II β in their cardiomyocytes and then exposed to doxorubicin show protection against doxorubicin induced cardiomyopathy that seems to be driven from the effects of topoisomerase II β on mitochondrial function rather than cellular generation of reactive oxygen species(74).

Furthermore, early reports in animal studies show that anthracyclines may affect calcium regulation by increasing intracellular myocardial calcium concentrations which may impact on the contractile function of cardiomyocytes(75). In addition, calcium dysregulation may impact mitochondrial function and provide a further pathway by which free radicals are

generated within cardiac mitochondria, as inhibiting mitochondrial calcium uptake in cells treated with doxorubicin attenuates reactive oxygen species formation(76) and reducing mitochondrial ATP content(77). Therefore, similar to the role of calcium in post-ischaemic reperfusion injury(78), mitochondrial calcium overload may be exacerbating anthracycline injury.

As mentioned earlier, anthracyclines are also implicated in apoptosis as another mechanism involved in cardiac injury. In myocardial cell lines and isolated cardiac mitochondria, doxorubicin administration induces apoptotic pathways early on in the process, through caspase 3 activation (an apoptotic enzyme) and cytochrome c release (a pro-apoptotic protein)(79). In vivo, apoptotic cell death is seen in rats treated with doxorubicin which seems to be driven by activation of the Fas-mediated apoptotic pathway rather than p53(80).

The myofibrillar disarray seen on microscopy(44,53) may in part be explained by the direct effect of anthracyclines on gene expression. Both in vitro and in vivo, doxorubicin significantly reduces the levels of circulating mRNA of sarcomeric proteins(81) which again may be driven by caspase activation(82).

In children, treatment with anthracyclines at a young age, particularly ≤5 years old, is recognised as an independent risk factor for late onset cardiomyopathy and is indeed often part of recommendations for screening in survivors of childhood cancer(83). One initial theoretical explanation offered for this observation, is that doxorubicin may cause damage and loss to a critical number of cardiomyocytes which fall to a level below that needed to form a normal adult myocardium as the full number of adult myocytes develops by six months of age and any subsequent increase in myocardial size is due to increasing growth

of existing myocytes(49). More recently, Huang et al attempted to replicate the clinical scenario of late onset cardiomyopathy in children in a mouse model(84). Juvenile mice were exposed to doxorubicin doses that did not cause acute toxicity, and their hearts analysed after they reached adulthood. Juvenile doxorubicin exposure led to an abnormal vascular bed with less branching and reduced density, which was more prone to both physiological (in the form of exercise) and pathological (induced infarction) stress(84). Furthermore, the doxorubicin affected the number and function of progenitor cells(84), which are thought to be involved in myocardial regeneration(85). Both of these findings suggest that early doxorubicin exposure may affect the ability of the heart to respond to stress later on and therefore predispose to the development of late onset heart failure(84).

A simplified schematic of anthracycline induced cardiac injury is shown on the right-hand side of Figure 1.2 on Page 69.

1.4.3 Clinical presentation, diagnosis and treatment

1.4.3.1 Clinical Presentation

Historically, three patterns of cardiac presentation have been described with regards to anthracyclines; acute, early onset and late onset(86).

In acute cardiac injury, often occurring within the first few weeks, two patterns were observed in the early reports; non-specific ECG changes such as sinus tachycardia, ST segment/T wave changes and ventricular premature ectopics, and acute heart failure(9,44,87). The ECG changes noted however were primarily based on observations from ad hoc 12-lead ECGs. In an attempt to characterise this better, Steinberg et al performed 24 hour Holter monitoring during the first 24 hours post doxorubicin infusion. The frequency of arrhythmias during the first hour and the next 23 hours were noted and

compared to control periods (Holters performed on same patients at days remote to doxorubicin therapy either 1-5 days preceding a subsequent doxorubicin infusion and/or at least 16 days after last infusion)(88). In the first hour after treatment, the frequency of arrhythmia attributed to doxorubicin was noted in one of 33 studies (3%) (premature ventricular ectopics). In the next 24 hours, new arrhythmias were noted in 24% and again in the form of ventricular premature ectopics in all but two patients (6%) who developed non-sustained ventricular tachycardia (of at least 3 consecutive beats in duration)(88). In another report, 24-hour Holters detected arrhythmias in 65% of cases(89), though this likely reflects differences in study designs and definitions of arrhythmias. Interestingly, paroxysmal atrial fibrillation was noted in 10% of cases in this study(89). Unlike left ventricular dysfunction, arrhythmias caused by anthracyclines are thought to be dose independent(90).

The second pattern of acute cardiac injury due to anthracyclines manifests as acute heart failure and is defined as starting within one week of treatment, is rare, occurring in less than 1% of cases, and characterised by depressed myocardial contractility that is transient and will recover when the anthracycline is stopped(86).

Early, chronic progressive anthracycline cardiotoxicity defined as occurring within the first year of therapy (and after the first week from treatment), is more common and will present with the typical features of congestive cardiac failure such as breathlessness on exertion and peripheral oedema and imaging parameters consistent with dilated cardiomyopathy, though children may also present with a restrictive phenotype(86). In the early reports congestive heart failure would occur on average 80 days after the last administration of anthracycline, there was not much response to therapy(87), and in those cases were cardiac death ensued this would happen within 24-48 hours of presentation(9). We now

know that there are many patients who do not present so acutely but still have anthracycline cardiotoxicity with either mild symptoms or completely asymptomatic. Indeed, in one of the largest prospective trials of anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity to date, 9% of 2625 patients developed cardiotoxicity (defined as a drop in LVEF of more than 10% from baseline and below 50%), most of which (80%) were in NYHA class I or II(52). In this cohort, 98% of cases occurred within the first year after chemotherapy with a median of 3.5 months.

Late onset chronic cardiotoxicity is defined as one that occurs more than 1 year after chemotherapy and has been observed to occur even up to 20 years after therapy(91). It has been more extensively studied in children(92) and echocardiographic studies suggest LV contractility to be significantly reduced more than 6 years after treatment for ALL(56), stressing the importance of long term follow up of cardiac function in cancer survivors who received anthracyclines. However, this has also been noted in adults where, breast cancer patients aged 66-70 treated with anthracycline regimes were 26% more likely to develop heart failure compared to patients receiving non-anthracycline regimes and this difference was more evident at 10 years from chemotherapy (38.4% vs 32.5%)(93).

Even though these 3 patterns of injury are helpful to clinicians in simplifying the clinical presentation, this view has been recently challenged as it is felt that it is rather a continuum phenomenon that starts with myocardial injury during or soon after chemotherapy, that leads to subclinical cardiac injury which if left untreated will then progress to overt heart failure(52).

1.4.3.2 Diagnosis

Diagnosis of anthracycline-induced cardiomyopathy often requires detailed history, examination and investigations. As stated earlier, currently accepted definitions of cancer therapeutics-related cardiac dysfunction (CTRCD) (which includes anthracycline-induced cardiomyopathy) that would prompt referral to a cardiologist or initiation of cardiac treatment, are based on changes in LVEF on imaging, principally echocardiography. These include a change in LVEF of \geq 10% points from baseline and to a value below the lower limit of normal or to a value \leq 50% in European guidelines(48,94) or a change in LVEF of \geq 10% points from baseline or to a value \leq 53% in North American guidelines(53,54), regardless of symptoms. This decrease in cardiac function should be confirmed with a repeat assessment a few weeks later.

The diagnosis can be straightforward if there is a baseline echocardiogram present for comparison, the deterioration in function happens not long after anthracycline therapy and there was no intervening clinical event that happened in the interim to explain this deterioration. However, following my experience in looking after these patients in the Cardio-Oncology service at UCLH, this is often not the case. Despite a level and grade IA recommendation in the latest European Society of Medical Oncology (ESMO) guidelines(94) to perform a baseline assessment of cardiac function, this does not always happen, largely due to the high demand for echocardiography within the clinical service. In addition, particularly in children and young adults, the deterioration in LV function can happen many years later casting doubt in some clinicians' minds of anthracyclines as the cause of cardiomyopathy.

For these reasons therefore, a detailed history and examination is needed to make the diagnosis. This should include detailed oncological and cardiovascular history and

symptoms, cumulative anthracycline doses, additional chemotherapy agents, radiotherapy treatment details, timing of treatment, assessment of risk factors for anthracycline related injury and clinical events during and after chemotherapy. In addition, basic cardiac investigations such as an ECG and echocardiogram are often performed. Despite that, it is not uncommon for patients to undergo a variety of tests to identify any other causes of deterioration of LV function. This may involve an assessment of their coronary arteries, especially in older patients, with either CT, functional testing for ischaemia or invasive coronary angiography. There is an increasing appreciation that cardiac MRI, with its ability to assess ventricular structure, size and function, assess ischaemia and tissue characterisation of the myocardium in one setting, is particularly useful in such patients to exclude other causes like myocarditis, infiltrative disorders, and infarction amongst others(95).

The reason as to why the diagnosis is sometimes difficult to make is because, at present, there is no single biomarker (either blood or imaging biomarker) that is specific for anthracycline-induced cardiomyopathy. Therefore it is often a diagnosis based on clinical judgement after other causes of cardiomyopathy have been excluded(48,96). Even with the use of late gadolinium enhancement (LGE) in cardiac MRI, a marker of myocardial scarring, LGE is only found in 6% of cases, even in the presence of reduced LVEF(97) observed in one study and 0 in another study in children, despite a significant proportion with reduced LVEF(98). There is however, emerging animal and human data that specific cardiac MRI biomarkers derived from T1 and T2 mapping may be more specific for anthracycline-induced cardiomyopathy which could be used in future, for diagnosing early cardiotoxicity(99,100). Furthermore, there is an increasing interest in microRNAs which are small molecules of non-coding RNA that are crucial in regulating mRNAs as potential biomarkers for various cardiac (and non-cardiac) conditions, including anthracycline

cardiotoxicity(101) with some evidence suggesting that some microRNAs are linked to reductions in LVEF(102).

1.4.3.3 Treatment

It was previously thought that damage to the myocardium from anthracyclines, dubbed as Type 1 chemotherapy related cardiac dysfunction(103), was permanent and irreversible(53) and may not respond to conventional heart failure therapy(104,105). However, evidence started to emerge from small studies showing significant improvement in cardiac function in severe epirubicin-induced cardiomyopathy in advanced breast cancer patients (LVEF 18-35%) to near normal function with Angiotensin Converting Enzyme Inhibitors (ACE-Is)(106,107). Addition of a beta-blocker to ACE-I improved function even further in another small study of 25 patients with doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy population with mean LVEF of 26%(108). Case reports for the benefit of beta-blockers on their own, particularly carvedilol, also started to emerge(109–111).

Cardinale's group addressed the effect of ACE-Is and beta-blockers in a prospective study of 201 patients with LVEF≤45% due to anthracyclines (other causes excluded with clinical history and other tests as necessary)(112). Enalapril and Carvedilol were started and uptitrated as tolerated and their effect on LVEF, the primary end point, monitored over time. The response was divided into 3 groups: Responders (LVEF increased up to at least normal limit of 50%), partial responders (LVEF increased by more than 10% but below the 50% limit) and non-responders (LVEF increased by less than 10% and did not reach the 50% limit). During follow up, 42% were found to be responders, 13% partial responders and 45% non-responders (mean LVEF before treatment vs after treatment of 41%, 28%, 38% vs 55%, 44%, 38% for each group). Importantly, full recovery was more likely to happen if treatment was started early and in fact, no patients showed full LVEF recovery if therapy was started more than 6 months after the end of chemotherapy. As expected, responders had less cardiac events (4 vs 8 vs 26).

Thus, anthracycline cardiomyopathy can be reversed with treatment, especially if started early(112) and it is now generally accepted that treatment should not differ from heart failure of other causes(48) and follow international heart failure guidelines(113).

1.5 Screening and monitoring at risk patients for anthracycline cardiotoxicity 1.5.1. Screening prior to initiation of anthracycline chemotherapy

One of the challenges of anthracycline chemotherapy, is predicting who may be at increased risk of developing cardiac toxicity (Table 1). Risk factors can be separated into treatment-related and patient related(114).

Of the treatment-related factors, the association with cumulative dose received and cardiotoxicity is now well established as one of the most significant(115), with modern oncology regimes often limiting the cumulative maximum lifetime dose to 400-550mg/m² of doxorubicin(116). Therefore, anyone receiving a total cumulative lifetime doxorubicin dose \geq 500mg/m² (epirubicin \geq 720mg/m²) is considered high risk according to the European Society of Medical Oncology (ESMO)(116). This is even lower at \geq 250mg/m² (epirubicin \geq 600mg/m²) in the 2017 American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) guidance(115).

Certain concomitant therapies can act as additive risks to anthracyclines to developing cardiomyopathy or heart failure(48,92,114). Radiotherapy, in particular high dose (>30Gy) mediastinal radiotherapy, acts as an additive risk factor for heart failure in Hodgkin's Lymphoma survivors(117) with a similar pattern seen in breast cancer patients treated with epirubicin and previous radiotherapy(118). In general, radiotherapy increases heart

disease mortality, by 4.1% per Gy in patients with breast cancer receiving modern radiotherapy treatment(119). This includes mortality from ischaemic heart disease, heart failure and valvular heart disease.

Combination therapy with trastuzumab, a monoclonal antibody against the Human Epidermal growth factor Receptor 2 (HER2), usually in the context of breast cancer requires specific mention. Trastuzumab significantly improves time to disease progression in the metastatic setting when added to standard chemotherapy, but with an increased incidence of heart failure (27% in anthracycline, cyclophosphamide and trastuzumab regime vs 8% in anthracycline and cyclophosphamide regime with NYHA III/IV of 16% and 3% respectively)(119). Similar trends were seen in operable breast cancer patients with rates of cardiac events of 4.1% in those who received trastuzumab versus 0.8% in those who didn't(120). Real world retrospective data from large patient cohorts also show hazard ratios of 7.19 for risk of heart failure when trastuzumab is combined with anthracyclines versus 1.4 for anthracyclines alone(121). Chemotherapy related dysfunction from trastuzumab is typically known as Type II dysfunction to differentiate it from that of anthracyclines which is known as Type I(103). The nomenclature, coined by Ewer and Lippman, suggests to almost distinct entities where Type I is dose related, typically thought to be permanent and irreversible with structural changes of myofibrillar disarray seen during electron microscopy. Type II however is not dose related, with no ultrastructural damage seen and thought to be reversible after discontinuation of trastuzumab(103). The enhanced toxicity seen with addition of trastuzumab to patients who already received anthracyclines is thought to be due to existing anthracycline damage that reduces the ability to compensate for the effects of trastuzumab on the heart(103).

A variety of patient related factors also increase risk. In addition to young age at treatment (as discussed above), older age (>65) is an independent risk factor with an increase in risk of congestive heart failure of 2.25 times in patients over 65 in one analysis(47) and a difference of 32% in the risk of severe LVEF decline in patients over 50 compared to younger patients in another analysis(122). Female sex is often quoted as a risk factor though this seems to be the case only in patients who have received it as children(55) but not as adults(114). Furthermore, pre-existing cardiovascular comorbidities like hypertension and diabetes will also increase the risk(48,92,123). More recently, genetic factors have been found to play a role with the presence of gene variants known to cause dilated cardiomyopathy, and in particular truncating variants of the Titin (TTN) gene, to be more prevalent in cancer patients who developed cancer therapy related cardiomyopathy (7.5% vs 1.1% in unselected cancer patients)(124). This was backed up with data from TTN truncating variants in mice showing more LV dysfunction compared to wild type mice(124) suggesting that genetic make-up may predispose some patients to develop cardiac injury more than others after exposure to anthracyclines.

In addition to clinical history and examination baseline cardiac investigations ought to be done in everyone prior to anthracycline chemotherapy both as a screening tool but also to have as a baseline comparison in the future. These include an ECG (IA recommendation, ESMO 2020 guidelines)(94), an assessment of cardiac function (IA recommendation, ESMO 2020 guidelines)(94), and increasingly baseline cardiac biomarkers (IIIA recommendation, Prospective Studies, strong evidence for efficacy with substantial clinical benefit, strongly recommended, ESMO 2020 guidelines)(48,94). Assessment of cardiac function can be with any number of imaging techniques with echocardiography being the most common (and generally most preferred) but with nuclear imaging and cardiac MRI as alternative options. More importantly, using a modality at baseline which will be available
for monitoring during and after therapy is strongly encouraged(48). Cardiac biomarkers include troponins and natriuretic peptides and even though the significance of these at baseline is less clear, it is not unreasonable to have a baseline value to compare for monitoring later on.

Table 1. Risk Factors for	Anthracycline Cardiotoxicity	/
	Risk	
Cumulative Dose	Variable and dose	
	dependent(47)	
Up to 400mg/m ²	3-5%	
Up to 550mg/m ²	7-26%	
Up to 700mg/m ²	18-28%	
Concomitant therapy		
Radiotherapy	Risk ratio 6.5 vs	High dose radiotherapy and high dose
	4.5(117)	anthracyclines vs high
Trastuzumab		only
	3 to 5 fold increased	
	risk(119–121)	
Young Age	82% of children <4 show	
	a cardiac	
	abnormality(49)	
Older Age	Twofold increase(47)	
Female sex	Unclear(55)	Risk seems to be
		relevant in children only
Comorbidities (e.g.	Not specified(115,123)	
diabetes, hypertension,		
renal failure, obesity)		
Genetic Factors	7.5% vs 1.1%(124)	Truncating variants of TTN gene

1.5.2 Screening and monitoring during and after chemotherapy

1.5.2.1 When to perform cardiac screening during chemotherapy?

Similar to baseline screening prior to chemotherapy, expert consensus documents from

both oncological and cardiological societies recommend monitoring for cardiotoxicity from

anthracyclines during chemotherapy using assessment of clinical status, biomarkers and imaging assessment of cardiac function. The specifics of the monitoring however, are less clear and differ somewhat between consensus documents. The ESC's 2016 position paper on cancer treatments recommend assessment of cardiac function with imaging at the end of chemotherapy, especially in patients at increased risk or if further cardiotoxic therapy is planned. In high risk patients who have already received at least 240mg/m² an earlier assessment should be considered. Biomarker assessment with troponin or natriuretic peptides may be considered appreciating its role is not entirely clear(48). The American Society of Echocardiography (ASE) 2014 expert consensus document (written in conjunction with the European Association of Cardiovascular Imaging), takes a similar approach though a bit more specific. They recommend assessment of cardiac function and biomarkers at the end of chemotherapy and then at 6 months later if the total doxorubicin cumulative dose is <240mg/m² (or its equivalent). However, if a patient is receiving more than that as part of their regime, then assessment of function and biomarkers is recommended before each additional 50mg/m² dose (which is usually before each additional cycle)(53). To complicate matters further, in a subsection titled "early detection of subclinical LV dysfunction", it is suggested that patients should be monitored during chemotherapy with LV strain methods periodically and troponins each cycle(53). The American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) 2017 guidelines recommend (strength of recommendation moderate) routine surveillance with cardiac imaging during chemotherapy may be offered in those who are felt to be at higher risk. For anthracyclines this is defined as anyone who is receiving a cumulative dose of ≥ 250 mg/m², anyone receiving <250mg/m² but also receiving mediastinal radiotherapy or has multiple cardiovascular risk factors or age >60 or already has compromised cardiac function. No specific recommendations are made about biomarker surveillance as it is felt more studies are needed to clarify their role(115). The recent European Society of Medical Oncology

(ESMO) 2020 consensus recommendations, like the ASE document, offer more specific advice recommending (IA) assessment of cardiac function after a cumulative dose of 250mg/m² is reached, and then after each 100mg/m² beyond that, even if the total dose is ≤400mg/m². Periodic (every 3-6 weeks or before each cycle) assessment of troponin and natriuretic peptide biomarkers is also recommended, though at the lower level and grade of IIIC (defined as level of evidence III-from prospective studies, grade C - optional recommendation)(94). A summary of these recommendations is presented in Table 2.

Table 2. Recommendations for screening and cardiac surveillance during					
anthracycline chemotherapy					
Society	Year	Recommendation ^a	Level and		
			Grade ^b		
ASE & EACVI expert	2014	1. If total dose <240mg/m ² , cardiac	Not stated		
consensus		function and biomarker			
document(53)		assessment at end of			
		chemotherapy and at 6 months			
		post chemotherapy			
		2. If total dose ≥240mg/m ² , cardiac			
		function and biomarker			
		assessment before each			
		additional 50mg/m ²			
		3. LV strain (GLS) periodically and			
		troponins each cycle if wanting			
		to detect early subclinical			
		dysfunction			

ESC position paper	2016	1. Imaging assessment at the end	Not stated	
on cancer		of chemotherapy, especially in		
treatments(48)		high risk patients. Sooner if a		
		dose of 240mg/m ² reached.		
		2. Biomarker measurement may be		
		considered during chemotherapy		
	0047		<u> </u>	
ASCO clinical	2017	Cardiac imaging surveillance	Evidence-based,	
practice		may be offered in high risk	evidence quality	
guideline(115)		patients ^c	intermediate,	
			recommendation	
			strength	
			moderate	
ESMO consensus	2020	1. Cardiac function assessment	IAd	
recommendations(94)		after 250mg/m ² reached and		
		then after each 100mg/m ²		
		beyond that	IIIC ^d	
		2. Periodic (every 3-6 weeks or		
		before each cycle) assessment		
		of biomarkers (troponin and		
		natriuretic peptides)		
	F ahaaa		of Operation operation	
ASE – American Society of Echocardiography, EACVI – European Association of Cardiovascular				
Imaging. ESC – European Society of Cardiology. ASCO – American Society of Clinical Oncology,				
European Society of Medical Oncology				
a – Cumulative doses are for doxorubicin, but same recommendation applies for equivalent doses if				

b – note different grading systems for recommendations used. ASCO using the GLIDES
methodology, ESMO using Infectious Diseases Society of America-United States Public Health
Service Grading System

c – defined as cumulative dose of \geq 250mg/m², or dose <250mg/m² but with mediastinal radiotherapy, or multiple cardiovascular risk factors or age >60 or already impaired cardiac function d – see text for details

Even though there is some variability in the recommendations made by the different bodies, which probably reflects some of the inconsistencies in the available evidence, there seems to be an agreement that a cumulative dose of between 240-250mg/m² should trigger an assessment of cardiac function during chemotherapy, at least in patients who are deemed high risk. This is because of an observed increase in cardiac events with heart failure and/or reduction in LVEF during chemotherapy from 9% to 18% with an increase in cumulative dose from 250mg/m² to 350mg/m² in a retrospective analysis of around 600 patients(47). Using radionuclide assessment of LVEF in 28 patients receiving CHOP therapy for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, LVEF decreases from 58% to 52% (p<0.001), 50%(p<0.001) and 49%(p<0.001) after cumulative doses of 200, 400 and 500mg/m² respectively(125). A more recent CMR study of 53 patients receiving low dose anthracyclines, showed that in 26% the LVEF deteriorates to below 50% 6 months after administration. No scans were performed during chemotherapy, but there was a decrease in LVEF noted at the one month scan(126).

1.5.2.2 When to perform cardiac screening after chemotherapy?

There seems to be an overall consensus that cardiac function should be assessed around 6 and/or 12 months post anthracycline chemotherapy. In the asymptomatic patient, with preserved cardiac function during chemotherapy, the ASE/EACVI report recommends cardiac function assessment 6 months post chemotherapy. Beyond that, it is suggested to

perform a clinical cardiovascular evaluation on a yearly basis with further imaging assessment left to the discretion of the treating physician(53). The ESC, suggests surveillance with echocardiography, particularly for survivors who received high dose anthracyclines, at 1 and 5 years post chemotherapy(48). ASCO, mirrors the ASE/EACVI, in that it recommends cardiac function assessment at 6 and 12 months post chemotherapy with no recommendations beyond that(115). ESMO in their recent statement, suggest assessment of cardiotoxicity with biomarkers and possibly imaging at 6-12 months, then again at 2 years post chemotherapy and periodically after that (IIIB)(94).

In children and young adult survivors of cancer, where a late onset cardiomyopathy that can happen many years later is increasingly being recognised, it was felt there was a need for cardiac surveillance to occur more long-term(83). However, the discordance in advice between various Children Oncology Groups was evident, to the extent that an International Late Effects of Childhood Cancer Harmonisation Group was formed to provide recommendations(127). They recommended surveillance in those who received a high dose (\geq 250mg/m²) of anthracyclines, and surveillance to be reasonable in those receiving lower doses. Surveillance should start no later than 2 years after completion of therapy, repeated at 5 years and then performed every 5 years thereafter(127).

1.5.2.3 Screening modalities for anthracycline cardiotoxicity: Imaging

Historically, LVEF has been useful in detecting changes in cardiac function during and post anthracycline chemotherapy(128) and has since gained prominence in monitoring for cardiotoxicity. Nowadays this is commonly done using echocardiography as it is widely available, cheap, with no radiation involved and can also provide information beyond LVEF. It is therefore the imaging modality of choice recommended in most guidelines. Over the years, various ways have been developed to estimate LVEF using

echocardiography, all with their limitations. Two dimensional (2D) methods, are common, with the biplane method the most popular. However, in cancer patients 2D LVEF and volume calculation methods have a temporal and observer variation of about 10%(129). This is also the cut-off of a change in LVEF that would prompt discontinuation in chemotherapy that is often recommended and the reason why 2D methods have been questioned as a way to monitor these patients. Three-dimensional (3D) volumetric assessments reduce this variability to 6%(129). If endocardial definition allows, 3D is the preferred method to calculate LVEF in cancer patients on cardiotoxicity surveillance(48,53,94,115)

Nonetheless, LVEF may be a late feature of anthracycline cardiotoxicity. Ejection fraction is a composite measure of longitudinal, circumferential and radial ventricular contractility, and if one of them deteriorates the others may overcompensate to maintain the EF(130). Over the recent years, other parameters, and in particular myocardial deformation indices have become more relevant in detecting early subclinical LV dysfunction. In a systematic review, Thavendiranathan et al. have shown that changes in global longitudinal strain (GLS), precede and predict subsequent LV dysfunction, with a change of GLS from baseline between 10-15% being the most accurate(131). As such, a change in GLS of more than 15% is now recommended as suggesting a risk of cardiotoxicity(48,53,94,115)

Imaging modalities other than echocardiography can also estimate cardiac function and LVEF. Nuclear cardiac imaging (MUGA), was one of the first modalities to be used when monitoring for anthracycline cardiotoxicity(132). When compared to CMR in heart failure patients, it has less variability when calculating LVEF compared to 2D echo(133), with a high reproducibility(48). Its main limitations are exposure to radiation and limited information about other cardiac structures(48,53).

Cardiac MRI is often considered now the gold standard when assessing chamber volume and function in view of its true 3D volumetric analysis which avoids assumptions of geometrical shape that may be encountered in other modalities such as 2D echocardiography(53). In addition, due to its versatility, particularly with the use of gadolinium-contrast imaging, it can assess for a variety of different pathological entities in one setting, thus making it an attractive imaging tool in the cancer setting(95). Its use in the cancer patient therefore, is encouraged particularly if there is concern regarding suboptimal assessment with other imaging modalities or in borderline cases of LV dysfunction where cessation of chemotherapy may be considered(48,53). In a head to head echocardiography versus CMR study in cancer survivors, Armstrong et al show that 2D echocardiography overestimates the mean EF by 5% compared to CMR and that 11% of cases were misclassified as having a normal EF when in fact it was less than 50%, though when compared to 3D echocardiography, CMR findings were more similar(134).

Despite advanced imaging techniques with cardiac MRI, markers that may predict or diagnose early cardiotoxicity are still lacking, though emerging data suggest this may soon change. Late gadolinium enhancement in established anthracycline cardiomyopathy is infrequent (6%) though LV mass was inversely related to anthracycline dose and predicts future cardiac events(97). Myocardial extracellular volume (ECV), a marker of fibrosis calculated from native and post-contrast T1 mapping(135), increases after anthracycline chemotherapy compared to controls even if EF remains preserved(99,136). Furthermore, the intracellular lifetime of water (τ_{ic}), a marker of cardiomyocyte size(137), decreases post anthracyclines suggesting that atrophy may be responsible for the observed decrease in mass(136). More recently, in a CMR study in pigs, T2 relaxation times were found to be the earliest marker of myocardial damage, occurring as early as 2 weeks after the third (of 5) dose of doxorubicin(100).

Disadvantages of CMR include limited availability and expertise and long acquisition times amongst others(48,53). Acquisition times however can be reduced by revising protocols to suit specific conditions(138) or for specific CMR parameters(139).

1.5.2 Screening modalities for anthracycline cardiotoxicity: Biomarkers

Lipshultz et al, was one of the first to show that elevation of cardiac troponin T in children with ALL after receiving doxorubicin containing regimes with a suggestion of a correlation with LV wall thinning on echocardiography 9 months later(140). Since then, various investigators have been examining the role of troponin in anthracycline chemotherapy. In a set of elegant experiments Cardinale et al showed that if Troponin I is positive during (tested at various timepoints at each cycle) chemotherapy (which included a significant proportion of patients receiving anthracycline chemotherapy) it predicts subsequent deteriorations in LVEF, with the maximal troponin rise strongly correlated to the amount of LVEF decrease(141,142). Furthermore, the same group showed that if Troponin I is positive during (early) and one month (late) after chemotherapy, it can stratify patients for their risk of subsequent cardiac events, with a positive predictive value of 84%, if troponin positive (both early and late) and a negative predictive value of 99% if troponin negative (both early and late)(143). Auner et al showed that in 78 patients with haematological malignancies treated with anthracycline regimes, 15% have a positive Troponin T during their therapy, and troponin T positive patients show a greater reduction in their LVEF on subsequent echocardiograms post treatment (10% decrease vs 2%) though LVEF dropped to below 50% in only one patient (who was troponin +ve)(144). Furthermore, a positive troponin T is associated with diastolic dysfunction(145). One of the problems with the evidence about the role of troponins in monitoring and predicting of cardiotoxicity is the variability between the studies, with different assays, different time points of troponin measurement, different end points thus making it difficult to know exactly how to interpret

them(48,146). Having said that, it is generally recognised that a rise in troponin increases the risk of cardiotoxicity(48,53,94,115).

Natriuretic peptides, and in particular N-terminal-pro-brain-natriuretic-peptide (NT-pro-BNP) and brain natriuretic peptide (BNP), have also been looked at as biomarkers of early cardiotoxicity with promising results, however with similar and if not worse variability between studies to make accurate conclusions(146).

Attempts to create risk scores to calculate individual risk for cardiovascular complications of cancer therapy have been made, with the CCSS cardiovascular risk calculator derived from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study (CCSS) data, being the most relevant for anthracyclines(147). Based on a retrospective analysis of the CCSS data, it is aimed at 5-year survivors of childhood cancer with current age up to 40, with estimates of heart failure up to age 50. They separate the risk into 3 groups i.e. low, moderate and high risk with incidence of heart failure of 0.5%, 2.4% and 11.7% respectively(148). Even though it was designed from retrospective data, it has been validated against different cohorts of childhood cancer survivors with similar validation cohort estimates(148). It requires various parameters including age at diagnosis, cumulative dose used if known and use of other chemotherapeutic agents and radiotherapy. Biomarker or imaging data are not required. No equivalent risk score exists for adults.

1.6 Cardioprotective strategies

Over the years, there has been a significant amount of research done to identify cardioprotective agents that could be given as primary prevention against anthracycline induced cardiomyopathy.

1.6.1 Angiotensin Converting Enzyme Inhibitors (ACEi)

ACEi are now the cornerstone in the treatment of heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF)(113) and unsurprisingly, they have been investigated for their role in anthracycline cardiotoxicity.

Early animal studies with enalapril and captopril indicated that they may have a cardioprotective effect in Adriamycin induced acute cardiotoxicity by acting as antioxidants and affecting the activity of anti-oxidant enzymes(149). Indeed intracoronary administration of doxorubicin with simultaneous enalapril treatment in dogs improved survival, reduced LV end diastolic pressure and improved LV stroke work index(150). Furthermore, in addition to its antioxidant effects, enalapril seems to prevent mitochondrial dysfunction and depletion of cellular ATP levels caused by doxorubicin in rats(151). It may also play a part in the regulation of fatty acid metabolism by upregulating proliferator activated receptors (PPAR)(152). More recently, enalapril's cardioprotective action in a chronic doxorubicin cardiotoxicity rat model (but not in the acute model) has been shown to be via the PI3K/AKT/mTOR axis which is involved in cardiac atrophy, rather than due to its antioxidant properties(153). These laboratory studies, in addition to showing a potential role of enalapril as a cardioprotective agent they also provided an insight into potential mechanistic pathways of anthracycline-induced cardiomyopathy.

Whilst most studies have been undertaken using enalapril, other ACEi have also been examined. In neonatal rat cardiac myocytes treated with doxorubicin, delarapril was found to have a cardioprotective effect by improving the intracellular calcium handling that is impaired after doxorubicin administration(154). Captopril reduces Adriamycin induced cardiac injury as measured by a reduction in cardiac iso-enzymes CKMB and LDH in invivo rats(155). Similarly in hamsters treated with Adriamycin, lisinopril significantly improves cardiac function and survival rate compared to control animals(156). These

protective effects of lisinopril may, in part, be related to reduced ANP expression and myocellular apoptosis(157). Furthermore, with an increasing amount of patients receiving combination chemotherapies, particularly with trastuzumab in the breast cancer population, inhibition of the RAS system with perindopril (and indeed with aliskiren and valsartan) improves echocardiographic assessment of LV size and function in a chronic murine model of doxorubicin/trastuzumab cardiotoxicity(158). Furthermore, perindopril reduces oxidative stress caused by doxorubicin treatment in rats, though it did not prevent LV dilatation(159).

Human trials using enalapril as a primary cardioprotective agent have also been undertaken. Cardinale et al performed a randomized open label controlled trial of patients receiving high dose chemotherapy (58% receiving anthracycline regimes) to assess enalapril as a cardioprotective agent in 114 patients at high risk of cardiotoxicity. High risk of cardiotoxicity was identified by the presence of at least one positive Troponin I value taken soon after (immediately after and at 12, 24, 36, 72 hours after) the end of each chemotherapy cycle. Enalapril (mean dose 16mg/day) was started 1 month after the end of the last chemotherapy cycle and continued for 1 year. There was significant cardiotoxicity (defined as LVEF reduction by >10% from baseline and to a level <50%, the primary end point) in the control group compared to the enalapril group (43% versus 0%; P<0.001) and this was also associated with an increase in end-diastolic and end-systolic volumes(160). Similarly, in a randomised, single blinded placebo-controlled trial, enalapril was given just prior to initiation on anthracycline chemotherapy and its effect on LVEF after 6 months was compared to placebo. There was a significant reduction in LVEF in the control group at 6 months from baseline which was not seen in the enalapril group (LVEF: 46.31 ± 7.04 vs. 59.61 ± 5.70 %, respectively; p<0.001). This was associated with a significant increase in LVEDV, LVESV, LA diameter and E/e' velocity and a significant

decrease in E/A ratio, s' and e' velocity (all secondary end points) that were not seen in the enalapril group. Furthermore, troponin I and CKMB performed at 1 month after initiation of chemotherapy was higher in the control group(161). Enalapril as a cardioprotective agent has also been studied in children. In a randomised double blinded placebo-controlled trial, enalapril or placebo was given to children with haematological malignancies due to start anthracycline chemotherapy of >200mg/m². The primary outcome of reduction in cardiotoxicity which was defined as a reduction in LVEF >20% (an arbitrary value) was not reached. However, LVEF at 6 months was significantly less in the control group compared to enalapril group (LVEF enalapril 62.25% +/- 5.49, control 56.15% +/- 4.79, p<0.001). This was also associated with a significant increase in Troponin I and NT-pro-BNP at 6 months(162).

In contrast, Georgakopoulos et al. found that enalapril did not offer any cardioprotection in a randomised controlled study(163). However, cardiotoxicity was not clearly defined, and there was no reduction in LVEF in the control group at 12 months compared to baseline as there was in the Cardinale study (67.6% to 66.6% vs 62.8% to 48.3%)(160,163) and the Janbabai study(161). This difference may be due to the fact that biomarkers were not used to identify potential high risk patients. This was shown to be a useful way to identify at risk patients in the recent International Cardio-Oncology Society-ONE (ICOS-ONE) trial(164). In this trial, patients were randomised to a prevention group and received enalapril at the beginning of their chemotherapy and a troponin-triggered group where enalapril was started only after a troponin elevation was detected (performed before and after each chemotherapy cycle and at each study visit). The incidence of troponin elevation above normal was similar in the two groups with similar number of patients developing cardiotoxicity suggesting that a troponin triggered approach may be feasible way to identify at risk patients(164). When combined with carvedilol in the OVERCOME trial (preventiOn

of left Ventricular dysfunction with Enalapril and caRvedilol in patients submitted to intensive Chemotherapy for the treatment of Malignant hEmopathies), an open label randomised controlled trial of 90 patients, enalapril and carvedilol started prior to administration of chemotherapy (some of which included anthracyclines) prevent cardiotoxicity, as measured by deterioration in LVEF compared to the control group. There was a small but significant absolute intergroup difference of 3.1% in LVEF from baseline with echocardiography (p=0.04) and 3.4% with CMR in favour of the intervention group(165).

1.6.2 Angiotensin Receptor Blockers (ARBs)

Angiotensin Receptor Blockers (ARBs) have also been investigated as potential cardioprotective agents against anthracycline induced cardiotoxicity. Like ACE-Is, they act on the renin-angiotensin system. When doxorubicin is given to Angiotensin II type1a receptor knockout (AT1KO) mice and wild type mice treated with a AT1 antagonist, both groups of mice were protected against doxorubicin cardiotoxicity both in the acute and chronic settings(166).

Telmisartan is an AT1 receptor antagonist, which, in in-vivo models of doxorubicin and daunorubicin cardiotoxicity, is protective when measured both with biochemical and histopathological methods(167,168). Its cardioprotective effect was found to be comparable to that of captopril(169). In an Adriamycin model of cardiotoxicity it was found that the cardioprotective effect of telmisartan, and indeed losartan, appeared to be through increasing circulating plasma levels of Angiotensin 1-7 (Ang 1-7), a peptide formed from Angiotensin I and II that is thought to have cardioprotective properties(170). Furthermore, telmisartan has antioxidant properties that may also be partly responsible for reducing cardiotoxicity(171).

In humans treated with telmisartan prior to chemotherapy, telmisartan prevented a rise in inflammatory and oxidative stress markers (interleukin 6 and reactive oxygen species) that was seen in the placebo group, suggesting an anti-inflammatory/anti-oxidant mechanism of cardioprotection. Left ventricular systolic function as measured by strain rate initially reduced in both groups but subsequently significantly improved only in the telmisartan group(172). This effect on strain rate persisted after 18 months(173).

Valsartan improves the echocardiographic parameters of mice receiving doxorubicin and trastuzumab in a chronic murine model of cardiotoxicity to a similar extend to perindopril(158). Furthermore, valsartan prevents doxorubicin induced cardiotoxicity in rats as measured by in vivo haemodynamic parameters, electrocardiographic parameters and biochemical parameters. Interestingly, this protective effect was seen only when valsartan was given during or after doxorubicin but not when given before(174). Valsartan's cardioprotective effect against doxorubicin seems to be through reducing cellular apoptosis(175).

One of the earlier ARB human trials investigating anthracycline cardioprotection was done using valsartan. Patients with non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma due to start CHOP (cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, prednisolone) chemotherapy were randomised to receive valsartan or nothing and the effect on acute cardiotoxicity was compared. Acute cardiotoxicity was evaluated using electrocardiographic (QTc and QTc dispersion), echocardiographic and biochemical (ANP and BNP) parameters. Valsartan significantly prevented transient changes in acute cardiotoxicity markers(176).

In a rat model of daunorubicin induced cardiomyopathy, rats treated with candesartan had reduced mortality, improved systolic and diastolic functions and reduced fibrosis and apoptosis(177). In the PRADA trial, whose primary outcome was change in LVEF from baseline as measured by cardiac MRI, there was a small but statistically significant reduction of LVEF in the placebo group (2.6, 95% CI 1.5-3.8) compared to the candesartan group (0.8, 95% CI -0.4, 1.9, p<0.026)(178). Interestingly, in a substudy analysis of the PRADA trial, candesartan had no effect on the observed increase in circulating biomarkers of cardiac injury. Metoprolol however, attenuated the increase in troponin I and troponin T as well as natriuretic peptides(179). The authors concluded that this suggests that candesartan's beneficial effect is primarily on its effect on remodelling whereas metoprolol's beneficial effect is on preventing acute cardiotoxicity. To further support that, in a further sub-analysis of the PRADA study, it was found that candesartan treatment reduced total cellular volume as measured by cardiac MRI(180). This rather surprising result may be explained by considering candesartan's actions on angiotensin II. By inhibiting angiotensin II, candesartan reduces its growth promoting effects on cardiac cells which leads to cardiac remodelling thus reducing total cellular volume rather than cardiomyocyte death and fibrosis(180).

1.6.3 Beta Blockers (BB)

Beta blockers, established as treatment for heart failure with reduced ejection fraction(113), have also been studied as primary prevention strategies particularly with carvedilol, nebivolol and to some extend metoprolol.

Carvedilol is a 3rd generation highly lipophilic, non-selective β -adrenoreceptor antagonist that also blocks α_1 -adrenoreceptors, thus having vasodilating properties(181). In heart failure, it reduces mortality by 65%(182) and by 27% in cases of severe heart failure(183).

In view of its α_1 -adrenoreceptor activity, it is also effective as an anti-anginal(184). In addition, carvedilol has anti-oxidant properties with an anti-oxidant activity that is ten times more than that of vitamin E(181).

Early animal studies, suggested a protective effect of carvedilol in rat hearts treated with doxorubicin when compared to placebo and atenolol(185). This protective effect seemed to be in part due to its effect on mitochondrial dysfunction(186) utilising primarily carvedilol's anti-oxidant rather than β -blockade properties(187,188). In-vivo animal studies confirmed improvement in cardiac function after treatment with carvedilol(189,190) as well as reduction in fibrosis and hypertrophy in histological specimens(191).

In parallel to the animal studies, case reports of improvement in cardiac function in anthracycline-induced cardiomyopathy following carvedilol administration started to emerge(109). Kalay et al was the first to show in a small single-blinded randomised controlled trial, that 6 months of 12.5mg of carvedilol daily preserves the LV size and function in patients treated with anthracycline chemotherapy compared to placebo(192). In a more recent study of 91 breast cancer patients, carvedilol 6.25mg twice daily, also prevented deterioration in LVEF that was seen in patients receiving placebo(193). Similar findings have been seen in children treated with Adriamycin for acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Carvedilol, given for 5 days before every Adriamycin dose, resulted in a significant increase in cardiac function as measured by fractional shortening as well as inhibiting the release of cardiac troponin I even as early as one week after the last dose of chemotherapy(194). In patients with breast cancer receiving doxorubicin (maximum dose 536 mg/m²), strain imaging with echo was used to assess early cardiotoxicity. At 6 months, there was a significant decrease in strain imaging parameters in the placebo group compared to the carvedilol group (12.5mg daily) suggesting that carvedilol potentially prevents early silent cardiotoxicity(195). Carvedilol seems to preserve these changes in

strain analysis as early as one week after the last chemotherapy was given(196). However, a lot of these studies were limited in their design by being single-blinded or open label or having small number of patients. The CECCY trial (Carvedilol Effect in Chemotherapyinduced CardiotoxicitY), was a double blind, randomised, placebo controlled trial of 200 HER-2 negative breast cancer patients that received doxorubicin (total dose 240 mg/m^2) as part of their chemotherapy protocol(197). Carvedilol was slowly up-titrated to a maximum of 25mg twice daily if tolerated. The primary endpoint of a drop of at least 10% in LVEF at 6 months was not different between the two groups (14 patients (14.5%) in the carvedilol group and 13 patients (13.5%) in the placebo group (p = 1.0)). The LVEDd showed a nonsignificant trend of increase in the control group compared to the carvedilol. Troponin I however, a secondary outcome, was significantly attenuated in the carvedilol group. Significant changes in favour of carvedilol were also seen in indices of diastolic dysfunction(197). One potential explanation offered for these discrepancies in the primary outcome compared to previous studies is the lower dose of anthracycline received as well as a lower incidence of early onset cardiotoxicity in this study which might affect power calculations(197).

Nebivolol is a highly lipophilic, highly selective β -1 receptor antagonist (321-fold higher affinity for β -1 compared to β -2 receptor) that also has nitric oxide (NO) mediated vasodilatory properties(198). As such, it is often thought to be a more "cardioselective" beta-blocker, at least in doses up to 10mg/day. In addition, it is also thought to have some antioxidant properties(199). Nebivolol has been studied in clinical trials as a treatment for hypertension(198), as well as in heart failure where it was found to reduce all-cause mortality or hospitalisation compared to placebo in elderly patients(200). In view of these properties, it has been investigated as a cardioprotective agent during anthracycline chemotherapy. In rat heart models of anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity, nebivolol

reduced markers of cardiac toxicity such as troponin and CK(201). Similarly, nebivolol protected against cardiac muscle injury when assessed histopathologically as well as biochemically(202). In clinical trials of breast cancer, 5mg/day of nebivolol given 7 days prior to commencement of anthracycline chemotherapy and continued for 6 months, prevented LV dilatation compared to control and preserved LVEF significantly better than controls at 6 months (57.5±5.6% vs. 63.8±3.9%, p=0.01)(203). In an unblinded study, tissue Doppler imaging (TDI) and speckle tracking imaging (STI) are preserved in patients receiving nebivolol compared to the group not receiving nebivolol(204).

Reports of metoprolol being used early on in the treatment of anthracycline-induced heart failure, suggested improvement in cardiac function both in humans(111) and animals(205). This was potentially mediated by preventing calcium overload in cardiomyocytes(206). However, when give as a cardioprotective agent prior to development of heart failure, subsequent clinical studies have been neutral. In an open-label randomised control trial of 125 patients, there was a marginal but non-significant reduction in heart failure with metoprolol(207). In the Prevention of cardiac dysfunction during adjuvant breast cancer therapy (PRADA) study, a 2x2 factorial, randomised, placebo-controlled, double-blind clinical trial of candesartan and metoprolol in 130 breast cancer patients receiving anthracycline containing regimes, metoprolol, unlike candesartan, had no effect on LVEF change as measured by cardiac MRI(178).

1.6.4 Mineralocorticoid Receptor Antagonists (MRAs)

Mineralocorticoid Receptor Antagonists (MRAs) are second line therapy after ACE-I and Beta blockers for patients with heart failure and reduced ejection fraction, often given in patients with ongoing symptoms and persistent severe LV dysfunction (typically LVEF <35%)(113). In rats treated with doxorubicin and spironolactone, spironolactone prevented increase in LV size and decrease in function caused by doxorubicin(208). In male mice, eplerenone prevents left ventricular dysfunction after doxorubicin treatment and mice that have had the mineralocorticoid receptor gene depleted, show similar protection suggesting a role of the mineralocorticoid receptor in cardiac protection(209). However, in a similar experiment involving female mice, eplerenone or indeed mineralocorticoid gene depletion did not show any cardioprotective effects(153). In a randomised, placebo controlled double blind study of 83 breast cancer patients, spironolactone started one week prior to anthracycline based chemotherapy was compared to placebo. The primary outcome was a change in LVEF. There was a significant reduction in LVEF from 67.7 ± 6.3 to 53.6 ± 6.8 (P <0.001) in the control group which was not seen in the spironolactone group (67.0 ± 6.1 to 65.7 ± 7.4 , P = 0.094). When comparing the two groups using a general linear model, this difference in LVEF change was still significant (p<0.001). Diastolic function markers were also more significantly affected in the placebo group. Furthermore, the spironolactone group showed significantly less increases in cardiac biomarkers (CK-MB and troponin I) compared to the placebo group(210).

1.6.5 Dexrazoxane

Dexrazoxane is a water soluble form of the iron chelator ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), which can easily pass into cells and is broken down to an EDTA form that chelates iron by displacing it from the anthracyline(211). As the interaction of anthracyclines with iron metabolism and reactive oxygen species in cardiotoxicity became clearer, it was not long before dexrazoxane was investigated as a potential cardioprotective therapy. Indeed, in the 1970s and 1980s, Herman et al, performed a series of experiments showing that dexrazoxane (then known as ICRF-187) or similar agents can protect the heart from anthracyclines in a variety of different species(67–69,212,213). Speyer et al, was the first to show, in a single centre randomised-controlled

trial of 92 women with advanced breast cancer, that dexrazoxane significantly prevented subsequent deteriorations in LVEF (drop in LVEF 3% vs 16% for higher doses and 2% vs 7% for lower doses with and without dexrazoxane respectively), and clinical congestive cardiac failure(214) as well as allowing for higher doses of doxorubicin to be given(46). The anti-tumour effect of doxorubicin was not affected though there was possible more myelotoxicity in the dexrazoxane group(46). This benefit was further shown in a multicentre study of 162 advanced breast cancer patients with an odds ratio of developing cardiotoxicity (defined as clinical heart failure, or LVEF <45% or EF drop by >20% units) of 0.29 (95% CI 0.09-0.76, p = 0.006) in favour of dexrazoxane with similar non-cardiac toxicity, progression-free survival and overall survival(215). In children with sarcoma, smaller but still beneficial effects on cardiotoxicity were seen with dexrazoxane, although with a trend towards more haematological toxicity(216). The protective effects were further supported with larger phase III trials in breast cancer to the extent that a safety committee recommended an amendment to the protocol to give all patients dexrazoxane after doses of 300mg/m² due to excess cardiotoxicity in the placebo arm(70) and a subsequent analysis of the higher dose patients showing even more significant cardioprotective effects(217). Dexrazoxane also prevented cardiac injury as measured by troponin in children with ALL(218). Furthermore, patients who previously received anthracyclines and who required further anthracycline therapy, had fewer cardiac events (39% vs 13%) and heart failure (11% vs 1%) if given dexrazoxane(219). In addition, meta-analyses have shown a significant benefit for dexrazoxane in preventing heart failure with relative risk between 0.18 (95% CI 0.1-0.32 for clinical heart failure n = 1345) and 0.29 (95% CI 0.2-0.4 for clinical and subclinical heart failure, n = 643) with low heterogeneity (0-9%) in a Cochrane review(220) and 0.35 (95% CI 0.25-0.39) in another meta-analysis(221) with no effect on response rate or survival(220). However, its use in children with Hodgkin's Disease suggested an increased risk of secondary malignant neoplasms with a cumulative

incident rate of 3.4% vs 0.85% (p = 0.06), though overall, these were rare events (8 vs 2 events)(222). For that reason, the European Medicine Agency in 2011 restricted its use to only adult patients with advanced breast cancer who are to receive more than 300mg/m^2 and not to be used in children and adolescents(223). This has subsequently been revisited in 2017 and the European Medicines Agency has approved its use in children and adults who are to receive high dose anthracyclines and it is now only limited in children and adolescents who are to receive high dose (< 300mg/m^2) anthracyclines(224) as recent evidence does not support previous concerns raised particularly for secondary malignancies and other toxicities(225).

1.6.6 Other Cardioprotective Strategies

1.6.6.1 Continuous versus bolus infusion

Continuous infusion over 48-96 hours is occasionally used to reduce the risk of cardiotoxicity. The rationale is that peak anthracycline concentrations are reduced thus potentially reducing toxicity. However, exposure is prolonged which may inhibit the ability of cardiomyocytes to recover thus this strategy remains controversial(227). Early reports in adults show reduced cardiotoxicity with continuous infusion and ability to increase the total chemotherapy dose used(228), though this seems to be less so the case in children(227).

1.6.6.2 Anthracycline analogues

Many anthracycline analogues have been created over the years to reduce the cardiac effects with epirubicin, idarubicin and mitoxantrone the only ones potentially showing a beneficial effect. Epirubicin dose that leads to cardiotoxicity appears to be higher(229) and is sometimes used in breast cancer regimes. Both idarubicin and mitoxantrone had promising preclinical trials of reduced cardiac side effects but the clinical studies have been less promising(227).

1.6.6.3 Liposomal anthracyclines

Liposomal anthracyclines and pegylated liposomal formulations aim to reduce cardiotoxicity by not allowing the drug to escape out of vascular beds in sensitive organs but still able to escape capillary beds with disrupted walls as seen in tumour sites. Clinical studies have been promising, particularly for liposomal doxorubicin and pegylated liposomal doxorubicin, studies show similar antitumour effects with significantly lower risk of cardiac toxicity, though long-term cardiac safety effects are not yet clear(230).

1.6.7 Remote Ischaemic Conditioning as a Cardioprotective Strategy

1.6.7.1 Ischaemia Reperfusion Injury and Ischaemic Conditioning

In an acute myocardial infarction due to coronary artery occlusion, the most effective strategy in reducing infarct size and improving outcomes, is reperfusion, but paradoxically reperfusion itself can induce injury, known as myocardial reperfusion injury(226). Described as early as 1960(227) and sometimes thought of as a double-edge sword(228) reperfusion injury is now believed to be made of four distinct types: 1. Reperfusion induced arrhythmias, 2. Myocardial stunning, 3. Microvascular obstruction (the "no-reflow" phenomenon) and 4. Lethal myocardial reperfusion injury(229). The latter refers to death of cardiomyocytes that were thought to be viable at the start of reperfusion, and it is felt to contribute to as much as 50% of the final infarct size(226). Despite improvements in reperfusion strategies with primary percutaneous coronary intervention (pPCI), dual antiplatelet therapy, drug eluting stents, heart failure therapies and others, real life registry data suggest that even though there has been improvement in survival and recurrent cardiac events there is a plateauing in recent years, with all-cause mortality at one year of 14% and heart failure of 6%(230). Therefore, strategies targeting lethal myocardial

reperfusion injury, such as ischaemic conditioning, may have an important role to further reducing infarct size and its complications.

Ischaemic conditioning was first described by Murry et al in their landmark experiment in 1986(231). In that experiment, 4 cycles of 5 minute occlusions of the circumflex artery in dogs followed by 5 minutes of reperfusion prior to a prolonged episode of 40 minute ischaemia by way of occlusion of the circumflex artery, reduced infarct size by 25%, and the term "ischaemic preconditioning" was coined. Clinically, "warm-up" angina, where patients who get exertional angina that disappears can subsequently exercise for longer with minimal symptoms, may be a manifestation of the preconditioning phenomenon(232). Indeed, patients who experience angina in the 24 hours prior to a myocardial infarction have smaller infarct sizes compared to patients with no prodromal angina again suggesting this may be a representation of preconditioning in humans(233). Several small clinical trials have investigated preconditioning in the context of cardiac surgery, and in a meta-analysis of those trials, ischaemic preconditioning reduces ventricular arrhythmias, inotropic requirements and intensive care stay(234). Applying it however to the clinical setting of an acute MI that occurs unpredictably, would be difficult(235).

Zhao et al, showed in 2003 that repetitive 30-second occlusions of the LAD in dogs, at the onset of reperfusion, in other words, post-conditioning, reduced infarct size comparable to a pre-conditioning regime (14% vs 15%) and significantly less than controls (25%, p<0.05)(236). Due to its clinical feasibility, it wasn't long after a clinical trial in humans with STEMI was performed which showed that postconditioning reduces infarct size by 36% as measured by creatine kinase compared to controls(237). Despite that however, subsequent studies showed mixed results, with some showing reduction in infarct size when measured with biomarkers or imaging(235) whilst others, including a large

multicentre study of 700 patients showing neutral results(238). The reasons for the varied results are likely to be multi-factorial as described by Hausenloy et al and includes different study designs, patient selection, post-conditioning techniques and end-point definitions(235).

A few years after the Murry et al study(231), a further landmark study was published in 1993, where Przyklenk et al described remote ischaemic preconditioning(239). In a similar design to the Murry et al experiment, preconditioning was caused by 4 cycles of 5 minute occlusions of the circumflex artery in dogs followed by 5 minutes of reperfusion prior to an episode of prolonged (1 hour) ischaemia produced by occlusion of the left anterior descending artery, i.e. a different vascular bed. This remote preconditioning caused an infarct size of 6% versus 16% in the control group (p < 0.05)(239) suggesting that conditioning may be induced by an intervention done remotely, and as shown later the heart may be protected by an intervention performed remote to the organ(240). Khabander et al was the first to show that this remote stimulus can be applied non-invasively by a tourniquet or blood pressure cuff in both animals and humans(241) thus making remote ischaemic conditioning clinically an attractive non-invasive strategy to offer cardioprotection. Though the clinical studies of remote conditioning in the context of cardiac surgery and planned PCI showed mixed results(235), the ones performed during STEMI were more uniform. Bøtker et al was the first to show that RIC performed in the ambulance (i.e. pre-conditioning) increases myocardial salvage index as measured by myocardial perfusion scanning in a randomised controlled trial of STEMI patients(242). Furthermore, when assessed with cardiac MRI, RIC reduced infarct size, myocardial oedema, as well as high sensitivity troponin T in 84 patients with STEMI treated with pPCI(243). In addition, in a larger study of over 500 patients treated with thrombolysis RIC reduces infarct size by 32% and 19% as measured by enzymatic markers (Troponin T and CK-MB respectively)(244). RIC performed post reperfusion (post-conditioning) also reduced enzymatic (CK-MB) infarct size in patients with anterior-STEMI(245). Whether these promising results would translate into long term benefits was unknown until 2014 when, in 333 patients with STEMI, RIC reduced a composite of major adverse cardiac and cerebrovascular events (hazard ratio 0.49, 95% Confidence Interval 0.27-0.89, p = 0.018) with a median follow-up of 3.8 years(246). This however was not shown in a subsequent study at 6 month follow-up, though this was not the primary end-point(247). In a further randomised controlled trial of 441 patients with a primary end point of cardiac mortality or hospitalisation for heart failure with a median follow up of 2.1 years, RIC improved outcomes compared to control with a hazard ratio of 0.35 (95% CI 0.15-0.78)(248).

In a landmark trial (CONDI-2/ERIC-PPCI) published during the course of my MD, 5115 patients with STEMI were randomised to receive either RIC (n = 2546) or control (n = 2569) in addition to standard care, in a multi-centre international single blinded randomised controlled study with a primary outcome defined as cardiac death or hospitalisation for heart failure at 12 months follow-up(249). At 12 months, there was no difference in the pre-specified end-point between the two groups (8.6%(control) vs 9.4%(RIC), HR 1.1, 95% Cl 0.91-1.32, p = 0.32 for RIC vs control). Thus this large, appropriately powered study, concluded that the effect of remote ischaemic conditioning, despite previous promising results from smaller trials and repeatedly positive results from pre-clinical studies, does not translate into beneficial clinical outcomes at one year and therefore unlikely to be incorporated into routine clinical practice(249,250). Importantly it was shown that the mortality in the control group was extremely low (2.7%) indicating that the patients in this study were very low risk and it could be argued that such a study needs to be undertaken in high risk patients(251).

1.6.7.2 Mechanism of action of ischaemic conditioning, reperfusion injury and their relation to anthracycline cardiotoxicity

Alongside the clinical trials described above, a vast amount of data has been accrued over the years in an attempt to understand the mechanisms behind ischaemic conditioning and reperfusion injury. It is now appreciated that pre-, post- and remote conditioning share some common signalling pathways, are highly complex and therefore the exact mechanisms of action of each are yet to be fully elucidated(235).

Using preconditioning as an example as shown in Figure 1.1, the pathways can be, very simplistically, thought to occur in a linear fashion; a trigger is released during the preconditioning period which acts as a stimulus on a mediator that propagates the signal during the sustained ischaemic insult to an end effector that delivers the cardioprotective effect(252,253). Several stimuli have been described including repeated brief episodes of ischaemia and reperfusion, exercise, heat stress, hypothermia)(229) as well as triggers or autocoids that bind to receptors on the cell surface that activate appropriate signalling pathways(235). Examples of autocoids include adenosine(254), bradykinin(255), opioids(256), acetylcholine(257) and endothelin(258) amongst others, which in the presence of their respective inhibitor the conditioning effect is abolished. Once bound to their cell surface receptors, these autocoids activate a variety of signalling intracellular pathways, the mediators. These are complex cytosolic pathways, with more than one likely activated at any one time and often interacting with each other(253). Though there are others, three commonly described pathways are the Nitric-Oxide cyclic guanosine 3',5'monophosphate Protein Kinase G (NO-cGMP-PKG), the Reperfusion Injury Salvage Kinase (RISK) pathway and Survivor Activator Factor Enhancement (SAFE) pathways.

As described in detail by Burley et al the NO-cGMP-PKG pathway involves activation and increase in intracellular cGMP by autocoids like NO leading to activation of PKG with effect on calcium homeostasis and the mitochondrial K_{ATP} channel leading to cardioprotection(259).

The RISK pathway (first described by Yellon and colleagues) which is made up of a variety of pro-survival kinase proteins such as Akt and Erk 1/2, which when activated by autocoid and non-autocoid factors including ischaemic conditioning, have an effect on mitochondria and particularly the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (MPTP) which is inhibited as well as activating other anti-apoptotic and anti-autophagy mechanisms that lead to reduced cell death caused by ischaemic reperfusion injury(260).

In the SAFE pathway (first described by Lecour and colleagues), which seems to be independent from the RISK pathway and activated via Tumour Necrosis Factor α and interleukin 6 (IL 6) and mediated by Janus Kinases (JAKs) and Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 3 (STAT 3) with effects on both the nucleus and mitochondria to protect the cell(261).

The mitochondria appear to be the most important effectors in the conditioning process. Most signalling pathways have been found to end or involve the mitochondria and in particular the MPTP which controls release of various substances in the cytosol such as cytochrome C that can lead to cell death(253).

To explain the remote part of ischaemic conditioning it is thought that a neurohumoral pathway is needed that links the remote organ and the heart(235). Evidence for a humoral component was shown when the preconditioning effect was maintained after

preconditioned blood from one animal was transfused to a preconditioning-naïve animal(262). The exact humoral molecule responsible has yet to be identified. Furthermore, interruption of the limb-to-heart neural pathway at different levels abolishes the protective effects of remote ischaemic conditioning thus suggesting the requirement of an intact neural pathway(235). Figure 1.1. A simplified schematic illustration of conditioning using preconditioning as an example. Certain stimuli will trigger autocoids such as adenosine that act on cell surface receptors to trigger a variety of intracellular transducer pathways, the mediators. Final common pathways act on end-effectors, typically the mitochondrion, to trigger cardioprotective mechanisms through less reactive oxygen species generation, less apoptosis and less autophagy. Ca²⁺, Calcium ion; EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor; GPCR, G-protein coupled receptor; gp130, glycoprotein 130; mK_{ATP}, mitochondrial potassium adenosine 5 triphosphate channel; MPTP, mitochondrial permeability transition pore; NO-cGMP-PKG, Nitric-Oxide cyclic guanosine 3',5'-monophosphate Protein Kinase G; RISK, Reperfusion Injury Salvage Kinase; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SAFE, Survivor Activator Factor Enhancement TNFR, tumour necrosis factor receptor. Adapted from Heusch 2015 and Yellon et al 2003(257,258).



Whilst attempting to understand the pathophysiological mechanisms behind ischaemic conditioning we have gained an insight into the pathophysiology behind ischaemic reperfusion injury (IRI) (Figure 1.2). As already mentioned, IRI is made of four parts: stunning, arrhythmias, microvascular obstruction and lethal reperfusion injury, the latter being the target of conditioning. Reperfusion itself generates oxidative stress which via the generation of oxygen free radicals causes myocardial injury(226). Furthermore, reperfusion leads to increased intracellular calcium concentrations that cause hypercontracture of cells but also open the MPTP, which can be detrimental for the cell(226). A similar mechanism is thought to occur with the rapid restoration of pH that occurs during reperfusion(229). In addition, inflammatory mechanisms occurring during reperfusion lead to further reactive oxygen species generation via NADPH and xanthine oxidase enzymes(226).

The link between ischaemia/reperfusion injury and anthracycline cardiotoxicity comes from the observation that both pathologies share some common pathophysiological such as calcium dysregulation, lipid peroxidation, reactive oxygen generation and mitochondrial dysfunction(263) as depicted in Figure 1.2. In reperfusion injury, oxidative stress during reperfusion leads to reactive oxygen species (ROS) formation via xanthine oxidase (XXA) released from endothelial cells. Oxidative stress also reduces nitric oxide (NO) which together with other chemoattractants, cytokines and complement activation lead to a neutrophil influx which produce ROS via NADPH oxidase. ROS have multiple effects including opening of the MPTP, dysfunction of the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR), disruption of the cellular membrane though lipid peroxidation and direct DNA damage. Intracellular calcium overload from the ischaemic insult is further enhanced due to dysfunction of the SR and reverse function of the Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchanger. Rapid pH restoration facilitated by activation of Na-H and Na-HCO3 transporters further contribute to opening of the MPTP. The end result is myofibril hypercontracture and thus cardiomyocyte damage. In

anthracycline injury, anthracyclines enter the cells directly and cause ROS generation via NADH dehydrogenase from mitochondria as well as through their interaction with iron metabolism. They also cause intracellular calcium influx. Anthracyclines interact with topoisomerase causing direct DNA damage. ROS generation leads to damage through lipid peroxidation, DNA damage, apoptosis, increase in intracellular calcium, myofibril hypercontracture and mitochondrial dysfunction. Figure 1.2. Simplified schematic comparing reperfusion injury (left) and anthracycline injury (right), see text. A, anthracycline; ATP, adenosine 5-triphosphate; Ca²⁺, calcium ion; Fe, iron; H⁺, hydrogen ion, HCO₃, bicarbonate ion; MPTP, mitochondrial permeability transition pore; Na⁺, Sodium ion; NADH, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide; NADPH, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate; NO, nitric oxide; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SR sarcoplasmic reticulum; XXA, xanthine oxidase. Adapted from Yellon et al 2007, Hausenloy et al 2013 and Sandhu et al 2014(231,234,269).



Anthracyclines may affect some of the prosurvival pathways discussed earlier. For instance, heat shock protein 20 (Hsp 20) has been found to protect the heart during IRI through anti-apoptotic mechanisms(264) and overexpression of the same protein both in

vivo and in vitro protects against doxorubicin induced apoptosis and necrosis(265). Furthermore, ERK 1/2, which forms part of the RISK pathway, is initially upregulated potentially for protective purposes but subsequently downregulated with Adriamycin and contributes to the development of heart failure(266).

In a set of experiments Maddock's group assessed the effect of doxorubicin in an ischaemia-reperfusion model. Isolated rat hearts were subjected to 35 minutes of regional ischaemia by ligation of the left coronary artery followed by 120 minutes of reperfusion with either buffer (control) or doxorubicin. Infarct size was significantly increased by doxorubicin compared to control (64.5 ± 8% vs. 47.4 ± 2.5%)(267). When Cyclosporin A (CsA), a known inhibitor of MPTP, was added to the control perfusate as expected infarct size was reduced, and interestingly when added to the doxorubicin perfusate, infarct size was also reduced to similar levels (22% vs 27%) suggesting that doxorubicin enhances IRI and acts via the MPTP(267). Interestingly Akt and Erk 1/2 of the RISK pathway have increased phosphorylation with doxorubicin suggesting that these endogenous protective mechanisms may be recruited against doxorubicin induced cardiotoxicity(267). In a similar set up, an inhibitor of mitochondrial fission and fusion (mitochondrial division inhibitor 1 (mdivi-1)) was used both in a normoxic experiment and also an ischaemia-reperfusion experiment. In the normoxic model, mdivi 1 caused a significant reduction in infarct size seen with doxorubicin (30% vs 15%, p<0.05), and like CsA, mdivi 1 protected against the enhanced doxorubicin damage caused during ischaemia-reperfusion suggesting that the mitochondrion is crucial in the process of both ischaemia-reperfusion and doxorubicin induced cardiotoxicity(268).

Furthermore, the role of iron in both pathologies has been explored. Recently, a form of cell death that is different to apoptosis, necrosis and autophagy and depends upon

intracellular iron, termed ferroptosis, has been described(269). It has been implicated in various pathologies (e.g. degenerative disorders, cancer, brain haemorrhage and injury, IRI) and seems to be the result of lethal lipid peroxidation(270). In a set of very detailed experiments, Fang et al show that ferroptosis is implicated in mouse models of both doxorubicin-induced and ischaemia-reperfusion-induced cardiomyopathy that is prevented by both the iron chelator dexrazoxane as well as the ferroptosis inhibitor ferrostatin-1(271).

In fact, in isolated rat hearts, one 5-minute cycle of preconditioning with global ischaemia (by clamping the aorta) followed by 10 minutes of reperfusion prior to an epirubicin infusion was found to improve some of the physiological markers of acute epirubicin toxicity as early as 1996(272). It was not for another 20 years before any similar experiments were performed. In isolated rat ventricular cardiomyocytes, simulated ischaemic preconditioning was performed using a hypoxic buffer for 30 minutes followed by a normoxic buffer (i.e. reperfusion) for 10 minutes prior to exposure to doxorubicin(273). Simulated preconditioning reduces cell death by doxorubicin ($35.4 \pm 1.7\%$ vs $14.7 \pm 1.5\%$; p < 0.01), most likely does it via the PI3-kinase/Akt pathway in this model, and importantly, does not reduce doxorubicin efficacy against cancer cells when the experiment is repeated using the HeLa cervical cancer cell line(273).

In an in-vivo experiment in mice, remote ischaemic preconditioning with 3 cycles of 5minute occlusion and 5-minute reperfusion of the femoral artery was performed one hour prior to a single 20mg/kg intraperitoneal injection of doxorubicin and compared to animals receiving a sham procedure. Survival was significantly improved with RIC vs sham after 85 days (p = 0.007). Even though LVEF was similar between groups, LV mass decreased in the control but not in the RIC group. Markers of fibrosis and apoptosis were also better in the RIC group(274). Furthermore, a regime of repeated RIC (rRIC) (four cycles 5-minute

ischaemia and reperfusion using a tourniquet on hindlimb of mice), starting 30 minutes prior to administration of 10mg/kg of doxorubicin and continued daily for 5 days preserved heart/body weight ratio compared to the doxorubicin only group. Troponin I collected 6 days after doxorubicin administration was significantly elevated with doxorubicin but attenuated with rRIC and LVEF as assessed by echocardiogram on day 6 showed a modest but significant difference in favour of rRIC (LVEF doxorubicin 47.5%, doxorubicin+rRIC 51.6%, p < 0.05)(275). Like Gertz et al(274) markers of fibrosis (myocyte cross sectional area and collagen content) and apoptosis (presence of apoptotic nuclei) were also improved(275).

Recently, Gallan-Ariola et al explored RIC as a cardioprotective strategy in a more clinically relevant experiment. Using a large animal (pig), RIC consisting of 3 cycles of 5 minute occlusion and reperfusion of the hind leg using a tourniquet prior to a series of 5 injections of 0.45mg/kg of doxorubicin given 2 weeks apart, thus mimicking to some extent clinical practice. The intra-coronary (LAD) route was chosen, which though highly aggressive and not clinically translatable, minimises systemic myelosuppression. Cardiac function was assessed at baseline and then at weeks 6, 8, 12 and 16 using cardiac MRI. LV function starts to deteriorate from the 4th doxorubicin injection onwards and by week 16, LVEF is significantly lower in the non-conditioned group compared to the RIC group ($32.5\% \pm 8.7 \text{ vs } 41.5\% \pm 9.1$; p = 0.04). T1 relaxation time, a marker of oedema and fibrosis, was significantly higher in the non-conditioned group at week 16 (Δ T1 20% vs 11%, p = 0.04) which correlated with histological analysis of collagen staining(276). In a second experiment looking at early cardiotoxicity, animals were sacrificed after 3 doxorubicin injections and despite normal cardiac function at MRI, there was evidence of severe mitochondrial morphological abnormalities that were attenuated with RIC(276)
hence suggestive that the protective effect of RIC occurs early on in the disease process and continues to offer protection several weeks after doxorubicin therapy is finished.

Conclusion

Based upon the potential for RIC to demonstrate protection in the pre-clinical setting, it was felt appropriate to design a clinical study to ascertain whether this phenomenon would protect patients who receive anthracyclines as part of their chemotherapy regime. As such, the ERIC ONC (Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning in Oncology patients) study was designed(263), from which my MD Thesis is based on. ERIC-ONC was a randomised controlled trial comparing remote ischaemic conditioning delivered using a blood pressure cuff to the arm versus a sham-procedure in patients receiving anthracycline chemotherapy with changes in troponin as the primary outcome.

Furthermore, the best way to monitor patients for anthracycline cardiotoxicity still remains unclear, particularly with regards to cardiac biomarkers and how they relate to cardiovascular outcomes (biomarkers, imaging, clinical and electrical). A prospective analysis of that relationship was performed to identify a potential model of multimodality (biomarkers, imaging, clinical and electrical) monitoring. This also included testing a new potential biomarker (cardiac myosin binding protein C) as well as a rapid sequence cardiac MRI protocol.

My MD Thesis therefore has been set up to investigate two hypotheses:

 Remote ischaemic conditioning prevents anthracycline cardiotoxicity as measured by changes in troponin in patients receiving anthracycline chemotherapy. The Null Hypothesis therefore being: remote ischaemic conditioning does not prevent anthracycline cardiotoxicity as measured by changes in troponin.

2. The relationship between troponin changes during anthracycline chemotherapy and cardiovascular outcomes in patients receiving anthracyclines. The Null hypothesis therefore being: there is no relationship between changes in troponin during anthracycline chemotherapy and cardiovascular outcomes in patients receiving anthracyclines

Chapter 2 – Methods

In this chapter I will describe the methodology used for my thesis. As the data for my different thesis analyses were collected from the same cohort of patients, I will describe the methodology as a whole for the following: patient population included, patient screening, enrolment and randomisation; study protocol; RIC/Sham intervention used, biomarkers used, imaging used, clinical events analysed and electrophysiological methods used. However, as my thesis has two parts, the effect of remote ischaemic conditioning and multimodality monitoring, I will describe the outcomes chosen and statistical methods used for each part separately.

2.1 Patient Population

The patients used for my thesis were patients that I recruited into the already ongoing ERIC-ONC study (Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning in Oncology patients)(263). These included any patients aged 16-80, who were about to start an anthracycline containing chemotherapy regime at University College London Hospital (UCLH) and specifically at the Macmillan Cancer Centre at UCLH. The study was open to patients with any cancer who were able to tolerate a blood pressure cuff on either arm, but the cancer groups that agreed to participate in the study were the Sarcoma, Breast and Lymphoma groups. For the lymphoma patients, it was agreed that only patients on specific chemotherapy regimes (see below) were to be recruited. Patients were identified by the oncology teams and referred if they were deemed to be suitable candidates taking into account their comorbidities, frailty, mental state and urgency to start cancer treatment. I would then screen patients to ensure they met the inclusion and exclusion criteria. Patients were excluded if they had previous evidence of myocardial infarction, or other known cardiomyopathies or cardiac infiltrative disorders such as dilated cardiomyopathy, hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, Fabry's disease, cardiac amyloidosis or significant valvular

disease. A finding of left ventricular dysfunction either on history or subsequent baseline cardiac imaging would also have led to an exclusion as patients would have unlikely been able to receive anthracyclines. The presence of peripheral vascular disease, chronic kidney disease with eGFR <30ml/min/1.73m² or taking sulphonylurea were also exclusion criteria. Chemotherapy regimes were decided by the patient's oncology team and included the following protocols according to cancer group:

- 1. Sarcoma:
 - a. Doxorubicin (Dox)
 - b. Doxorubicin Ifosfamide (D-Ifos)
 - c. Doxorubicin Cisplatin (D-Cis)
 - d. Doxorubicin Olaratumab (D-Ola)
 - e. Methotrexate Doxorubicin Cisplatin (MAP)
 - f. Vincristine-Ifosfamide-Doxorubicin (VI-Dox)
 - g. Ifosfamide-Vincristine-Dactinomycin-Doxorubicin (IVA-Dox)
- 2. Lymphoma:
 - a. Rituximab-Cyclophosphamide-Doxorubicin-Vincristine-Prednisolone (RCHOP)
 - b. Cyclophosphamide-Doxorubicin-Vincristine-Etoposide-Prednisolone (CHOEP)
 - c. Cyclophosphamide-Doxorubicin-Vincristine-Prednisolone (CHOP)
 - d. Rituximab-Cyclophosphamide-Doxorubicin-Vincristine-Prednisolone-Methotrexate (RCHOP-Mtx)

- e. Doxorubicin-Bleomycin-Vinblastine-Dacarbazine (ABVD)
- 3. Breast:
 - a. Fluorouracil-Epirubicin-Cyclophosphamide-Paclitaxel-Carboplatin
 - b. Fluorouracil-Epirubicin-Cyclophosphamide-Docetaxel-Trastuzumab

2.2 Patient screening, enrolment and randomisation

When a patient was identified by the oncology team and referred as a potential study candidate, I would record their details in a screening pro-forma and subsequently look through their electronic patient records to assess eligibility criteria. For patients who were excluded, the exclusion reason was documented on a screening pro-forma. If no exclusion criteria were identified, a patient information leaflet was given to the patients (either via post or in person via the oncology team) and a consultation was arranged (in person or over the phone) to discuss participation in the study and answer any questions. During that consultation, the study rationale, design, and potential outcomes were explained in detail. Any additional investigations (such as blood tests and imaging) and hospital visits (such as for follow-ups) that were not part of routine clinical care were emphasised. The voluntary nature of their participation as well as the option to withdraw at any time without affecting usual clinical care was also emphasised. The eligibility criteria were checked again in case there were mistakes in the electronic records. Opportunities to ask questions were offered and following from that consultation a 'cool off' period of at least 24 hours was given to them to think about it. If a patient agreed to participate, a subsequent meeting was arranged to sign the consent form which was placed in the patient's folder and electronic patient records and a copy given to them and, if they agreed, to their GP. Baseline investigations were subsequently arranged.

Randomisation was performed in a 1:1 fashion by an un-blinded study member (in this case a research nurse), into a RIC or sham group using a randomisation software (MinimPy Version 0.3) that was downloaded onto a dedicated study laptop and with minimising factors of coronary artery disease, hypertension, and diabetes. A randomisation number was generated, and patient details were added into the study's recruitment log. A paper case report form was prepared as well as an online case report form using the REDCap[™] database specific for the project to capture the data. The randomisation group was kept secret in both the paper case report forms (kept in separate folder) and the online form (not allowed access to that part) from any blinded study members, including myself.

2.3 Study Protocol

The study protocol is shown in Figure 2.1. At baseline, patients would have an echocardiogram, electrocardiogram, high sensitivity Troponin T, NT-pro-BNP and clinical blood tests as per their oncology team which usually included a full blood count, renal function and electrolytes. A cohort of patients, if they agreed, would also have a baseline rapid sequence cardiac MRI and the cardiac myosin binding protein C biomarker.

On the first day of chemotherapy, myself and an un-blinded member of the study team would meet the patient at the Macmillan Cancer Centre (or UCLH main hospital if chemotherapy was delivered as inpatient). Baseline clinical observations (heart rate, blood pressure and temperature) were recorded as well as current medications and any other significant clinical events since last seen. The intervention (RIC/Sham) was then performed by the un-blinded member of the team with 4 cycles of 5 minutes of ischaemia of the upper limb followed by 5 minutes of reperfusion lasting a total of 40 minutes prior to commencement of anthracycline chemotherapy and as close to the initiation of

anthracycline as possible. This was usually during the same time as patients were receiving their pre-chemotherapy medications (intravenous fluids and intravenous antiemetics). If a patient's chemotherapy regime required some chemotherapeutic agents to be given prior to anthracyclines, then the intervention was performed during the infusion of those agents but prior to anthracycline initiation, to minimise any delays (for both patient and nursing staff). After the intervention was finished, patients would have the anthracycline part of their chemotherapy either as a single bolus injection via a peripheral cannula over 10-20 minutes or as a 46-hour infusion via a peripherally inserted central venous catheter (PICC) line as per the instructions of their oncology team. Patients on a 46-hour anthracycline infusion were all sarcoma patients and as UCLH is a tertiary sarcoma centre, some patients had to travel significant distance to attend UCLH. Therefore, depending on their chemotherapy regime and local oncology care where they live, patients on an infusion would either stay at the UCLH Macmillan Centre's Ambulatory Care Unit until the infusion was finished and get disconnected at UCLH, or sent home and get disconnected at their local hospital. At the end of anthracycline chemotherapy, and ideally between 3-24 hours, a post chemotherapy blood test was performed for TnT ± cMyC. Therefore, patients who were on an infusion and were disconnected locally, did not have a post-chemotherapy sample taken.

After a break of typically 3 weeks, patients would return for the next cycle of chemotherapy. Pre-chemotherapy investigations included blood tests for TnT ± cMyC as well as routine blood tests as per usual clinical care which included full blood count, renal function, and electrolytes. Clinical observations were recorded as well as any current medications and any significant clinical adverse or other events since last seen. The protocol was then repeated as in the first cycle with post-chemotherapy blood samples taken as before. Patients would typically have a total of 6 cycles of chemotherapy. At their

penultimate or ultimate cycle, a 14-day cardiac monitor patch was attached. If a patient had less than the 6 cycles that was initially planned, then the cardiac monitor was attached on the final cycle. If there was an unexpected cessation of chemotherapy (e.g. if there was disease progression or significant side effects required chemotherapy regime to change) then the cardiac monitor was attached at that time if still within one month post chemotherapy or not attached at all.

At the end of all anthracycline chemotherapy cycles, patients would enter the follow-up stage of the study. Follow-up was performed at 4 time-points: 1, 3, 6 and 12 months post anthracycline chemotherapy. Each follow-up consisted of a clinical assessment (and recording of major clinical and adverse events) and TnT blood test (all time-points) as well as echocardiogram, NT-pro-BNP, ECG, ± CMR (3 month only) and echocardiogram ± CMR (12 month only).

Figure 2.1. Study Protocol.



2.4 Procedures

2.4.1 Intervention Protocols

Remote ischaemic conditioning was performed by applying a blood pressure cuff onto a patient's arm connected to an automated RIC machine and controlled by a specific RIC software on a study laptop that was purpose-built as previously published(277) by an unblinded member of the study. The BP cuff was inflated to a pressure of 200mmHg (or 30mmHg above systolic if not tolerated or if platelets were between 50-100) for 5 minutes followed by 5 minutes of reperfusion for a total of 4 cycles with the whole protocol therefore lasting a total of 40 minutes as previously described(277). If platelets were <50 on the day then the RIC was omitted on that occasion. The Sham protocol was similar to the RIC protocol but the cuff was inflated to a maximum pressure of 10mmHg only(277). RIC/Sham starting times were recorded as well as doxorubicin start and end times. Any complications or malfunctions were noted.

2.4.2 Blood sampling

Blood sampling for cardiac biomarkers was performed at the pre-specified time-points with blood collected either from a peripherally inserted intravenous cannula or from a PICC line using standard aseptic non-touch techniques as per UCLH policy(278).

2.4.2.1 Cardiac Troponin T

Blood sample for high sensitivity troponin T (TnT) was collected at baseline, prechemotherapy at each cycle and between 3-24 hours post-chemotherapy for each cycle as well as at 1, 3, 6 and 12 month follow-up using standard SST serum bottles. Every effort was made to take the post-chemotherapy sample within the pre-specified time frame, however if patients were unwilling to wait a minimum of three hours, then the blood sampling was performed as late as possible from the end of chemotherapy. Troponin T was measured using the high sensitivity TnT assay, Elecsys, Roche with a limit of detection (LoD) of 5ng/L, a 10% precision (CV) of 14ng/L, and a total imprecision (% CV) at the 99th percentile of 8%(279).

2.4.2.2 N-terminal-pro-Brain Natriuretic Peptide

Blood samples for NT-pro-BNP were collected at baseline and 3 months post chemotherapy using standard SST serum bottles with a level of <125pg/ml in the nonacute setting and <300pg/ml in the acute setting unlikely to be related to the development of heart failure(113).

2.4.2.3 Cardiac Myosin Binding protein C (cMyC)

Blood samples for cMyC were collected at baseline, pre-chemotherapy at each cycle and between 3-24 hours post-chemotherapy for each cycle together with the TnT for the 22 patients who consented to have blood sampling for cMyC. After collection the tubes were rested for 30 minutes, centrifuged at 1000g for 10 minutes and frozen at -80°C within 1 hour of collection, until assayed in a blinded fashion by a dedicated laboratory as described before(280,281). The cMyC assay (EMD Millipore on the Erenna® platform) has a LoD 0.4 ng/L and a lower limit of quantification (LoQ) (20% CV) of 1.2ng/L.

2.4.3 Imaging

2.4.3.1 Echocardiography

Echocardiography was performed at baseline, 3 months and 12 months post anthracyclines using GE machines by blinded echo-physiologists on routine clinical echocardiographic lists at UCLH using a standardised UCLH Cardio-Oncology protocol. Cardiac function and assessment of LVEF was performed using the biplane Simpson's method (of elliptical discs), by a single, experienced cardiac physiologist who was blinded to randomisation and retrospectively reviewed all echocardiograms to reduce interobserver variability. If assessment of LVEF using the biplane method was not possible then a visual estimate of the EF was provided. The remaining echocardiographic parameters were taken from the clinical echocardiographic report.

2.4.3.2 Rapid sequence cardiac MRI (CMR)

CMR scans were performed at Chenies Mews Imaging Centre at baseline, 3 months and 1 year at a similar time (ideally on the same day if feasible) to the echocardiogram. If patients declined to have the baseline CMR they would still be eligible for the randomised controlled trial if but were not offered any subsequent follow-up CMR scans. The CMR protocol was a non-contrast study specifically to assess cardiac structure, volume and function in less than 20 minutes, using a 1.5T scanner, modified from the INCA (Peru) study protocol(139) and consisted of:

- 1. Localisers: Pilot 2 chamber, 5 slice short axis stack and a transverse white blood single shot fast spin echo for anatomical evaluation
- Volume, structure and function assessment: four, two, three chamber and aortic valve segmented k-space cine acquisitions.
- 3. Short axis cine stack. Cine images acquired using a balanced, segmented steady state free precession, covering the whole left ventricle. Typical image parameters were: time to echo (TE) of 1.1ms, time of repetition (TR) of 2.6ms, a flip angle of 80, Grappa factor 2, voxel size 1.8mm x 1.8mm x8mm (6mm for long axis) an x-y spatial resolution of 1 to 2mm/pixel, a slice thickness of 8-mm and 2-mm inter-slice gap.
- Tissue mapping: One mid-segment short axis for native T1 mapping using modified look-locker inversion (MOLLI) recovery and native T2 mapping to assess for tissue characterisation
- 5. Real-time short-axis cine stack to assess how much extra time it adds to protocol if needed to be used in cases of poor breath-holding or poor gating (optional).

CMR analysis was done using a dedicated software (cvi42, Circle Cardiovascular Imaging, Calgary Canada). Analysis was performed by myself and checked with a supervising CMR Consultant Cardiologist. In each CMR examination, the end-diastolic phase was selected as the first phase of the acquisition. The end-systolic phase was identified by determining the phase in which the LV intra-cavity blood pool will be at its smallest by visual assessment at the midventricular level. LV endocardial and epicardial borders were manually traced in both the end-diastolic and end-systolic phases in the short-axis view.

In both end-diastole and end-systole, the most basal slice for the LV was selected when at least 50% of the LV blood pool was surrounded by myocardium. LV papillary muscles

were included as part of LV mass and volume analysis. For the myocardial maps, a single septal region of interest was manually traced. If any extra-cardiac abnormalities were seen, these were reported and checked with the patients' medical records to see if already known. If not, they were flagged up to the appropriate oncology team. Total scan time was reported with and without the optional real-time short axis stack.

2.4.4 Arrhythmia monitoring

A 12-lead ECG was performed at baseline and at 3 months post chemotherapy. Furthermore, extended cardiac monitoring was performed using an adhesive patch with a 1-lead ambulatory ECG (Zio patch, iRhythm technologies). The patch was attached onto the patients left chest wall according to the manufacturer's instructions, at the penultimate or ultimate chemotherapy cycle. The patch continuously records beat-to-beat cardiac recording for up to 14 days. Furthermore, patients can trigger a recording whenever they feel a symptom and are also asked to keep a paper log of symptoms to allow correlation with the final report. At the end of the monitoring period, the patient would return the patch to the company for analysis, which is performed using proprietary machine-learned algorithms (Zio ECG Utilization Service System (ZEUS System)), and a report generated that is reviewed by a cardiac technician(282). Patients were asked to wear the patch for 14 days or for as long as tolerated. The reports provided by the company were reviewed and interpreted by myself. The total days worn was noted, as well as the minimum, mean and maximum heart rates. Any clinically significant arrhythmias were flagged up to the oncology team and appropriate action, such as initiation of medication, taken accordingly.

2.5 Outcomes

The outcomes were separated into two main parts: 1) Outcomes for the effect of remote ischaemic conditioning, and 2) Outcomes for the multimodality monitoring of anthracycline

cardiotoxicity using TnT as marker of cardiotoxicity. Due to the very long study protocol and follow-up period, in the time allowed for my MD and prior to needing to return back to clinical training, data collection was only possible up to the 6 month follow-up time point but not the 12 month time-point. Therefore, analysis of any outcomes was performed up to the 6 month follow-up.

2.5.1 Outcomes for the Effect of remote ischaemic conditioning

2.5.1.1 Main outcome

The main outcome investigated was the change in serial high sensitivity troponin T as a marker of cardiac injury over time, during anthracycline chemotherapy and up-to 6 months follow-up post cessation of anthracycline chemotherapy. Specifically, the change in high sensitivity troponin T over time was analysed with TnT as an absolute value, change of TnT from baseline (Δ TnT) and as a binary value (Positive vs negative) and a comparison between the two groups was performed.

2.5.1.2 Secondary outcomes

2.5.1.2.1 Echocardiographic parameters

The main echocardiographic outcome assessed was the change in LVEF (Δ LVEF) from baseline to 3 months post chemotherapy. Furthermore, the change in GLS was also assessed from baseline to 3 months post chemotherapy. Specifically, the change in GLS was assessed using the Δ GLS as well as the relative percentage change in GLS from baseline to 3 months post chemotherapy. Other echocardiographic outcomes assessed included LV size parameters (LVEDd, LVEDs, IVSd, LVPWd), tissue Doppler parameters (IVS S' velocity, IVS E' velocity, Lateral S' velocity, Lateral E' velocity, E/E' ratio), Doppler parameters (E velocity, A velocity, deceleration time, E/A ratio) and RV function parameters (TAPSE, RV S' velocity) using their change from baseline (i.e. Δ) as the outcome assessed.

2.5.1.2.2 NT-pro BNP

The biomarker NT-pro-BNP was a further secondary outcome and specifically the change in NT-pro-BNP (ΔNT-pro-BNP) from baseline to 3 months post chemotherapy.

2.5.1.2.3 Clinical outcomes

Clinical outcomes from recruitment to 6 months follow-up was a further secondary outcome. Specifically, clinical events were defined as major adverse cardiovascular and cancer events (MACCE) as follows: myocardial infarction, heart failure or asymptomatic LV dysfunction needing hospitalisation or initiation of heart failure medications, life-threatening tachyarrhythmias needing treatment or bradyarrhythmias requiring pacing, cardiac or cancer death. A composite end-point therefore was defined if patients developed myocardial infarction, or heart failure, or life-threatening tachyarrhythmias needing treatment, or bradyarrhythmias needing pacing, or cardiac or cancer death, whichever occurred first during chemotherapy or follow-up.

Furthermore, the incidence of cancer progression and serious adverse events were recorded as part of the serious adverse reporting of the study protocol. Serious adverse events were defined as any events which resulted in death, or were life-threatening, or led to hospitalisation or prolongation of hospitalisation, or led to persistent significant disability or incapacity or any other event deemed to be an important medical occurrence. Cancer progression was defined if there was disease progression for the first time since initiation of anthracycline-containing chemotherapy. If there was further disease progression

subsequently (usually in the context of second (or more) lines of chemotherapy), this was not recorded as an event.

2.5.1.2.4 Arrhythmia Incidence

The incidence of arrhythmia during chemotherapy was a further outcome. This was assessed using the cardiac monitor device attached to patients towards the end of their chemotherapy.

The arrhythmias recorded were grouped into supraventricular and ventricular. Ectopic beat (supraventricular or ventricular) frequency was separated into rare (<1% of total beats), occasional (1-5% of total beats) and frequent (>5% of total beats) and recorded for single, double or triple ectopics. Non-sustained VT was defined as more than 3 consecutive ventricular beats with a rate of more than 100bpm and duration of less than 30 seconds as per European Heart Rhythm Association(283). Non-sustained SVT was defined as more than 3 consecutive supraventricular beats with a rate of 100bpm and duration less than 30 seconds. The presence of one or more non-sustained SVT or VT was noted and the frequency of patients who had one or more episodes of SVT or VT recorded. The presence of atrial fibrillation was recorded separately, though none was seen. The presence of any higher degree (i.e. 2nd degree or more) heart block was recorded, including if transient and night-time.

2.5.2 Outcomes for monitoring of anthracycline cardiotoxicity

One of the key aspects of a cardio-oncology service is to identify patients at risk of cardiotoxicity. Assessment of risk ideally should start pre-chemotherapy and continued during and after therapy. To investigate whether there is a relationship between changes in troponin T concentrations during chemotherapy and subsequent cardiovascular

outcomes (left ventricular function, clinical events and arrhythmia incidence), data from all the patients recruited in the randomised controlled trial were analysed in a prospective observational manner. The patients were used as one cohort and any relationship between troponin and cardiovascular outcomes were analysed as one cohort but also according to their randomisation group. Furthermore, the relationship between troponin changes during chemotherapy and baseline cardiac risk factors was also investigated. The outcomes of the analysis were thus divided into two parts – identifying patients at risk prior to initiation of chemotherapy and identifying patients at risk during and after chemotherapy. Furthermore, a comparison between TnT and the cMyC biomarker was performed as well as an assessment of a rapid CMR protocol as a monitoring tool of cardiac function.

2.5.2.1 Identifying patients at risk prior to initiation of chemotherapy

International societies such as the ESC(48) and ASCO(115) recommend screening patients prior to chemotherapy and assessing baseline cardiac risk factors such as age, smoking status and presence of cardiovascular comorbidities. Identification of multiple cardiovascular risk factors leads to increased risk which, depending on the type of cancer and if other alternative therapies exist that do not affect oncological outcome, may lead to avoidance of anthracyclines(115). Retrospective studies suggest that the presence of two or more cardiovascular risk factors leads to the highest risk of subsequent development of cardiovascular disease in cancer survivor(284) but there is lack of data from prospective studies.

Cardiovascular risk scores are routinely used, particularly in primary care, to estimate the risk of developing cardiovascular disease in the future based on current risk factor profile and help guide lifestyle modification and lipid-lowering therapy. In the UK, one such score currently recommended and in use is the QRISK@3 score(285). The QRISK score, now in

its third version (QRISK@3), has been validated as a risk prediction tool to estimate the 10-year risk of cardiovascular disease, given as a single percentage risk, by incorporating a variety of different risk factors(286). Similarly, the ESC advocates use of a similar score called HeartScore, to estimate the 10-year risk of cardiovascular disease(287). The baseline risk factors that are incorporated in these scores include many (but not all) of the risk factors that are known to increase the risk of anthracycline cardiotoxicity and subsequent cardiomyopathy (namely age, smoking status, and presence of cardiovascular comorbidities such as hypertension). It has already been shown that elevations of cardiac biomarkers such as troponin early during chemotherapy and follow-up predict the development of cardiac dysfunction(141–143).

Therefore, using the patients recruited in the randomised controlled trial, I investigated whether there is any relationship between peak TnT during or after chemotherapy and baseline cardiovascular risk factors as measured by the QRISK@3 score.

The 32 patients from the randomised controlled trial were used as one cohort for this analysis. However, to ensure there are no differences between each group, the statistical analysis was repeated for each randomisation group separately.

Patients had their QRISK@3 score calculated using the online calculator https://qrisk.org. Using the pre-chemotherapy TnT values, the peak TnT was identified by looking at the TnT values at each time point from baseline up to the 6 month follow up. If more than one time-point had the same peak TnT value then the time-point that was the earliest was taken.

2.5.2.2 Identifying at risk patients during and after chemotherapy using biomarkers

2.5.2.2.1 Troponin T as a binary categorical variable

As I have described in section 2.5.2, in general the use of cardiac biomarkers, and particularly troponins, for monitoring during (and less so after) chemotherapy is encouraged, but gaps in the available evidence still exist. Specifically, unanswered questions that remain include when to perform them, which biomarkers are the most useful, how frequently to perform them, how to interpret them and what actions to be taken especially when biomarkers are elevated(48,53,94,115). In many, particularly early, publications investigating the use of troponin as a tool to detect early anthracycline cardiotoxicity and its relation to subsequent cardiac events, the analysis of troponin was performed by treating troponin as a binary categorical variable (i.e. positive vs negative)(141–145). In one of the most quoted and seminal studies on the subject with the largest number of patients to date (n = 703) by Cardinale et al(143), patients were grouped depending on whether they had a positive or negative troponin early (during chemotherapy) or late (one month after). Therefore, I performed an analysis of the troponin data by treating TnT as a binary categorical variable, and more specifically in a similar fashion to the study by Cardinale et al(143).

The 32 patients from the randomised controlled trial were used as one cohort for this analysis. However, to ensure there are no differences between each group, the analysis was repeated for each randomisation group separately. Using the pre-chemotherapy TnT values, the highest TnT was identified during chemotherapy and recorded as positive if it was ≥ 15 ng/L (the 99th percentile upper reference limit for the presence of myocardial injury for the assay used at University College London Hospitals) or negative if <15ng/L and defined as the Early TnT (E-TnT). Similarly the highest TnT value during the follow-up period (up to the 6-month time-point) was identified and defined as the Late TnT (L-TnT).

The patients were grouped according to their E-TnT and L-TnT value and three groups were identified: E-TnT and L-TnT negative (TnT -/-), E-TnT negative and L-TnT positive (TnT -/+) and E-TnT and L-TnT positive (TnT +/+). The three TnT groups were then compared for any differences.

2.5.2.2.2 Troponin T relationship with total anthracycline dose

As described in sections 2.5, the total anthracycline dose received (in mg/m²) is one of the strongest risk factors for the development of anthracycline cardiotoxicity and subsequent cardiomyopathy to the extent that oncological societies recommend limiting total dose to no more than 550mg/m² in one guideline(94) and with screening recommended when total dose reaches as low as 240mg/m² in some guidelines(48,53,94).

However, whether there is any relationship between total cumulative anthracycline dose received and troponin during or after chemotherapy has not been previously investigated. Therefore, I sought to investigate whether there is any relationship between peak TnT during or after chemotherapy and total anthracycline dose received.

The 32 patients from the randomised controlled trial were used as one cohort for this analysis. However, to ensure there are no differences between each group, the statistical analysis was repeated for each group separately. As before, using the pre-chemotherapy TnT values, the peak TnT was identified by looking at the TnT values at each time point from baseline up to the 6-month follow up. If more than one time-point had the same peak TnT value then the time-point that was the earliest was taken. The relationship between peak TnT and total anthracycline dose received was then assessed.

2.5.2.2.3 Cardiac Myosin Binding Protein C

Cardiac myosin binding protein C (cMyC), first described by Offer et al in 1973(288), is a 140 kilodalton protein that resides on the thick filaments of heart muscle(289). In its phosphorylated state it enhances diastolic function(290) and cardiac inotropy(291) and protects the heart during ischaemic-reperfusion injury(292). The protein is encoded by the MYPBC3 gene located on chromosome 11p11.2(293). Mutations in this gene have been associated with Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy (HCM) and are now recognised to be one of the most common mutations accounting for about 40-50% of all HCM gene mutations(294).

The myosin binding protein family has 3 isoforms; a slow skeletal, a fast skeletal and a cardiac one which is exclusively expressed in the heart(295) and found in abundance in the heart(296). Importantly, it is increasingly recognised that cMyC is released into the circulation following a myocardial insult, typically following myocardial infarction, in both animals(297) and humans(297,298). As such, it is being explored as a potential new biomarker of myocardial injury. In its favour as a biomarker is, to some extent, its release kinetics following myocardial injury. In a porcine MI model, where a branch of the left anterior descending artery is ligated to mimic MI, cMyC is detected at 30 minutes and 3 hours post ligation, peaks at 6 hours and returns to baseline by 12 hours. The and The are also detected at 3 hours and peak at 6 hours, but only cMyC is statistically significantly elevated at 3 hours(299). In STEMI patients, cMyC and its smaller but easier to detect 40kDa fragment, peak significantly earlier compared to TnT(300). However, time of onset of injury in STEMI can be difficult to ascertain, so release kinetics of cMyC and troponin have been investigated during iatrogenic MI for HCM alcohol ablation procedures. During alcohol ablation, cMyC accumulates 6 times faster than TnT (slope 25.8 ± 1.9 vs 4.0 ± 0.4 ng/L/min)(300) as well as peaking at 4hrs compared to 6 hrs for TnT(299). Furthermore, the

clearance of cMyC is much faster than TnT with a decay half-time of 5.5+/-0.8hrs vs 22+/-5hrs, p<0.0001(300).

With the development of a high sensitivity assay(280) for cMyC, it has been possible to directly compare its diagnostic performance against high sensitivity TnI and TnT. In 1,954 patients presenting with symptoms suggestive of acute MI, the diagnostic accuracy of cMyC for acute myocardial infarction was similar to high sensitivity troponin I and T. It was however superior to high sensitivity troponin T in early presenters (<3 hours) ((AUC cMyC vs. hs-cTnT 0.915 (0.887–0.941) vs. 0.892 (0.857–0.922, p=0.022))(281). The authors attribute this to cMyC's abundancy in the myocardium, its location on the sarcomere and its loose association with myosin and actin. Equally importantly, cMyC correctly triaged more patients into rule-in or rule-out groups compared to either high sensitivity Troponin I and T thus leaving a smaller number of patients in the observation group (Net Reclassification Improvement +0.149 versus TnT, +0.235 versus TnI (*P*<0.001)(281)), thus ultimately making it potentially a better biomarker for the triage of patients in emergency departments.

In addition to being a marker of acute myocardial injury following myocardial infarction, cMyC has been investigated in aortic stenosis, where it is strongly associated with myocardial hypertrophy and fibrosis as assessed with cardiac MRI and worsening mortality(301). As well as aortic stenosis, the value of cMyC as a diagnostic and prognostic biomarker has been assessed in paediatric heart failure patients, with significantly increased levels of cMyC on admission in children with HF compared to controls(302).

To my knowledge, cMyC has not been studied in patients receiving anthracyclines. Therefore, I wanted to compare its performance against cardiac high sensitivity TnT in

patients receiving anthracycline chemotherapy. I hypothesise that, cMyC will be detected earlier compared to troponin following anthracycline chemotherapy, similar to its performance after acute coronary syndrome. Furthermore, a bigger rise compared to troponin was anticipated in view of its abundance in the myocardium. Thus, I wanted to test the hypothesis whether there is a difference between peak TnT and peak cMyC concentrations during anthracycline chemotherapy. Furthermore, to assess how cMyC compares with TnT at each cycle, I also tested whether there is a difference in the cMyC and TnT concentrations at each cycle.

Twenty-two patients from the randomised controlled trial consented to have additional blood sampling for cMyC. To assess how cMyC performs as a biomarker during chemotherapy compared to TnT, using the pre-chemotherapy samples, the peak concentration of cMyC and TnT samples were identified and the ratio of peak to baseline concentration for each biomarker was calculated and compared. Furthermore, to assess how cMyC compares to TnT at each chemotherapy cycle, the ratio of cMyC and TnT concentration to baseline was calculated for each chemotherapy cycle and the two biomarkers compared. In addition, the effect of RIC on cMyC levels was also compared, in a similar fashion to the TnT comparison described in 2.5.1.1, for absolute cMyC concentration levels as well as for the change of cMyC concentration from baseline at each cycle (Δ cMyC).

2.5.2.3 Identifying at risk patients during and after chemotherapy using imaging 2.5.2.3.1 Echocardiography

In recent guidelines an absolute drop in LVEF of 10% points from baseline and to a level below the lower limit of normal, and a relative drop in GLS of 15% from baseline are often proposed for a diagnosis of cardiotoxicity(48). I sought to assess the relationship between

cardiac biomarkers and cardiac function as assessed according to latest guidelines. The 32 patients recruited in the randomised trial were used as one cohort to assess if there is any relationship between TnT and echocardiographic parameters of LV function. However, to ensure there are no differences between each group, the statistical analysis was repeated for each group separately. The absolute change in LVEF and the percentage change in GLS was calculated for those that a baseline and 3-month post-chemotherapy LVEF and GLS was available. The peak TnT during and up to the 3-month follow-up for each individual patient was identified and recorded. The relationship between peak TnT, LVEF absolute percentage change and GLS relative percentage change was then assessed.

2.5.2.3.2 Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Imaging (CMR)

The use of CMR to assess cardiac size and function is now considered gold standard as it allows volumetric analysis of chamber size without any assumptions of geometrical shape(53). Cardiac function assessment in cancer patients is typically assessed with echocardiography and with newer techniques like 3D echocardiographic volumetric assessment, temporal and observer variability has decreased(303) with good correlation to CMR in patients with normal LV function as well as with DCM(304). However, even with 3D volumetric methods, assessment is limited if poor endocardial definition is present(305). This is particularly true for cancer patients especially if they have received surgical and/or radiotherapy treatment (e.g. mastectomy and implants for breast cancer)(306). In fact, in a retrospective analysis of CMR requests in cardio-oncology patients assessing the utility of CMR in cardio-oncology in a tertiary centre (Bart's Heart Centre) of which I was the main author and the results presented as an abstract in the Global Cardio-Oncology Summit 2019, the most common request for a CMR scan (67/199, 34%) was for assessment of LV function due to a non-diagnostic echocardiogram study(307).

However, CMR scanning can be slow, with scanning times of up-to 45 minutes for certain sequences, thus making it less suitable as a routine imaging investigation especially in cancer patients who have frequent medical appointments. Attempts to reduce scanning time have been made in order to make cardiac MRI more accessible particularly for developing countries(138,139). The TIC-TOC study investigated whether ultrafast CMR mapping without contrast could be used to assess iron overload in thalassaemia patients in Thailand(138). Scans, which included localised and pilot studies, myocardial and liver T2* and T1 mapping and 2 and 4 chamber cines, averaged 8.3 ± 2.4 minutes with analysis time of less than 1 minute. Cost was reduced 4-fold. Similarly the INCA study, assessed whether rapid contrast-enhanced cardiac MRI is feasible for wider cardiac indications in Peru, in an attempt to improve access to cardiac MRI for developing countries(139). The protocol was originally developed in the UK and included assessment of cardiac volumes and scar. One hundred patients were referred for a variety of indications, 98 of which underwent scanning. Mean scan time was 18 ± 7 minutes and findings impacted management in 56% of patients and overall rapid CMR scanning was feasible in this developing country.

Therefore, to investigate if rapid sequence CMR scanning can be used as a monitoring tool before and after chemotherapy, a pilot study was set up to see if CMR scanning with a rapid sequence protocol is feasible.

For the assessment of scan duration, 2 baseline CMR scans of patients that were later withdrawn (1 voluntary, 1 due to COVID) were included. Similarly, 4 patients who had a 12 month scan by the time of analysis were also included in the assessment of CMR duration. The whole scan cohort of 34 scans was also used to compare assessment of LVEF between CMR and echocardiography but not for any comparisons of LVEF at specific

timepoints. Comparison of LV function using LVEF between CMR and echocardiography at baseline and 3 months was performed as well as a comparison of LVEF from the whole scan cohort between the two imaging modalities.

2.5.2.4 Arrhythmia monitoring

Little is known about the presence and incidence of arrhythmias during or soon after anthracycline chemotherapy. In the early reports of anthracycline cardiotoxicity ECG abnormalities were known to occur(9,44,87) as noted on ad hoc 12-lead ECGs. Available studies specifically reporting on arrhythmogenicity during anthracycline chemotherapy are inconsistent in their methodology(88,308,309). Furthermore, the definition of an arrhythmia also varies significantly with some studies using grading systems(88,309) whereas others reporting all electrical abnormalities(308).

Therefore, in an attempt to characterise this better, the patients who were recruited in the randomised controlled trial, had a cardiac monitor attached on them for a maximum of 14 days with the start day being the start of their penultimate or ultimate chemotherapy cycle. The data from the cardiac monitoring devices were used to characterise the presence of arrhythmias during chemotherapy with anthracyclines and to analyse the hypothesis whether there is any relationship between peak TnT during chemotherapy and presence of arrhythmias. The presence or absence of any arrhythmias as previously defined was then analysed for any relationship with peak TnT during chemotherapy.

2.6 Statistical analysis

All statistical analysis and graphical representation were performed with the SPSS statistical software (IBM[®], SPSS[®], Statistics, Version 26). Statistical significance was considered at the 5% significance level.

2.6.1 Effect of remote ischaemic conditioning

2.6.1.1 Baseline characteristics

Summary statistics data for baseline characteristics were described as mean ± standard deviation (SD) and median ± interquartile range (IQR) for continuous variables with a parametric and non-parametric distribution respectively and as absolute numbers and percentages for categorical variables. Data are presented in boxplots, line graphs and scatter graphs as well as table format as appropriate. Between group comparison of baseline patient characteristics, cancer and chemotherapy details, intervention details, echocardiographic data, blood tests and clinical observations was done using the independent samples T test for continuous data following a normal distribution, the Mann-Whtiney test for continuous data not following a normal distribution and the chi square test for categorical data.

2.6.1.2 Comparison of pre- and post-chemotherapy Troponin T (TnT) values

Pre- and post-chemotherapy TnT are presented as median ± interquartile range (IQR) as they follow a non-parametric distribution for all patients and for each group. Statistical analysis of TnT at each cycle compared to baseline was done for all patients and for each group using the paired T test as the mean difference from baseline follows a parametric distribution. Pre- and post-chemotherapy TnT comparison for all patients and for each group was performed using random effects regression (mixed effects regression) of repeated measures with increasing chemotherapy cycles added as a fixed effect to the model.

2.6.1.3 Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning (RIC) on Troponin T levels during chemotherapy

The effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning (RIC) on Troponin T values during anthracycline chemotherapy was analysed by comparing the intervention and sham groups using their pre-chemotherapy absolute TnT values per cycle. TnT data are presented as median and IQR as they generally follow a non-parametric distribution. Comparison between the two groups was performed with a random effects regression (mixed effects regression) for repeated measures. A Mann-Whitney test comparing the troponins at each cycle between the two groups was also performed.

The effect of RIC on TnT during anthracycline chemotherapy was also analysed using the change of TnT from baseline (Δ TnT) and compared between the two groups. Δ TnT values are presented as mean and standard deviation as they generally follow a normal distribution. Comparison between the two groups was performed with a random effects regression (mixed effects regression) for repeated measures. An independent T test comparing the troponins at each cycle between the two groups was also performed.

The effect of RIC on Troponin T trends during anthracycline chemotherapy was further analysed by treating TnT as a binary categorical variable (i.e., positive vs negative). According to the troponin assay used by University College London Hospitals (UCLH) (high sensitivity Troponin T, Roche[@]) the 99th percentile upper reference limit for the presence of myocardial injury as defined in the 4th Universal Definition of Myocardial Infarction(310) is 14ng/L(311). Thus a troponin positive value was defined if ≥15ng/L. TnT data are presented as absolute numbers and percentages. Comparison between the two groups was performed with the chi-squared test at each cycle.

The effect of RIC on absolute TnT and ΔTnT according to cumulative dose received during chemotherapy was analysed and the two groups compared using random effects regression.

2.6.1.4 Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning (RIC) on Troponin T levels during chemotherapy and follow-up

The same statistical analysis for the effect of RIC on Troponin T as described in section 2.6.1.3 was then repeated but this time the follow-up period (up to the 6 month time-point) was also included.

2.6.1.5 The Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning (RIC) on echocardiographic parameters after anthracycline chemotherapy

The effect of RIC on echocardiographic parameters was assessed for all patients and for each group. Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation for variables following a normal distribution, median and IQR for non-parametric continuous variables and absolute numbers and percentages for categorical variables. For all patients and for each group, comparisons of how echocardiographic parameters change before and after chemotherapy were performed using a paired T test. The two groups were compared by looking at the change from baseline (i.e. Δ) for each parameter using an independent samples T test. In addition, for GLS, the relative percentage change was calculated and compared between the two groups using an independent samples T test.

2.6.1.6 The Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning (RIC) on NT-pro-BNP after anthracycline chemotherapy

The effect of RIC on NT-pro-BNP was assessed for all patients and for each group individually. Data are presented as median and IQR as they follow a non-parametric distribution. For all patients and for each group, comparisons of how NT-pro-BNP changes before and after chemotherapy was made using a Wilcoxon signed rank test. The two groups were compared by looking at the change from baseline (i.e. Δ) using a Mann-Whitney test.

2.6.1.7 The Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning (RIC) on Clinical Events

The time to a MACCE event and time to cancer progression was analysed and compared for each group. Data are presented as absolute numbers and percentages and as time-toevent Kaplan-Meier plots and compared using the log-rank test and Cox regression as an estimate of the hazard ratios. Kaplan-Meier plots and Cox regression analysis was performed for the composite MACCE, as well as the individual end-points of cardiovascular events, cancer deaths and cancer progression. Clinical adverse events are presented as absolute numbers and percentages and comparison between the two groups was done using the chi-squared test.

2.6.1.8 The Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning (RIC) on the incidence of arrhythmias during anthracycline chemotherapy

The incidence of pre-defined arrhythmias was recorded for all patients and for each group and data are presented as absolute numbers and percentages for categorical variables and as mean and standard deviation for continuous variables. Comparisons were made using the chi-squared test and independent samples T test.

2.6.2 Monitoring for anthracycline cardiotoxicity

2.6.2.1 Identifying patients at risk prior to initiation of chemotherapy

Peak TnT and QRISK@3 data are presented as median ± IQR for continuous data not following a normal distribution and as absolute numbers and percentages for categorical data. The relationship between peak TnT and QRISK@3 score is presented with scatter and dot diagrams for all patients. Assessment of correlation was performed using Spearman's rank correlation coefficient (ρ). The relationship between peak TnT and QRISK@3 was further analysed with linear regression. Comparison of QRISK@3 scores and peak TnT between the two randomisation groups was done using the Mann-Whitney test as both variables do not follow a normal distribution. The chi-squared test was used to compare the frequency at each time-point where TnT was peak between the two groups.

2.6.2.2 Identifying at risk patients during and after chemotherapy using biomarkers 2.6.2.2.1 Troponin T as a binary categorical variable

Troponin T data are presented as mean ± standard deviation for continuous variables and as absolute numbers and percentages for categorical variables. For each TnT group (TnT -/-, TnT -/+, TnT +/+) within group early and late TnTs were compared with the paired T test as their mean difference follows a normal distribution. Simple linear regression was used to compare for any differences in early and late TnT between the different TnT groups. This analysis was performed for all patients as one cohort and then repeated for each randomisation group.

2.6.2.2.2 Troponin T relationship with total anthracycline dose

Peak TnT and total anthracycline dose data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation for continuous variables following a normal distribution and median \pm IQR for continuous data not following a normal distribution. The relationship between peak TnT and total anthracycline dose is presented with scatter and dot diagram for all patients. Assessment of correlation was performed using Pearson's correlation coefficient (r). The relationship between peak TnT and total anthracycline dose was further analysed with linear regression. Comparison of total anthracycline dose between the two groups was done using the independent samples T test. Comparison of peak TnT between the two groups using the Mann-Whitney test.

2.6.2.2.3 Cardiac Myosin Binding Protein C

TnT and cMyC data are presented as mean ± standard deviation for continuous categorical data following a normal distribution and as median ± interquartile range for continuous data not following a normal distribution. Categorical data are presented as absolute numbers and percentages.

Comparison of pre- and post-chemotherapy cMyC and TnT samples with their respective baseline samples was performed using the paired T test as the mean difference from baseline followed, in general, a normal distribution. Comparison between pre- and postchemotherapy samples was performed with random effects regression of repeated measures.

To assess how cMyC performs as a biomarker during chemotherapy compared to TnT, using the pre-chemotherapy samples, the peak concentration cMyC and TnT values were identified and the ratio of peak to baseline concentration was calculated. The peak to baseline concentration ratio of cMyC versus TnT was compared using a Wilcoxon signed rank test for all patients and for each group. Between group comparisons for peak cMyC and TnT concentrations and peak:baseline ratios were performed with an independent samples T test. A chi square test was used to compare the time-points at which the peak

biomarker concentration was detected between the two groups. Furthermore, to assess how cMyC compares to TnT at each chemotherapy cycle, the ratio of cMyC and TnT concentrations to baseline was calculated for each chemotherapy cycle and the two biomarkers compared using a Wilcoxon signed rank test at each cycle. To assess the effect of RIC on cMyC levels, the two randomisation groups were compared using random effects regression for repeated measures. An independent samples T test at each chemotherapy cycle for absolute cMyC concentration levels as well as for the change of cMyC concentration from baseline at each cycle (Δ cMyC) was also performed.

2.6.2.3 Identifying at risk patients during and after chemotherapy using imaging

2.6.2.3.1 Echocardiography

The relationship between peak TnT, LVEF absolute percentage change and GLS relative percentage change was assessed with scatter plots and correlation analysis. Wherever a significant correlation was observed, linear regression analysis was also performed. Data are presented as mean ± standard deviation if following a normal distribution and median ± interquartile range if not. Between group comparisons was performed with an independent T test for LVEF and GLS and a Mann Whitney test for peak TnT

2.6.2.3.2 Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Imaging (CMR)

CMR and corresponding echocardiographic data are presented as mean ± standard deviation for any continuous data following a normal distribution and as median ± interquartile range for any continuous data not following a normal distribution. Categorical data are presented as absolute numbers and percentages. CMR parameters at baseline and 3 months were compared with a paired T test. Comparison of LV function using LVEF between CMR and echocardiography at baseline and 3 months was done using a paired T

test and similarly comparison of LVEF from the whole scan cohort between the two imaging modalities was done again with the paired T test.

2.6.2.4 Arrhythmia monitoring

Peak TnT and arrhythmia data are presented as mean ± standard deviation for continuous data with a normal distribution, median ± interquartile range for continuous data without normal distribution and as absolute numbers and percentages for categorical data. Comparison of peak TnT levels in arrhythmia present or absent groups was done with the independent samples T test. The analysis was repeated for each individual randomisation group.

Chapter 3 Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning as a Cardioprotective strategy

against anthracycline cardiotoxicity

3.1 Screening and Recruitment

From October 2018 until January 2020, I screened a total of 134 patients (82 sarcoma, 48 lymphoma and 4 breast cancer). The number of patients screened and enrolled by month is shown in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1

The CONSORT(312-315) enrolment flow diagram is shown in Figure 3.2. Of the 134 patients screened, 97 were excluded of which 23 declined, 38 were ineligible, and 36 had other reasons for exclusion including being advised against approaching by a member of the oncology team (8) and not enough time between being referred by primary team and starting chemotherapy to perform baseline investigations (28). The latter was particularly true for lymphoma patients who would often be started with chemotherapy promptly due to clinical urgency (35% of all lymphoma referrals). Thirty seven patients were randomised to Group 1 (RIC) (n = 19) and Group 2 (Sham) (n = 18), minimising for coronary artery

disease (CAD), hypertension and diabetes. One patient from Group 1(RIC) and 2 patients from Group 2 (Sham) withdrew after randomisation but prior to starting chemotherapy. After the first cycle of chemotherapy and intervention, 2 patients from Group 1 (RIC) were withdrawn. One withdrew voluntarily for personal reasons. The second was withdrawn by the study team due to the COVID-19 pandemic as per UCL regulations during the pandemic. Non-COVID related clinical research needed to be interrupted, particularly patients at high risk of COVID in view of ongoing active chemotherapy. Both patients were excluded from the final analysis due to incomplete data. One patient from Group 2 (Sham) voluntarily withdrew at the 3 month follow-up for personal reasons but was included in the final analysis as intention-to-treat having a complete data set up to that point. Therefore, a total of 16 patients in each group were included in the final analysis.

3.2 Patient characteristics

3.2.1 Baseline characteristics

Baseline characteristics for all patients and for each group are shown in Table 3.1. Statistical analysis was done as described in section 2.6.1.1.

Mean age was 52 ± 16 with 44% females. Twenty-four (75%) patients had sarcoma, 6 (19%) lymphoma and 2 (6%) breast cancer. Thirteen (41%) patients had metastatic disease. For the majority (81%) this was a new cancer diagnosis, though for 19% this was a relapse. The most common anthracycline used was doxorubicin (94%) alone (19%) or in combination with other chemotherapy whilst the two breast cancer patients received an epirubicin-containing regime. Their Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) World Health Organisation (WHO) Performance status at baseline was either 0 (56%) or 1 (44%). In terms of cardiovascular comorbidities, 4 patients had hypertension (one of which also had high cholesterol) and a further 3 had high cholesterol only. Of the 32 patients, 28%
were current smokers, 22% ex-smokers and 50% non-smokers. The majority had no family history of premature ischaemic heart disease. One patient was on a beta-blocker at baseline (propranolol for migraine), 2 patients were on an ACE-I and CCB combination for hypertension, 1 patient was on an ARB and thiazide combination for hypertension and one patient was on a CCB only for hypertension. Three patients were on statins for hypercholesterolaemia (of which one patient also had treatment for hypertension). Other non-cardiac medications at baseline included protein pump inhibitors (6), prescription only pain killers (7), steroid inhalers for asthma/COPD (4) and oral steroids (1). The two groups were similar in their baseline patient characteristics.

Most patients (19) received 6 cycles of chemotherapy, 4 patients received 4 cycles, 8 received 3 cycles and 1 patient received 2 cycles. The mean cumulative anthracycline dose received was 312.4±97 mg/m² (median 300mg/m², range 150-450mg/m²). Twenty (63%) patients received their anthracycline via a slow bolus injection through a peripheral cannula over 10-20 minutes, and 11 patients (34%) received it via a 46-hour infusion through a PICC line. One patient received two doses via an infusion and two doses via a bolus injection. Three patients (2 from Group 2 (Sham) and 1 from Group 1 (RIC)) who received mainly bolus injections and one patient (Group 2 (Sham)) who received mainly 46-hour infusion, had one dose administered via infusion or bolus injection respectively. The two groups were similar in their baseline chemotherapy characteristics.

Figure 3.2. CONSORT Diagram of screening and enrolment.



CONSORT



Table 3.1. Baseline Characteristics.										
	All N = 32	Group 1 (RIC) N = 16	Group 2 (Sham) N = 16							
Patient Baseline Deta	ils									
Age (mean ± S.D.)	52 ± 16	51 ± 15	53 ± 17							
Gender: Male Female	18 (56%) 14 (44%)	11 (69%) 5 (31%)	7 (44%) 9 (56%)							
Medical Comorbidities Hypertension High cholesterol Other	4 (13%) 4 (13%) 10 (31%)	2 (13%) 2 (13%) 4 (25%)	2 (13%) 2 (13%) 6 (38%)							
Smoking Status Current Ex Non	9 (28%) 7 (22%) 16 (50%)	6 (38%) 1 (6%) 9 (56%)	3 (19%) 6 (38%) 7 (44%)							
Family History of Ischaemic Heart Disease Yes No Unknown	3 (9%) 26 (81%) 3 (9)	2 (13%) 13 (81%) 1 (6%)	1 (7%) 13 (81%) 2 (6%)							
Baseline Medications Beta Blockers ACE-Inhibitors ARBs CCB Thiazides Statins PPI Prescription pain killers Steroid inhalers Steroids Other	1 (3%) 2 (6%) 1 (3%) 3 (9%) 1 (3%) 3 (9%) 6 (19%) 7 (22%) 4 (13%) 1 (3%) 15 (47%)	$ \begin{array}{c} 0\\ 2 (13\%)\\ 0\\ 2 (13\%)\\ 0\\ 1 (6\%)\\ 3 (19\%)\\ 5 (31\%)\\ 1 (6\%)\\ 0\\ 6 (38\%) \end{array} $	1 (6%) 0 1 (6%) 1 (6%) 2 (13%) 3 (19%) 2 (13%) 3 (19%) 1 (6%) 9 (56%)							
Cancer and chemothe	erapy baseline d	etails	0 (00 /0)							
Cancer Type: Sarcoma Breast Lymphoma	24 (75%) 2 (6%) 6 (19%)	13 (81%) 0 3 (19%)	11 (69%) 2 (13%) 3 (19%)							
Metastatic: Yes No	13 (41%) 19 (59%)	7 (44%) 9 (56%)	6 (38%) 10 (62%)							
Cancer Diagnosis Type New Relapse Anthracycline Type	26 (81%) 6 (19%)	12 (75%) 4 (25%)	14 (88%) 2 (12%)							

Doxorubicin	30 (94%)	16 (100%)	14 (88%)
Epirubicin	2 (6%)	0	2 (12%)
Chemotherapy			
Regime	6 (10%)	1 (250/)	2 (120/)
Dutes	0(19%)	4 (23%) 5 (21%)	2(13%)
	1 (3%)		1 (100%)
D-Cis	5 (16%)	2 (13%)	3 (19%)
D-Ola	2 (6%)	0	2 (13%)
RCHOP	2 (6%)	1 (6%)	1 (6%)
MAP	2 (6%)	1 (6%)	1 (6%)
VI-Dox	1 (3%)	0	1 (6%)
FEC DT	1 (3%)	0	1 (6%)
CHOEP	1 (3%)	1 (6%)	0
СНОР	1 (3%)	1 (6%)	0
IVA-Dox	1 (3%)	1 (6%)	0
RCHOP-Mtx	2 (6%)	Ù Ó	2 (13%)
ECOG WHO			
Performance Status			
0	18 (56%)	8 (50%)	10 (63%)
1	14 (44%)	8 (50%)	6 (37%)
Total Chemotherapy			
Cycles Received			
2	1 (3%)	1 (6%)	0
3	8 (25%)	4 (25%)	4 (25%)
4	4 (13%)	2 (13%)	2 (13%)
6	19 (59%)	9 (56%)	10 (63%)
I otal Cumulative			
Moon + S D	312.4 ± 00	307.0 ± 100	316.0 ± 07
(ma/m^2)	512.4 ± 33	307.9 ± 100	510.9 ± 97
Method of			
Administration			
Slow Bolus [±]	20 (63%)	8 (50%)	12 (75%)
46 Hr Infusion [§]	11 (34%)	7 (44%)	4 (25%)
Both	1 (3%)	1 (6%)	0
Intervention Details			1
RIC/Sham full			
protocol received			
(i.e. 4 RIC/sham			
inflations/deflations			
prior to each			
chemotherapy			
cycle)			
Yes⁺	30 (94%)	15 (94%)	15 (94%)
No	2 (6%)	1 (6%)	1 (6%)
l otal number of			
RIC/Snam	155	76	70
	100	10	19

Cycles (1 cycle = 4 inflations/deflations) performed										
Time difference										
from RIC/Sham to										
Doxorubicin	85	76	106							
(Median) (minutes)	(n = 152)	(n = 74)	(n = 78)							
* For patients receiving epiru	bicin the equivalent d	loxorubicin dose was	calculated by							
multiplying by 0.67 as per Za	morano et al (48) .									
[*] Full protocol received but some deviation from protocol – see text. [*] Three patients received one dose as an infusion – see text [§] One patient received one dose as a bolus – see text										

Thirty patients received the full RIC/Sham protocol – i.e. 4 cycles of RIC/sham prior to each chemotherapy cycle. One patient in Group 1 (RIC) received 3 full RIC cycles but did not receive the last RIC cycle due to COVID-19 pandemic. One patient from Group 2 (Sham) received 5 full Sham cycles but did not receive the intervention during the 3rd chemotherapy cycle due to recent surgery in one arm that prohibited application of the cuff on that arm and the presence of a Peripherally Inserted Central Catheter (PICC) in the other arm. Therefore, a total of 155 successful RIC/Sham cycles were completed (1 cycle = 4 inflations/deflations of BP cuff) with 76 in Group 1 (RIC) and 79 in Group 2 (Sham). Four patients (three from Group 1 (RIC) and one from Group 2 (Sham)) had the doxorubicin infusion started prematurely prior to the intervention finishing during one of their chemotherapy cycles. Two patients (one from each group) had a transient device failure which resulted in temporary halt of the protocol in one of their chemotherapy cycles. The median time difference from intervention to starting of doxorubicin was 85 minutes and was similar in the two groups (76 minutes in Group 1 (RIC) and 106 minutes in Group 2 (Sham), p = 0.068).

3.2.2 Baseline investigations

3.2.2.1 Baseline Echocardiogram

Baseline echocardiographic data for all patients and for each group are show in Table 3.2. Normal ranges were according to British Society of Echocardiography guidelines(316,317). Statistical analysis was done as described in 2.6.1.1. Left ventricular size and function was normal at baseline with a mean LVEF of 61% and mean GLS of -19%. Right ventricular size and function was also normal as assessed visually and with a mean TAPSE of 2.2cm and RV S' velocity of 13cm/s. Mean LV Doppler and Tissue Doppler imaging (TDI) parameters at baseline were within normal range. The two groups were similar in their baseline echocardiographic parameters. There was a small difference of 2.3% in the baseline LVEF between the two Groups (Group 1 (RIC) LVEF 62%, Group 2 (Sham) LVEF 59%) which was not statistically significant (p<0.079, 95% CI -0.28-4.8.

Table 3.2. Baseline Echocardiogram										
	All patients N = 32	Group 1 (RIC) N = 16	Group 2 (Sham) N = 16							
LV Size Parameters	S									
LVEDd (cm) (Mean ± S.D)	4.5 ± 0.4	4.5 ± 0.5	4.6 ± 0.4							
LVEDs (cm) (Mean ± S.D)	3.1 ± 0.3 (n = 30)	3 ± 0.3 (n = 15)	3.1 ± 0.3 (n = 15)							
IVSd (cm) (Mean ± S.D)	0.94 ± 0.14	0.9 ± 0.2	0.9 ± 0.1							
LVPWd (cm) (Mean ± S.D)	0.88 ± 0.16	0.9 ± 0.2	0.9 ± 0.2							
LV function parame	eters									
LVEF (%) (Mean ± S.D)	61 ± 4	62 ± 4	59 ± 3							
LVEF method										
Visual	10 (31%)	5 (31%)	5 (31%)							
Biplane	22 (69%)	11 (69%)	11(69%)							
GLS (%)	-19 ± 2	-19.2 ± 2	-18.7 ± 3.1							
(Mean ± S.D)	(n = 28)	(n = 15)	(n = 13)							
Tissue Doppler par	rameters									
IVS S' (cm/s) (Mean ± S.D)	9 ± 2	9 ± 2	9 ± 2							
IVS E' (cm/s)	10 ± 4	10 ± 4	9 ± 3							
(Mean ± S.D)	(n = 31)	(n = 15)	(n = 16)							

Lateral S' (cm/s) (Mean ± S.D)	11 ± 2	11 ± 3	11 ± 2		
Lateral E' (cm/s)	12 ± 4	12 ± 5	12 ± 4		
(Mean ± S.D)	(n = 30)	(n = 15)	(n = 15)		
E/E'	0.7 ± 0.2	0.7 ± 0.2	0.7 ± 0.3		
(Mean + S.D)	(n = 30)	(n = 15)	(n = 15)		
Doppler parameter	S (11 00)	(11 10)	(11 10)		
E (cm/s)	0.70 ± 0.16	0.72 ± 0.17	0.67 ± 0.15		
(Mean ± S.D)	(n = 31)	(n = 15)	(n = 16)		
A (cm/s)	0.66 ± 0.15	0.65 ± 0.15	0.68 ± 0.16		
(Mean ± S.D)	(n = 31)	(n = 15)	(n = 16)		
Deceleration Time (ms) (Mean ± S.D)	206 ± 52 (n = 28)	198 ± 51 (n = 14)	213 ± 53 (n = 14)		
E/A	1.1 ± 0.38	1.1±0.44	1 ± 0.29		
(Mean ± S.D)	(n = 31)	(n = 15)	(n = 16)		
RV function param	eters				
RV S' (cm/s)	13 ± 2	13 ± 2	14 ± 2		
(Mean ± S.D)	(n = 27)	(n = 12)	(n =15)		
RV TAPSE (cm)	2.2 ± 0.3	2.3 ± 0.3	2.2 ± 0.3		
(Mean ± S.D)	(n = 31)	(n = 16)	(n = 15)		

3.2.2.2 Baseline Blood Tests

Baseline blood tests for all patients and for each group are shown in Table 3.3. Statistical analysis was done as described in 2.6.1.1. There were no significant differences between baseline haematological and biochemical markers and cardiac biomarkers between the two groups. Baseline median Troponin T (TnT) was 7ng/L (mean 8ng/L) and NT-pro-BNP was 68ng/L (mean 116ng/L). In one patient in group 1 (RIC), the baseline troponin haemolysed and therefore the post cycle 1 chemotherapy troponin was used as baseline. The value of that was <3ng/L therefore did not rise after one doxorubicin administration. In one patient again in group 1 (RIC), the baseline troponin haemolysed and there was no other sample to use for baseline for that patient.

Table 3.3. Baseline Blood Tests										
	All patients N = 32	Group 1 (RIC) N = 16	Group 2 (Sham) N = 16							
Haematology										
Haemoglobin (g/L) (Mean ± S.D) (Normal range: Men: 130 – 170 Women: 115 - 155)	130 ± 18	132 ± 20	129 ± 15							
Platelets (x10 ⁹ /L) (Mean ± S.D) (Normal range: 150 – 400)	264 ± 80	264 ± 80	264 ± 82							
White Cell Count (x10 ⁹ /L) (Mean ± S.D) (Normal range: 3.0 - 10.0)	7.14 ± 2.14	7 ± 2.54	7.29 ± 3.38							
Neutrophils (x10 ⁹ /L) (Mean ± S.D) (Normal range: 2.0 - 7.5)	4.54 ± 2.01	4.68 ± 1.89	4.40 ± 2.18							
Biochemistry										
Sodium (mmol/L) (Mean ± S.D) (Normal range: 135 – 145)	140 ± 3	140 ± 2	140 ± 4							
Potassium (mmol/L) (Mean ±	4.5 ± 0.3	4.5 ± 0.3	4.5 ± 0.4							
S.D) (Normal range: 3.5 - 5.1)	(n = 30)	(n = 14)	(n = 16)							
Creatinine (umol/L) (Mean ± S.D) (Normal range: Men: 66 – 112 Women: 49 - 92)	76 ± 14	77 ± 12	76 ± 16							
Corrected Calcium (mmol/L) (Mean ± S.D) (Normal range: 2.20 - 2.60)	2.44 ± 0.11 (n = 31)	2.43 ± 0.15 (n = 16)	2.44 ± 0.07 (n = 15)							
Cardiac Biomarker	S									
Troponin T (ng/L) (Median ± IQR)	7 ± 5	6 ± 5	8 ± 5							

(Normal Range: 0 – 14)	(n = 31)*	(n = 15)	(n = 16)							
NT-proBNP (ng/L) (Median ± IQR) Normal <400)	68 ± 63 (n = 30)	54 ± 32 (n = 14)	76 ± 123 (n = 16)							
*In one patient baseline troponin haemolysed and the post chemotherapy cycle 1 troponin value was used as baseline. In another patient baseline troponin haemolysed and no post cycle 1 troponin available; see text										

3.2.2.3 Baseline Clinical Observations

Baseline clinical observations and ECG findings performed prior to cycle 1 chemotherapy for all patients and for each group are shown in Table 3.4. Statistical analysis was done as described in 2.6.1.1. Mean blood pressure was 131/73mmHg and mean heart rate was 75 beats per minute. Most patients were in normal sinus rhythm on their baseline 12-lead ECG, whilst one patient had 1st degree heart block. Two patients did not have a baseline ECG performed. There were no significant differences between baseline clinical

observations between the two groups.

Table 3.4. Baseline clinical observations										
	All patients N = 32	Group 2 (Sham) N = 16								
Systolic Blood pressure (mmHg) (Mean ± S.D)	131 ± 16	131 ± 15	132 ± 18							
Diastolic Blood Pressure (mmHg) (Mean ± S.D)	73 ± 9	72 ± 11	74 ± 7							
Heart Rate (bpm) (Mean ± S.D)	75 ± 13	77 ± 13	74 ± 12							
ECG Sinus Rhythm 1 st Heart Block	29 1 (n = 30)	16 0 (n = 16)	13 1 (n = 14)							

3.3 Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning on Troponin T

3.3.1 Comparison of pre- and post-chemotherapy Troponin T (TnT) values

Pre- and post-chemotherapy TnT values were compared to assess how troponin varies before and after each cycle of chemotherapy for all patients and for each group. Troponin

T trends during each chemotherapy cycle are shown in Figure 3.3 and Table 3.5 for all patients. Statistical analysis of TnT at each cycle compared to baseline was done as described in 2.6.1.2.

A total of 153 and 135 pre- and post-chemotherapy samples respectively were successfully analysed. In some patients, especially on a 46-hr infusion regime, disconnection of the infusion at the end of the 46 hrs would happen at their local hospital if they lived far away, thus no post-samples were taken. As patients progress through their chemotherapy, there is a general trend of an increase in their TnT (Figure 3.3). Median pre-chemotherapy TnT rises from 7ng/L at baseline to 34ng/L by cycle 6 (mean difference 27ng/L, 95% CI 20-35 ng/L, p<0.001 compared to baseline) and in some patients this can be as high as 67ng/L (Figure 3.3, Table 3.5). Post-chemotherapy TnT values follow a similar pattern.

Of the 140 post-chemotherapy samples collected, 3 had no chemotherapy end-time documented so the time difference from end of chemotherapy to sample collection was calculated for 137 samples (2 samples subsequently haemolysed thus not included in the overall analysis above but included in the analysis of time from chemotherapy). Post-chemotherapy troponin samples were collected at a median time of 106 minutes (98 minutes for bolus regimes, 125 minutes for infusion regimes) from the end of the doxorubicin injection/infusion. On 7 occasions where patients received a bolus injection, the end time was not recorded, thus a duration of injection of 15 minutes was assumed (the average bolus injection for injections with recorded end times was 16 minutes). Of the 140 post-chemotherapy samples collected, the majority (n = 100, 73% (n = 64 bolus regime, 36 infusion regime)) were performed less than 3 hours (180 minutes) from the end of chemotherapy. This is a deviation from the original study protocol which states

118

performing the post-sample between 3-24 hours post-chemotherapy and reflects patients' unwillingness to stay longer for the blood test after a long day (bolus) or often a weekend (infusion) spent at the Cancer Centre.

Random effects regression comparison between pre- and post- chemotherapy samples shows that there is no evidence of a difference between pre- and post-chemotherapy TnT (p=0.181). The fixed model estimates that on average pre-chemotherapy TnT is 1.9ng/L more than post-chemotherapy (95% CI -0.91-4.78). To investigate if increasing chemotherapy cycles has an effect, this was added as a fixed effect to the model and the random effects regression analysis repeated. There is still no evidence of a difference between pre- and post- chemotherapy TnT (p=0.135) with pre-chemotherapy TnT being on average 1.48ng/L higher than post-chemotherapy (95% CI -0.47-3.44). However, there is a significant increase of troponin with increasing chemotherapy cycles (p < 0.001). The mean troponin rise was as much as 27ng/L from baseline to cycle 6 further supporting the general trend of increasing Troponin T as patients progress through their chemotherapy seen in Figure 3.3. Figure 3.3. Pre- and Post-chemotherapy Troponin T Trends for all patients. A. Boxplot of pre- (dotted) and post-(white) chemotherapy TnT per cycle. B. Line chart of median TnT per cycle for pre- (continuous) and post- (broken) samples. * $p \le 0.001$ vs cycle 1 (pre).





Table J.	Table of Troponin Tricing pre- and post-enemotierapy for an patients											
	Cycle 1		Сус	ycle 2 Cycle 3 Cy		Сус	Cycle 4 Cy		le 5	Cycle 6		
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
	(n=30)	(n=29)	(n=32)	(n=29)	(n=30)	(n=28)	(n=23)	(n=18)	(n=19)	(n=15)	(n=19	(n=16)
Median (ng/L)	7	6	10	8	11	10	15	15	25	23	34	29
IQR	4	7	8	7	7	7	11	7	18	15	26	32
Min (ng/L)	3	3	3	3	5	6	7	7	11	8	14	13
Max (ng/L)	18	13	23	19	37	22	23	24	59	46	67	77

Table 3.5. Troponin T trends pre- and post-chemotherapy for all patients

A similar assessment was performed for each group individually as seen in Figure 3.4 (Group 1 (RIC)) and Figure 3.5 (Group 2(Sham)) and Tables 3.6 (Group 1(RIC)) and 3.7 (Group 2 (Sham)). As was seen in the analysis for all patients, there is a trend of increasing TnT concentration as patients progress with their chemotherapy. Random effects regression analysis for each group shows no difference between pre- and post-chemotherapy TnT (Group 1 (RIC) pre-chemotherapy TnT on average 2.49ng/L higher than post-, 95% CI -0.44-5.42, p=0.095, Group 2 (Sham) pre-chemotherapy TnT on average 0.64ng/L higher than post-, 95% CI -2.02-3.33, p=0.634). There is again a significant increase in troponin with increasing chemotherapy cycles (p <0.001) for both groups.

Even though there is no significant difference between pre and post-chemotherapy TnT values, the post-chemotherapy TnT appear to be lower than the pre-chemotherapy value with only 21% of pre/post pairs with a post-TnT being higher than the pre-chemotherapy value. This may be a dilutional effect as many patients receive intravenous fluids depending on their chemotherapy regime. However, as the study protocol did not include a post-chemotherapy assessment of haematocrit, I am unable to assess if this is indeed a dilutional effect. Therefore, as no statistical difference was seen between pre- and post-

samples and because there may be a dilutional effect that is affecting the true postchemotherapy TnT value and the fact that there are more missing post-chemotherapy samples compared to pre-chemotherapy, any subsequent comparisons between groups for the effect of RIC was performed using the pre-chemotherapy TnT values only (which correspond to a pre-chemotherapy TnT trough level). Figure 3.4. Pre- and Post-chemotherapy Troponin T Trends for Group 1 (RIC). A. Boxplot of pre- (dotted) and post-(white) chemotherapy TnT per cycle. B. Line chart of median TnT per cycle for pre- (continuous) and post- (broken) samples. p values are vs cycle 1 (pre).





Figure 3.5. Pre- and Post-chemotherapy Troponin T Trends for Group 2 (Sham). A. Boxplot of pre- (dotted) and post-(white) chemotherapy TnT per cycle. B. Line chart of median TnT per cycle for pre- (continuous) and post- (broken) samples. p values are vs cycle 1 (pre).



Table 3.	Table 3.6. Troponin T trends pre- and post-chemotherapy for Group 1 (RIC)												
	Cycle 1 Cycle 2		Сус	Cycle 3 Cyc		le 4 🛛 🤇		le 5	Cycle 6				
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	
	(n=14)	(n=14)	(n=16)	(n=14)	(n=14)	(n=13)	(n=12)	(n=7)	(n=9)	(n=8)	(n=9)	(n=8)	
Median	7	6	9	8	10	9	16	16	25	21	34	29	
(ng/L)													
IQR	5	6	8	7	6	5	9	8	25	22	15	30	
Min	4	3	3	3	6	6	9	8	12	10	14	13	
(ng/L)													
Max	18	12	23	19	37	22	23	20	59	46	67	68	
(ng/L)													

Table 3.	Table 3.7. Troponin T trends pre- and post-chemotherapy for Group 2 (Sham)											
	Сус	le 1	Сус	le 2	Сус	le 3	le 3 Cycle 4		Cycle 5		Cycle 6	
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
	(n=16)	(n=15)	(n=16)	(n=15)	(n=16)	(n=15)	(n=11)	(n=11)	(n=10)	(n=7)	(n=10)	(n=8)
Median (ng/L)	8	7	10	10	13	12	15	13	25	24	33	27
IQR	5	5	8	12	8	7	13	7	18	15	27	32
Min (ng/L)	3	3	4	3	5	6	7	7	11	8	14	14
Max (ng/L)	17	13	20	15	21	20	23	24	35	40	65	77

3.3.2. Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning (RIC) on Troponin T levels during

chemotherapy

3.3.2.1 Absolute Troponin T

The effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning (RIC) on Troponin T values during anthracycline chemotherapy was analysed by comparing the RIC and sham groups using their pre-chemotherapy TnT values per cycle (Figure 3.6, Table 3.8). Statistical analysis between the two groups was performed as described in 2.6.1.3.

Random effects regression analysis shows that there is no significant difference in the TnT values between Group 1 (RIC) and Group 2 (Sham)(Mean difference 1.5ng/L, 95% CI -2.42-5.42, p = 0.45). Adding consecutive chemotherapy cycles as a fixed effect to the model and repeating the regression analysis shows that still there is no significant

difference in the TnT values between the two groups (Mean difference 1.59ng/L, 95% CI - 1.1-4.28, p = 0.245). However, the effect of increasing chemotherapy cycles appears to have a significant increasing trend (p < 0.001) with a mean increase in TnT of 27.4ng/L from baseline to cycle 6. A Mann-Whitney test between the two groups at each cycle supports the random effect regression analysis with no significant difference between the groups at any chemotherapy cycle (Cycle 1 p=0.834, cycle 2, p=0.925, cycle 3, p=0.518, cycle 4, p=0.757, cycle 5, p=0.413, cycle 6, p=0.462).

Figure 3.6. Troponin T Comparisons between the two groups. A. Boxplot TnT per cycle for each group (Group 1 (RIC)=dotted, Group 2 (Sham)=white). B. Line chart of median TnT per cycle for each group (Group 1 (RIC)=continuous, Group 2 (Sham)=broken).



Table 3.6. Troponin T trends between Group T (Ric) and Group 2 (Snam) during chemotherapy												
	Cycle 1		Сус	le 2	Сус	le 3	Cycle 4		Cycle 5		Cycle 6	
	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group
	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2
	(n=14)	(n=16)	(n=16)	(n=16)	(n=14)	(n=16)	(n=12)	(n=11)	(n=9)	(n=10)	(n=9)	(n=10)
Median	7	8	9	10	10	13	16	15	25	25	34	33
(ng/L)												
IQR	5	5	8	8	6	8	14	13	25	18	15	27
Min	4	3	3	4	6	5	9	7	12	11	14	14
(ng/L)												
Max	18	17	23	20	37	21	23	23	59	35	67	65
(ng/L)												

3.3.2.2 Troponin T change from baseline (Δ TnT)

The effect of RIC on TnT during anthracycline chemotherapy was also analysed using the change of TnT from baseline, Δ TnT, and compared between the two groups (Figure 3.7, Tables 3.9 and 3.10). Statistical analysis comparison between the two groups was performed as described in 2.6.1.3.

In a similar fashion to the absolute TnT values, Δ TnT values increase as patients progress with their chemotherapy (Figure 3.7A, Table 3.9) with a mean increase in TnT from baseline of 28ng/L by cycle 6 (31ng/L for Group 1 (RIC) and 25ng/L for Group 2 (Sham) (Figure 3.7B, Tables 3.9, 3.10). Random effects regression shows that there is no significant difference in the Δ TnT between the two groups with Group 1 (RIC) having on average a Δ TnT that is 2.6ng/L higher than Group 2 (Sham) (95% CI -1.9-7.1, p=0.256) when repeated measures are taken into account. Adding consecutive chemotherapy cycles as a fixed effect into the model still shows no significant difference between the groups (Δ TnT difference 2.6ng/L, 95% CI -0.62-5.63, p = 0.113), however with a significant trend with increasing chemotherapy cycles (p < 0.001). An independent samples T test supports the regression analysis, with no significant difference between the mean Δ TnT at each cycle (Cycle 2: mean difference 0.3ng/L, 95% CI -2.3-2.9, p = 0.812, Cycle 3: mean difference 0.3ng/L, 95% CI -3.1-3.7, p = 0.858, Cycle 4: mean difference 1.2ng/L, 95% CI -

3.3-5.6, p = 0.586, Cycle 5: mean difference 7.5ng/L, 95% CI -4.5-19.6, p = 0.211, Cycle 6: mean difference 6.3ng/L, 95% CI -9.3-21.9, p = 0.408).

Figure 3.7. Δ TnT Comparisons between the two groups. A. Boxplot of Δ TnT per cycle for each group (Group 1 (RIC)=dotted, Group 2 (Sham)=white). B. Line chart of mean Δ TnT per cycle for each group (Group 1 (RIC)=continuous, Group 2 (Sham)=broken).



Table 3.9. ΔTnT trends for All patients during chemotherapy								
	Cycle 2	Cycle 3	Cycle 4	Cycle 5	Cycle 6			
	N = 30	N = 30	N = 22	N = 19	N = 19			
Mean (ng/L)	3	5	8	19	28			
SD	3.4	4.5	4.9	12.7	16			
Min (ng/L)	-4	-2	0	2	5			
Max (ng/L)	10	22	15	51	58			

Table 3.10. ΔTnT trends between Group 1 (RIC) and Group 2 (sham) during chemotherapy

Uncino	onenouroupy									
	Cycle 2		Cycle 3		Cycle 4		Сус	le 5	Cycle 6	
	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group
	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2
	(n=14)	(n=16)	(n=14)	(n=16)	(n=11)	(n=11)	(n=9)	(n=10)	(n=9)	(n=10)
Mean	3	3	5	5	9	7	23	15	31	25
(ng/L)										
SD	3.6	3.3	5.6	3.4	3.8	5.9	15.3	9.3	14.2	17.6
Min	-4	-3	-1	-2	2	0	5	2	7	5
(ng/L)										
Max	8	10	22	11	14	15	51	28	58	56
(ng/L)										

3.3.2.3 Troponin T as binary value (positive vs negative)

The effect of RIC on Troponin T trends during anthracycline chemotherapy was further analysed by treating TnT as a binary categorical variable (i.e. positive vs negative) (Table 3.11, 4.12, Figure 3.8) with statistical analysis of the comparison between the two groups as described in 2.6.1.3.

The number of patients with a positive TnT increases from 10% to 90% from cycle 1 to cycle 6 (Table 3.11). For Group 1 (RIC), Cycle 1 to Cycle 6 positive TnT values increase from 14% to 89% and for Group 2 (Sham), from 6 to 90% (Table 3.12, Figure 3.8). There is no significant difference in the number of positive TnT samples between the two groups at each cycle (Cycle 1, p=0.464, Cycle 2, p=1, Cycle 3, p=0.544, Cycle 4, p=0.855, Cycle 5, p=0.313, Cycle 6, p=0.937).

Table 3.11. Positive TnT trends for All patients during chemotherapy								
	Cycle 1	Cycle 2	Cycle 3	Cycle 4	Cycle 5	Cycle 6		
	N = 30	N = 32	N = 30	N = 23	N = 19	N = 19		
TnT								
Yes	3 (10)	6 (19)	8 (27)	13 (57)	15 (79)	17 (90)		
No	27 (90)	26 (81)	22 (73)	10 (43)	4 (21)	2 (10)		

Table 3.12. Positive TnT between Group 1 (RIC) and Group 2 (sham) during chemotherapy												
	Сус	le 1	Сус	le 2	Сус	le 3	Сус	le 4	Сус	cle 5	Сус	cle 6
	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group
	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2
	(n=14)	(n=16)	(n=16)	(n=16)	(n=14)	(n=16)	(n=12)	(n=11)	(n=9)	(n=10)	(n=9)	(n=10)
TnT +ve (%) Yes No	2 (14) 12 (86)	1 (6) 15 (94)	3 (19) 13 (81)	3 (19) 13 (81)	3 (21) 11 (79)	5 (31) 11 (69)	7 (58) 5 (42)	6 (55) 5 (45)	8 (89) 1 (11)	7 (70) 3 (30)	8 (89) 1 (11)	9 (90) 1 (10)

Figure 3.8. Positive TnT Comparisons between the two groups (Group 1 = RIC, Group 2 =





3.3.2 Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning (RIC) on Troponin T levels during chemotherapy according to cumulative anthracycline dose received

Cumulative anthracycline dose is one of the major risk factors for anthracycline cardiotoxicity. Therefore, the effect of RIC on Troponin T according to cumulative dose received during chemotherapy was analysed and the two groups compared as described in 2.6.1.3. Figures 3.9 and 3.10 show a scatter and dot diagram of TnT and Δ TnT respectively against cumulative dose for each group.

Figure 3.9. Scatter and dot diagram with line of best fit of TnT against cumulative anthracycline dose for Group 1 (RIC) (black dots, continuous line) and Group 2 (Sham) (white dots, broken line).



Figure 3.10. Scatter and dot diagram with line of best fit of Δ TnT against cumulative anthracycline dose for Group 1 (RIC) (black dots, continuous line) and Group 2 (Sham) (white dots, broken line).



Random effects regression analysis shows that there is no significant difference between the TnT and Δ TnT between the two groups when taking repeated measures and cumulative dose into account. Group 1 (RIC) has on average a TnT that is 0.95ng/L (95% CI -2.1-4, p = 0.544) and a Δ TnT that is 1.73ng/L (95% CI -1.9-5, p = 0.342) higher than Group 2 (Sham).

3.3.3. Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning (RIC) on Troponin T levels during chemotherapy and follow up

To assess if RIC had any effect on TnT levels taken during chemotherapy and follow up, a similar analysis was also performed but on this occasion any available TnT values that were performed during the follow up period were also incorporated.

3.3.3.1 Absolute Troponin T

Absolute TnT values during the whole study period (i.e. chemotherapy and follow-up) were compared between the RIC and sham groups (Figure 3.11, Tables 3.13 and 3.14). Comparison between the two groups was performed as described in 2.6.1.4

Table 3.13 shows the TnT trends for all patients at each follow-up time-point. Unfortunately 5 patients died during follow up (one after the 1 month follow-up, 2 after the 3 month follow-up and 2 after the 6 month follow-up). One patient withdrew after the 3 month follow up and thus no further data are available beyond that. The rest of the missing data represent patients who have not had a blood test at that particular time-point. Up to the 6 month follow- up, the majority of those missed blood tests were due to the Covid-19 pandemic (75%). Because of the prolonged follow-up protocol of the study, the missing data at the 12 month time-point are due to a combination of patients not reaching that part of follow-up (65%) and because of the Covid-19 pandemic (35%). Therefore, as n = 6 at the 12 month follow-up, the analysis of the comparison between the two groups was done up to the 6 month follow-up.

Table 3.13. Absolute TnT trends for All patients during follow-up								
	One Month	Three Months	Six months	Twelve months				
	N = 29	N = 28	N = 22	N = 6				
Median (ng/L)	34	20	15	13				
IQR	44	22	13	19				
Min (ng/L)	6	6	3	8				
Max (ng/L)	128	60	50	48				
Days from last cycle (median)	32	94	185	363				

Table 3.14. Absolute TnT trends between Group 1 (RIC) and Group 2 (Sham) during follow-up								
	One I	Nonth	Three Months		Six Months		Twelve Months	
	Group 1 (n=16)	Group 2 (n=13)	Group 1 (n=13)	Group 2 (n=15)	Group 1 (n=11)	Group 2 (n=11)	Group 1 (n=4)	Group 2 (n=2)
Median (ng/L)	35	27	22	18	16	14	10	35
IQR	67	38	23	22	8	19	6	-
Min (ng/L)	6	9	6	9	7	3	8	21
Max (ng/L)	92	128	44	60	27	50	15	48
Days from last cycle (median)	31	33	94	93	182	187	393	331

As can be seen from Figure 3.11 and Tables 3.13 and 3.14, TnT remains elevated one month after anthracycline chemotherapy with a median of 34ng/L, after which it starts to fall. The box-whisker plots however, particularly at the one month time-point, are fairly wide for both groups suggesting there is a lot of variability between the patients' TnT values.

Random effects regression analysis shows that there is no difference in the TnT values between the two groups during chemotherapy and follow up, with Group 1 (RIC) having on average a TnT value of 1.29ng/L higher than Group 2 (Sham) (95% CI -3.45-6.05, p=0.592) when repeated measures are taken into account. Adding time (i.e. the different time-points) as a fixed effect in the model and repeating the analysis, there is still no significant difference between the two groups with Group 1 (RIC) having a TnT that is 0.62ng/L higher than Group 2 (Sham) on average (95% CI -3.13-4.37, p=0.744) but, as before, there is a significant trend of time (p<0.001). A Mann-Whtiney test supports the regression analysis, with no significant difference between the two groups at any of the follow-up time-points (1 month, p=1, 3 month, p=0.945, 6 month, p=0.699). A separate random effects regression analysis only for the follow-up periods also shows there is no significant difference between the two groups during follow-up (p=0.8) but with a significant trend for the effect of time (p<0.001), further supporting the previous analyses.

Figure 3.11. Absolute TnT values comparisons between the two groups during chemotherapy and follow-up. A. Boxplot of TnT per time-point for each group (Group 1 (RIC)=dotted, Group 2 (Sham)=white). B. Line chart of median TnT per time-point for each group (Group 1 (RIC)=continuous, Group 2 (Sham)=broken).



3.3.3.2 Troponin T change from baseline (ΔTnT)

A similar analysis was performed for the TnT change from baseline (Δ TnT) during chemotherapy and follow up and a comparison made between Group 1 (RIC) and Group 2 (Sham)(Figure 3.12, Tables 3.15 and 3.16). Comparison between the two groups was performed as described in 2.6.14. As with the absolute TnT analysis, the 12M time-point was not included in the statistical analysis due to a small N number.

Similar to the absolute TnT trends, when analysing the difference from baseline (Δ TnT) as seen in Figure 3.13 and Tables 3.15 and 3.16, Δ TnT values remain elevated one month after chemotherapy with a median increase of 24ng/L from baseline (Group 1 (RIC), 33ng/L, Group 2 (Sham), 20ng/L), after which they start to decrease, though with wide boxplot in both groups suggestive of significant variability between patients. Random effects regression analysis shows that there is no difference in the Δ TnT values between the two groups during chemotherapy and follow up, with Group 1 (RIC) having on average a TnT value of 2.65ng/L higher than Group 2(Sham) (95% CI -2.69-7.99, p=0.328) when repeated measures are taken into account. Adding the different time-points as a fixed effect in the model and repeating the analysis, there is still no significant difference between the two groups with Group 1(RIC) having a TnT that is on average 2.12ng/L higher than Group 2(sham) (95% CI -2.12-6.36, p=0.325) but, as before, there is a significant trend of time (p<0.001). A Mann-Whitney test supports the regression analysis, with no significant difference between the two groups at any of the follow-up time-points (1 month, p=0.395, 3 month, p=0.736, 6 month, p=0.860). A separate random effects regression analysis only for the follow-up periods also shows there is no significant difference between the two groups during follow-up (p=0.78) but with a significant trend for the effect of time (p<0.001), further supporting the previous analyses.

Table 3.15. ΔTnT trends for All patients during follow-up							
	One month	Three months	Six months	Twelve months			
	N = 27	N = 26	N = 21	N = 6			
Median (ng/L)	24	14	7	4			
IQR	49	52	13	17			
Min (ng/L)	3	0	-7	-3			
Max (ng/L)	119	52	42	31			

Table 3.16. ΔTnT trends between RIC and sham group during follow up

	One r	nonth	Three months		Six months		Twelve months	
	Group 1	Group 2	Group 1	Group 2	Group 1	Group 2	Group 1	Group 2
	(n=14)	(n=13)	(n=11)	(n=15)	(n=10)	(n=11)	(n=4)	(n=2)
Median (ng/L)	33	20	17	13	6	9	3	23
IQR	63	42	19	19	8	16	6	-
Min (ng/L)	3	6	3	0	0	-7	-3	14
Max (ng/L)	82	119	37	52	15	42	5	31

Figure 3.12. Δ TnT Comparisons between the two groups during chemotherapy and followup. A. Boxplot of Δ TnT per time-point for each group (Group 1(RIC)=dotted, Group 2(Sham)=white). B. Line chart of mean Δ TnT per time-point for each group (Group (RIC) 1=continuous, Group 2(Sham)=broken).



3.3.3.3 Troponin T as binary value (positive vs negative)

Treating TnT as a binary variable with a TnT≥15ng/L as positive, the analysis was repeated and a comparison was made for TnT values during chemotherapy and follow-up between the two groups. Troponin positive values for all patients is shown in Table 3.17 and for each group are shown in Table 3.18 and Figure 3.13. Comparison between the two groups was performed as described in 2.6.1.4.

As can be seen from Figure 3.13 and Tables 3.17 and 3.18, TnT values remain positive one month after chemotherapy in up to 86% of patients (Group 1(RIC) 81%, Group 2 (Sham) 92%) after which they start to decrease, though even after 6 months from chemotherapy 50% of patients (Group 1(RIC), 55%, Group 2(Sham), 45%) still have a positive TnT. A chi-squared comparison at the follow-up time-points shows that, similar to the analysis during chemotherapy, there is no significant difference in the number of positive TnT samples between the two groups at each follow-up time-point (One month, p=0.39, Three month, p=0.885, Six month, p=0.67).

Table 3.17. Positive TnT trends for All patients during follow-up							
	One month	Three months	Six months	Twelve months			
	N = 29	N = 28	N = 22	N = 6			
TnT +ve (%) Yes No	25 (86) 4 (14)	19 (68) 9 (32)	11 (50) 11 (50)	2 (33) 4 (67)			

Table group	Table 3.18. Positive TnT trends between Group 1 (RIC) and Group 2 (Sham)group during follow-up							
	One n	nonth	Three	months	Six m	onths	Twelve months	
	Group 1 (n=16)	Group 2 (n=13)	Group 1 (n=13)	Group 2 (n=15)	Group 1 (n=11)	Group 2 (n=11)	Group 1 (n=4)	Group 2 (n=2)
TnT +ve (%) Yes	13 (81)	12 (92)	9 (69)	10 (67)	6 (55)	5 (45)	0	2
No	3 (19)	1 (8)	4 (31)	5 (33)	5 (45)	6 (55)	4	0

Figure 3.13. Positive TnT Comparisons between the two groups during chemotherapy and follow-up (Group 1 = RIC, Group 2 = Sham)



3.3.4 Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning on Troponin T during anthracycline chemotherapy Results Conclusion

In summary, due to the small N number, **the results can only be used as a hypothesis generating exercise.** Using the analysis shown above we can conclude that, anthracyclines cause an increase in TnT as patients progress with their chemotherapy that seems to persist for at least one month after the cessation of chemotherapy. RIC has no significant effect on this rise in troponin.

3.4 The Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning (RIC) on echocardiographic

parameters after anthracycline chemotherapy

Table 3.19 shows echocardiographic parameters for all patients and for each group before and three and twelve months after anthracycline chemotherapy. As with the TnT data, the 12 month data include only 8 patients who had an echocardiogram due either not having reached that part of follow-up yet or due to being unable to perform the scan because of the Covid-19 pandemic. Therefore, the 12 month time-point was not included in the statistical analysis. Statistical analysis and comparison between the two groups was performed as described in 2.6.15.

Table 3.19. Echocardiographic parameters before and after chemotherapy(Group 1 = RIC, Group 2 = Sham)									
	Baseline	Three months	Twelve Months						
LV Size Parameters									
LVEDd (cm)									
All	4.5 ± 0.4	4.6 ± 0.5 (n=28)	4.6 ± 0.4 (n=8)						
Group 1	4.5 ± 0.5	4.5 ±0.5 (n=13)	4.6 ± 0.3 (n=5)						
Group 2	4.6 ± 0.4	4.6 ± 0.7 (n=15)	4.7 ± 0.5 (n=3)						
(Mean ± S.D)									
LVEDs (cm)									
All	3.1 ± 0.3 (n=30)	3.1 ±0.4 (n=26)	3.0± 0.5 (n=8)						
Group 1	3 ± 0.3 (n=15)	3.1 ± 0.4 (n=11)	2.2 + 0.2 = -5						
Group 2	3.1 ± 0.3 (n=15)	3.1±0.4 (n=15	3.2± 0.3 II-5)						
(Mean ± S.D)			2.7 ± 0.6 (n=3)						
IVSd (cm)									
Ali	0.94 ± 0.14	0.91 ±0.22 (n=27)	0.9 ± 0.1 (n=8)						
Group 1 Group 2 (Mean ± S.D)	0.9 ± 0.2 0.9 ± 0.1	0.96 ± 0.26 (n=13) 0.87 ± 0.14 (n=14)	0.86 ± 0.1 (n=5) 0.97 ± 0.06 (n=3)						
---	--	--	--	--------------					
LVPWd (cm) All Group 1 Group 2 (Mean ± S.D)	0.88 ± 0.16 0.9 ± 0.2 0.9 ± 0.2	0.9 ±0.2 (n=27) 0.95 ±0.18 (n=13) 0.86 ± 0.22 (n=14)	0.89 ± 0.1 (n=8) 0.84 ± 0.09 (n=5) 0.97 ± 0.06 (n=3)						
LV function par	ameters	·	·						
LVEF (%) All Group 1 Group 2 (Mean ± S.D)	61 ± 4 62 ± 4 59 ± 3	60 ± 5 (n=28) 60 ± 5 (n=13) 60 ± 5 (n=15)	58 ± 8 (n=8) 57 ± 5 (n=5) 59 ± 3 (n=3)						
LVEF method All Visual Biplane	10 (31%) 22 (69%)	12 (43%) 16 (57%)	3 (38%) 3 (62%)						
Group 1 Visual Biplane	5 (31%) 11 (69%)	4 (31%) 9 (69%)	1 (20%) 4 (80%)						
Group 2 Visual Biplane	5 (31%) 11 (69%)	8 (43%) 7 (57%)	2 (67%) 1 (33%)						
GLS (%) All Group 1 Group 2 (Mean ± S.D)	-19 ± 2 (n=28) -19.2 ± 2 (n=15) -18.7 ± 3.1 (n=13)	-18.3 ± 2.3 (n=21) -18.8 ± 1.7 (n=10) -17.9 ± 2.8 (n=11)	-16.9 ± 2.8 (n=5) -16.7 ± 3.2 (n=4)						
Tissue Doppler	parameters	1	1						
IVS S' (cm/s) All Group 1 Group 2 (Mean ± S.D)	9 ± 2 9 ± 2 9 ± 2	8 ± 2 (n=26) 9 ± 2 (n=12) 8 ± 2 (n=14)	9 ± 2 (n=8) 9 ± 3 (n=5) 8 ± 2 (n=3)						
IVS E' (cm/s) All Group 1 Group 2 (Mean ± S.D)	10 ± 4 (n=31) 10 ± 4 (n=15) 9 ± 3 (n=16)	8 ± 3 (n=24) 9 ± 3 (n=12) 8 ± 2 (n=12)	8 ± 2 (n=8) 8 ± 2 (n=5) 8 ± 2 (n=3)						
Lateral S' (cm/s) All ⁺ Group 1 Group 2 ⁺ (Mean ± S.D)	11 ± 2 11 ± 3 11 ± 2	10 ± 2 (n=25) 9 ± 2 (n=12) 10 ±2 (n=13)	10 ± 3 (n = 8) 10 ±3 (n=5) 10 ± 3 (n=3)	p = 0.001					
Lateral E' (cm/s)									

All [§] Group 1 Group 2 (Mean ± S.D)	12 ± 4 (n=30) 12 ± 5 (n=15) 12 ± 4 (n=15)	10 ± 4 (n=24) 11 ± 5 (n=12) 9 ±3 (n=12)	10 ± 3 (n=8) 11 ± 4 (n=5) 9 ± 2 (n=3)	p = 0.022
E/E' All Group 1 Group 2 (Mean ± S.D)	0.7 ± 0.2 (n=30) 0.7 ± 0.2 (n=15) 0.7 ± 0.3 (n=15)	0.7 ± 0.2 (n=22) 0.7 ± 0.3 (n=10) 0.8 ± 0.2 (n=12)	1.5 ± 2.2 (n=8) 2 ± 2.8 (n=5) 0.76 ± 0.03 (n=3)	
Doppler parame	eters		1	
E (cm/s) All Group 1 [±] Group 2 (Mean ± S.D)	0.70 ± 0.16 (n=31) 0.72 ± 0.17 (n=15) 0.67 ± 0.15 (n=16)	0.59 ± 0.13 (n=24) 0.54 ± 0.13 (n=10) 0.62 ± 0.13 (n=14)	0.6± 1.9 (n=8) 1.7 ± 2.4 (n=5) 0.6 ± 0.04 (n=3)	P = 0.031
A (cm/s) All Group 1 Group 2 (Mean ± S.D)	0.66±0.15 (n=31) 0.65±0.15 (n=15) 0.68±0.16 (n=16)	0.63 ± 0.17 (n=24) $0.66 \pm$ 0.22(n=10) 0.61 ± 0.13 (n=14)	1.2± 1.8 (n=8) 1.7 ± 2.3 (n=5) 0.7 ± 0.06 (n=3)	
Deceleration Time (ms) All Group 1 Group 2 (Mean ± S.D)	206 ± 52 (n=28) 198 ± 51 (n=14) 213 ± 53 (n=14)	221 ± 81 (n=23) 213 ± 99 (n=10) 227 ± 68 (n=13)	206 ± 58 (n=8) 208 ± 58 (n=5) 203 ± 70 (n=3)	
E/A All Group 1 Group 2 (Mean ± S.D)	$1.1 \pm 0.38 (n=31)$ $1.2 \pm 0.44 (n=15)$ $1 \pm 0.29 (n=16)$	0.99 ± 0.32 (n=24) 0.92 ± 0.39 (n=10) 1 ± 0.27 n=14)	0.94 ± 0.24 (n=8) 0.98 ± 0.29 (n=5) 0.86 ± 0.11 (n=3)	
RV S' (cm/s)	ameters			
All Group 1 Group 2 (Mean ± S.D)	13 ± 2 (n=27) 13 ± 2 (n=12) 14 ± 2 (n=15)	13 ± 2 (n=20) 13 ± 3 (n=11) 12 ± 2 (n=9)	13 ± 2 (n=5) 13 ± 3 (n=3)	
RV TAPSE (cm) All Group 1 Group 2 (Mean ± S.D)	2.2 ± 0.3 (n=31) 2.3 ± 0.3 (n=16) 2.2 ± 0.3 (n=15)	2.2 ± 0.4 (n=26) 2.2 ± 0.4 (n=13) 2.2 ± 0.3 (n=13)	1.9 ± 0.2 (n=7) 2 ± 0.2 (n=4) 1.8 ± 0.1 (n=3)	
Days from last				

chemotherapy cycle		$93 \pm 33 (n=28)$ 105 ± 31 (n=13) $93 \pm 36 (n=15)$	$394 \pm 76 (n=8)$ $423 \pm 88 (n=5)$ 365 (n=3)	
Group 1 Group 2 (Median ± IQR)		55 ± 50 (II-15)	303 (II-3)	
⁺ All patients and G [±] Group 1 baseline 2	Froup 2 baseline vs 3 mo vs 3 months, ** LV Mass	nths, [§] All patients baselin mean change from baseli	e vs 3 months, ne Group 1 vs Group	

In total, 28 patients had echocardiograms at the 3 month time-point (missed scans due to: 1 death, 1 withdrawal, 2 Covid-19 pandemic) with a median time from last chemotherapy cycle of 93 ± 33 days (Group 1 (RIC), 105 ± 31 , Group 2 (Sham), 93 ± 36).

Overall, there was no significant change in the mean LVEF from baseline (LVEF 61%) to 3 months post chemotherapy (LVEF 60%) with a mean decrease of 0.7% (95% CI -0.83-2.26, p=0.351). Figure 3.14 shows LVEF at baseline and three months post-chemotherapy for each group. For Group 1 (RIC), there is a small mean decrease from baseline to 3 months post chemotherapy of 1.8% (95% CI -0.956-4.496, p = 0.183) which is non-significant. For Group 2 (Sham), there is a small increase in the LVEF from baseline to 3 months post chemotherapy -0.2% (95% CI -2.1-1.7, p = 0.82) which is non-significant. When comparing the mean Δ LVEF from baseline between the two groups, there is no significant difference (mean Δ LVEF difference 1.96%, 95%CI -1.1-5.03, p=0.197) (Figure 3.14B).

Figure 3.14. A. LVEF changes from baseline to three months post chemotherapy for Group 1 (RIC) (dotted) and Group 2 (Sham) (white). B. LVEF absolute percentage change for Group 1 (RIC) (dotted) and Group 2 (Sham) (white).



Similarly, there was no significant change in the mean GLS from baseline (GLS -19.1%) to 3 months post chemotherapy (GLS -18.5%) with a mean change (decrease) of -0.6% (95%CI -1.9-0.68, p=0.338). Figure 3.15 shows the GLS at baseline and 3 months post chemotherapy for each group. There is no significant difference for either group for the GLS at baseline and 3 months (Group 1 (RIC) GLS baseline vs 3 months -18.9% vs - 18.8%, mean difference -0.1%, 95% CI -2.2-2, p=0.916; Group 2 (Sham) GLS baseline vs 3 months -19.2% vs -18.1%, mean difference -1.2%, 95% CI -3-0.67, p=0.181). When comparing the mean Δ GLS from baseline between the two groups, there is no significant difference (mean Δ GLS difference 1.1%, 95% CI -1.5-3.7, p=0.403). When considering the GLS relative percentage change from baseline, Group 1 (RIC) has a mean relative change of -1.2% and Group 2 (Sham) a mean relative change of 5.1% with a mean difference between the two groups of 6.4% (95% CI -9.6-22.4, p=0.411) that was not statistically significant (Figure 3.15).

One patient (Group 1 (RIC)) had a drop in his LVEF by 12% to 46% and a corresponding drop in his GLS of 2.9% to -15.7% (corresponding to a 16% relative change in GLS) with no heart failure symptoms but needing initiation of heart failure medication. A second patient (Group 2 (Sham)) had a drop in his LVEF by 6% to 49% and a corresponding drop in his GLS of 3.6% to -12% (corresponding to a 23% relative change in GLS) with associated heart failure symptoms and was initiated on heart failure medication by the study team. A third patient (Group 2 (Sham)) had no change in his LVEF (66% to 68%) but with an associated drop in his GLS of 3.2% to -14.8% (18% relative change in GLS) with no associated heart failure symptoms and is being monitored for any further deterioration. A fourth patient (Group 1 (RIC)) had a 21% change in his GLS (from –21.3% to -16.8%) but with an LVEF at 3 months that was unchanged at 63% (64% at baseline) who is also monitored for any further deterioration.

149

Of the other parameters listed in Table 3.19, only lateral S' and lateral E' velocity show a significant difference between baseline and 3 months for all patients with lateral S' velocity showing a decrease of 1.6cm/s (95% CI 0.75-2.5, p=0.001) and lateral E' velocity a decrease of 2.1cm/s (95% CI 0.34-3.9, p=0.022). A similar trend was seen for Group 2 (Sham) for the lateral S' velocity only (mean decrease 1.7cm/s, 95% CI 0.9-2.5, p=0.001) but not for Group 1 (RIC). In Group 1(RIC) there was a change in E velocity with a mean decrease of 0.1cm/s (95% CI 0.01-0.2, p=0.031) between baseline and 3 months. When comparing the changes from baseline between the two groups there are no significant differences in any of the parameters.

In summary, due to the small N number, the results can only be used as a hypothesis generating exercise. RIC does not appear to have an effect on LV function as measured by LVEF and GLS with no significant difference in the Δ LVEF and Δ GLS (absolute or relative) between the RIC and sham groups. There was also no change in EF and GLS from baseline to 3 months, however lateral S' and E' velocities were reduced compared to baseline, even though there was no difference in the change (i.e. Δ) in S' or E' velocity between the two groups.

Figure 3.16. A. GLS changes from baseline to three months post chemotherapy for Group 1 (RIC) (dotted) and Group 2 (Sham) (white). B. GLS relative percentage changes for Group 1 (RIC) (dotted) and Group 2 (Sham) (white).



3.5 The Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning (RIC) on NT-proBNP after

anthracycline chemotherapy

The effect of RIC on NT-pro-BNP was assessed for all patients and for each group individually. For all patients and for each group, comparisons of how NT-proBNP changes before and after chemotherapy was made as described in 2.6.1.6. Figure 3.17 shows how NT-proBNP changes before and after chemotherapy.

There is a trend of NT-proBNP increasing from baseline to three months with a median increase from 68ng/L to 115ng/L (p=0.003) that is also significant for Group 2 (Sham) only (p=0.02) (Table 3.20, Figure 3.17). However, when comparing the mean Δ NT-proBNP from baseline between the two groups there is no significant difference (p=0.913). This suggests that there is no effect of RIC in the NT-proBNP levels after anthracycline chemotherapy, even though there is a suggestion that NT-proBNP levels increase after anthracycline chemotherapy, albeit at levels below the 400ng/L cut-off for the upper limit of normal. Due to the small N number however, the results can only be used as a hypothesis generating exercise.

Table 3.20. NT-pro- (Group 1 = RIC, Group 1 = RIC,			
	Baseline	Three months	
NT-proBNP (ng/L)			
All*	68 ± 63 (n=30)	115 ± 274 (n=31)	p=0.003
Group 1	54 ± 32 (n=14)	132 ± 274 (n=15)	
Group 2 [±]	76 ± 123 (n=16)	91 ± 252 (n=16)	p=0.02
(Median ± IQR)			
Normal <400)			
*p=0.003 baseline vs th			

Figure 3.17. Boxplot of NT-proBNP per time-point for each group (Group 1 (RIC)=dotted, Group 2 (Sham)=white). p=0.02 vs baseline



3.6 The Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning (RIC) on Clinical Events

Major adverse cardiovascular and cancer events (MACCE) were defined as described in 2.5.1.2.3.

3.6.1 MACCE and cancer progression

The time to a MACCE event was analysed and compared for each group. Table 3.21 shows the MACCE events in all patients and in each group. The analysis, as before, included events up to the six-month follow-up appointment from the end of chemotherapy. Thus, any events from the start of chemotherapy (to capture events that occurred during chemotherapy) until the 6-month follow up appointment were recorded. Statistical comparison between the two groups was performed as described in 2.6.1.7 Of the 32 patients, 2 (1 from each group) had missed their 6 month follow-up appointment due to the

Covid-19 pandemic and 1 (Group 1 (RIC)) had not reached that time-point yet at the time of analysis. The three patients were still included in the analysis and any events were recorded up until their last follow-up. The one patient who withdrew after the 3-month follow-up was also included as intention-to-treat and any events recorded up to that appointment.

Table 3.21. Major A Group 2 = Sham)	dverse Cardiovascu	ular and Cancer even	nts (Group 1 = RIC,
	All patients N = 32	Group 1 N = 16	Group 2 N = 16
All MACCE events (%)	9 (28)	6 (38)	3 (19)
Cardiovascular Events (%)	4 (13)	2 (13)	2 (13)
Arrhythmias (%)	2 (6)	1 (6)	1 (6)
Cancer Deaths (%)	∠ (6) 5 (16)	4 (25)	1 (6)
Cancer Progression (%)	8 (25)	4 (25)	4 (25)

In total, 9 (28%) patients had a pre-specified MACCE event (6 (38%) in Group 1 (RIC) and 3 (19%) in Group 2 (Sham)). Of those, 4 (13%) (2 (13%) in each group) were cardiovascular events and 5(16%) (4 (25%) in Group 1(RIC) and 1 (6%) in Group 2(Sham)) were cancer deaths. Of the cardiovascular events, 2 (6%) (1 (6%) in each group) were episodes of asymptomatic non-sustained ventricular tachycardia that was picked up by the 14-day cardiac monitor at the end of chemotherapy and was significant enough to warrant initiation of treatment with beta blockers. The other 2 (6%) were a new diagnosis of heart failure or asymptomatic reduction in LV function that needed initiation of medication (1 (6%) in Group 1 (RIC) with asymptomatic deterioration in LV function (LVEF drop from 58% to 46%) and 1 (6%) in Group 2(Sham) with symptomatic heart failure and deterioration in LV function (LVEF drop from 55% to 49%)).





Of the cancer deaths, 4 (3 in Group 1(RIC), 1 in Group 2(Sham)) patients had sarcoma (3 metastatic and one with local involvement but not distant metastases) at the beginning of the study. Their details are as follows: 1 patient with Stage IV lower limb rhabdomyosarcoma with lung metastases with disease progression despite first and second line chemotherapy and subsequent brain metastases; 1 patient with high grade leiomyosarcoma of the uterus with lung and peritoneal metastases treated with chemotherapy with palliative intend and subsequent disease progression despite 4th line chemotherapy; 1 patient with high grade spindle cell sarcoma of lower limb with lung metastases treated with palliative intend and subsequent disease progression despite 3rd line chemotherapy; 1 patient with poorly differentiated Stage III high grade spindle cell sarcoma of the adrenal gland with pleural and diaphragmatic involvement but no distant metastases treated with 1st line chemotherapy and pre-operative radiotherapy but with

subsequent radiotherapy induced pneumonitis and subsequent lung metastases). All 4 were felt to be expected outcomes due to their cancer diagnosis. The 5th patient had follicular T cell lymphoma with good response to initial chemotherapy who subsequently underwent autologous stem cell transplant and died due to complications post-transplant with details as follows: prolonged post-transplant admission due to severe nausea and vomiting and mucositis. Re-admitted with ongoing diarrhea and vomiting due to cytomegalovirus colitis and after 2 months in hospital deteriorated with Acute Respiratory Distress syndrome and multi-organ failure needing ITU admission and subsequent death.

As seen in Figure 3.18 there was no significant difference in the MACCE events between the two groups with a log-rank test p value of 0.269. Cox regression suggests that the risk of an event is 2.14 higher in Group 1(RIC) than Group 2(Sham) though this is not statistically significant with a 95% CI of 0.54-8.59, p=0.281. However, due to the small N number, the results can only be used as a hypothesis generating exercise.

The effect of RIC on cardiovascular events and cancer deaths separately was analysed in a similar fashion. Figures 3.19 and 3.20 show the Kaplan-Meier plots for cardiovascular events and cancer deaths respectively. There is no significant difference in cardiovascular events between the two groups with a Log-rank test p value of 0.999. Cox regression shows a hazard ratio of 1 with a 95% CI of 0.14-7.11 (p=0.999). There is no significant difference in cancer deaths between the two groups with a Log-rank test p value of 0.181. Cox regression analysis suggests that the risk of cancer death in Group 1(RIC) is 4.35 higher than Group 2 (Sham), however this was not statistically significant with a 95% CI of 0.49-38.9, p=0.189.

The effect of RIC on time to cancer progression was also analysed in a similar fashion. Time to cancer progression was defined if there was disease progression for the first time since initiation of anthracycline-containing chemotherapy. If there was further disease progression subsequently (usually in the context of second (or more) line of chemotherapy), this was not recorded as an event. There were a total of 8 cancer progressions (4 in each group) (Table 3.21). Figure 3.21 shows the Kaplan-Meier plot for time to cancer progression. There is no significant difference in time to cancer progression between the two groups with a log-rank test p value of 0.99. Cox regression shows a hazard ration of 0.99 with a 95% CI of 0.248-3.97, p=0.99.

Figure 3.19. Kaplan-Meier plot of Cardiovascular Events (MACCE) for each group (Group 1(RIC) = continuous, Group 2 (Sham) = broken).



Figure 3.20. Kaplan-Meier plot of Cancer Deaths for each group (Group 1 (RIC) = continuous, Group 2(Sham) = broken).



Figure 3.21. Kaplan-Meier plot of Time to Cancer progression for each group (Group 1 (RIC) = continuous, Group 2 (Sham) = broken).



3.6.2 Clinical Adverse Events

As part of the serious adverse event reporting of the study, any significant clinical events were recorded for all patients during the study. These were identified by asking patients on each visit of any serious adverse events such as important medical events or unexpected hospitalisations as well as looking at hospital records. Table 3.22 shows serious adverse event identified during the study and if each patient had any of these events. Some patients had the same adverse event more than once, so Table 3.23 shows the total number for each adverse event. Comparison between the two groups was done as described in 2.6.1.7.

In total, 27 (84%) patients had at least one serious adverse event (Group 1(RIC), 14 (88%), Group 2(Sham), 16 (81%)) with no difference between the two groups. The most common adverse event was any infection with 21 patients (66%) having an infection (Group 1 (RIC), 13 (81%), Group 2 (Sham), 8 (50%), p=0.063) with no difference between the two groups. Infections included episodes of hospitalisation due to either sepsis or fevers with or without the presence of neutropenia where no source for the fever/sepsis was identified and was in fact the commonest adverse event. A total of 17 (53%) patients were admitted at least once with sepsis or fevers with or without neutropenia and there was a trend of more admissions for Group 1 (RIC) vs Group 2 (Sham) (12 (75%) vs 5 (31%, p=0.013)(Table 3.22).

There were 52 adverse events recorded in total (Group 1 (RIC) = 30, Group 2 (Sham) = 22). Of those 52, 37 (71%) were due to any infection with no overall difference between the groups (Group 1 (RIC), 24 (80%), Group 2 (Sham), 13 (59%), p=0.1). However, when looking at sepsis or fevers with or without neutropenia, a similar trend was observed as with above, with a total of 21 (40%) events that was more common in Group 1 (RIC) vs

Group 2 (Sham) (16 (53%) vs 5 (23%), p=0.026) (Table 3.23). However, due to the small

N number, the results can only be used as a hypothesis generating exercise.

Table 3.22. Serious Adve	Table 3.22. Serious Adverse Events (Group 1 = RIC, Group 2 = Sham)					
	All patients	Group 1	Group 2			
	N = 32	N = 16	N = 16			
Any event (%)	27 (84)	14 (88)	13 (81)			
Any infection (%)	21 (66)	13 (81)	8 (50)			
Sepsis or Fever	17 (53)	12 (75)	5 (31)	p=0.013		
with/without						
neutropenia (%) [*]						
Mucositis/periodontitis	2 (6)	1 (6)	1 (6)			
(%)						
Chest infection	5 (16)	2 (13)	3 (19)			
(including pneumonia)						
(%)						
Septic joint (%)	1 (3)	0	1 (6)			
Urine infection	1 (3)	1 (6)	0			
(including						
pyelonephritis) (%)						
Abscess (%)	1	1 (6)	0			
Cellulitis or wound	4 (13)	2 (13)	2 (13)			
infection (%)						
Infective colitis or	1 (3)	0	1 (6)			
diarrhoea (%)						
VTE (%)	3 (9)	2 (13)	1 (6)			
Anaemia requiring	4 (13)	1 (6)	3 (19)			
transfusion (%)						
Nausea, vomiting and	1 (3)	0	1 (6)			
diarrhoea needing						
hospitalisation (%)						
Other (%)	6 (19)	2 (13)	4 (25)			

*p=0.013 Sepsis or fever with/without neutropenia Group 1 vs Group 2

Sham)					
	All Events	Group 1	Group 2		
	N = 52	N = 30 (58)	N = 22 (42)		
Any infection (%)	37 (71)	24 (80)	13 (59)		
Sepsis or Fever	21 (40)	16 (53)	5 (23)	p=0.026	
with/without	、 ,	· · ·		•	
neutropenia (%) [*]					
Mucositis/periodontitis	2 (4)	1 (3)	1 (5)		
(%)	-(')	. (0)	. (0)		
Chest infection	6 (12)	2 (7)	1 (18)		
(including proumonia)	0(12)	2(1)	+ (10)		
(70)	4 (0)	0	4 (5)		
Septic Joint (%)	1 (2)		1 (5)		
Urine infection	1 (2)	1 (3)	0		
(including					
pyelonephritis) (%)					
Abscess (%)	1 (2)	1 (3)	0		
Cellulitis or wound	4 (8)	2 (7)	2 (9)		
infection (%)					
Infective colitis or	1 (2)	1 (3)	0		
diarrhoea (%)	()	()			
VTE (%)	3 (6)	2 (7)	1 (5)		
Anaemia requiring	4 (8)	1 (3)	3 (14)		
transfusion (%)	()	ζ,			
Nausea, vomiting and	1 (2)	1 (3)	0		
diarrhoea needing		. ,			
hospitalisation (%)					
Other (%)	7 (14)	2 (7)	5 (23)		
*n=0.026 Sensis or fever with/w	vithout neutropenia	Group 1 vs Group	2		

Table 3.23 Total number of Serious Adverse Events (Group 1 = PIC Group 2 =

3.7 The Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning (RIC) on the incidence of arrhythmias during anthracycline chemotherapy

As part of the study protocol to investigate the incidence of arrhythmias in this cohort and the effect, if any, of RIC on the incidence of arrhythmias during chemotherapy, patients had a 14-day cardiac monitor patch applied on them on their penultimate or ultimate chemotherapy cycle as described in 2.4.4. Of the 32 patients, 4 (3 Group 2 (Sham), 1 Group 1(RIC)) did not have a cardiac monitor applied (2 due to Covid-19 pandemic, 1 declined, 1 had chemotherapy put on hold for several months to have surgery and subsequently decided not to have further chemotherapy, at which point was out of the time-window for the cardiac monitor to be applied). One patient had the monitor applied at the one-month follow-up as chemotherapy ended prior to the intended 6 cycles for clinical reasons. Abnormal findings for all patients and each group are shown in Table 3.24. Comparisons were made as described in 2.6.1.8.

On average, the cardiac monitor was worn for 11 days. Of the 28 patients who had cardiac rhythm monitoring, 9 (32%)(Group 1 (RIC), 3 (20%), Group 2(Sham), 6 (46%) had at least one episode of non-sustained VT (defined as per the European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA) as 3 or more consecutive ventricular beats terminating spontaneously in less than 30 seconds with a cycle length <600ms (>100bpm)(283)). In two patients (one in each group) this was deemed significant enough by the study team to require treatment with beta blockers. An example of a non-sustained VT episode that treatment was started is shown in Figure 3.22. Episodes of non-sustained supraventricular tachycardias (SVTs) were more common with 19 patients (68%) (Group 1(RIC), 11 (73%), Group 2(Sham), 8 (61%)) experiencing at least one episode. Two patients (both group 2 (Sham)) developed transient Type 2 AV block, none of which required any pacing. The burden of supraventricular and ventricular ectopics was similar in both groups as shown in Table 3.24. There were no significant differences between the two groups in any of the abnormal findings detected.

Table 3.24. Cardiac Arrhythmias during chemotherapy (Group 1 = RIC, Group 2 = Sham)					
	All	Group 1	Group 2		
	N = 28	N = 15	N = 13		
Total days worn (Mean ±SD)	11 ± 4	11 ± 4	11 ± 4		
Supraventricular					
Isolated SVEs (%)					
None	0	0	0		
Rare (<1%)	26 (92)	15	11 (85)		
Occasional (1-5%)	1 (4)	0	1 (8)		
Frequent (>5%)	1 (4)	0	1 (8)		
Couplet SVEs (%)					
None	2 (8)	2 (13)	0		
Rare	26 (92)	13 (87)	13		
Occasional	0	0	0		

Frequent	0	0	0
None	11 (39)	6 (40)	5 (39)
Rare	17 (61)́	9 (60)́	8 (62)
Occasional	0	0	0
Frequent	0	0	0
No	9 (32)	4 (27)	5 (39)
Yes	19 (68)	11 (73)	8 (61)
Ventricular			
Isolated VEs (%)	0	0	0
None Para (<1%)	U 24 (86)	U 12 (80)	U 12 (02)
Occasional (1-5%)	24 (80) 4 (14)	3 (20)	12 (92)
Frequent (>5%)	0	0	0
Couplet VÈs (%)			
None	9 (32)	6 (40)	3 (23)
Rare	19 (68)	9 (60)	10 (77)
Occasional	0	0	0
Triplet VFs (%)	0	0	0
None	23 (82)	14 (93)	9 (69)
Rare	5 (18)	1 (7)	4 (31)
Occasional	0	0	0
Frequent	0	0	0
No	19 (68)	12 (80)	7 (54)
Yes	9 (32)	3 (20)	6 (46)
AV Block (%)			
No	26 (93)	15	11 (85)
Yes 2 nd Type 1	2(7)	0	2 (15)
(Wekenbach)	I		I
2 nd Type 2	1		1
Heart Rate			
variability (bpm)			
(Mean ± SD)	E1 · 0	E0 · 7	40 + 40
Maximum HR	51±9 158+18	53 ± 7 161 + 13	49 ± 10 154 + 23
Mean HR	83 ± 10	86 ± 10	80 ± 9

Figure 3.22. Example of an episode of non-sustained VT detected by the cardiac monitor after cycle 5 (after 375mg/m² of doxorubicin) in a 33-year-old with pleomorphic sarcoma in the leg treated with the MAP regime and surgery.



3.8. Results Conclusion

In summary, using the analyses above we can conclude there is no significant difference between the RIC and sham groups on anthracycline cardiotoxicity as measured by TnT changes, and thus there is not enough evidence to reject the Null Hypothesis. Furthermore, RIC as applied in this protocol, does not appear to have any effect on the secondary outcomes of LV function as measured by echocardiography, MACCE and arrhythmia outcomes. In addition, RIC does not affect cancer progression and overall serious adverse events. However, numerically more patients appear to have had an infection in Group 1 (RIC) which was non-significant but there was a trend of significance when looking at admissions with sepsis or fevers with or without neutropenia in Group 1 (RIC). However, due to the small N number, the results can only be used as a hypothesis generating exercise.

Chapter 4 Multimodality monitoring of anthracycline cardiotoxicity

4.1 Identifying risk prior to initiation of chemotherapy

One of the key challenges in the field of cardio-oncology, remains identifying which patients may be at risk of developing anthracycline cardiotoxicity. Achieving this would allow identification of those patients who would benefit from closer monitoring during and after chemotherapy, intervene earlier and thus prevent the development of cardiomyopathy. Therefore, the relationship between baseline risk factors using the QRISK@3 score and peak TnT was investigated as described in 2.5.2.1 and 2.6.2.1.

Table 4.1 shows the QRISK@3 scores and peak TnT values for all patients and for each group. Median QRISK@3 score was 6.9% (Group 1 (RIC), 7.2%, Group 2 (Sham), 6.9%, p=0.749), median peak TnT was 34.5ng/L (Group 1 (RIC), 36.5ng/L, Group 2 (Sham), 31.5 ng/L, p=0.585). In the majority (63%) of patients the peak TnT was detected one month after chemotherapy, and in 20% of cases TnT peaked 3 months after chemotherapy.

Table 4.1. Baseline QRISK@3 score and peak Troponin T (TnT)					
	All N = 32	Group 1 (RIC) N = 16	Group 2 (Sham) N = 16		
QRISK@3 score (%) (median ± IQR) Min Max	6.9 ± 10 0.1 33.4	7.2 ± 11.3 0.2 18.8	6.9 ± 8.8 0.1 33.4	p=0.749	
Peak TnT (ng/L) (median ± IQR)	34.5 ± 40	36.5 ± 65	31.5 ± 39	p=0.585	
Peak TnT time- point (%) Cycle 3 Cycle 4 Cycle 5 1M FU 3M FU 6M FU	3 (9) 1 (3) 1 (3) 20 (63) 6 (19) 1 (3)	2 (13) 0 1 (6) 10 (63) 3 (19) 0	1 (6) 1 (6) 0 10 (63) 3 (19) 1 (6)	p=0.649	

Simple linear regression was carried out to investigate the relationship between peak TnT and baseline QRISK@3 score for all 32 patients. The scatter-dot plot shown in Figure 4.2 showed only a weak correlation between peak TnT and QRISK@3 score with a Spearmann's correlation coefficient (ρ) of 0.353 with a p value of 0.047 (Pearson's correlation coefficient, r=0.155, p=0.397). Linear regression shows that there is no significant relationship between QRISK@3 score and peak TnT (p=0.397) and a slope coefficient, β , for QRISK@3 score of 0.621 (95% CI -0.857-2.1). The R² value was 0.024 suggesting that only 2.4% of the variability in peak TnT can be explained by baseline QRISK@3 score. The scatterplot of standardised predicted values against standardised residuals shows that the data met the assumption of homogeneity and the histogram of the residuals shows that they were generally normally distributed.

Correlation associations and simple linear regression analysis was carried out for each group individually with results that follow the same pattern as for the whole cohort and summarised in Table 4.2. Scatterplots of standardised predicted values against standardised residuals and residuals histogram for model checking were normally distributed.

Two patients developed heart failure or asymptomatic deterioration in LV dysfunction requiring medications within 6 months post chemotherapy. The first patient with symptomatic heart failure and a drop of his LVEF to 40% had a baseline QRISK@3 score of 8.6% (aged 54) and a peak TnT of 46ng/L detected 6 months post chemotherapy. The second patient who developed asymptomatic LV dysfunction with a drop in LVEF to 48% had a baseline QRISK@3 score of 11.9% (aged 58) and a peak TnT of 87 ng/L detected 1 month post chemotherapy. Total cumulative doxorubicin dose were 225 and 375mg/m² respectively.

167

Figure 4.2 Scatter-Dot plot of peak TnT(ng/L) against QRISK@3 score (%) for All patients. ρ = Spearmann's correlation coefficient, p=0.047



Table 4.2. Summary of simple linear regression analysis for Allpatients and each group						
	All Group 1 Group 2 N = 32 (RIC) (Sham) N = 16 N = 16					
Spearmann's correlation coefficient, ρ	0.353 (p=0.047)	0.37 (p=0.159)	0.303 (p=0.254)			
Slope coefficient,0.6211.7140.013β-0.857-2.1-0.818-4.246-1.989-2.01595% CI(p=0.397)(p=0.169)(p=0.989)						

4.1.3 Identifying risk prior to initiation of chemotherapy – Troponin T relationship with baseline cardiovascular risk scores – Results Conclusion

In summary, baseline cardiovascular risk factors as measured by the QRISK@3 score show only a weak correlation with peak TnT during and after anthracycline chemotherapy. There is no significant relationship on linear regression analysis between baseline QRISK@3 score and peak TnT values during or after chemotherapy.

4.2 Identifying at risk patients during and after chemotherapy using biomarkers4.2.1 Troponin T as a binary categorical variable

Using cardiac biomarkers to identify patients at risk of anthracycline cardiotoxicity and subsequent cardiomyopathy during and after chemotherapy remains a hotly debated subject in the field of cardio-oncology with inconsistencies in the guidance from various international societies.

In this cohort, three different TnT patterns were identified when using TnT as a binary variable as shown in Figure 4.3. Of the 32 patients, 4 (13%) had a negative TnT throughout chemotherapy and follow-up (TnT -/-), 7 (22%) had a negative Early TnT but positive Late TnT (TnT -/+) and 21 (66%) had a positive Early and Late TnT (TnT +/+). Therefore, 87% of patients had at least one positive TnT during chemotherapy or follow-up. The mean early TnT for each group was 9±3.7ng/L (median 8.5ng/L) (TnT -/-), 10.4±3.6ng/L (median 12ng/L) (Tn-/+) and 36.4±15.4ng/L (median 37ng/L) (TnT +/+)(Figure 5.4). The mean late TnT for each group was 9.75±1.75ng/L (median 10ng/L) (TnT -/-), 24.4±10.7ng/L (median 20ng/L) (TnT -/+, p=0.016 vs early TnT) and 56.4±28.5ng/L (median 54ng/L) (TnT +/+, p < 0.001 vs early TnT). Linear regression suggested that early TnT in TnT+/+ group was 27.4ng/L and 26ng/L higher than TnT-/- and TnT -/+ respectively (p≤0.001 vs TnT -/- and TnT -/+) and late TnT in TnT+/+ group to

be 46.7ng/L and 32ng/L higher than TnT-/- and TnT-/+ respectively (p=0.001 vs TnT -/-, p=0.005 vs TnT -/+). Scatterplots of residuals against predicted values for each group suggests residuals are normally distributed around 0.

The patient who subsequently developed symptomatic heart failure with drop in LVEF to 49% belonged to group TnT -/+ and the patient who developed asymptomatic deterioration in his LV function belonged to group TnT +/+. Furthermore, the two patients who had asymptomatic non-sustained VT needing treatment both belonged to the TnT +/+ group. A correlation assessment between TnT positivity and echocardiographic and clinical cardiovascular events was not performed due to low event rate.

The above analysis was repeated for each randomisation group with results as shown in Table 4.3. There were similar trends between the RIC/sham groups and all patients in terms of absolute numbers in the different TnT groups, mean Early and Late TnT values for each TnT groups and comparisons of early and late TnT within and between TnT groups. On certain instances the statistical significance for the RIC/Sham group was different compared to the whole patient cohort analysis as highlighted in Table 4.3, though the overall trend was still similar to the whole patient cohort for those particular variables.

Figure 4.3 Early and Late TnT patterns presented in three groups: TnT -/- (Black), TnT -/+ (Dotted) and TnT+/+ (White).



Figure 4.4. Early and Late TnT per group. *p=0.016 vs early TnT, **p<0.001 vs early TnT, $p^{p} = 0.001$ vs TnT-/- and TnT -/+, *p=0.001 vs TnT-/-, ^p=0.005 vs TnT-/+. Horizontal line represents TnT=14ng/L (upper reference limit).



Error Bars: +/- 2 SE

Table 4.3. Summa	ry of Troponin T	analysis for All	patients and ea	ch group
	All N = 32	Group 1 (RIC) N = 16	Group 2 (Sham) N = 16	
TnT groups (%)				p=0.909
TnT -/-	4 (13)	2 (13)	2 (13)	
TnT -/+	7 (22)	3 (19)	4 (25)	
TnT +/+	21 (66)	11 (69)	10 (63)	
Mean ± S.D TnT (ng/L) TnT -/-				
Early	9 ± 3.7	8.5 ± 0.7	9.5 ± 6.4	p=0.846
Late	9.75 ± 1.75	9.5 ± 2.1	10 ± 1.4	p=0.808
TnT -/+				
Early	10.4 ± 3.6	10.7 ± 4.1	10.3 ± 3.8	p=0.895
Late	24.4 ± 10.7	20 ± 3.6	27.8 ± 13.7	p=0.392
TnT +/+				
Early	36.4 ±15.4	39.3 ± 14.9	33.3 ± 16	p=0.387
Late	56.4 ± 28.5	60.4 ± 26.5	52.1 ± 31.4	p=0.522

Early TnT vs Late TnT (mean difference, ng/L) TnT -/-	0.75	1 (n=0.5)	0.5		
/.	(p=0.05)	(p=0.5)	(p=0.91)		
Ini -/+	14	9*	17.5*		
	(p=0.016)	(p=0.099)	(p=0.084)		
TnT +/+	20	21	19		
	(p<0.001)	(p=0.006)	(p=0.008)		
Between TnT					
groups					
comparisons					
Early (B					
statistic. ng/L)					
TnT +/+ vs TnT -	27.4	30.8	23.8		
/_	(95%CI 13-	(95% CL 8 9-	(95% CI 1 1 -		
7-	(33700110^{-1})	52.6 n = 0.000	(35% OI 1.1 - 46.5 n = 0.041)		
	41.0, p=0.001)	52.0, p=0.003)	40.0, p=0.041)		
	26	28.6	22.1		
/+ /+					
/+	(95% CI 14.5)				
	37.5, p<0.001)	47.1, p=0.005)	40.4, p=0.013)		
Late (B statistic,	46 -				
ng/L)	46.7	50.9	42.1*		
TnT +/+ vs TnT -	(95% CI 19.7-	(95% CI 12.1-	(95% CI -3-		
/-	73.7, p=0.001)	89.6, p=0.014)	87.2, p=0.065)		
TnT +/+ vs TnT -	32	40.4	24.4*		
/+	(95% CI 10.4-	(95% CI 7.5-	(95% CI -10-		
-	53.6. p=0.005)	73.1. p=0.02)	58.8. p=0.151)		
*difference compared to All patient cohort analysis in terms of statistical significance					

4.2.1.3 Troponin T as a binary categorical variable – Results Conclusion

In summary, 87% of patients have at least one positive peak TnT during or after chemotherapy. Most patients (66%) have a positive TnT during (early) and after (late) chemotherapy and 22% patients have a positive TnT only after chemotherapy. The TnT values for those patients who have an early and late positive TnT are significantly higher than patients in the other two TnT groups.

4.2.2 Troponin T relationship with total anthracycline dose

The relationship between total anthracycline dose and peak TnT was investigated as

described in 2.5.2.2.2 and 2.6.2.2.2.Table 4.4 shows the total anthracycline dose and peak

TnT data for all patients and for each randomisation group.

Table 4.4. Total cumulative anthracycline dose received and peak TroponinT (TnT)							
	All N = 32	Group 1 (RIC) N = 16	Group 2 (Sham) N = 16				
Total Cumulative anthracycline dose received [*] Mean ± S.D (mg/m ²)	312.4 ± 99	307.9 ± 100	316.9 ± 97	p=0.799			
Peak TnT (ng/L) (median ± IQR)	34.5 ± 40	36.5 ± 65	31.5 ± 39	p=0.585			

Simple linear regression was carried out to investigate the relationship between peak TnT and total anthracycline dose for all 32 patients. The scatter-dot plot shown in Figure 4.5 showed a moderate correlation between peak TnT and total anthracycline dose with a Pearson's correlation coefficient (r) of 0.422 with a p value of 0.016. Linear regression shows that there is a significant relationship between total anthracycline dose and peak TnT (p=0.016) and a slope coefficient, β , for anthracycline dose of 0.13 (95% CI 0.026-0.234) suggesting that for every mg increase in total anthracycline dose peak TnT is expected to increase by 0.13ng/L. The R² value was 0.178 suggesting that 17.8% of the variability in peak TnT can be explained by total anthracycline dose received. The scatterplot of standardised predicted values against standardised residuals shows that the data met the assumption of homogeneity and the histogram of the residuals shows that they were generally normally distributed.

Correlation associations and simple linear regression analysis was carried out for each group individually and summarised in Table 4.5. The analysis shows that Group 1 (RIC) in

general follows the same pattern as for the whole cohort. For Group 2 (Sham) even though the trend is similar to the whole patient cohort, correlation was weaker and regression analysis was non-significant. Scatterplots of standardised predicted values against standardised residuals and residuals histogram for model checking show they were generally normally distributed.

Figure 4.5 Scatter-Dot plot of peak TnT(ng/L) against total anthracycline dose (mg/m²) for All patients. r=Pearson's correlation coefficient, p=0.047



Table 4.5. Summary of simple linear regression analysis for Allpatients and each group						
	All N = 32	Group 1 (RIC) N = 16	Group 2 (Sham) N = 16			
Pearson's correlation coefficient, r	0.422 (p = 0.016)	0.568 (p = 0.022)	0.281* (p = 0.292)			
Slope coefficient, β 95% Cl	0.13 0.026-0.234 (p=0.016)	0.174 0.029-0.318 (p=0.022)	0.086* -0.083-0.254 (p=0.292)			
*difference compared to All patient cohort analysis in terms of statistical significance						

4.2.2.3 Troponin T relationship with total anthracycline dose – Results Conclusion

In summary, when considering the results of the whole patient cohort, there is a moderate correlation between total anthracycline dose and peak TnT during or after chemotherapy and the relationship is significant on linear regression analysis, though total anthracycline dose only explains 18% of the peak TnT variability suggesting other factors are involved. However, as the results of the analysis for Group 2 (Sham), despite a similar trend, show a weaker correlation and a non-significant relationship on linear regression analysis, it is possible that the whole cohort analysis may not represent the true result and thus, we are unable to conclusively use the results of the whole cohort analysis.

4.2.3 Cardiac Myosin Binding Protein C

The role of cardiac myosin binding protein C (cMyC) in anthracycline cardiotoxicity and how it compares to TnT was assessed as described in 2.5.2.2.3 and 2.6.2.2.3.

4.2.3.1 Comparison of pre- and post-chemotherapy cMyC values

Pre- and post-chemotherapy cMyC values were compared to assess how cMyC varies before and after each cycle of chemotherapy for all patients. cMyC trends during each chemotherapy cycle are shown in Figure 4.6 and Table 4.6 for all patients. For comparison, TnT trends for the 22 patients who had cMyC performed are shown in Figure 4.7.

A total of 101 pre- and 77 post-chemotherapy cMyC samples respectively were successfully analysed (for TnT pre: 97, post: 74). Like TnT, there is a general trend of an increase in cMyC concentration as patients progress through chemotherapy. Median prechemotherapy cMyC increases from 3.34ng/L at baseline to 46.93ng/L by cycle 6 (mean difference 36.8ng/L (95% CI: 18.6-55ng/L, p≤0.001) and in some patients this can be as high as 105ng/L. Post-chemotherapy cMyC values follow a similar pattern.

Random effects regression comparison between pre- and post- chemotherapy samples shows that there is no evidence of a difference between pre- and post-chemotherapy cMyC (p=0.768). The fixed model estimates that on average pre-chemotherapy cMyC is 0.74ng/L lower than post-chemotherapy (95% CI -5.7-4.18). To investigate if increasing chemotherapy cycles has an effect, this was added as a fixed effect to the model and the random effects regression analysis repeated. There is still no evidence of a difference between pre- and post-chemotherapy cMyC (p=0.616) with pre-chemotherapy cMyC being on average 0.82ng/L lower than post-chemotherapy (95% CI -4.04-2.44). However, there is evidence of a significant trend with increasing chemotherapy cycles (p<0.001) further supporting the general trend of increasing cMyC as patients progress through their chemotherapy as seen in Figure 4.6 and with the paired T test.

Figures 4.8 and 4.9 show boxplots of cMyC trends during chemotherapy for each randomisation group, which follow a similar pattern to the whole cohort. Random effects regression shows no difference between pre- and post-chemotherapy cMyC for either group (Group 1 (RIC) average difference 0.25ng/L (pre- higher), 95%CI -4.5-5, p=0.918,

177

Group 2 (Sham) average difference -1.6ng/L (pre- lower), 95% CI -4.9-1.8ng/L, p=0.354) but similar to the whole cohort, there is a significant trend of increasing chemotherapy cycles for both groups (p<0.001 for increasing chemotherapy cycles).

Therefore, there does not appear to be any significant difference between pre- and postchemotherapy cMyC samples. However, as previously described in section 3.3.1, there is no post-chemotherapy haematocrit sample to assess for any dilutional effects, as patients can receive, significant amounts of intravenous fluids and this may be affecting the true cMyC level. Thus, any further analysis to compare cMyC with TnT was only performed using the pre-chemotherapy samples. Figure 4.6. Pre- and Post-chemotherapy cMyC Trends for all patients. A. Boxplot of pre-(dotted) and post-(white) chemotherapy cMyC per cycle. B. Line chart of median cMyC per cycle for pre- (continuous) and post- (broken) samples



179

Figure 4.7. Pre- and Post-chemotherapy Troponin T Trends for all patients. A. Boxplot of pre- (dotted) and post-(white) chemotherapy TnT per cycle. B. Line chart of median TnT per cycle for pre- (continuous) and post- (broken) samples


Table 4.6. cMyC trends pre- and post-chemotherapy for all patients												
	Сус	le 1	Сус	le 2	Сус	le 3	Сус	le 4	Cycl	e 5	Cycl	e 6
	Pre (n=22)	Post (n=16)	Pre (n=21)	Post (n=17)	Pre (n=21)	Post (n=17)	Pre (n=15)	Post (n=10)	Pre (n=11)	Post (n=9)	Pre (n=11)	Post (n=8)
Median (ng/L)	3.34	3.17	5.52	4.6	6.61	5.9	12.49	14.4	29.88	30.7	46.93	40
IQR	3	3	14	6	5	4	14	10	24	17	32	16
Min (ng/L)	1	1	2	1	3	3	3	9	7	8	10	12
Max (ng/L)	9	16	17	17	18	20	28	22	63	59	105	110

Figure 4.8. Pre- and Post-chemotherapy cMyC Trends for Group 1 (RIC). Boxplot of pre-

(dotted) and post-(white) chemotherapy cMyC per cycle for Group 1 (RIC).



Group 1

Figure 4.9. Pre- and Post-chemotherapy cMyC Trends for Group 2 (Sham). Boxplot of pre-(dotted) and post-(white) chemotherapy cMyC per cycle for Group 2 (Sham).



4.2.3.2. Comparison between cMyC and TnT

The median concentrations for both biomarkers as patients progress through their chemotherapy are shown in Figure 4.10 in ng/L (cMyC continuous line, TnT dotted line). Both cMyC and TnT follow a similar pattern of increasing in concentration with more chemotherapy cycles. Cardiac myosin binding protein C seems to have a lower baseline concentration and by cycle 3 and 4 starts to rise at a faster rate compared to TnT.

Figure 4.10. Line chart of median biomarker concentrations for cMyC and TnT in ng/L (cMyC continuous line, TnT dotted line).



Peak to baseline biomarker concentration ratio was used to compare the two biomarkers as shown in Figure 4.11 and Table 4.7. For cMyC analysis for all 22 patients was possible whereas for TnT analysis was possible for 20 patients due to two baseline TnT samples haemolysing thus precluding calculation of peak:baseline ratios. Almost half of the peak biomarker concentrations were detected at cycle 6 for both biomarkers (cMyC 46% at cycle 6, TnT 41% at cycle 6). There was a 4-fold median (mean 8-fold) increase from baseline to peak concentration for cMyC versus a 2-fold median increase for TnT (mean 4-fold) which was highly significant (Wilcoxon singed rank test Z statistic -3.8, p<0.001)(Figure 4.11)(Table 4.7). A similar analysis for each individual randomisation group showed similar results to the analysis of the whole cohort (Figures 4.12 and 4.13) with no differences between the two groups (Table 4.7).

Figure 4.11. Comparison between cMyC and TnT peak:baseline concentration ratios. A. Boxplot of peak to baseline ratio (cMyC dotted box, TnT white box). B. Line chart of median peak to baseline concentration ratio (cMyC continuous line, TnT broken line).



All N = 22	Group 1 (RIC) N = 12	Group 2 (Sham) N = 10	
10.5 ± 39 25.45 ± 25.3 5 105	14 ± 42 30.8 ± 30.8 5 105	10.5 ± 29 19 ± 15.6 5 47	p=0.261
14.5 ± 26 22.18 ± 16.6 5 67	19 ± 31 25.1 ± 19.1 6 67	14.5 ± 24 18.7 ± 13.2 5 42	p=0.383
3 (14) 6 (27) 2 (9) 1 (5) 10 (46)	2 (17) 3 (25) 1 (8) 0 6 (50)	1 (10) 3 (30) 1 (10) 1 (10) 4 (40)	p=0.815
4 (18) 6 (27) 1 (5) 2 (9) 9 (41)	3 (25) 2 (17) 1 (8) 0 6 (50)	1 (10) 4 (40) 0 2 (20) 3 (30)	p=0.237
4.2 ± 6* 8.1 ± 9.7	4.2 ± 15.3** 10.4 ± 12.6	4.3 ± 3.8 [§] 5.3 ± 2.9	p=0.197
0.85 42.6	1.2 42.6	0.85	0.440
			p=0.146
$ \begin{array}{r} 2.3 \pm 3.4 \\ 3.7 \pm 2.9 \\ 1.3 \\ 11.3 \\ \end{array} $	$2.4 \pm 6.2 \\ 4.7 \pm 3.6 \\ 1.5 \\ 11.3 \\ 0.013 \times 5 \text{ Tr}$	2.3 ± 2.8 2.8 ± 1.4 1.3 5.3	
	All N = 22 10.5 ± 39 25.45 ± 25.3 5 105 14.5 ± 26 22.18 ± 16.6 5 67 3 (14) 6 (27) 2 (9) 1 (5) 10 (46) 4 (18) 6 (27) 1 (5) 10 (46) 4 (18) 6 (27) 1 (5) 2 (9) 9 (41) $4.2 \pm 6^*$ 8.1 ± 9.7 0.85 42.6 42.6	All N = 22Group 1 (RIC) N = 12 10.5 ± 39 25.45 ± 25.3 5 105 14 ± 42 30.8 ± 30.8 5 105 14.5 ± 26 22.18 ± 16.6 5 67 19 ± 31 25.1 ± 19.1 6 67 $3 (14)$ $6 (27)$ $2 (9)$ $1 (8)$ $1 (5)$ 0 $10 (46)$ $2 (17)$ $3 (25)$ $2 (9)$ $1 (8)$ $1 (5)$ 0 $10 (46)$ $4 (18)$ $2 (9)$ $9 (41)$ $3 (25)$ $2 (17)$ $1 (8)$ $2 (9)$ $9 (41)$ $4.2 \pm 6^*$ 8.1 ± 9.7 0.85 $4.2 \pm$ $4.2 \pm 6^*$ $4.2 \pm 15.3^{**}$ 10.4 ± 12.6 0.85 1.2 42.6 $4.2 \pm 6^*$ 42.6 $4.2 \pm 6^*$ $4.2 \pm 6^*$ $4.2 \pm 15.3^{**}$ $4.2 \pm 6^*$ $4.2 \pm 6^*$ 1.3 ± 1.2 4.7 ± 3.6 $1.3 \\ 1.3 \end{bmatrix}$ 2.3 ± 3.4 $1.3 \\ 1.5 \\ 11.3 \end{bmatrix}$ 2.3 ± 3.4 $1.3 \\ 1.5 \\ 11.3 \end{bmatrix}$ 2.3 ± 3.4 $1.3 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.3 \end{bmatrix}$ 2.005 vs TnT, $\$p = 0.013$ vs TnT	All N = 22 Group 1 (RIC) N = 12 Group 2 (Sham) N = 10 10.5 \pm 39 25.45 \pm 25.3 14 \pm 42 30.8 \pm 30.8 10.5 \pm 29 30.8 \pm 30.8 19 \pm 15.6 5 5 5 5 5 105 105 47 14.5 \pm 26 5 19 \pm 31 67 14.5 \pm 24 6 15.7 \pm 13.2 5 3 (14) 6 (27) 2 (17) 3 (25) 1 (10) 3 (30) 2 (9) 1 (8) 1 (5) 1 (8) 1 (10) 1 (10) 1 (10) 4 (18) 6 (27) 3 (25) 2 (17) 1 (10) 4 (40) 4 (18) 6 (27) 3 (25) 2 (20) 9 (41) 1 (10) 6 (50) 4 .2 \pm 6* 4 .2 \pm 15.3** 4 .3 \pm 3.8 [§] 5 .3 \pm 2.9 0.85 1.2 0.85 42.6 1.2 0.85 1.2 0.85 42.6 1.2 0.85 1.2 0.85 42.6 1.2 2.3 \pm 2.8 1.4 1.3 11.3 1.5 1.3 1.3 1.3 0.005 vs TnT, [§] p = 0.013 vs TnT 5.3

Figure 4.12. Comparison between cMyC and TnT peak:baseline concentration ratios for Group 1 (RIC). Line chart of median peak to baseline concentration ratio (cMyC continuous line, TnT broken line).



* p = 0.005 vs Peak TnT

Error Bars: 95% CI

Figure 4.13. Comparison between cMyC and TnT peak:baseline concentration ratios for Group 2 (Sham). Line chart of median peak to baseline concentration ratio (cMyC continuous line, TnT broken line).



* p = 0.013 vs Peak TnT

```
Error Bars: 95% CI
```

Furthermore, cMyC and TnT concentrations were also compared using their ratio to baseline at each cycle as shown in Figure 4.14 for all patients and for each group individually (Figures 4.15 and 4.16). As seen in Figure 4.14, there is a higher increase from baseline for cMyC compared to TnT at each chemotherapy cycle that is statistically significant at each cycle (Cycle 2, median cMyC concentration increases by 1.8 times vs 1.5 for TnT, p=0.007, Cycle 3, median cMyC concentration increases by 2.15 times vs 1.65 for TnT, p=0.002. Cycle 4, median cMyC concentration increases by 3.13 times vs 2.33 for TnT, p=0.005, Cycle 5, median cMyC concentration increases by 6.71 times vs 3.75 for TnT, p=0.004, Cycle 6, median cMyC concentration increases by 7.89 times vs 4.67 or TnT p=0.006).

Similarly for Group 1(RIC), there is a higher increase from baseline for cMyC compared to TnT at each cycle that is statistically significant (Cycle 2, median cMyC concentration increases by times 1.8 vs 1.58 for TnT, p=0.028, Cycle 3, median cMyC concentration increases by 2.23 times vs 1.55 for TnT, p=0.007, Cycle 4, median cMyC concentration increases by 3.57 times vs 2.4 for TnT, p=0.018, Cycle 5, median cMyC concentration increases by 8.87 times vs 4.94 for TnT, p=0.028, Cycle 6, median cMyC concentration increases by 15.7 times vs 7.72 for TnT, p=0.028).

For Group 2(Sham), even though there is a similar trend of a higher increase in cMyC from baseline compared to TnT, this is not statistically significant at each chemotherapy cycle (Cycle 2, median cMyC concentration increases by 1.83 times vs 1.33 for TnT, p=0.066, Cycle 3, median cMyC concentration increases by 1.93 times vs 1.71 for TnT, p=0.139, Cycle 4, median cMyC concentration increases by 3.14 times vs 1.79 for TnT, p=0.116, Cycle 5, median cMyC concentration increases by 5.48 times vs 3.11 for TnT, p=0.080, Cycle 6, median cMyC concentration increases by 6.81 times vs 4.33 for TnT, p=0.080).

Figure 4.14. A. Boxplot of cMyC and TnT concentration ratios from baseline per cycle for all patients. B Line chart of median cMyC and TnT concentration ratios from baseline per cycle for all patients.



Figure 4.15. A. Boxplot of cMyC and TnT concentration ratios from baseline per cycle for Group 1 (RIC). B Line chart of median cMyC and TnT concentration ratios from baseline per cycle for Group 1 (RIC).



Figure 4.16. A. Boxplot of cMyC and TnT concentration ratios from baseline per cycle for Group 2 (Sham). B Line chart of median cMyC and TnT concentration ratios from baseline per cycle for Group 2 (Sham).



4.2.3.3 Effect of RIC on cMyC levels

To assess the effect of RIC on cMyC levels a similar assessment to that used in section 3.3 was performed for the 22 patients who had cMyC levels taken during chemotherapy. Looking at the absolute cMyC concentrations during chemotherapy in Figure 4.17, cMyC levels are on average 4.17ng/L higher in Group 1 (RIC) compared to Group 2 (Sham) which did not reach statistical significance using a random effects regression for repeated measures (95%CI -0.12-8.45, p=0.056) though the effect additional chemotherapy cycles was significant (p<0.001). Similarly using independent samples t-test at each chemotherapy cycle there was no difference between the two groups (Cycle 1, mean difference -0.85ng/L, 95%CI -1.97-1.8, p=0.926, Cycle 2, mean difference 0.29ng/L, 95%CI -3.58-4.16 -, p=0.88, Cycle 3, mean difference 0.96ng/L, 95%CI -2.7-4.63, p=0.59, Cycle 4, mean difference 0.49ng/L, 95%CI -8.02-8.99, p=0.904, Cycle 5, mean difference 9.35ng/L, 95%CI -12.2-30.9, p=0.352, Cycle 6, mean difference 26.02ng/L, 95%CI -8.01-60.2, p=0.12).

However, looking at the Δ cMyC concentrations from baseline during chemotherapy in Figure 4.18, Δ cMyC concentrations are on average 5.68ng/L higher in the Group 1 (RIC) compared to the Group 2 (Sham) which just reaches statistical significance using random effects regression for repeated measures and when considering the effect of additional chemotherapy cycles (95% CI 0.41-10.86, p=0.035, p<0.001 for chemotherapy cycles). Independent samples T test at each chemotherapy cycle did not show any difference between the two groups (Cycle 2, mean difference 0.14ng/L, 95%CI -2.62-2.9 , p=0.917, Cycle 3, mean difference 0.88ng/L, 95%CI -2-3.76 , p=0.532, Cycle 4, mean difference 1.24ng/L, 95%CI -5.96-8.44 , p=0.716, Cycle 5, mean difference 10.06ng/L, 95%CI -9.85-29.96 , p=0.283, Cycle 6, mean difference 26.72ng/L, 95%CI -6.82-60.27, p=0.105). A similar analysis for TnT for the 22 patients who had cMyC analysis, did not show any

difference between the two groups for absolute TnT or Δ TnT concentrations on random effects regression for repeated measures when accounting for additional chemotherapy cycles (Absolute TnT: mean difference 1.56ng/L, 95% CI -1.31-4.43, p=0.283, Δ TnT: mean difference 2.21ng/L, 95%CI -1.27-5.69, p=0.209) suggesting that the observed difference in Δ cMyC may be due to the RIC intervention.

Figure 4.17. Effect of RIC on absolute cMyC concentrations. A. Boxplot cMyC concentrations for Group 1 (RIC, dotted) and Group 2 (Sham, white). B. Line chart of mean cMyC concentration at each cycle for Group 1 (RIC, continuous) and Group 2 (Sham, broken)



Figure 4.18. Effect of RIC on Δ cMyC concentrations. A. Boxplot Δ cMyC concentrations for Group 1 (RIC, dotted) and Group 2 (Sham, white). B. Line chart of mean Δ cMyC concentration at each cycle for Group 1 (RIC, continuous) and Group 2 (Sham, broken)



4.2.3.2.4 Cardiac Myosin Binding Protein C (cMyC) – Results Conclusion

In summary, like the analysis for TnT in Chapter 3, there does not appear to be any significant difference between pre- and post-chemotherapy cMyC samples, though the lack of a post-chemotherapy assessment of any dilutional effects makes the results more difficult to interpret.

When looking at the peak biomarker concentration, the rate of increase seems to be more with cMyC compared to TnT with a 4-fold median peak increase for cMyC compared to a 2-fold increase in median concentration for TnT that is statistically significant at the 5% level (p<0.001).

Cardiac myosin binding protein C seems to follow a similar trend to TnT of increasing in concentration as patients progress with their anthracycline chemotherapy cycles. When looking at the whole cohort, the rate of increase in concentration for cMyC is significantly higher compared to TnT even from Cycle 2. However, as the results of the analysis for Group 2 (Sham), despite a similar trend, show no significant difference between cMyC and TnT at each chemotherapy cycle, it is possible that the intervention may influence the results and thus, we are unable to conclusively use the results of the whole cohort analysis as they may not represent the true result.

Furthermore, when assessing the effect of RIC on cMyC concentrations, there is no difference between the two randomisation groups when looking at the absolute cMyC concentrations. However, when looking at the Δ cMyC concentration from baseline, this is higher in the RIC group suggesting that RIC increases the change in cMyC concentration from baseline.

4.3 Identifying at risk patients during and after chemotherapy using imaging

4.3.1 Echocardiography

Assessment of cardiac function using left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) and global longitudinal strain (GLS) have been identified over the years as useful modalities in detecting chemotherapy induced cardiotoxicity, which includes anthracycline cardiotoxicity and measurements of LVEF and GLS are advocated in international guidelines(48,94,115,318). The relationship between peak TnT, LVEF absolute percentage change and GLS relative percentage change was then assessed as described in 2.5.2.3.1 and 2.6.2.3.1.

Table 4.8 shows LVEF, GLS and peak TnT data for all patients and for each group. Twenty-eight patients had a 3-month follow-up LVEF (4 patients did not have a 3 month echocardiogram due to death (1), withdrawal (1), delays due to Covid (2)) whereas GLS change was assessed in 19 patients. The distribution of changes for LVEF and GLS are shown in the histograms in Figure 4.19. Most patients had minimal change in their LVEF 3 months after chemotherapy with a mean LVEF change of 0.8%. Two patients had a LVEF change of more than 10% with one developing symptomatic heart failure. The other had a 3-month LVEF of 50%, was asymptomatic and has ongoing monitoring. The mean relative GLS change was 1.8%. Four patients had a drop in relative GLS of more than 15%. Two had associated LVEF drop to less than 50% and/or heart failure needing medication. The other two are on active monitoring. Therefore, a total of 4 patients met at least one criterion for the diagnosis of anthracycline cardiotoxicity as per international guidelines. Their respective peak TnT values were 13 (subsequently rose to 46 at 6-month FU), 89, 30 and 87 ng/L with the last 3 all detected at either the one month or 3 month post chemotherapy and the first one at the last cycle of chemotherapy.

Table 4.8. Peak TnT and relationship to LVEF and GLS by echocardiography					
	All N = 32	Group 1 (RIC) N = 16	Group 2 (Sham) N = 16		
LVEF change (%)* Mean ± SD Min Max N	0.71 ± 3.98 -6 12 28	2.3 ± 3.7 -6 7 13	-0.47 ± 6.3 -6 12 15	p=0.162	
GLS relative change (%)* Mean ± SD Min Max N	1.76 ± 16.4 -42.9 23.8 19	-1.3 ± 17.9 -42.9 21.3 10	5.1 ± 14.5 -27.9 23.1 9	p=0.411	
Peak TnT (ng/L) Median ± IQR Min Max N	33 ± 42 8 128 32	36.5 ± 65 8 92 16	28.5 ± 43 9 128 16	p=0.386	



Figure 4.19. Histograms of distribution and frequencies for LVEF (A) and GLS (B) change

There is no significant correlation between peak TnT and LVEF change or GLS relative change (Figure 4.20). Pearson's correlation coefficients showed only a weak correlation for each (r=0.154 for LVEF, r=0.233 for GLS) and both were non-significant. A regression analysis was thus not performed. Similarly, analysis of the peak cMyC biomarker also did not show any significant correlation with either LVEF change or GLS relative change (r=0.01 for LVEF, r=0.264 for GLS). Three patients in the cMyC cohort had a GLS relative change of >15%.

Analysis of the two randomisation groups showed similar findings to the whole cohort analysis with no significant correlation between peak TnT and LVEF or GLS for either group (Group 1 (RIC) LVEF r=0.118, p=0.7, GLS r=0.44, p=0.203, Group 2 (Sham) LVEF r=0.111, p=0.694,GLS r=-0.023, p=0.953).



Figure 4.20. Scatterplots of peak TnT versus LVEF change (A) and GLS relative change

4.3.1.3 Echocardiography – Results Conclusion

In summary, there is no relationship between peak TnT as measured during or after chemotherapy and absolute percentage change in LVEF and relative percentage GLS.

4.4. Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Imaging (CMR)

To assess if rapid sequence CMR scanning can be used as a monitoring tool before and after chemotherapy, a pilot study was set up to see if CMR scanning with a rapid sequence protocol is feasible as described in 2.5.2.3.2 and 2.6.2.3.2.

4.4.2.1 Assessment of scan duration and patient uptake.

In total, at all time-points, 34 CMR scans from 20 patients were analysed for scan duration (including 2 scans at baseline of patients subsequently withdrawn from study and 4 scans at 12M follow-up period) with a mean time of 14 ± 3 minutes with the real-time short axis stack cine included and 12 ± 2 minutes without it.

At baseline, 21 patients who participated in the randomised controlled trial and had subsequent follow-up as part of the study were offered a baseline CMR. Of those, 18 (86%) had a successful CMR scan performed whereas 3 (14%) declined. At the three-month time-point, 13 patients (62%) were offered a CMR and 8 (38%) were not offered one. Reasons for not offering included: 1. Clinically unsafe (2; one patient in decompensated heart failure and unable to lie flat, 1 patient in ITU with complications post stem cell transplant), 2. Declined baseline CMR scan (3) and 3. COVID-19 restrictions (3). Of the 13 patients who were offered a 3-month CMR scan, 2 declined the offer and one accepted the offer but no CMR slot was available. Thus, 10 (48%) CMR scans were analysed at the 3-month time-point. In the 2 patients that declined their follow-up scan, 1 patient declined all study tests and subsequently withdrew from the study at the 3-month

follow-up and the other patient did not like the experience from the baseline CMR and did not want it repeated. Taking all the CMR offers at baseline and at 3 months (34) therefore, 29 (85%) were accepted and 5 (15%) were declined.

4.4.2.2 CMR scan results before and after chemotherapy

The results of the CMR analysis at baseline and 3 months, is shown in Table 5.9. There was no significant change in the LV, RV and atrial size before and 3 months after chemotherapy. Right ventricular function as measured by RVEF was unchanged. Tissue mapping remained similar before and after chemotherapy. There was a small decrease in mean LVEF of 2.9% (95% CI 0.8-5%, p = 0.013) that was statistically significant at the 5% level however still within normal range (Figure 4.21). The maximum decrease in LVEF was 7% (from 71% to 64%) and interestingly it was in a patient who had a 6% LVEF drop and a 21% relative drop in GLS by echocardiography.

Table 4.9 CMP parameters before and after					
chemotherany for all nationts					
Baseline Three months					
	(n = 18)	(n = 10)			
I V Parameters	(11 – 10)	(11 – 10)			
	1/1 + 30	1/3 + 20			
$(M_{opp} + S_D)$	141 ± 30	145 ± 29			
$(Weat \pm 3.D)$	E2 1E	E7 10			
	53 ± 15	57 ± 13			
(Mean \pm 5.D)	400 + 00				
LV mass (g)	109 ± 22	105 ± 29			
(Mean ± S.D)					
LV MWT (cm)	8.6 ± 1.5	8.9 ± 1.5 (n=9)			
(Mean ± S.D)					
LVEF (%)*	63 ± 4	61 ± 2			
(Mean ± S.D)					
MAPSE (mm)	15 ± 3 (n=14)	15 ± 3			
(Mean ± S.D)					
RV parameters					
REDV (mls)	138 ± 34 (n=17)	153 ± 33			
(Mean ± S.D)					
RESV (mls)	51 ± 20 (n=17)	57 ± 18			
(Mean ± S.D)					
RVEF (%)	64 ± 6 (n=17)	63 ± 7			
(Mean ± S.D)					
TAPSE (mm)	25 ± 7 (n=16)	27 ± 4 (n=9)			

(Mean ± S.D)						
Atrial Parameters						
LA area (cm²) (Mean ± S.D)	20 ± 5	22 ± 5				
RA area (cm²) (Mean ± S.D)	19 ± 3	20 ± 5				
Tissue Mapping						
Native T1 (ms) (Mean ± S.D)	1031 ± 38 (n=14)	1036 ± 38 (n=9)				
Native T2 (ms) (Mean ± S.D)	45 ± 2 (n=14)	45 ±2				
*p = 0.013 Three month vs baseline						

Figure 4.21. Boxplot of CMR LVEF (%) at baseline and 3 months post chemotherapy



4.4.2.3 LV function by CMR versus echocardiography

A comparison of LV function analysis using LVEF by CMR and echocardiography is shown in Table 4.10 and Figure 4.22. There is no difference in LVEF at baseline or at 3 months between CMR and echocardiography as well as no difference in LVEF absolute percentage change between the two modalities. When assessing the two modalities using all CMR scans performed (including two at baseline of patients who subsequently withdrew and 4 from 12 month follow-up, total n = 34) there is no difference of between CMR and LVEF assessment.

Table 4.10. CMR versus echocardiography						
	CMR	Echocardiography				
Baseline LVEF (%) (Mean ± SD) N = 18	63 ± 4	61 ± 4	p = 0.089			
Three Month LVEF (%) (Mean ± SD) N = 10	61 ± 2	62 ± 3	p = 0.212			
LVEF change from baseline to 3 months (%) (Mean ± SD) N = 10	3 ± 3	1 ± 3	p = 0.199			
All scans LVEF (%) (Mean ± SD) N = 34	62 ± 4	61 ± 4	p = 0.2			

Figure 4.22. Boxplot of CMR versus echocardiography assessment of LV function using LVEF



4.4.3 Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Imaging (CMR) – Results – Conclusion

In summary, CMR scanning with a rapid sequence protocol, as a potential tool for monitoring of anthracycline cardiotoxicity seems to be feasible, accepted by most patients and with overall similar results to echocardiography in the assessment of LV function. The mean duration of CMR using this rapid sequence protocol in cancer patients was 14 minutes. The majority (85%) of patients agreed to undertake a scan using this rapid protocol though 15% declined the offer. There is no change in the majority of CMR parameters investigated between baseline and 3 months after chemotherapy. There was a small but statistically significant drop in LVEF of 3% from baseline to 3 months, which however is unlikely to be of any clinical significance. When comparing LVEF and LVEF change as assessed with CMR and echocardiography there was no significant difference at baseline or 3 months.

4.5 Cardiac Monitoring

The presence or absence of cardiac arrhythmias during chemotherapy and the corresponding peak TnT during chemotherapy for all 28 patients who had a cardiac monitor attached is shown in Table 4.10. The P values represent comparison of presence versus absence of arrhythmia according to their peak troponin. There was no significant difference in peak TnT during chemotherapy between patients who had or did not have an arrhythmia in any of the arrhythmia groups examined. Figure 4.23 shows the boxplot for the 3 most frequent arrhythmias detected.

Table 4.10. Cardiac Monitoring during chemotherapy					
	All patients (n = 28)	Peak TnT (ng/L) Mean ± SD			
≥1% SVEs present (%) Yes No	2 (7) 26 (93)	43.5 ± 6 28.1 ± 19	p = 0.261		
≥1% VEs present (%) Yes No	4 (14) 24 (86)	21.5 ± 10 30.5 ± 19	p = 0.377		
Non-sustained SVT present (%) Yes No	19 (68) 9 (32)	30.7 ± 17 26 ± 21	p = 0.539		
Non-sustained VT present (%) Yes No	9 (32) 19 (68)	31.6 ± 18 28 ± 19	p = 0.647		
AV Block present (%) Yes No	2 (7) 26 (93)	28.5 ± 13 29.2 ± 19	p = 0.958		

Analysis of each randomisation group (RIC vs sham) showed similar results to the whole cohort. In the SVT category in Group 2 (Sham), peak TnT was higher in patients with SVT-present compared to those with SVT-absent with a mean difference of 20ng/L that just reached statistical significance at the 5% level (95% CI 0.45-39.9ng/L, p = 0.05) which was not seen in the whole cohort analysis.

Figure 4.23. Boxplot of peak TnT during chemotherapy for the three most common arrhythmias detected grouped into presence of absence of arrhythmia



4.5.3 – Cardiac Monitoring – Results Conclusion

In summary, based on the analysis of the whole cohort, there does not appear to be any relationship between peak TnT during chemotherapy and presence or absence of any arrhythmias. However, as there is a significant difference when the analysis of randomisation Group 2 (Sham) is observed with regards to the presence of SVTs that is not seen in the whole cohort analysis, this could be a source of bias and thus the results of the whole cohort cannot be taken conclusively.

Chapter 5 Discussion

In this chapter I will provide a detailed discussion of the results. The chapter will be divided into two major sections, in a similar fashion to the results section, with one focusing on the use of remote ischaemic conditioning as a cardioprotective mechanism against anthracycline cardiotoxicity and the second section focusing on monitoring during anthracycline cardiotoxicity using troponins. The discussion will focus on explaining the results and comparing them to published evidence.

5.1 The Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning (RIC) as a Cardioprotective strategy against Anthracycline induced cardiac injury

There is no significant difference in TnT concentrations during and after chemotherapy between the RIC and sham groups when TnT is used a marker of anthracycline-induced cardiac injury. Random effects regression performed during chemotherapy and follow-up shows that there is no difference in TnT values between RIC and sham groups when considering TnT as an absolute number (during chemotherapy only p=0.245, during chemotherapy and follow-up p=0.744), Δ TnT from baseline (during chemotherapy only, p=0.113, during chemotherapy and follow-up p=0.325) or when considering TnT as a binary categorical variable (positive (i.e. >14ng/L) vs negative, during chemotherapy only p=0.313-0.937, during chemotherapy and follow-up p=0.39-0.887). This is despite a significant effect of additional chemotherapy cycles (i.e. time) on the regression analysis with a significant rise in troponin compared to baseline for both the RIC and sham group.

The patients were recruited into the ERIC ONC study (Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning in Oncology patients undergoing anthracycline chemotherapy)(263), which is the first study to be performed in humans investigating remote ischaemic conditioning during anthracycline chemotherapy. However, the results differ from in vitro and in vivo

studies in animals that have been published before and since the ERIC-ONC study started. In one of the earliest experiments, isolated rat hearts on a modified Langerdorff system underwent a single cycle of ischaemic preconditioning consisting of 5 minutes of global ischaemia and 10 minutes of reperfusion prior to a 20 minute epirubicin infusion(272). Functional and metabolic parameters collected from the coronary effluent were then compared to a control group. Epirubicin infusion affected some functional physiological parameters such as left ventricular end diastolic pressure and LV dp/dt, which were improved with preconditioning. Interestingly, the pre-conditioning group had a higher LDH level during the epirubicin infusion that was thought to be in part due to the effect of the pre-treatment with ischaemia(272). Troponins were not measured in this experiment. I did not measure LDH but TnT, levels were higher in the RIC group, but did not reach conventional statistically significance. The troponin elevation however, is unlikely to reflect RIC induced effects as the ischaemia was done remotely and thus could not be explained by pre-treatment with ischaemia.

More recently, in vitro experiments in cardiomyocytes treated with a hypoxic buffer solution (to mimic ischaemic preconditioning) prior to exposure with doxorubicin have shown reduced cell death compared to controls(273). However, extrapolating findings from in vitro cell work to human studies can be very difficult as in vitro cell experiments are performed under very controlled conditions. In this case for instance, in addition to using a hypoxic buffer to simulate ischaemia, ventricular myocytes were derived from healthy animals, and cell death assessed histologically after using a relatively high dose of doxorubicin.

More recent and perhaps more clinically relevant in vivo animal studies may allow for better comparisons. Gertz et al performed 3 cycles of RIC with 5 minutes of ischaemia and 5 minutes reperfusion by ligating the femoral artery of mice 1 hour prior to the

administration of a single dose of intraperitoneal doxorubicin(274). Survival at 85 days was significantly improved with RIC compared to the sham group with a p value of 0.007 (hazard ratios not provided) as well as improvements in LV mass by echocardiography and markers of fibrosis and apoptosis(274). However, cardiac biomarkers such as troponins were not measured. In my analysis I found no significant difference in MACCE outcomes, which included cardiovascular events and cancer deaths whereas Gertz et al(274) reports all deaths and, although not mentioned, presumably all were cardiac deaths as the mice used did not have cancer. Analysis of survival data from my study revealed that there was no difference in the log rank and cox regression between RIC and sham groups. However, with a small N number, and with low mortality rates, it is not possible to draw definite conclusions. A larger study that is adequately powered to assess mortality rates, would allow for better comparisons. Furthermore, LV mass decreased in the mice in the sham group and was preserved in the RIC group. Similarly, I found a decrease in the LV mass in the sham group 3 months post chemotherapy whereas the mass in the RIC group if anything increased with a ΔLV mass of 22g that was statistically significant between the two groups, though the actual mass at 3 months was non-significantly different between the two groups. Having said that, it is worth pointing out that the echocardiographic calculation of LV mass was estimated from single measurements of the IVSd, LVIDd, PWd and LVIDs diameters and may not be therefore very representative of true LV mass. This could be overcome using a different imaging modality such as CMR that more accurately assesses LV mass or if using echocardiography then 3D techniques could be used(319), assuming good acoustic windows.

The route of doxorubicin administration may also be important. The intraperitoneal route, not routinely used clinically, is commonly used in animal studies as is technically simpler particularly in small animals and it does not have the same severe local side-effects due to

extravasation(320). The area under the concentration curve following intraperitoneal administration of doxorubicin however, is half compared to that of the intravenous route, likely due to first pass metabolism and partial biliary excretion(321) as well as the pharmacokinetic phenomenon of the "peritoneal-plasma barrier" (322). Thus, animal studies using the intraperitoneal route are likely to be poorly correlated to human studies using the intravenous route.

He et al performed a regime of 4 cycles of 5-minute of ischaemia and reperfusion using a tourniquet on the hindlimb of mice, 30 minutes prior to a single 10mg/kg intraperitoneal injection of doxorubicin(275). The RIC regime was repeated for 5 consecutive days and on day 6 cardiac function and troponin I were assessed. As well as better preserving LVEF, this repeated RIC regime significantly reduced levels of troponin I compared to the control group (p < 0.05). This was not seen in the analysis of my experiment. One possible explanation may relate to the route and dose of administration as described above. For example, an 'average-sized' patient with sarcoma with a body surface area of 1.9m² (e.g., 75kg man with height 1.75m) would typically receive 450mg/m² of intravenous doxorubicin over 6 cycles of chemotherapy (typically every 3 weeks) which equates to 11mg/kg total dose. Studies suggest that 50% of the intraperitoneal injection reaches the heart(321). Proportionally this still means that half of the human equivalent total dose (and full dose in the case of the Gerz et al study where 20mg/kg was used(274)) is given as a single injection to the mice. This is more likely therefore, to cause an acute myocardial injury due to acute doxorubicin toxicity that may manifest with an increase in troponin that is potentially much higher compared to the human model of smaller repetitive cumulative doses of doxorubicin. Thus, it is possible that we see a bigger effect size of an intervention (in this case RIC) because of a bigger original acute myocardial injury in the animal studies.

In an even more recent study Galan-Arriola et al designed a more clinically relevant animal model. Pigs were given 3 cycles of 5 minute ischaemia and reperfusion by occlusion of the hindlimb with a tourniquet prior to 5 intra-coronary injections of 0.45mg/kg of doxorubicin every 2 weeks(276), mimicking to some extent clinical practice. Cardiac function by CMR was significantly lower in the control group (LVEF 32.5% vs 41.5%, p=0.04) as well as CMR (T1 mapping) and histological (collagen staining) markers of oedema and fibrosis. Cardiac biomarkers such as troponin were not performed. Thus, in this more clinically relevant animal model RIC appears to be protective against anthracycline cardiotoxicity which was not observed in my study. However, important differences remain. Firstly, troponins were not assessed which was the primary outcome in my study. Secondly, the route of administration of doxorubicin may also again play a part for two reasons. The intra-coronary route for doxorubicin administration was chosen to limit the systemic myelosuppression which can be significant in pigs(323). However, in the first instance, the intra-coronary administration of anthracycline was originally developed to create severe heart failure to be used as a model for research in end-stage heart failure(324). Thus, it is possible the myocardial injury is much higher compared to the human model of intravenous administration and again it is possible we are seeing an improvement from RIC due to a bigger initial injury compared to the human model. Secondly, the intracoronary administration of doxorubicin may be affecting myocardial contractility in a different manner compared to the systemic intravenous route. In fact, infusing doxorubicin in the LAD reduces wall contractility in the myocardium supplied by the LAD but not the remote areas and RIC improves this contractility only in the LAD region but not the remote regions (LAD RIC group contractility: 23.8%, control 6.59%, remote RIC group: 58.4%, control 45.4%)(276). This suggests that there may be a local toxic effect of doxorubicin when given via the intra-coronary route and causing a bigger injury.

Though statistically non-significant, numerically, there were more patients in the RIC group who received a doxorubicin infusion rather than a bolus (7 (44%) vs 4(25%)). Infusions over 48-96 hours are sometimes used as a cardioprotective strategy as it reduces peak concentration levels, though admittedly prolongs exposure to anthracyclines but in adults at least, there is some evidence of benefit. In a Cochrane systematic review, an infusion of 6 hours or longer reduces risk of clinical heart failure by 70% (RR 0.27, 95% CI 0.09 to 0.81, p = 0.02) in 5 randomised controlled trials of total 557 patients with no substantial heterogeneity of 2%(331). Of those 5 studies, only one however, the largest (240 patients, reached statistical significance(332). Therefore, if more patients received a less cardiotoxic regime in the intervention group, this could have made it more difficult to detect a difference from the RIC application.

Thus, it is possible the beneficial effect of RIC seen in the animal studies which is not seen in the analysis of my data is due to different methodologies and is likely that the myocardial injury as measured by troponin release in humans is nowhere near as big as in the animal models, thus making any benefit from an intervention such as RIC more difficult to detect. Repeating the study in breast cancer patients receiving anthracyclines followed by trastuzumab which is known to enhance the cardiac injury associated with anthracyclines, may be better to detect any benefit from RIC.

However, it is also possible that the RIC benefit seen in animal models of anthracycline cardiotoxicity simply does not translate into clinical studies. The recently published large, multicentre, international, randomised controlled CONDI-2/ERIC-PPCI trial investigated the effect of RIC in clinically relevant outcomes of cardiac death or hospitalisation for heart failure at 12 months in 5401 patients presenting with STEMI and treated with PPCI(249).

There was no difference between the RIC and control groups with 8.6% of events in the control group and 9.4% in the RIC group (HR 1.1, 95%CI 0.91-1.32, p=0.23)(249) despite previously promising smaller trials(250). The reasons for the failure to see any benefit were not known but potentially included inefficient conditioning protocol, RIC timing with relation to PPCI, co-medications, comorbidities and patient characteristics, infarct location and TIMI flow (though pre-specified subgroup analysis for some of these still showed no benefit with RIC)(249). Though not mentioned in the discussion section, interviews of senior authors at the ESC 2019 conference in Paris where the study was presented also mention that it is guite possible that in the modern era of STEMI care, reperfusion injury, the target of RIC, may be too small to see any meaningful translation into clinical outcomes(325). Cardiac death within 12 months was only around 3% (2.7% vs 3.1% Control vs RIC) and thus the capacity to improve on that must be very limited. One limitation identified in this study was the 1 year follow up which may be too short and a longer one may have been more useful(250). Nevertheless, the CONDI-2/ERIC-PPCI trial looked at a different cohort, with different outcomes and different pathology compared to my patient population. However, one analysis that may be relevant is the effect of RIC on troponin. In a sub-study of 2662 patients from the CONDI-2/ERIC-PPCI trial, MI size was quantified with a 48-hour area under the curve high sensitivity troponin T taken at 4 (CONDI-2) or 5 (ERIC-PPCI) time-points post PPCI. There was no difference between the two groups suggesting that there was no detectable change in acute TnT change(249). This was in contrast with some previous smaller studies where levels of troponin were reduced in patients receiving ischaemic conditioning(326–328) raising the possibility of a Type 1 Error(249), though admittedly some earlier studies also failed to show an effect of RIC on levels of troponin during myocardial infarction(242,248,329). Thus, it is possible that troponin release as a marker of myocardial injury is not affected by RIC and thus a different marker of myocardial injury may need to be looked at.

Furthermore, the variability in patient characteristics in terms of age, different cancers, comorbidities, chemotherapy regimes and adjunctive medications to chemotherapy, may also affect the efficacy of RIC as a cardioprotective mechanism. Indeed as explained by Ferdinandy et al, the effect of other factors on the cardioprotective signalling of preconditioning was known from the 1990s and since then many factors, comorbidities and medications have been identified that potentially affect the cardioprotective effect of conditioning(330). The research understandably focused mainly on cardiovascular risk factors and medications so it is very possible that non-cardiovascular factors and noncardiovascular medications such as chemotherapy or chemotherapy adjuncts may also have an effect on the cardioprotective signalling of ischaemic conditioning. For instance, and particularly relevant to cancer patients, there is evidence from animal studies of endogenous opioids mediating RIC induced cardioprotection as evidenced by the abolishment of the beneficial effect of RIC in the presence of the opioid antagonist naloxone(331). In humans with STEMI undergoing PPCI, addition of morphine to RIC shows similar resolution of ST elevation to RIC only, but with a significantly lower peak troponin in the morphine group(332).

As described earlier, He et al(275) and Galan-Arriola et al(276) show a preservation of LVEF as a marker of anthracycline cardiotoxicity in the animals that received RIC. In my patients there was no difference in LVEF between the RIC and sham groups from baseline to three months post chemotherapy. LVEF in RIC group dropped by 2.3%, and in the sham group it increased by 0.47% at 3 months with a mean Δ LVEF difference of 2.8% between the two groups (95% CI -1.2-6.7, p=0.162). Most of the studies in ischaemic conditioning in STEMI do not look at LVEF as an outcome but rather look at hospitalisations for heart failure which is clinically more relevant. Furthermore, patients

presenting with STEMI tend not to have a baseline echocardiogram. In one study that did look at LVEF, Munk et al assessed the impact of RIC on LV function at 30 days post STEMI treated with PPCI(333). When assessing all patients, there was no difference in 2D LVEF by echocardiography between RIC+PPCI and PPCI only groups. However, there was a difference in EF at 30 days in those with extensive area at risk (AAR) or in those presenting with anterior infarct (high AAR EF 0.51 ± 0.07 versus 0.46 ± 0.09 ; *P*=0.05, anterior MI EF 0.55 ± 0.08 versus 0.50 ± 0.11 ; *P*=0.04). Thibault et al assessed LV function recovery one year after STEMI in patients given postconditioning during PPCI and found it to be 7% better in the postconditioning group vs control (49%±13 vs 56±8, p = 0.04)(334).

The reasons why no effect of RIC on LVEF was seen in my study are unclear. One reason could be that RIC has no cardioprotective effect in anthracycline cardiotoxicity (as no effect on troponin was seen either). Another reason could be simply related to the small n number of the study as no deterioration in mean LV function was noted in the sham group either. In studies investigating cardioprotective strategies in anthracycline chemotherapy such as beta blockers or ACE inhibitors that monitor LVEF as a continuous variable, their placebo arms report mean deteriorations in LVEF varying from as little as 1% to as much as 17%(161,162,165,178,192,193,197,203,207,210,335) with only two of those studies showing no statistical significance(197,207). However, all these studies are small with the largest number of patients in the placebo arm being 96(197), assessment of LV function occurs at varying time-points post chemotherapy, and chemotherapy regimes, cancer types and doses vary. Recently, Narayan et al performed a longitudinal study in 277 breast cancer patients who received doxorubicin and/or trastuzumab and showed that LVEF will reduce by 3.6% by 1 year (6.6% if also having trastuzumab)(336). In an update study it appears that patients will have 3 different patterns of LVEF trajectory; a stable LVEF pattern (51% of patients), a pattern with a modest LVEF decline in the first 6 months
that persists throughout follow-up (40% of patients) and a pattern with a significant decline in the first year that partially recovers (9%)(337). This suggests variability between patients with regards to LVEF post chemotherapy. A further reason why no change in LVEF was noted in the sham group may be to do with whether the follow-up scan was performed too early (i.e. at 3 months). Most of the studies mentioned above that showed a deterioration in LVEF in their placebo arms, performed LV function assessment at 6 months or later, though some have shown a difference in LVEF as early as 3 weeks(210) and 3 months post chemotherapy(335). In addition, in one of the biggest prospective trials of more than 2000 patients, 98% patients who will develop a deterioration in LVEF of >10% and below 50%, will do so within the first year post chemotherapy, but the median time is 3.5 months(338).

As discussed previously, LVEF can be prone to errors with documented variabilities of up to 10%(129), thus GLS, a myocardial deformation index useful in identifying early cardiotoxicity, is subject to fewer errors with inter- and intraobserver variabilities comparable with or superior to LVEF(339) amongst both expert and trainee echocardiographers(340). Looking at GLS, there is no difference in the relative percentage change between the two groups with a mean relative percentage change difference of 6.4% (95% CI -9.6-22.4, p=0.411) at 3 months post chemotherapy. The sham group had a mean relative percentage change in GLS of 5.1% which was to some extent surprising as Thavendiranathan et al in their systematic review on the use of myocardial strain for early detection of cardiotoxicity, report bigger changes with a relative reduction in GLS of between 9-19% with 2D speckle tracking echocardiography and between 15-17% with tissue Doppler imaging(131). This was detected either during or soon after (within days to weeks) chemotherapy, but with some studies also performing echocardiograms months post chemotherapy (up to 18 months). Interestingly, Munk et al, like with LVEF, reports

improvement in GLS at 30 days post STEMI in the RIC+PPCI group in the patients with high AAR ($-15.8\pm2.6\%$ versus $-13.5\pm3.2\%$, p=0.01 for the upper AAR quartile) but not for all patients(333). Thus, the lack of a significant drop in GLS in the sham group may also point towards study size as a potential factor affecting the results.

The effect of RIC on clinical events in patients who have received anthracycline chemotherapy was also looked at. There was no difference between the RIC and sham group in the composite end point of major adverse cardiovascular events and cancer death up to 6 months of follow-up when analysed as time to event data on Kaplan-Meier plots. Similarly, there was no difference between RIC and sham groups in major adverse cardiovascular events or cancer deaths or cancer progression when analysed independently. This was in keeping with the only study looking at the effect of RIC on cancer cells by Maulik et al(273).

When looking at serious adverse events, a similar number of patients from each group suffered at least one serious adverse event (88% vs 81%). There were more patients admitted with at least one episode of any infection in the RIC group (13 (81%) vs 8 (50%)) which was not statistically significant. Admissions due to sepsis or fevers with or without neutropenia (12 (75%) vs 5 (31%)) was statistically significant (p=0.013). A similar trend was identified when analysing the total number of serious adverse events. There was a total of 16 (53%) episodes of sepsis or fevers with or without neutropenia in the RIC group vs 5 (23%) in the sham group (p=0.026). This was an unexpected finding and with no difference in troponins between the two groups the Data Monitoring Committee advised closure of recruitment into the ERIC ONC study.

There is some data to support RIC as a protective intervention in sepsis. On a lipopolysaccharide-induced sepsis mouse model, 3 cycles of remote ischaemic conditioning using the right hind-limb prior to LPS injection improves survival at 120hrs post sepsis and reduces pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-6 by possibly attenuating NF- κ B activation(341). In a similar experiment, RIC (6 cycles of 4 minutes ischaemia-reperfusion of femoral artery) performed either at 0, 2 or 6 hours post LPS injection in mice, improve 5-day survival (57% vs 21%, p=0.02)(342). The survival benefit seems to persist when RIC is performed repeatedly (i.e. chronic) as well as improving sepsis-induced cardiomyopathy (LVEF 32% vs 47%), reducing cardiac troponin I and protecting other systemic organs as assessed by biomarkers(343). Furthermore, benefits were seen when larger animals were also investigated(344). However, no clinical studies have yet been performed.

The reasons why an increased rate of admissions for sepsis, or fevers, with or without neutropenia, was noted in the RIC group are not clear. Although reaching formal statistical significance, both the number of events and the number of patients was small. Therefore, there remains a probability (of 5% when using 95% confidence intervals) that this observation might be attributed to chance. Furthermore, the diagnosis of "sepsis" leading to admission was a clinical one, based on history and/or clinical notes. Thus, there is the probability of inaccurate diagnosis in a clinical syndrome that was not prespecified as conforming to a precise definition.

Though statistically not significant, numerically there were more people on a doxorubicinifosfamide regime in the RIC group (5(31%) vs 2(13%)). Ifosfamide is an alkylating agent and when combined with doxorubicin in soft tissue sarcoma, it causes more grade 3 and 4 side effects like leukopenia (43% vs 18%), neutropenia (42% vs 37%), febrile neutropenia

(46% vs 13%) and anaemia (35% vs 5%) than doxorubicin alone(353). Differences in the chemotherapy regimes in the two groups therefore, may have contributed to the observation of more admissions with febrile neutropenia and/or sepsis.

It is however possible that RIC may enhance the systemic cytotoxic side-effect profile of chemotherapy agents, particularly with relation to myelosuppression. Haematological indices, such as neutrophil counts, were not recorded for those adverse events due to incomplete dataset as many hospital admissions were in the patients' local hospitals and not our institution.

Interestingly, when dexrazoxane was first used clinically as a cardioprotective agent, increased myelosuppression was noted when measured using white cell count and platelet levels in the dexrazoxane group but with no clinical consequences and with similar episodes of fever between the two groups(345). A similar trend in a subsequent study in children was seen, though again with no clinical consequences(216). However, a subsequent Cochrane review in 2011 showed no difference in most of those toxicities apart from grade 3 (severe) or 4 (life-threatening) abnormal white cell count at its nadir (RR 1.16, 95% CI 1.05 to 1.29, p=0.005) in favour of the control group(220) and a systematic review since then concluded that dexrazoxane may be associated with specific haematological toxicities including myelosuppression which are reversible, but the authors acknowledged that the evidence is variable and that toxicity is likely influenced by a variety of factors(225).

Despite this unexpected finding of increased admissions for infections, it might help in understanding underlying pathophysiological mechanisms and generate hypotheses. If dexrazoxane, an iron chelator, may have some effect on myelosuppression, and from this

experiment there may also be a signal for RIC to have a similar effect, then one could assume that RIC, may indeed be acting through similar pathways to dexrazoxane by affecting iron metabolism as one of the predominant mechanisms of cardioprotection. This has already been explored by Fang et al in their set of elegant experiments where dexrazoxane prevents both doxorubicin-induced and ischaemia-reperfusion induced cardiomyopathy in mice(271). Thus, rather paradoxically, RIC may still have a role to play in preventing anthracycline-induced cardiomyopathy. It is possible that, the RIC regime used was not sufficient to produce an effective cardioprotective response and a different RIC protocol may be needed, such as with more RIC cycles or with RIC performed on the day of chemotherapy and then to be continued for several days post each chemotherapy cycle. This, however, will require accurate clinical definitions to better characterise any adverse events.

5.2 Multimodality monitoring of anthracycline cardiotoxicity

The screening and monitoring of patients for anthracycline cardiotoxicity consists of three parts: 1. screening of patients prior to chemotherapy to identify those at highest risk, 2. Monitoring patients during chemotherapy to ensure patients complete their therapy without any harm and 3. Monitoring patients after chemotherapy to detect any post chemotherapy cardiotoxic effects (early and late). In fact, this is true for any cancer related therapy and is a major part of any cardio-oncology service(346). For anthracyclines in particular the protocols to undertake these three aspects of clinical monitoring remain imperfect, despite more than 50 years of research. There have been advances in understanding and identifying patients at particular risk of anthracycline cardiotoxicity(147,347). For example the CCSS score, validation cohort estimates were high ranging from 0.68 to 0.82(148) but not 100% thus all risk scores will have their failings when applied to individual patients in clinics. To that effect, I attempted to see if existing risk cardiovascular risk scores, and in

particular the QRISK@3 score for identifying the 10-year risk of developing cardiovascular disease currently in use in the UK, may be useful. The benefits of this score are that it is readily available, provides a single percentage number as risk, whilst incorporating many of the already perceived risk factors. However, there was only a weak correlation between QRISK@3 score and peak TnT during chemotherapy or follow up ($\rho = 0.35$) with no significant relationship on linear regression analysis. The most likely explanation is that it is probably too simplistic and does not include some factors that are more likely to be related to an increase in troponin, such as total anthracycline dose received. Having said that, a preliminary assessment of 52 patients from the ERIC-ONC study cohort presented as an abstract at the ESC conference 2020, showed a stronger correlation between QRISK@3 score and troponin T with a correlation coefficient of 0.618 between QRISK@3 and TnT at cycle 5(348).

The CCSS score assesses risk of cardiovascular disease due to cancer therapy (which includes anthracyclines) for survivors of childhood cancer (within 5 years of finishing therapy) and was developed using data from the large CCSS study(148). It incorporates patient's current age, age at diagnosis, use of anthracyclines and dose and use of other agents or radiotherapy to calculate a risk for the development of heart failure, ischaemic heart disease or stroke by age 50(147). However, the data used to develop it were collected retrospectively and the score cannot be used for patients who received anthracyclines as adults. Recently, in a position paper from the Cardio-Oncology Study Group of the Heart Failure Association of the European Society of Cardiology in collaboration with the International Cardio-Oncology Society, risk assessment tools for a variety of cardiotoxic agents, including anthracyclines, have been published in an attempt to assist risk stratification of patients into low, medium, high and very high risk(347). Based on available evidence and expert consensus, a risk stratification proforma is provided that

can be used to calculate risk for individual patients. For anthracyclines specifically, this incorporates the presence of elevated cardiac biomarkers at baseline, however not during or after chemotherapy(347). It will, however, require validation with prospective data (in a prospective study or real-time registry).

One important finding from my thesis is that in patients who receive anthracycline chemotherapy, TnT rises during chemotherapy and in most cases peaks about one month after chemotherapy. Treating TnT as a binary variable, shows that 87% of patients have at least one positive TnT during chemotherapy and follow-up. Furthermore, 66% of patients have a positive TnT during chemotherapy that persists up to 6 months post-chemotherapy (TnT +/+) with levels of TnT that are significantly higher compared to patients who have no positive TnT (TnT -/-) or have positive TnT during follow-up only (TnT -/+). These results follow a similar pattern to previous research. Specifically, Cardinale et al assessed 703 patients with a variety of cancers and measured their troponin I at baseline and at 5 different time-points (immediately after and 12, 24, 36 and 72 hrs after) at each cycle of chemotherapy (early) as well as at one month post chemotherapy (late)(143). The highest Tnl value was recorded for each patient and three groups were identified: negative Tnl (TnI-/-), early positive, late negative (TnI +/-) and positive early/late TnI (TnI+/+). This is a similar pattern to my findings except one group in my patients had a TnT that was negative early on but positive later. Cardinale et al reports 495 of 703 (70%) patients in the Tn-/group, and only 63 of 703 (9%) in the Tn+/+ group(143) which is very different to my reported 13% and 66% respectively. A likely explanation for this difference is the troponin assays used. Newer high sensitivity troponin assays are able to measure lower values and detect smaller increases above the 99th centile upper limit of normal compared to more contemporary and point of care assays(310). Cardinale's study used the Stratus CS(143), a point of care assay(279), with a total percentage imprecision between 10-14%(349). In our

study we used a high sensitivity assay, which has a total percentage imprecision of 8% according to published data(279). In addition, Cardinale et al(143) recruited patients with different cancers with just over half of them (57%) receiving anthracyclines whereas all patients reported in this study had received anthracyclines.

Recording troponin values as positive or negative based on the 99th percentile upper reference limit of the assay being used, has the advantage of being simple to use for clinicians and easy to categorise patients into groups. However, one major limitation is the inability to quantify rises in troponin, which might provide insight to the degree of myocardial injury and therefore reflect the risk of subsequent cardiomyopathy. Furthermore, different assays will have different sensitivities in their ability to detect smaller rises in troponin above the 99th percentile as explained above. Not many studies report on what happens to troponin concentrations at each chemotherapy cycle by looking at the troponin concentration as a continuous variable as described in the current study. I found that, high sensitivity TnT gradually increases with each successive cycle from a median concentration of 7ng/L to 34ng/L (p<0.001) and a mean change of 28ng/L (Δ TnT) by cycle 6 that persists for one month post chemotherapy before gradually falling towards baseline. Similarly, Jones et al assessed high sensitivity Tnl changes at each cycle of chemotherapy in 38 patients receiving anthracyclines and found incremental increases in The transformation of tr 30.7ng/L(350). Tzolos et al noted similar observations in 78 patients with breast cancer receiving anthracyclines, with the level of high sensitivity troponin I at each cycle being strongly correlated to the cumulative dose received(351). Furthermore, there was a 1.3 fold increase in TnT by cycle 2 in 45 patients with breast cancer on an anthracycline regime with 42% of patients exhibiting an elevation in troponin at that time-point, but no other samples were performed during the rest of the anthracycline cycles(352). In 82 patients

with lymphoma on the CHOP/R-CHOP regime, high sensitivity troponin T increases significantly between cycles 2-4 and cycles 6-8 compared to baseline (12ng/L and 23ng/L vs 3ng/L)(353) and by cycle 3 in another study of 58 lymphoma patients receiving RCHOP(354), however again blood tests were not performed at every cycle. Therefore it is crucial to understand how the different biomarkers and assays behave during chemotherapy and in different clinical settings as it is likely that we will be using cardiac biomarkers during chemotherapy, particularly in patients deemed high risk, in the future(355).

Despite significant increases in TnT during chemotherapy and follow-up, I found no significant correlation between peak TnT values and change in LVEF or GLS from baseline to 3 months post chemotherapy (r = 0.1544, r = 0.233 respectively). However, the mean LVEF change and mean relative GLS change was only 1% and 2% respectively and would thus be difficult to show an association if the outcome is so small. Therefore, a larger sample size and performing LVEF beyond 3 months maybe needed to better assess for any correlations. As discussed below, overall, published evidence suggest that troponins (as a continuous variable) during chemotherapy or follow-up are associated with reductions in LVEF or development of cardiotoxicity. Cardinale et al has shown strong correlations between maximum TnI value and maximal LVEF reduction (r = 0.87 and 0.92) but only in patients who had at least one positive troponin value(141,142). In 81 breast cancer patients who received anthracyclines and subsequent taxanes and trastuzumab, high sensitivity troponin I 3 months post anthracyclines is not predictive of subsequent cardiotoxicity when used as a continuous variable but was predictive when used as a binary variable (in this case if \geq 30pg/mL)(356). However, in a similar sized study with a similar cohort of breast cancer patients receiving anthracyclines followed by trastuzumab, for each increase in the standard deviation in TnI performed 3 months post chemotherapy

there was a 40% increase risk of cardiotoxicity (HR 1.38, 95% CI: 1.05 to 1.81; p = 0.020) and those patients in the highest percentile for TnI change had a 34% chance of cardiotoxicity by 15 months(357). In a small study of 40 breast cancer patients, the increment change of high sensitivity TnT may be able to predict cardiotoxicity but not the absolute peak TnT number(358). More recently in a larger study of 254 breast cancer patients treated with doxorubicin and/or trastuzumab, changes in TnT were associated with changes in LVEF with roughly a 0.6% reduction in LVEF for every doubling of the biomarker concentration as well as with subsequent development of cardiac dysfunction(359).

A recent meta-analysis assessed different biomarkers (troponins and natriuretic peptides) during chemotherapy and their ability to predict cardiotoxicity(360). In the troponin analysis, 30 studies (3049 patients) using a dichotomous (i.e., binary) analysis and 12 (811 patients) using an analysis of absolute (i.e., continuous) numbers were identified. Using the dichotomous studies, the chances of an increased troponin post treatment was much higher (OR 14.3, 95% CI 6.0–34.1) and this was highest for anthracyclines (OR 17.5, 95% CI 10.1-30.2, n=1068)(360). Similarly, in the studies using the absolute number, troponin levels were significantly higher post-chemotherapy than pre-chemotherapy (Standardised Mean Difference 1.0; 95% CI 0.6–1.3)(360). Odds ratio for troponin I and troponin T were similar. Furthermore, the likelihood of LV impairment was significantly higher if troponin was elevated, and for anthracyclines the odds ratio was 7 (95% CI 1.4-34.1, n = 326)(360). Overall, for all cancer related therapies investigated, the sensitivity and specificity of troponins to predict LV dysfunction was 69% and 87% respectively. Of note the negative predictive value was 93% thus potentially making it a useful rule out test though the positive predictive value was 52%. Importantly, heterogeneity between studies was high for a variety of factors including how LV dysfunction was defined.

Despite the majority of studies available use a binary approach when analysing troponins and their ability of to predict LV dysfunction, a recent position paper, recommends high sensitivity troponin assays to be interpreted as a continuous variable and not in a binary fashion acknowledging specifically the differences between assay characteristics as one reason for the recommendation(355). Based on the findings of the current study, I would agree with that statement as in my cohort, up to 90% of patients will have a positive troponin T at cycle 6 that persists 1-month post-chemotherapy and is still positive in 50% of patients at 6 months post chemotherapy. Thus, interpreting troponins as a continuous variable may be more useful. However, many gaps still remain in particular relating to how to interpret any changes in troponin and how much of a change, if any, is predictive of subsequent cardiac events and this is something echoed in the position paper(355). There is also no guidance whether absolute concentrations versus change in concentration from baseline (i.e., Δ) should be used hence both were analysed here.

Interestingly, in the meta-analysis above, patients who received anthracyclines, the odds ratio for troponin elevation between patients receiving <240mg/m² were similar to patients receiving >240mg/m² total dose even though there was an association between dose and LV dysfunction in studies investigating high-dose anthracyclines(360). This contrasts with the results of the current analysis where a moderate correlation between peak TnT and total dose received is suggested. This may be because the meta-analysis used troponin as a binary variable. Theoretically, you would expect a higher troponin elevation with more total dose received and thus a stronger correlation between total dose and peak troponin. I was however unable to find another study that performed a correlation analysis between dose received and peak troponin. Jones et al performed a correlation analysis between dose and troponin measurements with no correlation identified(350). However, it is not

stated whether the peak troponin was used (or indeed the total dose of anthracycline). The relationship between peak troponin achieved and total dose received requires further investigation.

Tzolos et al reports lower TnI concentrations within 24 hrs post-chemotherapy compared to pre-chemotherapy(351). This is something noted in the current analysis also and, as noted by Tzolos et al, likely to be due to dilutional effects(351). It is, however, an important finding that will likely guide future research as it suggests that the trough troponin, sampled immediately prior to chemotherapy, more accurately represents the true pre-chemotherapy troponin concentration and extent of any myocardial injury and that sampling immediately post-chemotherapy does not add to the sensitivity of detecting sub-clinical toxicity. Furthermore, we noted that the post-chemotherapy blood sample was a barrier to recruitment and thus abolishing it will likely improve patient recruitment.

The search for other biomarkers of anthracycline cardiotoxicity is an active and ongoing area of research(355). Cardiac myosin binding protein c is a novel biomarker that was chosen primarily because of its abundance in the myocardium and thus an anticipated bigger rise compared to troponin, as well as due to its earlier peak in concentration compared to troponin following myocardial injury, properties which potentially could make it a better marker to detect sub-clinical toxicity. Here I report, for the first time, the use of cMyC as a biomarker with some interesting results. Firstly, cMyC seems to follow a similar pattern to TnT in that it gradually increases in concentration as patients progress with their chemotherapy. However, cMyC appears to have a lower baseline concentration than TnT (median baseline concentration 3.34ng/L vs 6ng/L), which between cycle 3 and 4 appears to increase at a faster rate. However, for a more direct comparison between the two biomarkers, the concentration ratios to baseline for each biomarker were used. At the

highest biomarker concentration, median cMyC concentration increases 4-fold compared to 2-fold for TnT (p < 0.001). Furthermore, the rate of increase in cMyC concentration is higher than TnT even from cycle 2 (1.8-fold vs 1.5-fold, p=0.007), which persists and also rises faster at each cycle (cycle 6, 7.9-fold vs 4.7-fold, p=0.006). These results therefore suggest that cMyC may be a more sensitive marker than TnT to detect myocardial injury and may be able to do so at an earlier stage during chemotherapy which would make it a useful tool for monitoring patients during anthracycline chemotherapy. This is analogous to findings in patients post MI where cMyC concentrations increase to a higher degree when compared to troponin(297,298). Its usefulness as an earlier and potentially more sensitive marker of myocardial injury has been shown in patients with iatrogenic MI in the context of septal alcohol ablation for hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy (299) as well as in early presenters (<3 hours) with NSTEMI(281). Whether cMyC would be useful as a predictive tool in anthracycline cardiotoxicity however needs to be correlated with cardiac function. This study found no correlation between peak cMyC concentration and LVEF or GLS change at 3 months in 22 patients. However, the results were available in a small number of patients with low clinical event rates. In 161 patients with aortic stenosis cMyC concentrations are associated with markers of hypertrophy and fibrosis on CMR imaging and in 104 patients with increased risk of mortality from aortic stenosis(301). Interestingly, cMyc concentrations were associated with indexed LV mass increase as measured by CMR (β =11.0 g/m² per log unit increase in cMyC after adjustment for age, sex, renal function, AV_{max}, cardiac troponin and comorbidity; 95% CI 4.7 to 17.3, P<0.001)(307). This is not surprising as cMyC is known to be abundant in the thick filaments of cardiac muscle and any changes in mass are potentially reflected in changes in cMyC concentration. Accordingly, anthracyclines are known to cause up to a 5% reduction in cardiac mass as early as 6 months post anthracycline chemotherapy as detected by CMR which were associated with worse heart failure scores without associated changes in LVEF(370).

Thus, with this amplified signal in cMyC compared to troponin seen in this study, one can speculate that changes in cMyC may potentially detect changes in LV mass thus making it a useful marker of early cardiotoxicity. A study comparing changes in cMyC concentrations in patients receiving anthracyclines versus patients receiving non-anthracycline chemotherapy whilst assessing LV mass would help in better assessing this hypothesis. Furthermore, in children admitted with heart failure, cMyC concentrations were higher overall compared to controls and were the highest in those with more severe heart failure. Mortality and readmission were predicted if cMyC concentrations remained elevated(302).

Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging (CMR) is a useful tool in cardio-oncology and is recommended in a recent position paper of the European Heart Failure Association, the European Association of Cardiovascular Imaging and the Cardio-Oncology Council of the European Society of Cardiology in assessing volumes and function particularly in patients with suboptimal echocardiographic windows(361). However, long scanning protocols, cost and lack of access make CMR less attractive to clinicians and patients alike, particularly in the cancer group where frequent scans are required for their oncological care. Based on previous work from our institution(138,362) we have devised a rapid protocol for oncology patients for the assessment of volumes, structure and function and have shown that it is both feasible and acceptable to patients. Mean scanning time was 14 minutes which can be reduced to 12 minutes without any real time short axis stack sequences and overall. In this study 34 scans were offered, and 85% were performed with no complications. Thus, similar to previous studies, quick CMR protocols specific for a particular condition or clinical scenario can be used to maximise CMR utility(138). LVEF by CMR was 63% at baseline and 61% at 3 months, which reached statistical significance (p = 0.013). Compared to echocardiography, there was no significant difference in the Δ LVEF from

baseline to 3 months between CMR and echocardiography (3% vs 1%). Taking all scans together, CMR LVEF was 62% vs 61% with echocardiography (p = 0.2).

The incidence of cardiac arrhythmias during anthracycline chemotherapy is not well documented. In 28 patients with a mean recording time of 11 days during the penultimate or ultimate cycle of chemotherapy, the most common arrhythmias detected were >1% burden of SVEs with a frequency of 7% and >1% burden of VEs with a frequency of 14% non-sustained SVT and VT (68% and 32% respectively) and 2 patients (7%) with transient AV block. Whether an arrhythmia was present was not related to the mean peak TnT during chemotherapy. Non-sustained SVTs were frequent but no atrial fibrillation (AF) was seen despite a previous report suggestive of paroxysmal AF in 10% of patients(89). Nine (32%) patients were found to have non-sustained VT. All were asymptomatic. However, two patients with the longest duration, 5 and 10 seconds respectively, required treatment whereas in the rest of the patients the arrhythmia lasted between 4-9 beats. One previous study reports lower VT rates of 6%(88) and none in others(308,309). It is unclear why nonsustained VT was more frequent in the current study. It is likely that the more prolonged monitoring increased the chances of recording an episode of non-sustained VT. The reasons of why VT might have occurred are also unclear. Cardiac function at that timepoint was unknown as the patients would have had their next echocardiogram performed at least 3 months after the cardiac monitoring was applied according to the study protocol. Furthermore, electrolyte imbalances due to side effects of chemotherapy like diarrhoea and vomiting or inter-current illnesses such as infection that might have precipitated an arrhythmia are also unknown at that time-point. Nonetheless, an insight into patients' rhythm for a prolonged period during the last stages of anthracycline chemotherapy, which has not been investigated before, is an important analysis that will help guide clinical management and further investigations. Patients with symptoms of arrhythmia and,

particularly AF, are a common in the cancer population(363). The fact that no AF was detected in this cohort is interesting and may be related to patient population and age, cancer type and type of chemotherapy. However, equally important, the knowledge that non-sustained VT which was noted in a third of patients in this study, should prompt clinicians to be vigilant when assessing patients with symptoms of arrhythmia to detect and appropriately manage this potentially life-threatening condition.

Limitations

The main study limitation is sample size. The ERIC-ONC study, was designed as a pilot study to assess the effect of RIC on oncology patients(263). It was a hypothesis generating study exploring RIC as a cardioprotective intervention incorporating multimodality monitoring of patients receiving anthracyclines.

The sample size calculation for ERIC-ONC was 128 to detect a theoretical treatment effect of 35% with 80% power at the 5% significance level(263). The treatment effect of 35% was a hypothesised predicted effect of RIC on troponin based on studies in the context of cardiac surgery and elective PCI, with quoted event rate reductions of 26%(364), 43%(365), 18%(366) and 17%(367). Since then, research in STEMI studies has shown a beneficial effect of RIC on troponin between 16-35%(326–328), though some studies have been neutral(248,329,368) including a troponin sub-study of the large CONDI-2/ERIC-PPCI study(249).

Furthermore, the effect of doxorubicin on high sensitivity TnT concentrations in ERIC-ONC was estimated, due to lack of other studies using TnT at the time, based on a study by Katsurada et al in patients with breast cancer treated with anthracyclines and

trastuzumab(369) where a peak high sensitivity TnT of 11±7.8ng/L at 6 months was noted. However, this was after patients had received anthracyclines and trastuzumab and also that peak value corresponded to those patients who developed cardiotoxicity with a reduction in LVEF of >5% (the group without cardiotoxicity had a troponin of 4ng/L at the same time-point)(369). In addition, there is an increasing awareness of the variability in troponin changes during anthracycline therapy between patients(355). Thus, the above points demonstrate the complexities involved in performing sample size calculations in this scenario where no previous studies of RIC during anthracycline chemotherapy in humans exist. The effects of a small sample size would affect a variety of the outcomes, whether they are continuous, such as troponin and change in LVEF or categorical, such as the frequency of any clinical events as well as interpretation of p values and confidence intervals, particularly if they are borderline.

In addition, the points above also demonstrate a second limitation of the study, which is whether troponin is indeed the best main outcome to assess the effect of RIC, particularly as we are still unclear of how best to use biomarkers to predict future cardiotoxicity. In most studies investigating cardioprotective strategies for the prevention of anthracycline induced cardiomyopathy the main outcome is assessment of LV function, principally with LVEF on echocardiography, CMR or nuclear

imaging(161,162,165,178,192,197,203,207,210,214,215,220,335). However, LVEF reduction can be a late feature of cardiac injury and may present late at which point myocardial damage may be irreversible and thus may not be the most suitable parameter to use(346). Cardiac biomarkers such as troponin, on the other hand, are quick, and easy to measure and very sensitive to cardiac injury. Cardiac biomarkers could be ideal as predictors of myocardial damage if a correlation between them and cardiotoxicity is proven.

Having patients with three different types of cancer, with different chemotherapy regimes will introduce variability to the results and thus make findings more difficult to interpret. However, this was a 'real world' study in patients receiving anthracyclines which despite the variability in their diagnosis would be a good cohort to test cardioprotective strategy. Furthermore, this was also a pragmatic approach to improve recruitment. Looking at published literature, both approaches are represented. The RIC and sham groups appeared well balanced with regards to cancer type and chemotherapy regimes. One way to minimise this could be to perform the analysis of the two groups after stratifying for different chemotherapy regimes, infusion vs bolus administrations, presence or absence of previous or subsequent radiotherapy and presence of cardioprotective medications at baseline. This was not performed due to the small n size but is something that will need to be considered in future larger studies.

The findings suggest that the post-chemotherapy biomarker does not add to the sensitivity of detecting a sub-clinical toxicity and that the pre-chemotherapy ("trough") sample may be more representative of underlying cardiotoxicity. It is likely the post-chemotherapy sample is further affected by dilutional problems from the administration of intravenous fluids during chemotherapy but the lack of a post-chemotherapy haematocrit to assess for any dilutional effects does not allow confirmation of that hypothesis. In a recent study by Tzolos et al in breast cancer patients, high sensitivity TnT 24hrs post chemotherapy is 33% lower than pre-chemotherapy, which was unexpected and thought to be due to intravenous fluid administration and/or steroid administration during chemotherapy and that the pre-chemotherapy sample may be more reliable in assessing myocardial injury(351). With regards to the troponin samples during the follow-up period, there were unfortunately some missing data despite best efforts to minimise this. This was due to patient deaths and withdrawal but also because of the Covid-19 pandemic that meant

patients were unable to attend for blood tests. This was a particular problem for the 6month follow-up time point with the n number reducing to 22.

An unexpected finding was the higher number of admissions due to sepsis or fevers with or without neutropenia in the RIC group. This could be explained by the small study size. However, it could also be due to the way these episodes were recorded, which was based on the discharge diagnosis but with no details with regards to specifics about definitions of sepsis, temperature recordings and other markers of infection and shock. Similarly, the absence of any other data such as electrolyte abnormalities during any arrhythmic events detected on the 14-day cardiac monitor, make it difficult to infer whether they were due to chemotherapy or other reasons.

The main limitation of my second part that investigates monitoring for cardiotoxicity particularly using biomarkers, is the fact that the analysis was performed using the whole cohort as one, and even though there was no difference demonstrated between the two groups, there is always a possibility that the intervention is influencing the outcome investigated. To minimise that, analyses were performed for the cohort, as well as for each group individually and any conclusions were only made if both the group results were similar the whole cohort results. Furthermore, the post chemotherapy echocardiograms used to assess any relationship between peak troponin and change in LVEF were performed at the 3-month time point which may be too soon post chemotherapy to see any effect of anthracyclines on cardiac function and this is another limitation. Most patients will develop cardiac dysfunction in the first year post anthracycline chemotherapy(338) and therefore a one year follow-up echocardiogram is more suitable. The same also applies for the patients who had a CMR performed who would ideally also need a CMR performed at the 1year time-point. In addition, the 3-month CMR included only 10 patients and is likely

to be too small for direct comparisons between CMR and echocardiography. Having said that, the main aim of the CMR cohort was to assess feasibility of using CMR as a monitoring tool rather than a direct comparison with echocardiography. Similarly, only 22 patients had the cMyC biomarker performed which despite some interesting results will need to be verified in a bigger cohort and be correlated with cardiac function and clinical outcomes.

Strengths

Despite the limitations outlined above, my MD thesis has some important strengths. In the first instance, this was the first experiment to assess the effect of RIC during anthracycline chemotherapy in humans. Secondly, a variety of outcomes were explored including cardiac biomarkers during chemotherapy, but also cardiac function and clinical outcomes. Thirdly, reporting of serious adverse effects and cancer outcomes was done in detail and this ensured detecting any adverse trends that may impact on clinical care. This is important as, other than the studies on dexrazoxane, several of the studies investigating cardioprotective strategies do not always report on non-cardiac or cancer/chemotherapy specific adverse effects in detail(161,162,192,203,210,335).

Furthermore, I report on the dynamic trends of troponin T concentrations at each cycle of chemotherapy (as well as follow up) using troponin as a continuous variable, something that I have found to be reported only twice in the literature so far and on both occasions using troponin I(350,351). It is important to understand how biomarker concentrations fluctuate during chemotherapy for particular biomarkers and assays if biomarkers are to be used to try and predict risk of cardiotoxicity. In addition, troponin changes were assessed in different ways, with absolute and delta concentrations, as there is no agreed consensus what correlates best with cardiac injury(350) as well as a binary variable to compare with previous research.

Conclusions and Future Directions

In conclusion, the analysis of this thesis shows that remote ischaemic conditioning does not act as a cardioprotective mechanism against anthracycline cardiotoxicity as measured by changes in troponin during and after chemotherapy. Furthermore, RIC does not seem to affect any of the secondary outcomes of cardiac function as measured by imaging, clinical and arrhythmic outcomes. The results are affected by the fact that the study has a low number of patients and thus should be seen as a hypothesis generating exercise without being able to make firm conclusions. However, the study provides valuable information for future research as it presents in a very detailed, prospective, and observational manner, changes in a variety of different cardiac parameters during the course of a patient's journey through chemotherapy and follow-up. In particularly the study demonstrates, how specific cardiac biomarkers (troponin T and the novel cMyC biomarker) rise at each cycle during chemotherapy, peak up to one-month post-chemotherapy and can remain elevated up to 6 months post-chemotherapy. There was no correlation with any secondary outcomes, however, knowledge and understanding of how biomarkers behave during chemotherapy would allow to incorporate these into prediction tools to assist clinicians in predicting anthracycline cardiotoxicity.

Future research should focus on two areas: firstly, on observational, prospective (and "real world registries") research of monitoring for anthracycline cardiotoxicity and focusing in particular on the detection of early subclinical cardiotoxicity using biomarkers and imaging. Secondly, research should focus on cardioprotection studies to identify agents that may prevent cardiotoxicity. With regards to RIC, different regimes can be investigated, such as a more prolonged RIC model where patients receive RIC at home in between chemotherapy cycles. It is possible that the RIC stimulus was insufficient to provide any

significant cardioprotection as the injury from anthracyclines is a more prolonged, chronic injury unlike the acute injury in myocardial ischaemia. This, however, will need to be designed in a manner to monitor for any potential adverse outcomes, in particular infections as observed in the current study. Furthermore, different cardioprotective drugs can be tried with other iron chelators being the most obvious. Desferrioxamine for instance may be a suitable candidate as it is less likely to cause neutropenia compared to deferiprone and has been investigated before with some promising results, albeit much less than dextrazoxane and only in animal studies(64).

For any future study, the findings of this thesis will help in the design particularly with the timings of investigations. Based on this study I would suggest, biomarkers such as troponins to be performed at baseline, and then as a trough level at the mid-point and end of chemotherapy as well as at one, three- and 6-months post chemotherapy. With regards to assessment of cardiac function by imaging, I would suggest a baseline assessment and an assessment within one month from end of treatment which would coincide with the highest rise in troponin, as well as at 6- and 12-months post chemotherapy. Furthermore, an additional assessment of cardiac function using new imaging modalities such as myocardial deformation imaging or MRI parameters should be performed at the mid-point of chemotherapy to investigate their suitability as early detectors of toxicity.

I hope, the analysis and results of this thesis should help pave the way for more clinical studies in cardio-oncology at UCL and UCLH.

References

- Di Marco A, Gaetani M, Orezzi P, Scarpinato BM, Silvestrini R, Soldati M, et al. "Daunomycin", a new antibiotic of the rhodomycin group [18]. Vol. 201, Nature. 1964. p. 706–7.
- 2. Silvestrini R, Gaetani M. Tre Action of Daunomycin on the Metabolism of Nucleic Acids of Ehrlich Ascites Tumor Cells. Tumori Journal. 1963 Nov 1;49(6):389–97.
- 3. Tan C, Tasaka H, Yu K-P, Murphy ML, Karnofsky DA. Daunomycin, an antitumor antibiotic, in the treatment of neoplastic disease. Cancer. 1967;20:333–53.
- 4. Holton CP, Vietti TJ, Nora AH, Donaldson MH, Stuckey WJ, Watkins WL, et al. Clinical Study of Daunomycin and Prednisone for Induction of Remission in Children with Advanced Leukemia. New England Journal of Medicine. 1969 Jan 23;280(4):171–4.
- 5. Di Pietro S, Gennari L. Regional Cancer Chemotherapy of Head and Neck Tumors by Continuous Intraarterial Infusion. Tumori Journal. 1964 Jul 1;50(4):267–308.
- 6. Cassinelli G. The roots of modern oncology: From discovery of new antitumor anthracyclines to their clinical use. Tumori. 2016;102(3):226–35.
- 7. Bonadonna G, Monfardinit S, De Lena M, Franca Fossati-Bellani \$. Clinical Evaluation of Adriamycin, a New Antitumour Antibiotic. British MedicalJournal. 1961;7(3):29–503.
- 8. Bonadonna G, Monfardini S, De Lena M, Fossati-Bellani F, Beretta G. Phase 1 and Preliminary Phase 2 Evaluation of Adriamycin. Cancer Research. 1970;30(10):2572–82.
- 9. Bonadonna G, Monfardini S. Cardiac toxicity of daunorubicin. Lancet. 1969;1(7599):837.
- Von Hoff DD, Rozencweig M, Layard M, Slavik M, Muggia FM. Daunomycin-induced cardiotoxicity in children and adults. A review of 110 cases. The American Journal of Medicine. 1977;62(2):200–8.
- 11. Minotti G, Menna P, Salvatorelli E, Cairo G, Gianni L. Anthracyclines: Molecular advances and pharmacologie developments in antitumor activity and cardiotoxicity. Pharmacological Reviews. 2004;56(2):185–229.
- 12. Mitoxantrone (Mitozantrone) 2 mg/ml Sterile Concentrate Summary of Product Characteristics (SmPC) - (eMC) [Internet]. [cited 2019 Aug 23]. Available from: https://www.medicines.org.uk/emc/product/1694/smpc
- Epirubicin 2 mg/ml, solution for injection Summary of Product Characteristics (SmPC) -(eMC) [Internet]. [cited 2019 Aug 23]. Available from: https://www.medicines.org.uk/emc/product/8808/smpc
- 14. Idarubicin 10 mg/10 ml solution for injection Summary of Product Characteristics (SmPC)
 (eMC) [Internet]. [cited 2019 Aug 23]. Available from: https://www.medicines.org.uk/emc/product/775/smpc
- McKelvey EM, Gottlieb JA, Wilson HE, Haut A, Talley RW, Stephens R, et al. Hydroxyldaunomycin (adriamycin) combination chemotherapy in malignant lymphoma. Cancer. 1976;38(4):1484–93.
- 16. Fisher RI, Gaynor ER, Dahlberg S, Oken MM, Grogan TM, Mize EM, et al. Comparison of a Standard Regimen (CHOP) with Three Intensive Chemotherapy Regimens for Advanced Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma. New England Journal of Medicine. 1993 Apr 8;328(14):1002–6.
- 17. Coiffier B, Lepage E, Brière J, Herbrecht R, Tilly H, Bouabdallah R, et al. Chop chemotherapy plus rituximab compared with chop alone in elderly patients with diffuse large-B-cell lymphoma. New England Journal of Medicine. 2002 Jan 24;346(4):235–42.
- Eichenauer DA, Aleman BMP, André M, Federico M, Hutchings M, Illidge T, et al. Hodgkin lymphoma: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Annals of Oncology. 2018 Oct 1;29:iv19–29.
- Casali PG, Bielack S, Abecassis N, Aro HT, Bauer S, Biagini R, et al. Bone sarcomas: ESMO-PaedCan-EURACAN Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Annals of Oncology. 2018 Oct 1;29:iv79–95.

- 20. Italiano A, Mir O, Cioffi A, Palmerini E, Piperno-Neumann S, Perrin C, et al. Advanced chondrosarcomas: Role of chemotherapy and survival. Annals of Oncology. 2013 Nov;24(11):2916–22.
- 21. Casali PG, Abecassis N, Bauer S, Biagini R, Bielack S, Bonvalot S, et al. Soft tissue and visceral sarcomas: ESMO–EURACAN Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up[†]. Annals of Oncology. 2018 Oct 1;29(Supplement_4):iv51–67.
- 22. Cardoso F, Kyriakides S, Ohno S, Penault-Llorca F, Poortmans P, Rubio IT, et al. Early breast cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up[†]. Annals of Oncology. 2019 Aug 1;30(8):1194–220.
- 23. Abe O, Abe R, Enomoto K, Kikuchi K, Koyama H, Masuda H, et al. Effects of chemotherapy and hormonal therapy for early breast cancer on recurrence and 15-year survival: An overview of the randomised trials. Lancet. 2005 May 14;365(9472):1687–717.
- 24. Albain K, Anderson S, Arriagada R, Barlow W, Bergh J, Bliss J, et al. Comparisons between different polychemotherapy regimens for early breast cancer: Meta-analyses of long-term outcome among 100 000 women in 123 randomised trials. The Lancet. 2012 Feb 4;379(9814):432–44.
- 25. Cardoso F, Senkus E, Costa A, Papadopoulos E, Aapro M, André F, et al. 4th ESO-ESMO international consensus guidelines for advanced breast cancer (ABC 4). Annals of Oncology. 2018;29(8):1634–57.
- Pratt William, Ruddon Raymond, Ensminger Willliam MJ. Noncovalent DNA-Binding Drugs. In: The Anticancer Drugs. Second. New York: Oxford University Press; 1994. p. 155–82.
- 27. Bachur NR. Anthracyclines. In: Encyclopedia of Cancer. Elsevier; 2002. p. 57-61.
- 28. Lin CC, Van De Sande JH. Differential fluorescent staining of human chromosomes with daunomycin and adriamycin The D-Bands. Science. 1975;190(4209):61–3.
- 29. Deffie AM, Batra JK, Goldenberg2 GJ, Goldenberg GJ. Direct Correlation between DNA Topoisomerase II Activity and Cytotoxicity in Adriamycin-sensitive and resistant P388 Leukemia cell lines. Cancer research. 1989 Jan 1;49(1):58–62.
- 30. Sawyer DB. Anthracyclines and heart failure. New England Journal of Medicine. 2013 Mar 21;368(12):1154–6.
- 31. Sandhu H, Maddock H. Molecular basis of cancer-therapy-induced cardiotoxicity: introducing microRNA biomarkers for early assessment of subclinical myocardial injury. Clinical Science. 2014;
- 32. Xu X, Persson HL, Richardson DR. Molecular pharmacology of the interaction of anthracyclines with iron. Vol. 68, Molecular Pharmacology. 2005. p. 261–71.
- Gewirtz DA. A Critical Evaluation of the Mechanisms of Action Proposed for the Antitumor Effects of the Anthracycline Antibiotics Adriamycin and Daunorubicin. Biochemical Pharmacology. 1999;57:727–41.
- 34. Ayala A, Muñoz MF, Argüelles S. Lipid peroxidation: Production, metabolism, and signaling mechanisms of malondialdehyde and 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal. Vol. 2014, Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity. Landes Bioscience; 2014.
- 35. Povey AC. DNA Adducts: EndogenouS and Induced. Toxicologic Pathology. 2000;28(3):405–14.
- 36. Huang Y, Li L. DNA crosslinking damage and cancer a tale of friend and foe. Vol. 2, Translational Cancer Research. AME Publishing Company; 2013. p. 144–54.
- 37. Phillips DR, White RJ, Cullinane C. DNA sequence-specific adducts of adriamycin and mitomycin C. Vol. 246. 1989.
- 38. Skladanowski A, Konopa J. Relevance of interstrand DNA crosslinking induced by anthracyclines for their biological activity. Biochemical Pharmacology. 1994;
- 39. Bachur NR, Yu F, Johnson R, Hickey R, Wu Y, Malkas L. Helicase inhibition by anthracycline anticancer agents. Molecular Pharmacology. 1992 Jun 1;41(6):993.

- 40. Kim R, Tanabe K, Uchida Y, Emi M, Inoue H, Toge T. Current status of the molecular mechanisms of anticancer drug-induced apoptosis: The contribution of molecular-level analysis to cancer chemotherapy. Vol. 50, Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology. 2002. p. 343–52.
- 41. Ling Y-H, Priebe W, Perez-Soler2 R. Apoptosis Induced by Anthracycline Antibiotics in P388 Parent and Multidrug-resistant Cells1. Vol. 53, CANCER RESEARCH. 1993.
- 42. Skladanowski A, Konopa J. Adriamycin and daunomycin induce programmed cell death (apoptosis) in tumour cells. Biochemical Pharmacology. 1993 Aug 3;46(3):375–82.
- 43. Bonadonna G, Monfardini S. Cardiac toxicity of daunorubicin. Lancet. 1969;1(7599):837.
- 44. Lefrak EA, Pitha J, Rosenheim S, Gottlieb JA. A CLINICOPATHOLOGIC ANALYSIS OF ADRIAMYCIN CARDIOTOXICITY. Cancer. 1973;32(2):302–14.
- 45. Von Hoff DD, Layard MW, Basa P, Davis HL, Von Hoff AL, Rozencweig M, et al. Risk factors for doxorubicin-induced congestive heart failure. Annals of internal medicine. 1979 Nov;91(5):710–7.
- 46. Speyer JL, Green MD, Zeleniuch-Jacquotte A, Wernz JC, Rey M, Sanger J, et al. ICRF-187 Permits Longer Treatment With Doxorubicin in Women With Breast Cancer. Journal of clinical oncology. 1992;10:117–27.
- 47. Swain SM, Whaley FS, Ewer MS. Congestive heart failure in patients treated with doxorubicin. Cancer. 2003 Jun 1;97(11):2869–79.
- 48. Zamorano JL, Lancellotti P, Rodriguez Muñoz D, Aboyans V, Asteggiano R, Galderisi M, et al. 2016 ESC Position Paper on cancer treatments and cardiovascular toxicity developed under the auspices of the ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines. European Heart Journal. 2016 Sep 21;37(36):2768–801.
- 49. Lipshultz SE, Colan SD, Sanders SP, Perez-Atayde AR, Sallan SE, Gelber RD. Late cardiac effects of doxorubicin therapy for acute lymphoblastic leukemia in childhood. New England Journal of Medicine. 1991 Mar 21;324(12):808–15.
- 50. Steinherz LJ, Steinherz PG, Tan CTC, Heller G, Murphy ML. Cardiac Toxicity 4 to 20 Years After Completing Anthracycline Therapy. JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association. 1991 Sep 25;266(12):1672.
- 51. Vandecruys E, Mondelaers V, de Wolf D, Benoit Y, Suys B. Late cardiotoxicity after low dose of anthracycline therapy for acute lymphoblastic leukemia in childhood. Journal of Cancer Survivorship. 2012;6(1):95–101.
- 52. Cardinale D, Colombo A, Bacchiani G, Tedeschi I, Meroni CA, Veglia F, et al. Early detection of anthracycline cardiotoxicity and improvement with heart failure therapy. Circulation. 2015;131(22):1981–8.
- 53. Plana JC, Galderisi M, Barac A, Ewer MS, Ky B, Scherrer-Crosbie M, et al. Expert Consensus for Multimodality Imaging Evaluation of Adult Patients during and after Cancer Therapy: A Report from the American Society of Echocardiography and the European Association of Cardiovascular Imaging. Journal of the American Society of Echocardiography. 2014 Sep;27(9):911–39.
- 54. Virani SA, Dent S, Brezden-Masley C, Clarke B, Davis MK, Jassal DS, et al. Canadian Cardiovascular Society Guidelines for Evaluation and Management of Cardiovascular Complications of Cancer Therapy. Canadian Journal of Cardiology. 2016;32(7):831–41.
- 55. Lipshultz SE, Lipsitz SR, Mone SM, Goorin AM, Sallan SE, Sanders SP, et al. Female Sex and Higher Drug Dose as Risk Factors for Late Cardiotoxic Effects of Doxorubicin Therapy for Childhood Cancer. New England Journal of Medicine. 1995 Jun 29;332(26):1738–44.
- 56. Lipshultz SE, Lipsitz SR, Sallan SE, Dalton VM, Mone SM, Gelber RD, et al. Chronic progressive cardiac dysfunction years after doxorubicin therapy for childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2005;23(12):2629–36.
- 57. Krischer JP, Epstein S, Cuthbertson DD, Goorin AM, Epstein ML, Lipshultz SE. Clinical cardiotoxicity following anthracycline treatment for childhood cancer: The Pediatric Oncology Group experience. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 1997;15(4):1544–52.

- 58. Krischer JP, Epstein S, Cuthbertson DD, Goorin AM, Epstein ML, Lipshultz SE. Clinical cardiotoxicity following anthracycline treatment for childhood cancer: The Pediatric Oncology Group experience. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 1997;15(4):1544–52.
- 59. Gewirtz DA. A Critical Evaluation of the Mechanisms of Action Proposed for the Antitumor Effects of the Anthracycline Antibiotics Adriamycin and Daunorubicin. Biochemical Pharmacology. 1999;57:727–41.
- 60. Doroshow JH. Effect of Anthracycline Antibiotics on Oxygen Radical Formation in Rat Heart 1. CANCER RESEARCH. 1983;43:460–72.
- 61. Doroshow JH, Locker GY, Myers CE. Enzymatic defenses of the mouse heart against reactive oxygen metabolites. Alterations produced by doxorubicin. Journal of Clinical Investigation. 1980 Jan;65(1):128–35.
- 62. Davies KJ, Doroshow JH. Redox Cycling of Anthracyclines by Cardiac Mitochondria I. ANTHRACYCLINE RADICAL FORMATION BY NADH DEHYDROGENASE. THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY. 1986;261(7):3060–7.
- 63. Doroshowsb JH, Daviesn KJA. Redox Cycling of Anthracyclines by Cardiac Mitochondria II. FORMATION OF SUPEROXIDE ANION, HYDROGEN PEROXIDE, AND HYDROXYL RADICAL. THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY. 1986;261:3068–74.
- 64. Xu X, Persson HL, Richardson DR. Molecular pharmacology of the interaction of anthracyclines with iron. Vol. 68, Molecular Pharmacology. 2005. p. 261–71.
- 65. Myers CE, Gianni L, Simone CB, Klecker R, Greene R. Oxidative Destruction of Erythrocyte Ghost Membranes Catalyzed by the Doxorubicin-Iron Complex. Biochemistry. 1982;21(8):1707–12.
- 66. Myers CE, Mcguire WP, Liss RH, Ifrim I, Grotzinger K, Young RC. Adriamycin: The role of lipid peroxidation in cardiac toxicity and tumor response. Science. 1977;197(4299):165–7.
- 67. Herman EH, Ferrans VJ. Reduction of chronic doxorubicin cardiotoxicity in dogs by pretreatment with (±)-1,2-bis(3,5-dioxopiperazinyl-1-yl)propane (ICRF-187). Cancer Research. 1981 Sep 1;41:3436–40.
- 68. Herman EH, El-Hage AN, Creighton AM, Witiak DT, Ferrans VJ. Comparison of the protective effect of ICRF-187 and structurally related analogues against acute daunorubicin toxicity in Syrian golden hamsters. Research Communications in Chemical Pathology and Pharmacology. 1985;48(1):39–55.
- Herman EH, Ferrans VJ, Myers CE, Van Vleet JF. Comparison of the Effectiveness of (±)-1,2-Bis(3,5-dioxopiperazinyl-1-yl)propane (ICRF-187) and A/-Acetylcysteine in Preventing Chronic Doxorubicin Cardiotoxicity in Beagles. CANCER RESEARCH. 1985;45:276–81.
- 70. Swain SM, Whaley FS, Gerber MC, Weisberg S, York M, Spicer D, et al. Cardioprotection with dexrazoxane for doxorubicin-containing therapy in advanced breast cancer. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 1997;15(4):1318–32.
- 71. Liesse K, Harris J, Chan M, Schmidt ML, Chiu B. Dexrazoxane significantly reduces anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity in pediatric solid tumor patients: A systematic review. Journal of Pediatric Hematology/Oncology. 2018;40(6):417–25.
- 72. Sawyer DB. Anthracyclines and heart failure. New England Journal of Medicine. 2013 Mar 21;368(12):1154–6.
- Capranico G, Tinelli S, Austin CA, Fisher ML, Zunino F. Different patterns of gene expression of topoisomerase II isoforms in differentiated tissues during murine development. Biochimica et biophysica acta. 1992 Aug 17;1132(1):43–8.
- Zhang S, Liu X, Bawa-Khalfe T, Lu L-S, Lyu YL, Liu LF, et al. Identification of the molecular basis of doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity. Nature Medicine. 2012 Nov 28;18(11):1639–42.
- 75. Olson HM, Young DM, Prieur DJ, LeRoy AF, Reagan RL. Electrolyte and morphologic alterations of myocardium in adriamycin-treated rabbits. The American journal of pathology. 1974 Dec;77(3):439–54.

- 76. Chacon E, Acosta D. Mitochondrial regulation of superoxide by Ca2+: an alternate mechanism for the cardiotoxicity of doxorubicin. Toxicology and applied pharmacology. 1991 Jan;107(1):117–28.
- 77. Zhou S, Starkov A, Froberg MK, Leino RL, Wallace KB. Cumulative and irreversible cardiac mitochondrial dysfunction induced by doxorubicin. Cancer Research. 2001 Jan 15;61(2):771–7.
- 78. Miyamae M, Camacho SA, Weiner MW, Figueredo VM. Attenuation of postischemic reperfusion injury is related to prevention of [Ca2+](m) overload in rat hearts. American Journal of Physiology Heart and Circulatory Physiology. 1996 Nov;271(5 40-5).
- 79. Green PS, Leeuwenburgh C. Mitochondrial dysfunction is an early indicator of doxorubicininduced apoptosis. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Basis of Disease. 2002 Oct 9;1588(1):94–101.
- 80. Nakamura T, Ueda Y, Juan Y, Katsuda S, Takahashi H, Koh E. Fas-mediated apoptosis in Adriamycin-induced cardiomyopathy in rats: In vivo study. Circulation. 2000 Aug 1;102(5):572–8.
- Ito H, Miller SC, Billingham ME, Akimoto H, Torti S V., Wade R, et al. Doxorubicin selectively inhibits muscle gene expression in cardiac muscle cells in vivo and in vitro. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1990;87(11):4275–9.
- 82. Bian Y, Sun M, Silver M, Ho KKL, Marchionni MA, Caggiano AO, et al. Neuregulin-1 attenuated doxorubicin-induced decrease in cardiac troponins. American Journal of Physiology Heart and Circulatory Physiology. 2009 Dec;297(6).
- 83. Lipshultz SE, Adams MJ, Colan SD, Constine LS, Herman EH, Hsu DT, et al. Long-term Cardiovascular Toxicity in Children, Adolescents, and Young Adults Who Receive Cancer Therapy: Pathophysiology, Course, Monitoring, Management, Prevention, and Research Directions. Circulation. 2013 Oct 22;128(17):1927–95.
- 84. Huang C, Zhang X, Ramil JM, Rikka S, Kim L, Lee Y, et al. Juvenile exposure to anthracyclines impairs cardiac progenitor cell function and vascularization resulting in greater susceptibility to stress-induced myocardial injury in adult mice. Circulation. 2010 Feb 9;121(5):675–83.
- 85. Beltrami AP, Barlucchi L, Torella D, Baker M, Limana F, Chimenti S, et al. Adult cardiac stem cells are multipotent and support myocardial regeneration. Cell. 2003 Sep 19;114(6):763–76.
- 86. Giantris A, Abdurrahman L, Hinkle A, Asselin B, Lipshultz SE. Anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity in children and young adults. Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology. 1998;27(1):53–68.
- 87. Von Hoff DD, Rozencweig M, Layard M, Slavik M, Muggia FM. Daunomycin-induced cardiotoxicity in children and adults. A review of 110 cases. The American Journal of Medicine. 1977;62(2):200–8.
- 88. Steinberg J, Cohen A, Wasserman A, Cohen P, Ross A. Acute Arrhythmogenicity of Doxorubicin Administration. Cancer. 1987;60(6).
- 89. Kilickap S, Barista I, Akgul E, Aytemir K, Aksoy S, Tekuzman G. Early and Late Arrhythmogenic Effects of Doxorubicin. Southern Medical Journal. 2007 Mar;100(3):262–5.
- 90. Buza V, Rajagopalan B, Curtis AB. Cancer Treatment–Induced Arrhythmias. Circulation: Arrhythmia and Electrophysiology. 2017 Aug 1;10(8).
- 91. Steinherz LJ, Steinherz PG, Tan CTC, Heller G, Murphy ML. Cardiac Toxicity 4 to 20 Years After Completing Anthracycline Therapy. JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association. 1991 Sep 25;266(12):1672–7.
- 92. Lipshultz SE, Alvarez JA, Scully RE. Anthracycline associated cardiotoxicity in survivors of childhood cancer. Vol. 94, Heart. 2008. p. 525–33.

- 93. Pinder MC, Duan Z, Goodwin JS, Hortobagyi GN, Giordano SH. Congestive heart failure in older women treated with adjuvant anthracycline chemotherapy for breast cancer. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2007 Sep 1;25(25):3808–15.
- 94. Curigliano G, Lenihan D, Fradley M, Ganatra S, Barac A, Blaes A, et al. Management of cardiac disease in cancer patients throughout oncological treatment: ESMO consensus recommendations. Annals of Oncology. 2020;31(2):171–90.
- 95. Jordan JH, Todd RM, Vasu S, Hundley WG. Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance in the Oncology Patient. JACC: Cardiovascular Imaging. 2018;11(8):1150–72.
- 96. Seraphim A, Westwood M, Bhuva AN, Crake T, Moon JC, Menezes LJ, et al. Advanced Imaging Modalities to Monitor for Cardiotoxicity. Options in Oncol. 2019;20:73.
- 97. Neilan TG, Coelho-Filho OR, Pena-Herrera D, Shah R V., Jerosch-Herold M, Francis SA, et al. Left ventricular mass in patients with a cardiomyopathy after treatment with anthracyclines. American Journal of Cardiology. 2012 Dec 1;110(11):1679–86.
- 98. Ylänen K, Poutanen T, Savikurki-Heikkilä P, Rinta-Kiikka I, Eerola A, Vettenranta K. Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging in the evaluation of the late effects of anthracyclines among long-term survivors of childhood cancer. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2013;61(14):1539–47.
- 99. Neilan TG, Coelho-Filho OR, Shah R V., Feng JH, Pena-Herrera D, Mandry D, et al. Myocardial extracellular volume by cardiac magnetic resonance imaging in patients treated with anthracycline-based chemotherapy. American Journal of Cardiology. 2013 Mar 1;111(5):717–22.
- 100. Galán-Arriola C, Lobo M, Vílchez-Tschischke JP, López GJ, de Molina-Iracheta A, Pérez-Martínez C, et al. Serial Magnetic Resonance Imaging to Identify Early Stages of Anthracycline-Induced Cardiotoxicity. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2019 Feb 26;73(7):779–91.
- Sandhu H, Maddock H. Molecular basis of cancer-therapy-induced cardiotoxicity: introducing microRNA biomarkers for early assessment of subclinical myocardial injury. Clinical Science. 2014;
- 102. Oliveira-Carvalho Rigaud V, Ferreira LR, Ayub-Ferreira SM, Ávila MS, Brandão SM, Cruz FD, et al. Circulating miR-1 as a potential biomarker of doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity in breast cancer patients. 2016.
- 103. Ewer MS, Lippman SM. Type II chemotherapy-related cardiac dysfunction: Time to recognize a new entity. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2005;23(13):2900–2.
- 104. Silber JH, Cnaan A, Clark BJ, Paridon SM, Chin AJ, Rychik J, et al. Enalapril to prevent cardiac function decline in long-term survivors of pediatric cancer exposed to anthracyclines. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2004;
- 105. Lipshultz SE, Lipsitz SR, Sallan SE, Simbre VC, Shaikh SL, Mone SM, et al. Long-term enalapril therapy for left ventricular dysfunction in doxorubicin-treated survivors of childhood cancer. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2002;
- 106. Jensen B V., Nielsen SL, Skovsgaard T. Treatment with angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibitor for epirubicin-induced dilated cardiomyopathy. Lancet. 1996;
- Jensen B V., Skovsgaard T, Nielsen SL. Functional monitoring of anthracycline cardiotoxicity: A prospective, blinded, long-term observational study of outcome in 120 patients. Annals of Oncology. 2002;
- Tallaj JA, Franco V, Rayburn BK, Pinderski L, Benza RL, Pamboukian S, et al. Response of doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy to the current management strategy of heart failure. Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation. 2005;
- 109. Fazio S, Palmieri EA, Ferravante B, Bone F, Biondi B, Sacca L. Doxorubicin-Induced Cardiom yo pathy Treated with Carvedilol. Clinical Cardiology. 1998;21:777–9.
- 110. Mukai Y, Yoshida T, Nakaike R, Mukai N, Iwato K, Kyo T, et al. Five Cases of Anthracycline-Induced Cardiomyopathy Effectively Treated with Carvedilol. Internal Medicine. 2004;43(11):1087–8.

- 111. Shaddy RE, Olsen SL, Bristow MR, Taylor DO, Bullock EA, Tani LY, et al. Efficacy and safety of metoprolol in the treatment of doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy in pediatric patients. American Heart Journal. 1995;
- 112. Cardinale D, Colombo A, Lamantia G, Colombo N, Civelli M, De Giacomi G, et al. Anthracycline-Induced Cardiomyopathy. Clinical Relevance and Response to Pharmacologic Therapy. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2010;
- 113. Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD, Bueno H, Cleland JGF, Coats AJS, et al. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure. European Heart Journal. 2016;37(27):2129–2200m.
- 114. Barrett-Lee PJ, Dixon JM, Farrell C, Jones A, Leonard R, Murray N, et al. Expert opinion on the use of anthracyclines in patients with advanced breast cancer at cardiac risk. Annals of Oncology. 2009;20(5):816–27.
- 115. Armenian SH, Lacchetti C, Barac A, Carver J, Constine LS, Denduluri N, et al. Prevention and monitoring of cardiac dysfunction in survivors of adult cancers: American society of clinical oncology clinical practice guideline. Vol. 35, Journal of Clinical Oncology. American Society of Clinical Oncology; 2017. p. 893–911.
- 116. Curigliano G, Cardinale D, Suter T, Plataniotis G, De azambuja E, Sandri MT, et al. Cardiovascular toxicity induced by chemotherapy, targeted agents and radiotherapy: ESMO clinical practice guidelines. Annals of Oncology. 2012;23(SUPPL. 7):vii155–66.
- 117. Van Nimwegen FA, Schaapveld M, Janus CPM, Krol ADG, Petersen EJ, Raemaekers JMM, et al. Cardiovascular disease after hodgkin lymphoma treatment 40-year disease risk. JAMA Internal Medicine. 2015 Jun 1;175(6):1007–17.
- Gennari A, Salvadori B, Donati S, Bengala C, Orlandini C, Danesi R, et al. Cardiotoxicity of epirubicin/paclitaxel-containing regimens: Role of cardiac risk factors. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 1999;17(11):3596–602.
- 119. Taylor C, Duane FK, Dodwell D, Gray R, Wang Z, Wang Y, et al. Estimating the Risks of Breast cancer radiotherapy: Evidence from modern radiation doses to the lungs and Heart and From previous randomized trials. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2017 May 20;35(15):1641–9.
- 120. Slamon DJ, Leyland-Jones B, Shak S, Fuchs H, Paton V, Bajamonde A, et al. Use of chemotherapy plus a monoclonal antibody against her2 for metastatic breast cancer that overexpresses HER2. New England Journal of Medicine. 2001 Mar 15;344(11):783–92.
- 121. Romond EH, Perez EA, Bryant J, Suman VJ, Geyer CE, Davidson NE, et al. Trastuzumab plus adjuvant chemotherapy for operable HER2-positive breast cancer. New England Journal of Medicine. 2005 Oct 20;353(16):1673–84.
- 122. Bowles EJA, Wellman R, Feigelson HS, Onitilo AA, Freedman AN, Delate T, et al. Risk of heart failure in breast cancer patients after anthracycline and trastuzumab treatment: a retrospective cohort study. Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 2012 Sep;104(17):1293– 305.
- Jensen B V., Skovsgaard T, Nielsen SL. Functional monitoring of anthracycline cardiotoxicity: A prospective, blinded, long-term observational study of outcome in 120 patients. Annals of Oncology. 2002;13(5):699–709.
- 124. Lotrionte M, Biondi-Zoccai G, Abbate A, Lanzetta G, D'Ascenzo F, Malavasi V, et al. Review and meta-analysis of incidence and clinical predictors of anthracycline cardiotoxicity. Vol. 112, American Journal of Cardiology. Am J Cardiol; 2013. p. 1980–4.
- 125. Garcia-Pavia P, Kim Y, Restrepo-Cordoba MA, Lunde IG, Wakimoto H, Smith AM, et al. Genetic Variants Associated With Cancer Therapy-Induced Cardiomyopathy. Circulation. 2019 Jul 2;140(1):31–41.
- 126. Nousiainen T, Jantunen E, Vanninen E, Hartikainen J. Early decline in left ventricular ejection fraction predicts doxorubicin cardiotoxicity in lymphoma patients. British Journal of Cancer. 2002 Jun 5;86(11):1697–700.

- 127. Drafts BC, Twomley KM, D'Agostino R, Lawrence J, Avis N, Ellis LR, et al. Low to moderate dose anthracycline-based chemotherapy is associated with early noninvasive imaging evidence of subclinical cardiovascular disease. JACC: Cardiovascular Imaging. 2013 Aug 1;6(8):877–85.
- 128. Armenian SH, Hudson MM, Mulder RL, Chen MH, Constine LS, Dwyer M, et al. Recommendations for cardiomyopathy surveillance for survivors of childhood cancer: A report from the International Late Effects of Childhood Cancer Guideline Harmonization Group. Vol. 16, The Lancet Oncology. Lancet Publishing Group; 2015. p. e123–36.
- 129. Lenzhofer R, Dudczak R, Gumhold G, Graninger W, Moser K, Spitzy KH. Noninvasive methods for the early detection of doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy. Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology. 1983;106(2):136–42.
- 130. Thavendiranathan P, Grant AD, Negishi T, Plana JC, Popović ZB, Marwick TH. Reproducibility of echocardiographic techniques for sequential assessment of left ventricular ejection fraction and volumes: Application to patients undergoing cancer chemotherapy. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2013;
- 131. Ghosh AK, Walker JM. Cardio-Oncology A new subspecialty with collaboration at its heart. Vol. 69, Indian Heart Journal. Elsevier B.V.; 2017. p. 556–62.
- 132. Thavendiranathan P, Poulin F, Lim K-D, Carlos Plana J, Woo A, Marwick TH, et al. Use of Myocardial Strain Imaging by Echocardiography for the Early Detection of Cardiotoxicity in Patients During and After Cancer Chemotherapy A Systematic Review. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2014;63:2751–68.
- 133. Gottdiener JS, Mathisen DJ, Borer JS, Bonow RO, Myers CE, Barr LH, et al. Doxorubicin cardiotoxicity: Assessment of late left ventricular dysfunction by radionuclide cineangiography. Annals of Internal Medicine. 1981;94(4 I):430–5.
- 134. Bellenger NG, Burgess MI, Ray SG, Lahiri A, Coats AJS, Cleland JGF, et al. Comparison of left ventricular ejection fraction and volumes in heart failure by echocardiography, radionuclide ventriculography and cardiovascular magnetic resonance Are they interchangeable? European Heart Journal. 2000;21:1387–96.
- Armstrong GT, Plana JC, Zhang N, Srivastava D, Green DM, Ness KK, et al. Screening adult survivors of childhood cancer for cardiomyopathy: Comparison of echocardiography and cardiac magnetic resonance imaging. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2012;30(23):2876– 84.
- 136. Haaf P, Garg P, Messroghli DR, Broadbent DA, Greenwood JP, Plein S. Cardiac T1 Mapping and Extracellular Volume (ECV) in clinical practice: A comprehensive review. Journal of Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance. 2016;18(1):1–12.
- 137. Ferreira de Souza T, Quinaglia A.C. Silva T, Osorio Costa F, Shah R, Neilan TG, Velloso L, et al. Anthracycline Therapy Is Associated With Cardiomyocyte Atrophy and Preclinical Manifestations of Heart Disease. JACC: Cardiovascular Imaging. 2018;11(8):1045–55.
- 138. Coelho-Filho OR, Shah R V., Mitchell R, Neilan TG, Moreno H, Simonson B, et al. Quantification of cardiomyocyte hypertrophy by cardiac magnetic resonance: Implications for early cardiac remodeling. Circulation. 2013;128(11):1225–33.
- 139. Abdel-Gadir A, Vorasettakarnkij Y, Ngamkasem H, Nordin S, Ako EA, Tumkosit M, et al. Ultrafast magnetic resonance imaging for iron quantification in thalassemia participants in the developing world. Circulation. 2016;134:432–4.
- 140. Menacho K, Ramirez S, Segura P, Nordin S, Abdel-Gadir A, Illatopa V, et al. INCA (Peru) study: Impact of non-invasive cardiac magnetic resonance assessment in the developing world. Journal of the American Heart Association. 2018 Sep 1;7(17).
- Lipshultz SE, Rifai N, Sallan SE, Lipsitz SR, Dalton V, Sacks DB, et al. Predictive value of cardiac troponin T in pediatric patients at risk for myocardial injury. Circulation. 1997 Oct 21;96(8):2641–8.

- 142. Cardinale D, Sandri MT, Martinoni A, Tricca A, Civelli M, Lamantia G, et al. Left ventricular dysfunction predicted by early troponin I release after high-dose chemotherapy. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2000;
- 143. Cardinale D, Sandri MT, Martinoni A, Borghini E, Civelli M, Lamantia G, et al. Myocardial injury revealed by plasma troponin I in breast cancer treated with high-dose chemotherapy. Annals of Oncology. 2002;
- 144. Cardinale D, Sandri MT, Colombo A, Colombo N, Boeri M, Lamantia G, et al. Prognostic value of troponin I in cardiac risk stratification of cancer patients undergoing high-dose chemotherapy. Circulation. 2004;
- 145. Auner HW, Tinchon C, Linkesch W, Tiran A, Quehenberger F, Link H, et al. Prolonged monitoring of troponin T for the detection of anthracycline cardiotoxicity in adults with hematological malignancies. Annals of hematology. 2003 Apr;82(4):218–22.
- 146. Kilickap S, Barista I, Akgul E, Aytemir K, Aksoyek S, Aksoy S, et al. cTnT can be a useful marker for early detection of anthracycline cardiotoxicity. Annals of Oncology. 2005;
- 147. Cardinale Daniela D, Sandri MT. Role of biomarkers in chemotherapy-induced cardiotoxicity. Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases. 2010 Sep 1;53(2):121–9.
- 148. CCSS | CCSS Cardiovascular Risk Calculator [Internet]. [cited 2020 Jun 2]. Available from: https://ccss.stjude.org/tools-and-documents/calculators-and-other-tools/ccss-cardiovascularrisk-calculator.html
- 149. Chow EJ, Chen Y, Kremer LC, Breslow NE, Hudson MM, Armstrong GT, et al. Individual prediction of heart failure among childhood cancer survivors. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2015 Feb 10;33(5):394–402.
- 150. Abd El-Aziz MA, Othman AI, Amer M, El-Missiry MA. Potential protective role of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors captopril and enalapril against adriamycin-induced acute cardiac and hepatic toxicity in rats. Journal of Applied Toxicology. 2001;
- 151. Vaynblat M, Shah HR, Bhaskaran D, Ramdev G, Davis Iii WJ, Cunningham JN, et al. Simultaneous angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition moderates ventricular dysfunction caused by doxorubicin. European Journal of Heart Failure. 2002;
- 152. Hiona A, Lee AS, Nagendran J, Xie X, Connolly AJ, Robbins RC, et al. Pretreatment with angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor improves doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy via preservation of mitochondrial function. Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery. 2011;
- 153. Cernecka H, Ochodnicka-Mackovicova K, Kucerova D, Kmecova J, Nemcekova V, Doka G, et al. Enalaprilat increases PPARβ/δ expression, without influence on PPARα and PPARγ, and modulate cardiac function in sub-acute model of daunorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy. European Journal of Pharmacology. 2013;
- 154. Hullin R, Métrich M, Sarre A, Basquin D, Maillard M, Regamey J, et al. Diverging effects of enalapril or eplerenone in primary prevention against doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity. Cardiovascular Research. 2018;
- 155. Maeda A, Honda M, Kuramochi T, Tanaka K, Takabatake T. An angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor protects against doxorubicin-induced impairment of calcium handling in neonatal rat cardiac myocytes. Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology. 1997;
- 156. Ai-Shabanah O, Mansour M, Ei-Kashef H, A1-Bekairi A. CAPTOPRIL AMELIORATES MYOCARDIAL AND HEMATOLOGICAL TOXICITIES INDUCED BY ADRIAMYCIN. BIOCHEMISTRY ond MOLECULAR BIOLOGY INTERNATIONAL PQges. 1998;45(2):419–27.
- 157. Okumura K, Jin D, Takai S, Miyazaki M. Beneficial Effects of Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibition in Adriamycin-Induced Cardiomyopathy in Hamsters. Vol. 88, Jpn. J. Pharmacol. 2002.

- 158. Boucek RJ, Steele A, Miracle A, Atkinson J. Effects of Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibitor on Delayed-Onset Doxorubicin-Induced Cardiotoxicity. Vol. 3, Cardiovascular Toxicology Humana Press. 2003.
- 159. Akolkar G, Bhullar N, Bews H, Shaikh B, Premecz S, Bordun KA, et al. The role of renin angiotensin system antagonists in the prevention of doxorubicin and trastuzumab induced cardiotoxicity. Cardiovascular Ultrasound. 2015;13(1):1–10.
- 160. Richard C, Lauzier B, Delemasure S, Talbot S, Ghibu S, Collin B, et al. Effects of angiotensin-1 converting enzyme inhibition on oxidative stress and bradykinin receptor expression during doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy in rats. Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology. 2008;
- 161. Cardinale D, Colombo A, Sandri MT, Lamantia G, Colombo N, Civelli M, et al. Prevention of High-Dose Chemotherapy-Induced Cardiotoxicity in High-Risk Patients by Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibition. 2006;
- 162. Janbabai G, Nabati M, Faghihinia M, Azizi S, Borhani S, Yazdani J. Effect of Enalapril on Preventing Anthracycline-Induced Cardiomyopathy. Cardiovascular Toxicology. 2017;
- 163. Gupta V, Kumar Singh S, Agrawal V, Bali Singh T. Role of ACE inhibitors in anthracyclineinduced cardiotoxicity: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Pediatric Blood and Cancer. 2018;
- 164. Georgakopoulos P, Roussou P, Matsakas E, Karavidas A, Anagnostopoulos N, Marinakis T, et al. Cardioprotective effect of metoprolol and enalapril in doxorubicin-treated lymphoma patients: A prospective, parallel-group, randomized, controlled study with 36-month follow-up. American Journal of Hematology. 2010.
- 165. Cardinale D, Ciceri F, Latini R, Franzosi MG, Sandri MT, Civelli M, et al. Anthracyclineinduced cardiotoxicity: A multicenter randomised trial comparing two strategies for guiding prevention with enalapril: The International CardioOncology Society-one trial. European Journal of Cancer. 2018;
- 166. Bosch X, Rovira M, Sitges M, Domènech A, Ortiz-Pérez JT, De Caralt TM, et al. Enalapril and carvedilol for preventing chemotherapy-induced left ventricular systolic dysfunction in patients with malignant hemopathies: The OVERCOME trial (prevention of left ventricular dysfunction with enalapril and caRvedilol in patients submitted t. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2013;
- 167. Toko H, Oka T, Zou Y, Sakamoto M, Mizukami M, Sano M, et al. Angiotensin II type 1a receptor mediates doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy. Hypertension Research. 2002;25(4):597–603.
- 168. Iqbal M, Dubey K, Anwer T, Ashish A, Pillai KK. Protective effects of telmisartan against acute doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity in rats. Pharmacological Reports. 2008;
- 169. Arozal W, Watanabe K, Veeraveedu PT, Thandavarayan RA, Harima M, Sukumaran V, et al. Effect of telmisartan in limiting the cardiotoxic effect of daunorubicin in rats. Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology. 2010 Dec;62(12):1776–83.
- 170. Ibrahim MA, Ashour OM, Ibrahim YF, EL-Bitar HI, Gomaa W, Abdel-Rahim SR. Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition and angiotensin AT1-receptor antagonism equally improve doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity and nephrotoxicity. Pharmacological Research. 2009;
- 171. Zong WN, Yang XH, Chen XM, Huang HJ, Zheng HJ, Qin XY, et al. Regulation of angiotensin-(1-7) and angiotensin II type 1 receptor by telmisartan and losartan in adriamycin-induced rat heart failure. Acta Pharmacologica Sinica. 2011 Nov;32(11):1345– 50.
- 172. Hadi N, Yousif NG, Al-amran FG, Huntei NK, Mohammad BI, Ali SJ. Vitamin E and telmisartan attenuates doxorubicin induced cardiac injury in rat through down regulation of inflammatory response. BMC Cardiovascular Disorders. 2012 Aug 6;12.
- 173. Cadeddu C, Piras A, Mantovani G, Deidda M, Dessì M, Madeddu C, et al. Protective effects of the angiotensin II receptor blocker telmisartan on epirubicin-induced inflammation,

oxidative stress, and early ventricular impairment. American Heart Journal. 2010;160(3):487.e1-487.e7.

- 174. Dessi M, Madeddu C, Piras A, Cadeddu C, Antoni G, Mercuro G, et al. Long-term, up to 18 months, protective effects of the angiotensin II receptor blocker telmisartan on Epirubin-induced inflammation and oxidative stress assessed by serial strain rate. SpringerPlus. 2013;2(1):1–10.
- 175. Sakr HF, Abbas AM, Elsamanoudy AZ. Effect of valsartan on cardiac senescence and apoptosis in a rat model of cardiotoxicity. Canadian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology. 2015;
- 176. Chen L, Yan KP, Liu XC, Wang W, Li C, Li M, et al. Valsartan regulates TGF-β/Smads and TGF-β/p38 pathways through lncRNA CHRF to improve doxorubicin-induced heart failure. Archives of Pharmacal Research. 2018;
- 177. Nakamae H, Tsumura K, Terada Y, Nakane T, Nakamae M, Ohta K, et al. Notable effects of angiotensin II receptor blocker, valsartan, on acute cardiotoxic changes after standard chemotherapy with cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, and prednisolone. Cancer. 2005;(104):2492–8.
- 178. Soga M, Kamal FA, Watanabe K, Ma M, Palaniyandi S, Prakash P, et al. Effects of angiotensin II receptor blocker (candesartan) in daunorubicin-induced cardiomyopathic rats. International Journal of Cardiology. 2006 Jun 28;110(3):378–85.
- 179. Gulati G, Heck SL, Ree AH, Hoffmann P, Schulz-Menger J, Fagerland MW, et al. Prevention of cardiac dysfunction during adjuvant breast cancer therapy (PRADA): a 2 × 2 factorial, randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind clinical trial of candesartan and metoprolol. European heart journal. 2016;37(21):1671–80.
- 180. Gulati G, Heck SL, Røsjø H, Ree AH, Hoffmann P, Hagve TA, et al. Neurohormonal blockade and circulating cardiovascular biomarkers during anthracycline therapy in breast cancer patients: Results from the PRADA (Prevention of Cardiac Dysfunction During Adjuvant Breast Cancer Therapy) study. Journal of the American Heart Association. 2017 Nov 1;6(11).
- 181. Heck SL, Gulati G, Hoffmann P, von Knobelsdorff-Brenkenhoff F, Storås TH, Ree AH, et al. Effect of candesartan and metoprolol on myocardial tissue composition during anthracycline treatment: the PRADA trial. European heart journal cardiovascular Imaging. 2018 May;19(5):544–52.
- 182. Cheng J, Kamiya K, Kodama I. Carvedilol: Molecular and Cellular Basis for Its Multifaceted Therapeutic Potential. 2001.
- 183. Packer M, Bristow MR, Cohn JN, Colucci WS, Fowler MB, Gilbert EM, et al. The effect of carvedilol on morbidity and mortality in patients with chronic heart failure. New England Journal of Medicine. 1996 May 23;334(21):1349–55.
- 184. Packer M, Fowler MB, Roecker EB, Coats AJS, Katus HA, Krum H, et al. Effect of carvedilol on the morbidity of patients with severe chronic heart failure: Results of the carvedilol prospective randomized cumulative survival (COPERNICUS) study. Circulation. 2002;
- Weiss R, Ferry D, Pickering E, Smith LK, Dennish G, Krug-Gourley S, et al. Effectiveness of three different doses of Carvedilol for exertional angina. American Journal of Cardiology. 1998;
- 186. Matsui H, Morishima I, Numaguchi Y, Toki Y, Okumura K, Hayakawa T. Protective effects of carvedilol against doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy in rats. Life Sciences. 1999;
- Santos DL, Moreno AJM, Leino RL, Froberg MK, Wallace KB. Carvedilol protects against doxorubicin-induced mitochondrial cardiomyopathy. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology. 2002;185(3):218–27.
- 188. Oliveira PJ, Bjork JA, Santos MS, Leino RL, Froberg MK, Moreno AJ, et al. Carvedilolmediated antioxidant protection against doxorubicin-induced cardiac mitochondrial toxicity. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology. 2004;200(2):159–68.

- 189. Spallarossa P, Garibaldi S, Altieri P, Fabbi P, Manca V, Nasti S, et al. Carvedilol prevents doxorubicin-induced free radical release and apoptosis in cardiomyocytes in vitro. Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology. 2004;37(4):837–46.
- 190. Arozal W, Watanabe K, Veeraveedu PT, Ma M, Thandavarayan RA, Sukumaran V, et al. Protective effect of carvedilol on daunorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity and nephrotoxicity in rats. Toxicology. 2010;274(1–3):18–26.
- 191. Chen Y-L, Chung S-Y, Chai H-T, Chen C-H, Liu C-F, Chen Y-L, et al. Early Administration of Carvedilol Protected against Doxorubicin-Induced Cardiomyopathy. The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics. 2015;355(3):516–27.
- 192. Arozal W, Sari FR, Watanabe K, Arumugam S, Veeraveedu PT, Ma M, et al. Carvedilol-Afforded Protection against Daunorubicin-Induced Cardiomyopathic Rats In Vivo: Effects on Cardiac Fibrosis and Hypertrophy. ISRN pharmacology. 2011;2011:430549.
- 193. Kalay N, Basar E, Ozdogru I, Er O, Cetinkaya Y, Dogan A, et al. Protective Effects of Carvedilol Against Anthracycline-Induced Cardiomyopathy. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2006;48(11):2258–62.
- 194. Nabati M, Janbabai G, Baghyari S, Esmaili K, Yazdani J. Cardioprotective Effects of Carvedilol in Inhibiting Doxorubicin-induced Cardiotoxicity. Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology. 2017;69(5):279–85.
- 195. El-Shitany NA, Tolba OA, El-Shanshory MR, El-Hawary EE. Protective effect of carvedilol on adriamycin-induced left ventricular dysfunction in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Journal of Cardiac Failure. 2012;18(8):607–13.
- 196. Elitok A, Oz F, Ahmet Y, Kilic L, Ciftci R, Sen F, et al. Effect of carvedilol on silent anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity assessed by strain imaging: A prospective randomized controlled study with six-month follow-up. Cardiology Journal. 2014;21(5):509–15.
- 197. Tashakori Beheshti A, Mostafavi Toroghi H, Hosseini G, Zarifian A, Homaei Shandiz F, Fazlinezhad A. Carvedilol Administration Can Prevent Doxorubicin-Induced Cardiotoxicity: A Double-Blind Randomized Trial. Cardiology (Switzerland). 2016;134(1):47–53.
- 198. Avila MS, Ayub-Ferreira SM, de Barros Wanderley MR, das Dores Cruz F, Gonçalves Brandão SM, Rigaud VOC, et al. Carvedilol for Prevention of Chemotherapy-Related Cardiotoxicity: The CECCY Trial. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2018;
- 199. Sule SS, Frishman W. Nebivolol: New therapy update. Cardiology in Review. 2006.
- 200. De Groot AA, Mathy MJ, Van Zwieten PA, Peters SLM. Antioxidant Activity of Nebivolol in the Rat Aorta. Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology. 2004;
- 201. Marcus D. Flather, Marcelo C. Shibata, Andrew J.S. Coats , Dirk J. Van Veldhuisen, Aleksandr Parkhomenko, Joszef Borbola, et al. Randomized trial to determine the effect of nebivolol on mortality and cardiovascular hospital admission in elderly patients with heart failure (SENIORS). European Heart Journal. 2005;26(3):215–225.
- 202. de Nigris F, Rienzo M, Schiano C, Fiorito C, Casamassimi A, Napoli C. Prominent cardioprotective effects of third generation beta blocker nebivolol against anthracyclineinduced cardiotoxicity using the model of isolated perfused rat heart. European Journal of Cancer. 2008;
- Imbaby S, Ewais M, Essawy S, Farag N. Cardioprotective effects of curcumin and nebivolol against doxorubicin-induced cardiac toxicity in rats. Human and Experimental Toxicology. 2014;
- 204. Kaya MG, Ozkan M, Gunebakmaz O, Akkaya H, Kaya EG, Akpek M, et al. Protective effects of nebivolol against anthracycline-induced cardiomyopathy: A randomized control study. International Journal of Cardiology. 2013;
- 205. Cochera F, Dinca D, Bordejevic DA, Citu IM, Marioara A, Minodora M, et al. Nebivolol effect on doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity in breast cancer. Cancer Management and Research. 2018;(10):2071–81.

- 206. Fujita N, Hiroe M, Ohta Y, Horie T, Hosoda S. Chronic Effects of Metoprolol on Myocardial β-Adrenergic Receptors in Doxorubicin-Induced Cardiac Damage in Rats. Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology. 1991;17(4).
- 207. Fu LX, Bergh CH, Hoebeke J, Liang QM, Sjögren KG, Waagstein F, et al. Effect of metoprolol on activity of β-adrenoceptor coupled to guanine nucleotide binding regulatory proteins in adriamycin-induced cardiotoxicity. Basic Research in Cardiology. 1991;
- 208. Georgakopoulos P, Roussou P, Matsakas E, Karavidas A, Anagnostopoulos N, Marinakis T, et al. Cardioprotective effect of metoprolol and enalapril in doxorubicin-treated lymphoma patients: A prospective, parallel-group, randomized, controlled study with 36-month follow-up. American Journal of Hematology. 2010.
- 209. Liu G, Liu Y, Wang R, Hou T, Chen C, Zheng S, et al. Spironolactone Attenuates Doxorubicin-induced Cardiotoxicity in Rats. Cardiovascular Therapeutics. 2016 Aug 1;34(4):216–24.
- 210. Lother A, Bergemann S, Kowalski J, Huck M, Gilsbach R, Bode C, et al. Inhibition of the cardiac myocyte mineralocorticoid receptor ameliorates doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity. Cardiovascular research. 2018 Feb;114(2):282–90.
- 211. Akpek M, Ozdogru I, Sahin O, Inanc M, Dogan A, Yazici C, et al. Protective effects of spironolactone against anthracycline-induced cardiomyopathy. European Journal of Heart Failure. 2015 Jan 1;17(1):81–9.
- 212. Langer SW. Dexrazoxane for the treatment of chemotherapy-related side effects. Vol. 6, Cancer Management and Research. Dove Medical Press Ltd; 2014. p. 357–63.
- 213. Herman EH, Mhatre RM, Lee IP, Waravdekar VS. Prevention of the cardiotoxic effects of adriamycin and daunomycin in the isolated dog heart. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine (New York, NY). 1972 May;140(1):234–9.
- Herman EH, Ferrans VJ, Jordan W, Ardalan B. Reduction of Chronic Daunorubicin Cardiotoxicity by ICRF-187 in Rabbits. Res Commun Chem Pathol Pharmacol. 1981;31(1):85–97.
- 215. Speyer JL, Green MD, Kramer E, Rey M, Sanger J, Ward C, et al. Protective Effect of the Bispiperazinedione ICRF-187 against Doxorubicin-Induced Cardiac Toxicity in Women with Advanced Breast Cancer. New England Journal of Medicine. 1988 Sep 22;319(12):745–52.
- 216. Venturini M, Michelotti A, Del Mastro L, Gallo L, Carnino F, Garrone O, et al. Multicenter randomized controlled clinical trial to evaluate cardioprotection of dexrazoxane versus no cardioprotection in women receiving epirubicin chemotherapy for advanced breast cancer. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 1996;14(12):3112–20.
- 217. Wexler LH, Andrich MP, Venzon D, Berg SL, Weaver-McClure L, Chen CC, et al. Randomized trial of the cardioprotective agent ICRF-187 in pediatric sarcoma patients treated with doxorubicin. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 1996;14(2):362–72.
- 218. Swain SM, Whaley FS, Gerber MC, Ewer MS, Bianchine JR, Gams RA. Delayed administration of dexrazoxane provides cordiaprotection for patients with advanced breast cancer treated with doxorubicin-containing therapy. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 1997;15(4):1333–40.
- 219. Lipshultz SE, Rifai N, Dalton VM, Levy DE, Silverman LB, Lipsitz SR, et al. The effect of dexrazoxane on myocardial injury in doxorubicin-treated children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. New England Journal of Medicine. 2004 Jul 8;351(2):145–53.
- 220. Marty M, Espié M, Llombart A, Monnier A, Rapoport BL, Stahalova V. Multicenter randomized phase III study of the cardioprotective effect of dexrazoxane (Cardioxane®) in advanced/metastatic breast cancer patients treated with anthracycline-based chemotherapy. Annals of Oncology. 2006;17(4):614–22.
- 221. van Dalen EC, Caron HN, Dickinson HO, Kremer LCM. Cardioprotective interventions for cancer patients receiving anthracyclines. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2011;2011(6).

- Kalam K, Marwick TH. Role of cardioprotective therapy for prevention of cardiotoxicity with chemotherapy: A systematic review and meta-analysis. European Journal of Cancer. 2013;
- 223. Tebbi CK, London WB, Friedman D, Villaluna D, De Alarcon PA, Constine LS, et al. Dexrazoxane-associated risk for acute myeloid leukemia/myelodysplastic syndrome and other secondary malignancies in pediatric Hodgkin's disease. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2007 Feb 10;25(5):493–500.
- 224. European Medicines Agency. Assessment report Dexrazoxane-containing medicinal products. 2011.
- 225. EMA (European Medicines Agency). Cardioxane | European Medicines Agency [Internet].
 2017 [cited 2020 May 5]. Available from: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/medicines/human/referrals/cardioxane
- Reichardt P, Tabone MD, Mora J, Morland B, Jones RL. Risk-benefit of dexrazoxane for preventing anthracycline-related cardiotoxicity: Re-evaluating the European labeling. Vol. 14, Future Oncology. Future Medicine Ltd.; 2018. p. 2663–76.
- 227. Wouters KA, Kremer LCM, Miller TL, Herman EH, Lipshultz SE. Protecting against anthracycline-induced myocardial damage: a review of the most promising strategies. British journal of haematology [Internet]. 2005 Dec [cited 2021 Dec 7];131(5):561–78. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16351632/
- 228. Legha SS, Benjamin RS, Mackay B, Ewer M, Wallace S, Valdivieso M, et al. Reduction of doxorubicin cardiotoxicity by prolonged continuous intravenous infusion. Annals of internal medicine [Internet]. 1982 [cited 2021 Dec 7];96(2):133–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/7059060/
- 229. Perez DJ, Harvey VJ, Robinson BA, Atkinson CH, Dady PJ, Kirk AR, et al. A randomized comparison of single-agent doxorubicin and epirubicin as first-line cytotoxic therapy in advanced breast cancer. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology [Internet]. 1991 [cited 2021 Dec 7];9(12):2148–52. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/1960557/
- Safra T. Cardiac Safety of Liposomal Anthracyclines. The Oncologist. 2003 Aug;8(S2):17– 24.
- 231. Yellon DM, Hausenloy DJ. Myocardial Reperfusion Injury. New England Journal of Medicine [Internet]. 2007 Sep 13 [cited 2020 Jul 2];357(11):1121–35. Available from: http://www.nejm.org/doi/abs/10.1056/NEJMra071667
- 232. JENNINGS RB, SOMMERS HM, SMYTH GA, FLACK HA, LINN H. Myocardial necrosis induced by temporary occlusion of a coronary artery in the dog. Archives of pathology. 1960 Jul;70:68–78.
- 233. Braunwald E, Kloner RA. Myocardial reperfusion: A double-edged sword? Journal of Clinical Investigation. 1985;76(5):1713–9.
- 234. Hausenloy D. Cardioprotection Techniques: Preconditioning, Postconditioning and Remote Con-ditioning (Basic Science). Current Pharmaceutical Design [Internet]. 2013 Jun 26 [cited 2020 Jul 6];19(25):4544–63. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23270554/
- 235. Szummer K, Wallentin L, Lindhagen L, Alfredsson J, Erlinge D, Held C, et al. Improved outcomes in patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction during the last 20 years are related to implementation of evidence-based treatments: Experiences from the SWEDEHEART registry 1995-2014. European Heart Journal. 2017;38(41):3056–65.
- 236. Murry CE, Jennings RB, Reimer KA. Preconditioning with ischemia: a delay of lethal cell injury in ischemic myocardium. Circulation. 1986 Nov;74(5):1124–36.
- 237. Marber MS, Joy MD, Yellon DM. Is warm-up in angina ischaemic preconditioning? Vol. 72, Heart. BMJ Publishing Group; 1994. p. 213–5.
- 238. Ottani F, Galvani M, Ferrini D, Sorbello F, Limonetti P, Pantoli D, et al. Prodromal Angina Limits Infarct Size. Circulation. 1995 Jan 15;91(2):291–7.
- 239. Walsh SR, Tang TY, Kullar P, Jenkins DP, Dutka DP, Gaunt ME. Ischaemic preconditioning during cardiac surgery: systematic review and meta-analysis of perioperative outcomes in randomised clinical trials. European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery. 2008 Nov 1;34(5):985–94.
- 240. Hausenloy DJ, Yellon DM. Ischaemic conditioning and reperfusion injury. Vol. 13, Nature Reviews Cardiology. Nature Publishing Group; 2016. p. 193–209.
- 241. Zhao ZQ, Corvera JS, Halkos ME, Kerendi F, Wang NP, Guyton RA, et al. Inhibition of myocardial injury by ischemic postconditioning during reperfusion: Comparison with ischemic preconditioning. American Journal of Physiology Heart and Circulatory Physiology. 2003 Aug 1;285(2 54-2).
- 242. Staat P, Rioufol G, Piot C, Cottin Y, Thien ;, Cung T, et al. Postconditioning the Human Heart. 2005;
- 243. Hahn J-Y, Song Y Bin, Kim EK, Yu CW, Bae J-W, Chung W-Y, et al. Ischemic Postconditioning During Primary Percutaneous Coronary Intervention. Circulation. 2013 Oct 22;128(17):1889–96.
- 244. Przyklenk K, Bauer B, Ovize M, Kloner RA, Whittaker P. Regional ischemic "preconditioning" protects remote virgin myocardium from subsequent sustained coronary occlusion. Circulation. 1993 Mar;87(3):893–9.
- 245. Gho BCG, Schoemaker RG, van den Doel MA, Duncker DJ, Verdouw PD. Myocardial Protection by Brief Ischemia in Noncardiac Tissue. Circulation. 1996 Nov 1;94(9):2193–200.
- 246. Kharbanda RK, Mortensen UM, White PA, Kristiansen SB, Schmidt MR, Hoschtitzky JA, et al. Transient Limb Ischemia Induces Remote Ischemic Preconditioning In Vivo. Circulation. 2002 Dec 3;106(23):2881–3.
- 247. Bøtker HE, Kharbanda R, Schmidt MR, Bøttcher M, Kaltoft AK, Terkelsen CJ, et al. Remote ischaemic conditioning before hospital admission, as a complement to angioplasty, and effect on myocardial salvage in patients with acute myocardial infarction: a randomised trial. The Lancet. 2010 Feb 27;375(9716):727–34.
- 248. White SK, Frohlich GM, Sado DM, Maestrini V, Fontana M, Treibel TA, et al. Remote ischemic conditioning reduces myocardial infarct size and edema in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. JACC: Cardiovascular Interventions. 2015 Jan 1;8(1):178–88.
- 249. Yellon DM, Ackbarkhan AK, Balgobin V, Bulluck H, Deelchand A, Dhuny MR, et al. Remote ischemic conditioning reduces myocardial infarct size in STEMI patients treated by thrombolysis. Vol. 65, Journal of the American College of Cardiology. Elsevier USA; 2015. p. 2764–5.
- 250. Crimi G, Pica S, Raineri C, Bramucci E, De Ferrari GM, Klersy C, et al. Remote Ischemic Post-Conditioning of the Lower Limb During Primary Percutaneous Coronary Intervention Safely Reduces Enzymatic Infarct Size in Anterior Myocardial Infarction A Randomized Controlled Trial. Vol. 6, JACC: Cardiovascular Interventions. 2013.
- 251. Sloth AD, Schmidt MR, Munk K, Kharbanda RK, Redington AN, Schmidt M, et al. Improved long-term clinical outcomes in patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction undergoing remote ischaemic conditioning as an adjunct to primary percutaneous coronary intervention. European Heart Journal. 2014 Jan 14;35(3):168–75.
- 252. Eitel I, Stiermaier T, Rommel KP, Fuernau G, Sandri M, Mangner N, et al. Cardioprotection by combined intrahospital remote ischaemic perconditioning and postconditioning in ST-elevation myocardial infarction: The randomized LIPSIA CONDITIONING trial. European Heart Journal. 2015;36(44):3049–57.
- 253. Gaspar A, Lourenço AP, Pereira MÁ, Azevedo P, Roncon-Albuquerque R, Marques J, et al. Randomized controlled trial of remote ischaemic conditioning in ST-elevation myocardial infarction as adjuvant to primary angioplasty (RIC-STEMI). Basic Research in Cardiology. 2018 May 1;113(3).

- 254. Hausenloy DJ, Kharbanda RK, Møller UK, Ramlall M, Aarøe J, Butler R, et al. Effect of remote ischaemic conditioning on clinical outcomes in patients with acute myocardial infarction (CONDI-2/ERIC-PPCI): a single-blind randomised controlled trial. The Lancet. 2019 Oct 19;394(10207):1415–24.
- 255. Vanezis AP. The broken promise of remote ischaemic conditioning. Vol. 394, The Lancet. Lancet Publishing Group; 2019. p. 1389–90.
- 256. Hausenloy DJ, Ntsekhe M, Yellon DM. A future for remote ischaemic conditioning in highrisk patients. Basic Research in Cardiology. 2020;115(3):1–4.
- 257. Yellon DM, Downey JM. Preconditioning the myocardium: From cellular physiology to clinical cardiology [Internet]. Vol. 83, Physiological Reviews. American Physiological Society; 2003 [cited 2020 Jul 7]. p. 1113–51. Available from: www.prv.org
- 258. Heusch G. Molecular basis of cardioprotection signal transduction in ischemic pre-, post-, and remote conditioning [Internet]. Vol. 116, Circulation Research. Lippincott Williams and Wilkins; 2015 [cited 2020 Jul 7]. p. 674–99. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25677517/
- 259. Liu GS, Thornton J, Van Winkle DM, Stanley AWH, Olsson RA, Downey JM. Protection against infarction afforded by preconditioning is mediated by A1 adenosine receptors in rabbit heart. Circulation. 1991;84(1):350–6.
- Goto M, Liu Y, Yang XM, Ardell JL, Cohen M V., Downey JM. Role of bradykinin in protection of ischemic preconditioning in rabbit hearts. Circulation Research. 1995;77(3):611–21.
- 261. Schultz JEJ, Rose E, Yao Z, Gross GJ. Evidence for involvement of opioid receptors in ischemic preconditioning in rat hearts. American Journal of Physiology Heart and Circulatory Physiology. 1995;268(5 37-5).
- 262. Yao Z, Gross GJ. Acetylcholine mimics ischemic preconditioning via a glibenclamidesensitive mechanism in dogs. American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology. 1993;264(6 33-6).
- 263. Wang P, Gallagher KP, Downey JM, Cohen M V. Pretreatment with endothelin-1 mimics ischemic preconditioning against infarction in isolation rabbit heart. Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology. 1996;28(3):579–88.
- 264. Burley DS, Ferdinandy P, Baxter GF. Cyclic GMP and protein kinase-G in myocardial ischaemia-reperfusion: Opportunities and obstacles for survival signaling. Vol. 152, British Journal of Pharmacology. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2007. p. 855–69.
- 265. Hausenloy DJ, Yellon DM. Reperfusion injury salvage kinase signalling: Taking a RISK for cardioprotection. Heart Failure Reviews. 2007 Dec;12(3–4):217–34.
- Lecour S. Multiple protective pathways against reperfusion injury: A SAFE path without Aktion? Vol. 46, Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology. Academic Press; 2009. p. 607–9.
- 267. Dickson EW, Reinhardt CP, Renzi FP, Becker RC, Porcaro WA, Heard SO. Ischemic preconditioning may be transferable via whole blood transfusion: Preliminary evidence. Journal of Thrombosis and Thrombolysis. 1999;8(2):123–9.
- 268. Chung R, Maulik A, Hamarneh A, Hochhauser D, Hausenloy DJ, Walker JM, et al. Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning in Oncology Patients Undergoing Chemotherapy: Rationale and Design of the ERIC-ONC Study - A Single-Center, Blinded, Randomized Controlled Trial. Clinical Cardiology. 2016;39(2):72–82.
- 269. Sandhu H, Maddock H. Molecular basis of cancer-therapy-induced cardiotoxicity: Introducing microRNA biomarkers for early assessment of subclinical myocardial injury. Vol. 126, Clinical Science. 2014. p. 377–400.
- 270. Fan GC, Ren X, Qian J, Yuan Q, Nicolaou P, Wang Y, et al. Novel cardioprotective role of a small heat-shock protein, Hsp20, against ischemia/reperfusion injury. Circulation. 2005 Apr 12;111(14):1792–9.

- 271. Fan GC, Zhou X, Wang X, Song G, Qian J, Nicolaou P, et al. Heat shock protein 20 interacting with phosphorylated akt reduces doxorubicin-triggered oxidative stress and cardiotoxicity. Circulation Research. 2008 Nov 21;103(11):1270–9.
- 272. Lou H, Danelisen I, Singal PK. Involvement of mitogen-activated protein kinases in adriamycin-induced cardiomyopathy. American Journal of Physiology Heart and Circulatory Physiology. 2005 Apr;288(4 57-4).
- 273. Gharanei M, Hussain A, Janneh O, Maddock HL. Doxorubicin induced myocardial injury is exacerbated following ischaemic stress via opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology. 2013;268:149–56.
- 274. Gharanei M, Hussain A, Janneh O, Maddock H. Attenuation of Doxorubicin-Induced Cardiotoxicity by mdivi-1: A Mitochondrial Division/Mitophagy Inhibitor. Mukhopadhyay P, editor. PLoS ONE. 2013 Oct 17;8(10):e77713.
- 275. Dixon SJ, Lemberg KM, Lamprecht MR, Skouta R, Zaitsev EM, Gleason CE, et al. Ferroptosis: An iron-dependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. Cell. 2012 May 25;149(5):1060–72.
- 276. Stockwell BR, Friedmann Angeli JP, Bayir H, Bush AI, Conrad M, Dixon SJ, et al. Ferroptosis: A Regulated Cell Death Nexus Linking Metabolism, Redox Biology, and Disease. Vol. 171, Cell. Cell Press; 2017. p. 273–85.
- 277. Fang X, Wang H, Han D, Xie E, Yang X, Wei J, et al. Ferroptosis as a target for protection against cardiomyopathy. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2019 Feb 12;116(7):2672–80.
- Schjøtt J, Olsen H, Berg K, Jynge P. Pretreatment with ischaemia attenuates acute epirubicininduced cardiotoxicity in isolated rat hearts. Pharmacology and Toxicology. 1996;78(6):381– 6.
- 279. Maulik A, Davidson SM, Piotrowska I, Walker M, Yellon DM. Ischaemic Preconditioning Protects Cardiomyocytes from Anthracycline-Induced Toxicity via the PI3K Pathway. Cardiovascular Drugs and Therapy. 2018 Jun 1;32(3):245–53.
- 280. Gertz ZM, Cain C, Kraskauskas D, Devarakonda T, Mauro AG, Thompson J, et al. Remote Ischemic Pre-Conditioning Attenuates Adverse Cardiac Remodeling and Mortality Following Doxorubicin Administration in Mice. JACC: CardioOncology. 2019 Dec 1;1(2):221–34.
- He Q, Wang F, Ryan TD, Chalasani M, Redington AN. Repeated Remote Ischemic Conditioning Reduces Doxorubicin-Induced Cardiotoxicity. JACC: CardioOncology. 2020 Mar;2(1):41–52.
- 282. Galán-Arriola C, Villena-Gutiérrez R, Higuero-Verdejo MI, Díaz-Rengifo IA, Pizarro G, López GJ, et al. Remote Ischemic Preconditioning Ameliorates Anthracycline-induced Cardiotoxicity and Preserves Mitochondrial Integrity. Cardiovascular Research. 2020 Jun 29;
- 283. Bell RM, Rear R, Cunningham J, Dawnay A, Yellon DM. Effect of remote ischaemic conditioning on contrast-induced nephropathy in patients undergoing elective coronary angiography (ERICCIN): Rationale and study design of a randomised single-centre, double-blind placebo-controlled trial. Clinical Research in Cardiology. 2014;103(3):203–9.
- 284. UCLH. UCLH MANDATORY VENEPUNCTURE, PERIPHERAL INTRAVENOUS CANNULATION and BLOOD CULTURE SAMPLING OPEN LEARNING TOOL. 2011.
- 285. Apple FS, Sandoval Y, Jaffe AS, Ordonez-Llanos J. Cardiac troponin assays: Guide to understanding analytical characteristics and their impact on clinical care. Vol. 63, Clinical Chemistry. American Association for Clinical Chemistry Inc.; 2017. p. 73–81.
- 286. Marjot J, Liebetrau C, Goodson RJ, Kaier T, Weber E, Heseltine P, et al. The development and application of a high-sensitivity immunoassay for cardiac myosin-binding protein C. Translational Research. 2016;
- 287. Kaier TE, Twerenbold R, Puelacher C, Marjot J, Imambaccus N, Boeddinghaus J, et al. Direct Comparison of Cardiac Myosin-Binding Protein C with Cardiac Troponins for the Early Diagnosis of Acute Myocardial Infarction. Circulation. 2017;

- 288. Zio Service for detecting cardiac arrhythmias Medtech innovation briefing. 2017.
- 289. Arnar DO, Mairesse GH, Boriani G, Calkins H, Chin A, Coats A, et al. Management of asymptomatic arrhythmias: a European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA) consensus document, endorsed by the Heart Failure Association (HFA), Heart Rhythm Society (HRS), Asia Pacific Heart Rhythm Society (APHRS), Cardiac Arrhythmia Society of Southern Africa (CASSA), and Latin America Heart Rhythm Society (LAHRS). EP Europace. 2019 Mar 18;7:37.
- 290. Armenian SH, Xu L, Ky B, Sun C, Farol LT, Pal SK, et al. Cardiovascular disease among survivors of adult-onset cancer: A community-based retrospective cohort study. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2016 Apr 1;34(10):1122–30.
- 291. NICE. Cardiovascular disease: risk assessment and reduction, including lipid modification. National Institute for Health Care Excellence. 2016;CG181(July):1–38.
- 292. Hippisley-Cox J, Coupland C, Brindle P. Development and validation of QRISK3 risk prediction algorithms to estimate future risk of cardiovascular disease: Prospective cohort study. BMJ (Online). 2017;357(May):1–21.
- 293. Piepoli MF, Hoes AW, Agewall S, Albus C, Brotons C, Catapano AL, et al. 2016 European Guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice. Vol. 37, European Heart Journal. Oxford University Press; 2016. p. 2315–81.
- 294. Offer G, Moos C, Starr R. A new protein of the thick filaments of vertebrate skeletal myofibrils. Extraction, purification and characterization. Journal of Molecular Biology. 1973;
- 295. Luther PK, Bennett PM, Knupp C, Craig R, Padrón R, Harris SP, et al. Understanding the Organisation and Role of Myosin Binding Protein C in Normal Striated Muscle by Comparison with MyBP-C Knockout Cardiac Muscle. Journal of Molecular Biology. 2008;
- 296. Rosas PC, Liu Y, Abdalla MI, Thomas CM, Kidwell DT, Dusio GF, et al. Phosphorylation of Cardiac Myosin-Binding Protein-C Is a Critical Mediator of Diastolic Function. Circulation: Heart Failure. 2015 May 4;8(3):582–94.
- 297. Tong CW, Wu X, Liu Y, Rosas PC, Sadayappan S, Hudmon A, et al. Phosphoregulation of Cardiac Inotropy via Myosin Binding Protein-C during Increased Pacing Frequency or β1-Adrenergic Stimulation. Circulation: Heart Failure. 2015 May 4;8(3):595–604.
- 298. Sadayappan S, Osinska H, Klevitsky R, Lorenz JN, Sargent M, Molkentin JD, et al. Cardiac myosin binding protein c phosphorylation is cardioprotective. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2006 Nov 7;103(45):16918–23.
- Carrier L, Mearini G, Stathopoulou K, Cuello F. Cardiac myosin-binding protein C (MYBPC3) in cardiac pathophysiology. Gene. 2015;573:188–97.
- 300. Behrens-Gawlik V, Mearini G, Gedicke-Hornung C, Richard P, Carrier L. MYBPC3 in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: From mutation identification to RNA-based correction. Pflugers Archiv European Journal of Physiology. 2014;466:215–23.
- 301. Fougerousse F, Delezoide A, Fiszman MY, Schwartz K, Beckmann JS, Carrier L. Cardiac Myosin Binding Protein C Is Specifically Expressed in Heart During Murine and Human Development. Circulation Research. 1998;82:130–3.
- 302. Jacquet S, Yin X, Sicard P, Clark J, Kanaganayagam GS, Mayr M, et al. Identification of Cardiac Myosin-binding Protein C as a Candidate Biomarker of Myocardial Infarction by Proteomics Analysis. Molecular & Cellular Proteomics. 2009;
- 303. Govindan S, McElligott A, Muthusamy S, Nair N, Barefield D, Martin JL, et al. Cardiac myosin binding protein-C is a potential diagnostic biomarker for myocardial infarction. Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology. 2012;52:154–64.
- 304. Govindan S, Kuster DW, Lin B, Kahn DJ, Jeske WP, Walenga JM, et al. Increase in cardiac myosin binding protein-C plasma levels is a sensitive and cardiac-specific biomarker of myocardial infarction. American journal of cardiovascular disease. 2013;3(2):60–70.
- 305. Kuster DWD, Cardenas-Ospina A, Miller L, Liebetrau C, Troidl C, Nef HM, et al. Release kinetics of circulating cardiac myosin binding protein-C following cardiac injury. AJP: Heart and Circulatory Physiology. 2014;

- Baker JO, Tyther R, Liebetrau C, Clark J, Howarth R, Patterson T, et al. Cardiac myosinbinding protein C: a potential early biomarker of myocardial injury. Basic Research in Cardiology. 2015;
- 307. Anand A, Chin C, Shah ASV, Kwiecinski J, Vesey A, Cowell J, et al. Cardiac myosinbinding protein C is a novel marker of myocardial injury and fibrosis in aortic stenosis. Heart. 2018;
- 308. El Amrousy D, Hodeib H, Suliman G, Hablas N, Salama ER, Esam A. Diagnostic and Prognostic Value of Plasma Levels of Cardiac Myosin Binding Protein-C as a Novel Biomarker in Heart Failure. Pediatric Cardiology. 2017;
- 309. Thavendiranathan P, Wintersperger BJ, Flamm SD, Marwick TH. Cardiac MRI in the assessment of cardiac injury and toxicity from cancer chemotherapy a systematic review. Circulation: Cardiovascular Imaging. 2013.
- 310. Chuang ML, Hibberd MG, Salton CJ, Beaudin RA, Riley MF, Parker RA, et al. Importance of imaging method over imaging modality in noninvasive determination of left ventricular volumes and ejection fraction: Assessment by two- and three-dimensional echocardiography and magnetic resonance imaging. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2000;
- 311. Oreto L, Todaro MC, Umland MM, Kramer C, Qamar R, Carerj S, et al. Use of echocardiography to evaluate the cardiac effects of therapies used in cancer treatment: What do we know? Journal of the American Society of Echocardiography. 2012;
- Stoodley PW, Richards DAB, Hui R, Boyd A, Harnett PR, Meikle SR, et al. Twodimensional myocardial strain imaging detects changes in left ventricular systolic function immediately after anthracycline chemotherapy. European Journal of Echocardiography. 2011;
- 313. Mallouppas M, Chong JH, Ghosh AK, Crake T, Westwood M, Moon JC, et al. The Utility of Cardiac MRI (CMR) in a Tertiary Cardio-Oncology Centre. In: Global Cardio-Oncology Summit 2019, Sao Paolo, Brazil. 2019.
- 314. Kilickap S, Barista I, Akgul E, Aytemir K, Aksoy S, Tekuzman G. Early and late arrhythmogenic effects of doxorubicin. Southern Medical Journal. 2007 Mar;100(3):262–5.
- 315. Friess GG, Boyd JF, Geer MR, Garcia JC. Effects of first-dose doxorubicin on cardiac rhythm as evaluated by continuous 24-hour monitoring. Cancer. 1985;56(12):2762–4.
- Thygesen K, Alpert JS, Jaffe AS, Chaitman BR, Bax JJ, Morrow DA, et al. Fourth universal definition of myocardial infarction (2018). European Heart Journal. 2019 Jan 14;40(3):237–69.
- 317. Elecsys® Troponin T high sensitive [Internet]. [cited 2020 Aug 28]. Available from: https://diagnostics.roche.com/global/en/products/params/elecsys-troponin-t-high-sensitivetnt-hs.html
- 318. Moher D, Schulz KF, Altman DG, Lepage L. The CONSORT statement: Revised recommendations for improving the quality of reports of parallel-group randomized trials. Annals of Internal Medicine. 2001 Apr 17;134(8):657–62.
- Moher D, Schulz KF, Altman D. The CONSORT statement: Revised recommendations for improving the quality of reports of parallel-group randomized trials. Journal of the American Medical Association. 2001 Apr 18;285(15):1987–91.
- 320. Moher D, Schulz KF, Altman DG. The CONSORT statement: revised recommendations for improving the quality of reports of parallel-group randomised trials. Lancet (London, England). 2001 Apr 14;357(9263):1191–4.
- 321. CONSORT. Consort The CONSORT Flow Diagram [Internet]. [cited 2020 Jul 16]. Available from: http://www.consort-statement.org/consort-statement/flow-diagram
- 322. Harkness A, Ring L, Augustine DX, Oxborough D, Robinson S, Sharma V. Normal reference intervals for cardiac dimensions and function for use in echocardiographic practice: A guideline from the British Society of Echocardiography. Echo Research and Practice. 2020;7(1):G1–18.

- 323. Matthew T, Steeds R, Jones R, Kanagala P, Lloyd G, Knight D, et al. A Guideline Protocol for the Echocardiographic assessment of Diastolic Dysfunction. 2013.
- 324. Plana JC, Galderisi M, Barac A, Ewer MS, Ky B, Scherrer-Crosbie M, et al. Expert consensus for multimodality imaging evaluation of adult patients during and after cancer therapy: A report from the American society of echocardiography and the European association of cardiovascular imaging. Journal of the American Society of Echocardiography. 2014;27(9):911–39.
- 325. Mor-Avi V, Sugeng L, Weinert L, MacEneaney P, Caiani EG, Koch R, et al. Fast measurement of left ventricular mass with real-time three-dimensional echocardiography: Comparison with magnetic resonance imaging. Circulation. 2004 Sep 28;110(13):1814–8.
- 326. Yeung TK, Simmonds RH, Hopewell JW. The relative toxicity of intravenous and intraperitoneal doses of epirubicin. Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology. 1989 Oct;24(4):211–8.
- Johansen PB. Doxorubicin pharmacokinetics after intravenous and intraperitoneal administration in the nude mouse. Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology. 1981;5(4):267– 70.
- 328. De Bree E, Michelakis D, Stamatiou D, Romanos J, Zoras O. Pharmacological principles of intraperitoneal and bidirectional chemotherapy. Vol. 2, Pleura and Peritoneum. Nihon Funin Gakukai; 2017. p. 47–62.
- 329. Van Vleet JF, Greenwood LA, Ferrans VJ. Pathologic features of adriamycin toxicosis in young pigs: nonskeletal lesions. American Journal of Veterinary Research. 1979;40(11):1537–52.
- 330. Christiansen S, Perez-Bouza A, Schälte G, Hilgers RD, Autschbach R. Selective Left Ventricular Adriamycin-Induced Cardiomyopathy in the Pig. Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation. 2008 Jan;27(1):86–92.
- 331. van Dalen EC, van der Pal HJH, Caron HN, Kremer LCM. Different dosage schedules for reducing cardiotoxicity in cancer patients receiving anthracycline chemotherapy. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2009;(4).
- 332. Zalupski M, Metch B, Balcerzak S, Fletcher WS, Chapman R, Bonnet JD, et al. Phase III comparison of doxorubicin and dacarbazine given by bolus versus infusion in patients with soft-tissue sarcomas: a Southwest Oncology Group study. Journal of the National Cancer Institute [Internet]. 1991 Jul 3 [cited 2021 Dec 8];83(13):926–32. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/2067035/
- 333. ESC Congress 2019 [Internet]. [cited 2020 Sep 29]. Available from: https://www.escardio.org/Congresses-&-Events/ESC-TV/esc-congress-2019
- 334. Rentoukas I, Giannopoulos G, Kaoukis A, Kossyvakis C, Raisakis K, Driva M, et al. Cardioprotective Role of Remote Ischemic Periconditioning in Primary Percutaneous Coronary Intervention. Enhancement by Opioid Action. JACC: Cardiovascular Interventions. 2010 Jan;3(1):49–55.
- 335. Yellon DM, Ackbarkhan AK, Balgobin V, Bulluck H, Deelchand A, Dhuny MR, et al. Remote ischemic conditioning reduces myocardial infarct size in STEMI patients treated by thrombolysis. Vol. 65, Journal of the American College of Cardiology. Elsevier USA; 2015. p. 2764–5.
- 336. White SK, Frohlich GM, Sado DM, Maestrini V, Fontana M, Treibel TA, et al. Remote ischemic conditioning reduces myocardial infarct size and edema in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. JACC: Cardiovascular Interventions. 2015 Jan 1;8(1):178–88.
- 337. Verouhis D, Sörensson P, Gourine A, Henareh L, Persson J, Saleh N, et al. Effect of remote ischemic conditioning on infarct size in patients with anterior ST-elevation myocardial infarction. American Heart Journal. 2016 Nov 1;181:66–73.
- 338. Ferdinandy P, Hausenloy DJ, Heusch G, Baxter GF, Schulz R. Interaction of Risk Factors, Comorbidities, and Comedications with Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury and Cardioprotection

by Preconditioning, Postconditioning, and Remote Conditioning. PHARMACOLOGICAL REVIEWS Pharmacol Rev. 2014;66:1142–74.

- 339. Randhawa PK, Singh Jaggi A. Opioids in Remote Ischemic Preconditioning-Induced Cardioprotection.
- 340. Rentoukas I, Giannopoulos G, Kaoukis A, Kossyvakis C, Raisakis K, Driva M, et al. Cardioprotective Role of Remote Ischemic Periconditioning in Primary Percutaneous Coronary Intervention Enhancement by Opioid Action. Vol. 3, JCIN. 2010.
- 341. Munk K, Andersen NH, Schmidt MR, Nielsen SS, Terkelsen CJ, Sloth E, et al. Remote Ischemic Conditioning in Patients With Myocardial Infarction Treated With Primary Angioplasty. Circulation: Cardiovascular Imaging. 2010 Nov;3(6):656–62.
- 342. Thibault H, Piot C, Staat P, Bontemps L, Sportouch C, Rioufol G, et al. Long-term benefit of postconditioning. Circulation. 2008 Feb 26;117(8):1037–44.
- 343. Cardinale D, Colombo A, Sandri MT, Lamantia G, Colombo N, Civelli M, et al. Prevention of high-dose chemotherapy-induced cardiotoxicity in high-risk patients by angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition. Circulation. 2006;114(23):2474–81.
- 344. Narayan HK, Finkelman B, French B, Plappert T, Hyman D, Smith AM, et al. Detailed Echocardiographic Phenotyping in Breast Cancer Patients: Associations with Ejection Fraction Decline, Recovery, and Heart Failure Symptoms over 3 Years of Follow-Up. Circulation. 2017 Apr 11;135(15):1397–412.
- 345. Demissei BG, Finkelman BS, Hubbard RA, Smith AM, Narayan HK, Narayan V, et al. Cardiovascular Function Phenotypes in Response to Cardiotoxic Breast Cancer Therapy. Vol. 73, Journal of the American College of Cardiology. Elsevier USA; 2019. p. 248–9.
- 346. Cardinale D, Colombo A, Bacchiani G, Tedeschi I, Meroni CA, Veglia F, et al. Early detection of anthracycline cardiotoxicity and improvement with heart failure therapy. Circulation. 2015 Jun 2;131(22):1981–8.
- 347. Farsalinos KE, Daraban AM, Ünlü S, Thomas JD, Badano LP, Voigt JU. Head-to-Head Comparison of Global Longitudinal Strain Measurements among Nine Different Vendors: The EACVI/ASE Inter-Vendor Comparison Study. Journal of the American Society of Echocardiography. 2015 Oct 1;28(10):1171-1181.e2.
- 348. Karlsen S, Dahlslett T, Grenne B, Sjøli B, Smiseth O, Edvardsen T, et al. Global longitudinal strain is a more reproducible measure of left ventricular function than ejection fraction regardless of echocardiographic training. Cardiovascular Ultrasound. 2019 Sep 2;17(1):18.
- 349. Kim YH, Yoon DW, Kim JH, Lee JH, Lim CH. Effect of remote ischemic post-conditioning on systemic inflammatory response and survival rate in lipopolysaccharide-induced systemic inflammation model. Journal of Inflammation (United Kingdom). 2014 May 21;11(1):16.
- 350. Joseph B, Khalil M, Hashmi A, Hecker L, Kulvatunyou N, Tang A, et al. Survival benefits of remote ischemic conditioning in sepsis. Journal of Surgical Research. 2017 Jun 1;213:131–7.
- 351. Honda T, He Q, Wang F, Redington AN. Acute and chronic remote ischemic conditioning attenuate septic cardiomyopathy, improve cardiac output, protect systemic organs, and improve mortality in a lipopolysaccharide-induced sepsis model. Basic Research in Cardiology. 2019 May 1;114(3).
- 352. Orbegozo Cortés D, Su F, Santacruz C, Hosokawa K, Donadello K, Creteur J, et al. ISCHEMIC CONDITIONING PROTECTS THE MICROCIRCULATION, PRESERVES ORGAN FUNCTION, AND PROLONGS SURVIVAL IN SEPSIS. Shock. 2016 Apr 23;45(4):419–27.
- 353. Judson I, Verweij J, Gelderblom H, Hartmann JT, Schöffski P, Blay JY, et al. Doxorubicin alone versus intensified doxorubicin plus ifosfamide for first-line treatment of advanced or metastatic soft-tissue sarcoma: A randomised controlled phase 3 trial. The Lancet Oncology [Internet]. 2014 Apr 1 [cited 2021 Dec 8];15(4):415–23. Available from: http://www.thelancet.com/article/S1470204514700634/fulltext

- 354. Speyer JL, Green MD, Zeleniuch-Jacquotte A, Wernz JC, Rey M, Sanger J, et al. ICRF-187 permits longer treatment with doxorubicin in women with breast cancer. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 1992;10(1):117–27.
- 355. Mallouppas M, Walker JM, Guha A, Dobson R, Ghosh AK. Cardio-oncology for the general physician: 'old' and 'new' cardiovascular toxicities and how to manage them. British Journal of Hospital Medicine. 2020 Sep 2;81(9):1–11.
- 356. Lyon AR, Dent S, Stanway S, Earl H, Brezden-Masley C, Cohen-Solal A, et al. Baseline cardiovascular risk assessment in cancer patients scheduled to receive cardiotoxic cancer therapies: a position statement and new risk assessment tools from the Cardio-Oncology Study Group of the Heart Failure Association of the European Society of Cardiology in collaboration with the International Cardio-Oncology Society. European Journal of Heart Failure. 2020;
- 357. Mallouppas M, Chung R, Ghosh A, Macklin A, Yellon D, Walker J. ESC Congress 2020 The Digital Experience. In 2020.
- 358. Sandri MT, Cardinale D, Zorzino L, Passerini R, Lentati P, Martinoni A, et al. Minor increases in plasma troponin I predict decreased left ventricular ejection fraction after high-dose chemotherapy. Clinical chemistry. 2003 Feb;49(2):248–52.
- 359. Jones M, O'Gorman P, Kelly C, Mahon N, Fitzgibbon MC. High-sensitive cardiac troponin-I facilitates timely detection of subclinical anthracycline-mediated cardiac injury. Annals of Clinical Biochemistry. 2017 Jan 1;54(1):149–57.
- 360. Tzolos E, Adamson PD, Hall PS, Macpherson IR, Oikonomidou O, MacLean M, et al. Dynamic Changes in High-Sensitivity Cardiac Troponin I in Response to Anthracycline-Based Chemotherapy. Clinical Oncology. 2020 May 1;32(5):292–7.
- 361. Frères P, Bouznad N, Servais L, Josse C, Wenric S, Poncin A, et al. Variations of circulating cardiac biomarkers during and after anthracycline-containing chemotherapy in breast cancer patients. BMC Cancer. 2018;
- 362. Zhang CJ, Pei XL, Song FY, Guo Y, Zhang QL, Shu XH, et al. Early anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity monitored by echocardiographic Doppler parameters combined with serum hscTnT. Echocardiography. 2017 Nov 1;34(11):1593–600.
- 363. Kang Y, Xu X, Cheng L, Li L, Sun M, Chen H, et al. Two-dimensional speckle tracking echocardiography combined with high-sensitive cardiac troponin T in early detection and prediction of cardiotoxicity during epirubicine-based chemotherapy. European Journal of Heart Failure. 2014;16(3):300–8.
- 364. Pudil R, Mueller C, Čelutkienė J, Henriksen PA, Lenihan D, Dent S, et al. The role of serum biomarkers in cancer patients receiving cardiotoxic cancer therapies: a position statement from the <scp>Cardio-Oncology</scp> Study Group of the Heart Failure Association and <scp>Cardio-Oncology</scp> Council of the European Society of Cardiology. European Journal of Heart Failure. 2020 Oct 2;ejhf.2017.
- 365. Sawaya H, Sebag IA, Carlos Plana J, Januzzi JL, Ky B, Tan TC, et al. Assessment of Echocardiography and Biomarkers for the Extended Prediction of Cardiotoxicity in Patients Treated With Anthracyclines, Taxanes, and Trastuzumab. 2012;
- 366. Ky B, Putt M, Sawaya H, French B, Januzzi Jr JL, Sebag IA, et al. Early Increases in Multiple Biomarkers Predict Subsequent Cardiotoxicity in Patients With Breast Cancer Treated With Doxorubicin, Taxanes, and Trastuzumab NIH Public Access. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014;63(8):809–16.
- 367. Kitayama H, Kondo T, Sugiyama J, Kurimoto K, Nishino Y, Kawada M, et al. Highsensitive troponin T assay can predict anthracycline- and trastuzumab-induced cardiotoxicity in breast cancer patients. Breast Cancer. 2017 Nov 1;24(6):774–82.
- 368. Demissei BG, Hubbard RA, Zhang L, Smith AM, Sheline K, McDonald C, et al. Changes in Cardiovascular Biomarkers With Breast Cancer Therapy and Associations With Cardiac Dysfunction. Journal of the American Heart Association. 2020 Jan 21;9(2).

- 369. Michel L, Mincu RI, Mahabadi AA, Settelmeier S, Al-Rashid F, Rassaf T, et al. Troponins and brain natriuretic peptides for the prediction of cardiotoxicity in cancer patients: a metaanalysis. European Journal of Heart Failure. 2020 Feb 1;22(2):350–61.
- 370. Jordan JH, Castellino SM, Meléndez GC, Klepin HD, Ellis LR, Lamar Z, et al. Left ventricular mass change after anthracycline chemotherapy. Circulation: Heart Failure [Internet]. 2018 Jul 1 [cited 2021 Dec 8];11(7). Available from: https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/abs/10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.117.004560
- 371. Čelutkienė J, Pudil R, López-Fernández T, Grapsa J, Nihoyannopoulos P, Bergler-Klein J, et al. Role of cardiovascular imaging in cancer patients receiving cardiotoxic therapies: a position statement on behalf of the Heart Failure Association (HFA), the European Association of Cardiovascular Imaging (EACVI) and the Cardio-Oncology Council of the Eur. European Journal of Heart Failure. 2020;
- 372. Menacho K, Ramirez S, Segura P, Nordin S, Abdel-Gadir A, Illatopa V, et al. INCA (Peru) Study: Impact of Non-Invasive Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Assessment in the Developing World. J Am Heart Assoc. 2018;7.
- 373. Guha A, Dey AK, Jneid H, Ibarz JP, Addison DM, Fradley M. Atrial Fibrillation in the Era of Emerging Cancer Therapies | European Heart Journal | Oxford Academic. European Heart Journal. 2019;40(36):3007–3010.
- 374. Candilio L, Malik A, Ariti C, Barnard M, Salvo C Di, Lawrence D, et al. Effect of remote ischaemic preconditioning on clinical outcomes in patients undergoing cardiac bypass surgery: a randomised controlled clinical trial. 2015;101:185–92.
- 375. Hausenloy DJ, Mwamure PK, Venugopal V, Harris J, Barnard M, Grundy E, et al. Effect of remote ischaemic preconditioning on myocardial injury in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass graft surgery: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2007 Aug 18;370(9587):575–9.
- 376. Hoole SP, Heck PM, Sharples L, Khan SN, Duehmke R, Densem CG, et al. Cardiac remote ischemic preconditioning in coronary stenting (CRISP stent) study. A prospective, randomized control trial. Circulation. 2009 Feb 17;119(6):820–7.
- 377. Thielmann M, Kottenberg E, Kleinbongard P, Wendt D, Gedik N, Pasa S, et al. Cardioprotective and prognostic eff ects of remote ischaemic preconditioning in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass surgery: a single-centre randomised, double-blind, controlled trial. Vol. 382, The Lancet. 2013.
- 378. Bøtker HE, Kharbanda R, Schmidt MR, Bøttcher M, Kaltoft AK, Terkelsen CJ, et al. Remote ischaemic conditioning before hospital admission, as a complement to angioplasty, and effect on myocardial salvage in patients with acute myocardial infarction: a randomised trial. The Lancet. 2010 Feb 27;375(9716):727–34.
- 379. Katsurada K, Ichida M, Sakuragi M, Takehara M, Hozumi Y, Kario K. High-sensitivity troponin T as a marker to predict cardiotoxicity in breast cancer patients with adjuvant trastuzumab therapy. 2014.